
Cabinet

Date Wednesday 15 November 2017
Time 10.00 am
Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the press and public are welcome to attend - 
members of the public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement

1. Public Questions  
2. Minutes of the meeting held on 18 October 2017  (Pages 3 - 6)
3. Declarations of interest  
Key Decisions:

4. Council Tax Base 2018/19 and Forecast Surplus on the Council Tax 
Collection Fund as 31 March 2018 - Report of Corporate Director of 
Resources [Key Decision: CORP/R/17/03]  (Pages 7 - 24)

5. Review of School Provision in County Durham: Ensuring Financial 
Sustainability of Schools - Joint Report of Corporate Director of 
Children and Young People's Services and Corporate Director of 
Resources [Key Decision: CORP/R/17/01]  (Pages 25 - 56)

6. County Durham Plan Progress Report and the Council's Response to 
the Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places Consultation - 
Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services    
[Key Decision: REAL/03/17]  (Pages 57 - 214)

Ordinary Decisions:

7. Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18 - Period to 30 
September 2017 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources      
(Pages 215 - 238)

8. Mid-Year Review Report on Treasury Management for the period to 30 
September 2017 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources      
(Pages 239 - 248)

9. Review of humanitarian support in County Durham - Joint Report of 
Director of Transformation and Partnerships and Corporate Director of 
Children and Young People's Services  (Pages 249 - 296)

10. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.  



11. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information.  

Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

12. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
7 November 2017

To: The Members of the Cabinet

Councillors S Henig and A Napier (Leader and Deputy Leader of the 
Council) together with Councillors J Allen, J Brown, O Gunn, 
L Hovvels, O Johnson, C Marshall, K Shaw and B Stephens

Contact: Ros Layfield Tel: 03000 269708



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At a Meeting of Cabinet held in The Music Hall, The Witham, Barnard Castle on 
Wednesday 18 October 2017 at 10.00 am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor S Henig (Leader of Council) in the Chair  

 

Cabinet Members: 

Councillors J Allen, J Brown, O Gunn, L Hovvels, O Johnson, C Marshall, A Napier,  
K Shaw and B Stephens 
 
Also present: 
Councillors J Clare, R Crute and G Richardson  
 

 
1 Public Questions  

 
There were no public questions. 
 
 

2 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meetings held on 13 September 2017 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
 

3 Declarations of interest  
 
There were no declarations. 
 
 

4 Medium Term Financial Plan (8), Council Plan, Service Plans 2018/19-2021/22 
[Key Decision: CORP/R/17/02] 
 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Resources and 
the Director of Transformation and Partnerships which provided an update on the 
development of the 2018/19 Budget, the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP(8)) 
and Council Plan / Service Plans 2018/19 to 2021/22 (for copy see file of minutes).  
 
Cabinet members spoke of the continued difficulties being faced by the authority 
due to the government funding reductions which is now in its seventh year, and it 
was emphasised that Durham had already had more than its fair share of 
reductions. There was to be a comprehensive consultation programme with the 
public and partners, which would include consideration by the Area Action 
Partnerships, community events, meetings with partners, as well as promoting the 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



consultation on the website and other publications. Cabinet would then consider 
recommendations to go to full council in February 2018. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 
 

5  Transformation Programme  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
which informed Cabinet of progress in the Council’s transformation programme 
since the last Cabinet report in December 2016 and to set out the main elements of 
the programme for the next three years (for copy of report see file of minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 
 

6 County Durham Partnership Update  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships which updated Cabinet on issues being addressed by the County 
Durham Partnership (CDP) including the board, the five thematic partnerships and 
all area action partnerships (AAPs).  The report also updated on other key initiatives 
being carried out in partnership across the County (for copy of report see file of 
minutes).  
 
Members commented on the variety and scale of the work that was being 
undertaken with its partners.  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

7 Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) – Update & MTFP Considerations  
 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Adult and Health 
Services and the Corporate Director of Resources which provided an update in 
respect of the Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) allocations and proposed 
expenditure plans, as agreed with Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and the 
impact on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Planning (for copy of report see file 
of minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 

Page 4



 
8  Proposal for Changes to the Charging Policy for Non-Residential Social Care 

Services  
 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Adult and Health 
Services and the Corporate Director of Resources which outlined proposed 
changes to the Non-Residential Charging Policy for individuals who receive social 
care services and are assessed to determine their financial contributions towards 
their care costs (for copy of report see file of minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 
 

9  Transport for the North – Incorporation as a Sub-National Transport Body   
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Local Services which sought consent to the making of Regulations by the Secretary 
of State to establish Transport for the North (TfN) as a Sub-National Transport Body 
under section 102J of the Local Transport Act 2008 (for copy of report see file of 
minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendation in the report be approved.  
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet

15 November 2017

Council Tax Base 2018/19 and Forecast 
Surplus on the Council Tax Collection 
Fund as 31 March 2018

Key Decision: CORP/R/17/03

Report of Corporate Management Team
John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources
Councillor Alan Napier, Portfolio Holder for Finance

Purpose of the Report

1 To determine the Council’s Tax Base for all domestic properties liable to pay 
council tax, which is an important component in the Council’s budget setting 
process for 2018/19 and to report on the estimated collection fund surplus as 
at 31 March 2018, which will need to be distributed to the principal precepting 
authorities in 2018/19.

Background

2 Regulations made under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (The Local 
Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 1992 (as 
amended)) require each billing authority to calculate its ‘Council Tax Base’ for 
the following financial year.

3 The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (SI 2012:2914) provides amended statutory guidance to 
incorporate the changes as a result of the introduction of Local Council Tax 
Reduction Schemes (LCTRS’s) from 1 April 2013.

4 The Council Tax Base is a measure of the County Council’s ‘taxable capacity’, 
for the purpose of setting its Council Tax. Legislation requires the Council to 
set out the formula for that calculation and that the tax base is formally 
approved by Cabinet.

5 Section 84 of the Local Government Act 2003 enables authorities to set their 
Council Tax Base, other than by a decision of the full Council, therefore, 
allowing Cabinet to take the necessary decisions to determine the Council 
Tax Base for 2018/19.

6 On 12 July 2017, Cabinet resolved to recommend to Council continuation of 
the current LCTRS into 2017/18. Council, on 1 November 2017, subsequently 
approved the continuation of the current LCTRS into 2018/19, which retains 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



the same level of support to all council tax payers as the previous Council Tax 
Benefit Scheme, which was abolished on 1 April 2013.

7 The extension to the LCTRS is for one year and the Scheme will be kept 
under continuous review with a further decision to be considered by Cabinet in 
the summer of 2018 and Full Council by January 2019 with regards to 
proposals for 2019/20. 

8 On 12 July 2017, Cabinet approved the introduction of a Council Tax 
Discretionary Reduction (Relief) for Care Leavers Policy, effective from 1 April 
2017, details as follows:

(a) all care leavers living independently will be exempt from Council Tax 
up the age of 25, after consideration of entitlement to other statutory 
Council Tax exemptions/discounts;

(b) a 50% discretionary relief is awarded to care leavers living with a 
partner (none care leaver), after consideration of entitlement to other 
statutory Council Tax exemptions/discounts;

(c) a 50% discretionary relief is awarded to care leavers when part of a 
joint tenancy, after consideration of entitlement to other statutory 
Council Tax exemptions/discounts;

(d) a 50% discretionary relief, where a care leaver (up to the age of 25) 
moves in to live with an extended family member (or another adult) 
living on their own and receiving single person discount.

9 The impact of this new Policy, which will be kept under review, has been 
factored into the Tax Base forecasts for 2018/19. 

10 All monies collected from Council Tax are paid into the Collection Fund. The 
Council collects monies on behalf of itself, the Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Commissioner, the County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority 
and local Town and Parish Councils in the County. Police and Fire are 
classified as major precepting bodies under Council Tax legislation, whereas 
Town and Parish Councils are classified as local precepting bodies.

11 Significant sums pass through the Collection Fund annually, a process which 
can result in a surplus or deficit on the Fund at the 31st March as the monies 
collected inevitably vary from those estimated.

12 As the billing authority, the Council is required on an annual basis, by 15 
January, to make a declaration of the estimated Collection Fund outturn 
position, and identify and apportion any surplus or deficit anticipated for the 
following financial year between the principal precepting authorities making a 
precept on the Fund so that they can factor this into the budget setting 
processes. Quarterly updates are reported as part of the budgetary control 
reports to Cabinet. Last year, the Council declared a surplus of £2.578 million, 
which was distributed in 2017/18 and used for budget setting in the current 

Page 8



year. The Council share of the surplus declared last year was £2.169 million 
and this was used to fund capital expenditure in the current year.

Calculating the Tax Base 2018/19

13 Appendix 2 shows the number of dwellings in County Durham, allocated 
across the various Council Tax Bands. At 2 October 2017 there were 243,249 
dwellings registered for Council Tax in the County. 

14 Some of these properties are exempt from council tax (e.g. dwellings 
occupied solely by students), whilst in single person households only 75% of 
the tax is payable. Following decisions taken in December 2012, empty 
properties no longer receive any discount; neither do second homes and long 
term empty properties.  Empty properties that have been empty for more than 
two years are charged a 50% premium. As noted earlier, from 1 April 2017, 
Care Leavers now receive an exemption from Council Tax up to the age of 
25.

15 The number of dwellings, therefore, needs to be adjusted to reflect these 
discounts and exemptions, giving a net property base (chargeable dwellings) 
for each Council Tax band. Council Tax for a Band A property is 6/9ths of the 
Band D council tax; Band B is 7/9ths and Band C is 8/9ths. Prior to 
consideration of the impact of the LCTRS, there are 215,228.4 chargeable 
properties in County Durham and over 84% of these are within bands A to C, 
with 58% of all properties being in Band A.

16 The Council Tax levied varies between the different bands according to 
proportions laid down in legislation. These proportions are based around 
Band D, and are fixed so that the bill for a dwelling in Band A will be a third of 
the bill for a dwelling in Band H. Applying the relevant proportion to each 
band’s net property base produces the number of ‘Band D Equivalent’ 
properties for the area. Prior to consideration of the impact of LCTRS, there 
are 169,272.7 Band D Equivalent properties in County Durham.

17 In determining the Council Tax Base for 2018/19, two further issues must be 
factored into the calculation:

(a) forecast reductions in the tax base as a result of the LCTRS, which is 
a discount rather than a benefit payment and therefore reduces the tax 
base; 

(b) provision for non-collection of council tax due to bad debts that need to 
be written off.

18 Prudent assumptions are made when setting the taxbase. In previous years, 
the provision for non-collection has been set at 1.5%, resulting in a forecast 
collection rate of 98.5%. Actual collection performance has continued to 
exceed this provision and the latest MTFP model considered by Cabinet has 
factored in a proposed increase in the collection rate to 99.0% for 2018/19. 
This will need to be closely monitored during the year.

Page 9



19 Taking into account the revised forecast collection rate and factoring in the 
adjustments to the Band D Equivalent properties as a result of the LCTRS 
next year, the Band D Equivalent Tax Base is forecasted to be 138,419.2 in 
2018/19, which compares to the current 2017/18 tax base figure for the 
County of 135,620.9 – an increase of 2,798.3 (2.06%).

20 The council tax base for the County Council will be used by the Police, Crime 
and Victims’ Commissioner and the Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue 
Authority to set their council tax precepts for 2018/19, which will be included in 
the council tax bills sent to every council tax payer in the County.

21 The Town and Parish (T&P) Councils and the Charter Trust for the City of 
Durham, council tax bases are set out at Appendix 3 and will be used to 
calculate T&P Councils and the Charter Trust for the City of Durham precepts 
in 2018/19. These will also be added to the council tax bills and sent to every 
council tax payer in the respective T&P Council areas. 

22 The Council’s formula grant includes an element of Local Council Tax Support 
Scheme Grant relating to T&P Councils and whilst the Council has passed the 
grant on to the T&P Councils over the last three years, there is no statutory 
requirement to do so. 

23 Following discussions with the T&P Councils’ Working Group, Cabinet 
resolved on 12 July 2017 to continue to pass on the T&P element of its 
formula grant in 2018/19, but in doing so, continue to apply pro-rata 
reductions in the Council Tax Support Grant paid to T&P Councils in 2018/19 
in line with reductions in the overall formula funding made available to the 
Council.

24 Formula grant has been subject to significant ongoing year on year reductions 
since 2010/11 and the latest MTFP includes a forecast c£14m reduction in 
Revenue Support Grant in 2018/19, partially offset by retail price index 
inflation (RPI) increases in the local share of business rates and top up grant 
under the localisation of Business Rates. Overall, funding from a combination 
of formula grant and business rates top up is forecast to reduce by c5.36% in 
2018/19. However, due to prior year adjustments in 2017/18, the reduction in 
actual grant paid next year to the T&P Councils will be £16,371, a 1.16% year 
on year reduction.

25 Appendix 4 summarises the financial impact on individual T&P Councils 
across the county and the Charter Trust for the City of Durham from the 
combined effects of the changes to the tax base, and the distribution of 
revised LCTRS grant funding in 2018/19.

26 The LCTRS grant payable to individual T&P Councils has been allocated 
proportionate to impact on tax raising capacity brought about by the LCTRS, 
which was agreed as the most appropriate method of distribution. 

Page 10



27 In 2018/19, a new parish will be established within the Durham City area. This 
will be formed from a large proportion of the properties within the existing 
unparished area classed as Durham in Appendix 3. The precise boundary is 
currently being finalised to determine the tax base for this new parished area. 

Estimated Collection Fund Surplus – Council Tax

28 The Council needs to determine and declare the estimated surplus or deficit 
on its Collection Fund at 31 March each year by 15 January.

29 As highlighted in the quarter 2 forecast of outturn report (based on the 
position to 30 September 2017) the Council Tax Collection Fund is forecast to 
achieve a surplus of £5.483m at 31 March 2017 and therefore the Council will 
be declaring a surplus for budget setting purposes and needs to apportion this 
between the major precepting bodies.

30 The estimated surplus for council tax will be shared between the County 
Council, the Fire Authority and Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Commissioner in proportion to the 2017/18 demands / precepts on the Fund. 
The £5.483m will therefore be allocated as follows:

Forecast Surplus 
to be Distributed 

in 2018/19 £m
Durham County Council £4.627m
Durham Police, Crime & Victims’ Commissioner £0.543m
Durham & Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority £0.313m
Total £5.483m

31 Officers will continue to carefully track and monitor the Council Tax Base and 
Collection Fund performance over the coming months. It is unlikely that the 
forecast outturn on the Collection Fund will change significantly at this stage. 

Next Steps

32 Police, Fire and local town and parish councils have been notified of their 
indicative Council Tax Bases earlier this summer and the Fire Authority and 
Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner have also been notified 
that they will receive a share of an anticipated surplus on the Council Tax 
Collection Fund. 

33 Subject to Cabinet consideration of this report, the tax bases will be 
confirmed. T&P Councils will be requested to submit their precept requests by 
26 January 2018 to enable these to be incorporated into the 2018/19 Budget 
and Council Tax setting reports to Cabinet and Council in February 2018.

34 The Fire Authority and Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner will 
be notified of their share of the estimated surplus on the Council Tax 
Collection Fund to enable them to factor this into their budget setting for 
2018/19. This will produce a one-off benefit / additional resource in 2018/19.

Page 11



35 In continuing with the current LCTRS next year, members have committed to 
a review of the Scheme in early summer of 2018. This review will draw on 
experiences elsewhere and the impact of the wider welfare reforms in County 
Durham during the period 2013/14 to 2017/18 and put forward options for 
consideration by Cabinet in July/September next year, with a view to 
consultation on any changes for 2019/20 being in the Autumn of 2018 and a 
report being presented to Cabinet on the outcome of the consultation by 
December 2018. The 2019/20 LCTRS scheme will need to be endorsed by 
Council before 31 January 2019.

Recommendation and Reasons  

36 It is recommended that Cabinet:

(a) approves the Council Tax Base for the financial year 2018/19 for the 
County, which has been calculated to be 138,419.2 Band D equivalent 
properties;

(b) notes the impact on individual Town and Parish Council Tax bases and 
Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme Grant allocations for the financial 
year 2018/19;

(c) approves the declaration of a surplus on the Council Tax Collection 
Fund at 31 March 2018 of £5.483m, to be distributed to the Council; the 
County Durham Fire and Rescue Authority; and the Durham Police and 
Crime Commissioner in accordance with Council Tax regulations.

Contact: Paul Darby       Tel : 03000 261 930  

Background Papers
 Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 2012 

(SI:2012:2914).

 Welfare Reform Act 2012.

 Medium Term Financial Plan(8), Council Plan, Service Plans 2018/19 -
2021/22 and Reviews of the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme, Council 
Tax Discounts and Business Discretionary Rate Reliefs – report to Cabinet 12 
July 2017.

 Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2018/19 – report to Council 1 November 
2017.

 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18: Quarter 2 – report to 
Cabinet 15 November 2017.

Page 12



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance

On 12 July 2017 Cabinet approved the introduction of a Council Tax Discretionary 
Reduction (Relief) For Care Leavers Policy, effective from 1 April 2017. The impact 
of this new Policy, which will be kept under review, has been factored into the Tax 
Base forecasts for 2018/19. 

Council on 1 November 2017 approved the Cabinet’s recommendations to extend 
and continue the current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) into 
2018/19, which retains the same level of support to all council tax payers as the 
previous Council Tax Benefit Scheme, which was abolished on 1 April 2013.

The extension to the LCTRS is initially for one more year and the Scheme will kept 
under continuous review with a further decision to be considered by Cabinet in July / 
September 2018 and Council in January 2019. There are no other discount changes 
impacting on the Tax Base for 2018/19.

The Council will distribute £1.401 million of its formula grant to the T&P Councils and 
the Charter Trust for the City of Durham in 2018/19, reflecting the T&P element of 
the LCTRS Grant, as reduced in line with Council formula grant reductions. Overall, 
funding from a combination of formula grant and business rates top up is forecast to 
reduce by c5.36% in 2018/19. However, due to prior year adjustments in 2017/18, 
the reduction in actual grant paid next year to the T&P Councils will be £16,371, a 
1.16% year on year reduction.

Factoring in the Tax Base figures contained in this report, the Council will be able to 
include additional Council Tax revenues of c£4.038 million into MTFP8 in 2018/19 as 
a recurring item, of which £1.01 million relates to the reduction in the provision for 
non-payment from 1.5% to 1.0% in terms of Tax Base setting next year. 

The Council is forecasting a surplus on the Council Tax Collection Fund of £5.483 
million at 31 March 2018 and therefore will be declaring a surplus for budget setting 
purposes and need to apportion this between the major precepting bodies. The 
Council’s share of this surplus is £4.627 million and this will be included into MTFP8 
in 2018/19 as a one off sum. These adjustments will be made in the December 
MTFP8 report to Cabinet.

Staffing

None. 

Risk 

The key risks associated with this report are financial, in terms of prudence and 
accuracy of forecasts used to determine the Tax Base and the estimation of the 
Council tax Collection Fund surplus / deficit position at 31 March 2018.

The Council’s performance on recovery of Council Tax, both in year and the overall 
recovery rate needs careful monitoring. In 2017/18, the provision for non-collection 

Page 13



was 1.5%, giving a forecast overall collection rate of 98.5%. From 2018/19 onwards 
the provision for non-payment will be reduced to 1.0%. This reflects the sustained 
improvement performance in recovery in recent years. 

The tax base does not include any provision for new build or other changes in the 
quantum of discounts and exemptions. The impact of the Council Tax Discretionary 
Reduction (Relief) For Care Leavers Policy, effective from 1 April 2017, as adopted 
by Cabinet on 12 July 2017 has been factored into the tax base modelling 
underpinning this report.  No provision has been made for increases in the incidence 
of LCTRS claims. This is considered a prudent approach to apply going forward 
based on experience of the incidence of LCTRS claims over recent years.

Officers will continue to carefully track and monitor the Council Tax Base and 
Collection Fund performance. The quarter 2 forecast of outturn report (based on the 
position to 30 September 2017) includes details of the Collection Fund performance. 

For budget setting purposes the Council Tax Collection Fund surplus is estimated to 
be £5.483 million at 31 March 2018 and this will be distributed between the major 
precepting bodies in 2018/19 in accordance with Council Tax legislation.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty

None. 

Accommodation

None

Crime and Disorder

None.

Human Rights

None

Consultation

Towns and Parish Councils were consulted on the proposals to continue to passport 
an element of the Councils formula grant, equivalent to the Town and Parish share of 
the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme grant funding within formula grant for 
2018/19. Indicative tax base figures and LCTRS grant allocations were provided to 
Town and Parish Councils in July.

No further consultation has been undertaken as Council resolved on 1 November 
2017 to continue with the current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme into 2018/19, 
thereby retaining the same level of support to all council tax payers as the previous 
Council Tax Benefit Scheme, which was abolished on 1 April 2013.

Page 14



The County Durham Fire and Rescue Authority; and the Durham Police, Crime and 
Victims’ Commissioner were informed of their indicative tax base for 2018/19 and an 
initial estimate of their share of a forecast surplus on the Council Tax Collection Fund 
in July.

Procurement

None 

Disability Issues

None

Legal Implications

The Council has a statutory responsibility to set its council tax base for the purpose 
of levying council tax from its council tax payers in order to raise the required amount 
of council tax income to balance its 2018/19 revenue budget

Regulations made under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (The Local
Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 1992 (as amended) the 
Council to calculate a council tax base for each financial year.

The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012 
(SI 2012:2914) which came into force on 30 November 2012 and applies to the 
financial years beginning 1 April 2013 onwards contains the rules which require the 
Council to calculate the Council Tax Base.

Section 84 of the Local Government Act 2003 enables authorities to set their Council 
Tax Base, other than by a decision of the full Council, therefore, allowing Cabinet to 
take the necessary decisions to determine the Council Tax Base for 2018/19.

A key element of the tax base calculation is the Councils policy in terms of its LCTRS 
and on other discretionary discounts.

There is a statutory requirement for the Council to adopt a local council tax reduction 
scheme by 31 January each year and Council agreed on 1 November 2017 to 
continue with the current LCTRS into 2018/19, in line with the Cabinet decisions on 
12 July 2017.

The Council is also required to determine and declare the forecast surplus or deficit 
position on its Collection Fund at the year-end by 15 January each year and notify its 
major precepting bodies (County Durham Fire and Rescue Authority; and the 
Durham Police and Crime Commissioner) of their share of these sums so that they 
can factor these into their budget setting processes.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



 
 

 

Cabinet 
 
15 November 2017  
 
Review of School Provision in County 
Durham: Ensuring Financial 
Sustainability of Schools 
 

Key Decision: CORP/R/17/01 
 

 

 
 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Margaret Whellans, Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services   

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources  

Councillor  Olwyn Gunn, Portfolio Holder for Children and Young 
People’s Services 

Councillor Alan Napier, Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 
Purpose of the Report 

1 This report describes the financial challenge being experienced by schools 
across the county. These pressures are caused by a combination of cash flat 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) allocations over a number of years, school 
formula funding changes and in some areas, reductions in admission 
numbers.  

2 These issues have necessitated the setting of deficit budgets within some 
schools to avoid a detrimental impact on educational outcomes for children 
and young people.  There are also potential financial implications arising 
from the introduction of a National Funding Formula (NFF) for mainstream 
primary and secondary schools, which were announced on 14 September, 
2017 following the Government’s two stage consultation process which 
closed in March 2017. 

3 The report proposes that the Council implements a strategic review of 
educational provision on a locality basis across the county, to ensure that 
County Durham has an appropriate mix and number of high performing, 
financially sustainable schools.  

Background  

4 School governing bodies have delegated powers, which allow them to spend 
their funding in the best interests of the school.   Most of the funding is 
allocated through school funding formula, however, additional funding is 
allocated for early years and Special Educational Needs and Disability 
(SEND) provision.    

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



 
 

 

5 Budgets are set annually from 1 April for the financial year. When budgets 
are set they cover two academic years, which can be problematic for school 
leaders as pupil numbers in each school are not confirmed until the start of 
the academic year in September.  The funding and available budget is 
predominantly based on pupil numbers. 

6 Schools are required to submit census data three times a year in October, 
January and May.  For mainstream primary and secondary schools (i.e. 
those which are not set up specifically for pupils with SEND), funding 
allocated from 1 April each year is based on the number of pupils included in 
the previous October census data and not those forecast to be on roll for the 
following year.  

7 This can mean that funding for schools with rising pupil numbers is not 
provided until the following financial year, however the costs of any increase 
in learning resources has to be recognised  when the pupils start their 
education with the school. Schools are therefore allowed to use their 
accumulated retained balances to smooth fluctuations in resources across 
financial years. 

8 The funding framework governing schools finance, which replaced Local 
Management of Schools, is based on the legislative provisions in sections 
45-53 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998.  Under this 
legislation, the council is required to publish a Scheme of Financing for 
Schools.   

9 The scheme sets out the financial relationship between the authority and the 
maintained schools that it funds, including the respective roles and 
responsibilities of the authority and schools. Under the scheme, deficits of 
expenditure against budget share (formula funding and other income due to 
the school) in any financial year are charged against the school and 
deducted from the following year’s budget share to establish the funding 
available to the school for the coming year. 

10 Schools cannot set a deficit budget without the prior agreement in writing of 
the authority. A deficit budget is one where the gross expenditure in the 
budget plan exceeds the total of funding, income and the balance (surplus or 
deficit) brought forward from the previous year.  This consent is given by the 
Corporate Director of Resources (Section 151 officer) and the Corporate 
Director of Children and Young People’s Services. 

11 In providing this consent the Section 151 officer needs to be sure that the 
school has the necessary skills and is doing everything it can to manage its 
expenditure effectively. This includes providing additional training and 
support where necessary, including through the relevant Educational 
Development Partner. Benchmark data is used to compare pupil teacher 
ratios, opportunities for joint working and mutual aid from neighbouring 
schools is also explored as part of this process. 

Page 26



 
 

12 The scheme of delegation allows for deficit budgets for three years, and no 
more than 20% of the school’s budget share, up to a maximum of £750,000. 
In some specific circumstances schools have historically been given 
permission to set deficit budgets that are outside of this criteria, after taking 
account of the information set out above and the wider educational context 
that is set out in this report.  

13 The scheme prohibits authorities from writing-off the deficits of schools or 
making contributions to schools from its General Fund.  

Pressures on Schools Budgets 

14 School budgets have come under increased pressure in recent years, 
because of the cumulative effect of cash-flat DSG funding, and less flexible 
formula funding regulations.  Funding for mainstream schools is now more 
sensitive to changes in pupil numbers, and local authorities have less scope 
to be flexible in the allocation of funding through the formula.   

15 From March 2013, changes to national regulations meant that the factors to 
be used in a local formula (agreed annually by the Council in consultation 
with its Schools Forum) to distribute funding to schools was much more 
prescriptive and did not allow funding to be earmarked for specific schools to 
address specific individual funding issues.  

16 From 2013 schools were also given the powers to accept pupil numbers 
above their Pupil Admission Number. This provided a further opportunity for 
schools to increase their pupil numbers where possible but also increased 
the risk of schools losing pupils to other schools through parental choice. 

17 From April 2015, schools that had a poor Ofsted judgement were required to 
become sponsored academies, although ultimately a sponsor needs to be 
confident in a schools future financial outlook before it will engage as a 
sponsor. 

18 Often schools with poor educational outcomes can struggle financially due to 
lower numbers on roll, which, if accentuated by a poor OFSTED judgement, 
accelerates the reduction in pupil numbers being admitted as parents chose 
to send their children to other schools.  

19 Where a school obtains an Academy sponsor, any deficit balance that they 
are carrying becomes a cost to the local authority and is not transferred to 
the sponsor. The DfEs view is that local authorities should take responsibility 
for allowing schools to have a deficit balance.  

20 These issues create increased risk of schools having financial difficulties and 
there is therefore a need for intensive monitoring of school budgets to 
identify schools that may be heading into financial difficulty, or which are in 
danger of failing an OFSTED inspection.    

  

Page 27



 
 

Financial Monitoring  

21 Since 2015/16, Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny have received a detailed 
breakdown of the number of primary and secondary schools with deficit 
balances.  

22 The 2016/17 outturn report considered by Cabinet on 12 July 2017 showed 
that cumulative maintained schools balances at 31 March 2016 amounted to 
£23.672 million.   

23 In 2016/17, maintained schools used £4.240 million of their retained 
balances in year, resulting in maintained schools retained balances at 31 
March 2017 of £19.432 million being carried forward. A summary of the 
2016/17 year end position is provided below: 

 Nursery PRU Primary Secondary Special Total 

Schools with a surplus balance above 2.5% of annual funding 

Number 10  - 174  10  9  203  

Forecast 
Balances 

£0.435m - £16.214m £4.162m £2.500m £23.311m 

Schools with a surplus balance of less than 2.5% of annual funding  

Number - 1  16  1  - 18  

Forecast 
Balances 

- - £0.234m £0.047m - £0.282m  
       
Schools with a deficit balance 

Number 1  - 11  4  - 16  

Forecast 
Balances 

(£0.0024m) - (£0.233m)  (£3.904m)  - (£4.161m)  

TOTAL  

Number 11  1  201  15  9  237  

Net 
Balances 

£0.411m - £16.216m £0.305m £2.500m £19.432m  

 
24 At 31 March 2017, there were 16 schools with a deficit balance – 4 

secondary schools, 11 primary schools and 1 nursery school.    

25 Three of the secondary schools with a deficit balance have long-term 
financial issues, whereas the other expects to have its budget balanced and 
the deficit paid down by the end of 2017/18.     

26 The nursery school with a deficit will address this position during the coming 
year. The other schools in deficit are primary schools and all are taking 
action to address their deficit position and are all expected to be able to 
balance their budgets by the end of 2017/18. 

27 In terms of 2017/18 budget planning, six schools (Wellfield, Wolsingham, 
Peterlee St. Bede’s, Tanfield, Aclet Close Nursery and Sacriston Primary) 
have been given permission to set a deficit budget in 2017/18. Sacriston 
Primary converted to a sponsored academy on 1 September 2017 at which 
point their accumulated deficit was written off by the Council. The forecast 
position, in the quarter two forecast of outturn report to Cabinet is provided 
below: 

Page 28



 
 

 

Schools 
forecasting a 

surplus balance 
above 2.5% of 
annual funding 

Schools 
forecasting a 

surplus 
balance of less 

than 2.5% of 
annual funding 

Schools 
forecasting a 

deficit balance 
Total 

 No. 
Forecast 
Balances 

£ 
No. 

Forecast 
Balances 

£ 
No. 

Forecast 
Balances 

£ 
No. 

Forecast 
Balances 

£ 

Nursery 9 427,000 1 2,000 1 (11,000) 11 418,000  

Alternative 
Provision 

- - 1 - - - 1 - 

Primary 139 10,279,000 57 448,000 3 (80,000) 199 10,647,000 

Secondary 6 1,633,000 5 822,000 4 (5,015,000) 15 (2,560,000) 

Special 8 2,054,000 1 - - - 9 2,054,000 

Total 162 £14,393,000 65 1,272,000 8 (5,106,000) 235 10,559,000 

 
28 The two schools with the most significant financial challenges and financial 

viability concerns are Wellfield School in Wingate and Wolsingham School 
and Sixth Form in Wolsingham.  These two schools account for £4.3 million 
of the estimated £5.3 million of deficit balances (60%) being carried at 31 
March 2018. 

29 Officers have supported these two schools over a number of years and will 
continue to do so as follows: 

(a) building financial skills and capabilities within the school and within 
their Governing bodies; 

(b) taking significant steps to control and reduce expenditure; 

(c) expanding the use of software forecasting tools; 

(d) improving pupil modelling and medium term financial planning.  

30 Wellfield and Wolsingham have historically been allowed to set deficit 
budgets that are outside of the parameters of the scheme of financing. The 
decision to allow deficit budgets to be set was based on continued close 
working with the schools and the adverse impact on educational provision in 
these schools if deficit budgets were not allowed. This has been a balanced 
decision taking into account both the needs of the schools and the 
availability of places in the local area.  

31 For 2017/18, Wellfield and Wolsingham schools have again been given 
permission to set a deficit budget on the strict understanding that the schools 
continue to make every attempt to minimise expenditure and work towards 
eliminating the in-year deficit and paying down the accumulated deficit at the 
earliest opportunity.   

32 Given the increased risk posed by the schools currently experiencing 
financial difficulty, the Corporate Director of Resources has increased the 
size of the School Funding Team from 2017/18.  A dedicated post with 
specific responsibility for monitoring schools causing financial concern and 
identifying schools that are at financial risk in the future has been established 
which will provide further assurance going forward.   

Page 29



 
 

33 Arrangements have also been put in place to increase coordination between 
the School Funding Team and the Education Development Partners (EDPs) 
who provide professional advice and support to head teachers on 
educational performance standards and school improvement.  

34 Despite the efforts of officers and the schools themselves, the current 
position is not sustainable and further action needs to be taken to assist the 
schools to address their respective financial positions.  

National Funding Formula (NFF) 

35 The Government announced the intention to make further progress towards 
a national formula in the 2015 autumn statement and an initial consultation 
took place in the spring of 2016.   The second stage consultation was 
announced on 14 December 2016 and consultation ran until March 2017.   

36 An overview of the original NFF proposals that were published earlier this 
year, compared with the 2017/18 local formula in place in County Durham is 
set out in Appendix 2.  

37 On 14 September 2017, the Government announced its proposals for the 
National Funding Formulas (NFF) for mainstream primary and secondary 
schools, Special Educational Needs & Disabilities and Central School 
Services.   These will be used to determine allocations to local authorities 
with effect from the 2018-19 financial year and to individual schools 
themselves from 2020/21.  

38 Early indications are that funding allocations will increase, but there is likely 
to be more scrutiny of the local formula by schools, because they will be able 
to compare their allocations to what they would have had through the NFF. 

39 The NFF puts more funding into pupil-led factors than school-led factors, 
which could create longer-term challenges for smaller schools, because the 
increase in pupil-led funding will be of less benefit to schools with smaller 
numbers of pupils.   The NFF will include minimum funding levels which may 
reduce the amount that can be allocated through factors such as deprivation. 

40 Work is currently underway to fully understand and model the impact of the 
final NFF. However, there will undoubtedly be significant changes to the way 
in which schools and special educational needs are funded in future. The 
final proposals are largely in line with the Governments consultation 
proposals.    

41 The Council will also need to consider its approach to the local formula in 
2018/19, in respect of whether to make changes that will make the local 
formula more like the NFF: this could reduce turbulence when the NFF 
replaces local formulas in the following year, but schools that lose funding 
might question why the Council is doing this earlier than is necessary.   
Equally, schools that expect to gain funding from the NFF might question 
any decision not to make changes to the local formula.    

Page 30



 
 

42 In the run up to 2018/19, schools will be a position to compare the funding 
that they could get through the NFF with their funding through the local 
formula and be able to challenge the Council about the local formula more 
feely. Options for consideration, will include: 

(a) leave the formula as it is, with minimal changes; 

(b) change the formula so that it matches the NFF as closely as possible; 

(c) make changes to reduce the differences between the local formula and 

the NFF, but not to the same extent as in (b); 

Funding Changes for Education and Training for 16 – 19 Year Olds 

43 Whilst the DSG has been cash flat for a number of years in terms of funding 
per pupil, national funding for the education and training of 16 to 19 year olds 
has reduced year on year since 2010-11.  The Institute for Fiscal Studies 
estimates that school sixth form funding per student has fallen by around 
18% in real terms between 2010-11 and 2015-16, with the trend continuing. 

44 Some of the key changes in the funding allocations for 16 – 19 year olds 
which have impacted upon secondary schools with sixth forms have been: 

(a) the DfE moving to a single funding formula with a single set of rates for 
school sixth forms and colleges.  In reality, this introduced a phased 
reduction in funding for school sixth forms; 

 
(b) a shift in funding in 2013-14 as a result of the Wolf Review of 

Vocational Education.  This resulted in funding being paid at a fixed 
rate per full-time student (with supplements for more expensive 
courses, for students who lack Maths and English qualifications or live 
in disadvantaged areas) rather than funding per qualification taken; 

 

(c) a 17.5% lower full-time rate for 18-year-old students (introduced in 
2014-15). 

 
45 It has been widely accepted nationally that those sixth forms most at risk as 

a result of these changes were those with fewer than 200 pupils.  In terms of 
the impact on specific schools discussed in this report, Wolsingham school 
had 113 (16 to 19 year old students) in 2013/14, which had reduced to 89 in 
2016/17. The 16 to 19 funding allocations to Wolsingham have reduced from 
£520,381 in 2014/15 to £377,893 in 2017/18.  It is important to note the 
county 16 to 19 cohort also declined during this period. 

Benchmarking Data on Schools Deficit Balances 

46 All local authorities are required to submit to the DfE on an annual basis a 
return showing the outturn financial performance and retained balances 
(surplus and deficit) for each maintained school.  The latest position 
available shows retained balances as at 31 March 2016. 

47 A summary of benchmarking data is set out in Appendix 3.  

Page 31



 
 

 
Overview of Existing Schools Provision: Schools and Academies in Durham 
 
48 Primary Schools are grouped into 40 ‘local’ Pupil Place Planning areas and 

Secondary Schools are grouped into 11 ‘local’ areas.  The planning areas 
were developed by the Council and have been approved by the Department 
for Education (DfE).  

49 The DfE uses these pupil place planning areas as one component for 
determining capital funding allocations to Local Authorities to enable them to 
provide additional school places.  This enables strategic plans to be made 
across local areas to make sure that there are sufficient places across 
groups of schools to take into account parental preference and reasonable 
travelling distances.   Each area needs to be considered separately, to take 
account of new housing developments, projected increases / decreases in 
pupil numbers, Ofsted judgements etc.   

50 Since 2003, the Council has reduced the school estate from 306 schools to 
270, through amalgamations and closures.  

51 The 270 maintained schools and academies in County Durham, spread 
across a large geographical area with a mix of rural and urban communities, 
many of which have their own unique requirements for local provision e.g. 
travelling distances to other schools, are detailed below:  

 Maintained Academy Total 

Nursery 11 - 11 

Pupil Referral Unit 1 - 1 

Primary* 200 15 215 

Secondary 15 17 32 

Post 16 1 - 1 

Special 9 1 10 

Total 237 33 270 

 
* 114 of the 215 primary schools in County Durham have a DfE “rural” 
school designation. 
 

52 Academy trusts publish statements of accounts, but do not publish current 
budgetary control information; they are, however, responsible to the 
Education Funding Agency. 

53 One of the characteristics of schools in Durham is the number of small 
mainstream schools.   Notwithstanding the impact of the additional funding 
announced in July and confirmed in the announcement on 14 September, 
these schools would still be significantly affected by the NFF, because of its 
emphasis on pupil-led funding, which does not always provide sufficient 
funding for schools with relatively small numbers of pupils.   It should, 
however, be noted that the NFF does include a lump sum per pupil, which 
means that the very smallest primary schools should be adequately funded, 
particularly if they are in a sparsely populated area.       

Page 32



 
 

54 Officers have compared primary pupil numbers / numbers of primary schools 
in Durham with other unitary councils and those with a number of districts 
which are ‘broadly similar’ to Durham, being classed as ‘mainly rural’ and 
those with a similar mix of Primary / Secondary Schools (not local authorities 
with middle schools): 

Local 
Authority 

No. of 
Schools 

for 
Primary 

age 
pupils 

No. of 
Separate 

Infant 
Schools 

No. of 
Separate 

Junior 
Schools 

Largest 
Primary 
School 
no. of 
pupils 

Smallest 
Primary 
School 
no. of 
pupils 

No. of 
Schools 
with 0-50 

Pupils 

Total 
No. of 
Pupils 
on Roll 

in 
2017/18 

Average Size 
of School (no. 

of schools 
divided by 
total no. of 

pupils on roll) 

Durham 215 11 11 600 10 8 38,500 179 

Norfolk 353 55 39 686 23 26 67,378 191 

North Yorkshire 312 8 7 531 7 68 44,413 142 

Devon 306 6 6 608 13 28 57,438 188 

Nottinghamshire 281 34 28 600 37 7 66,423 236 

Lincolnshire 279 13 9 630 30 17 56,776 203 

Cumbria 270 22 18 483 6 32 35,801 133 

Suffolk 252 5 4 641 30 10 57,068 226 

Oxfordshire 233 4 4 533 26 1 53,532 230 

Cambridgeshire 205 12 12 598 40 1 52,739 257 

Wiltshire 200 7 7 632 4 7 39,942 200 

Shropshire 129 3 3 576 28 14 21,156 164 

 
55 In terms of illustrating the challenge that ‘rural’ councils have when reviewing 

the pattern of schools and their financial viability, the analysis above shows 
that eight of the twelve local authorities compared to Durham have a higher 
‘average’ size of primary school, but most are below 210 places – the 
equivalent to a one form entry of thirty pupils across each year group.  
Seven of the twelve have more schools than Durham with fewer than 50 
pupils and all still have some Infant and Junior Schools (five have more than 
Durham). 

56  A ‘broad’ comparison has been made with secondary schools also: 
 

Local 
Authority 

Largest 
Secondary 
School no. 
of pupils 

Smallest 
Secondary 
School no. 
of pupils 

No. of 
Secondary 

Schools with 
Less than 600 

Pupils 

Durham 1,600 347 8 

Norfolk  1,837 349 9 

North Yorkshire 1,922 228 17 

Devon 2,341 122 4 

Nottinghamshire 2,518 482 2 

Lincolnshire 1,646 79 20 

Cumbria 1,580 83 12 

Suffolk 1,932 275 11 

Oxfordshire 2,096 495 1 

Cambridgeshire 1,859 317 4 

Wiltshire 1,778 57 6 

Shropshire 1,332 292 7 

Page 33



 
 

 
57 The information in the table above highlights that seven out of the twelve 

local authorities compared to Durham have secondary schools with fewer 
pupils in each than Durham’s smallest Secondary school.  Five of the local 
authorities compared with above have more schools with less than 600 
pupils than Durham. 

58 It should be noted that all the Local Authorities listed above do not have the 
same amounts that are allocated to each school as a ‘lump sum’ under their 
local schools funding formula.  The table below illustrates the differences 
and the number of schools that are in deficit within each local authority. 

Local 
Authority 

Primary 
lump sum 
2017/18 

(£) 

Secondary 
lump sum 
2017/18 

(£) 

Number of 
Schools in 

Deficit 
31/03/2016 

Total 
Deficit at 

31/03/2016 
(£) 

Sparsity 
Lump Sum 
per School 

(£) 

Durham 160,000 175,000 7 -425,542 not used 

Norfolk  98,268 175,000 15 -206,687 18,438 

North Yorkshire 89,047 175,000 22 -359,915 51,625 

Devon 67,516 147,516 12 -320,614 55,000 

Nottinghamshire 100,000 100,000 9 -225,882 not used 

Lincolnshire 118,010 175,000 6 -180,134 not used 

Cumbria 75,000 175,000 32 -963,975 20,000 

Suffolk 114,000 114,000 3 -157,388 100,000 

Oxfordshire 125,000 125,000 20 -494,257 not used 

Cambridgeshire 150,000 150,000 3 -55,099 not used 

Wiltshire 85,000 175,000 13 -478,688 not used 

Shropshire 59,500 111,000 6 -186,235 50,000 

 
59 Further analysis would need to be undertaken as part of any review to 

assess the financial impact on the ‘per pupil’ allocation of funding to 
determine whether rationalisation of schools would be educationally 
beneficial.  

60 The DfEs view of the minimum size of a new school to be financially viable is 
420 for a primary and 600 for a secondary, however, the Council’s view is 
that a primary school with 210 pupils should have sufficient funding to be 
viable (i.e. one form entry of 30 pupils per annum).    

61 In 2017-18 144 maintained primary schools (72%) and 7 primary academies 
(50%) are funded for less than 210 pupils, and 8 maintained secondary 
schools (53%) and 5 secondary academies (29%) are funded for less than 
600 pupils. £40.248 million (13.85% of overall DSG funding) is being 
distributed through lump sums in 2017/18, which is £12.908 million more 
than will be permitted under the NFF, with the final NFF proposals confirming 
a £110,000 lump sum allowance for primary and secondary schools within 
the NFF. The focus of the NFF is on increasing the amount allocated via 
pupil related factors. 

62 In recent years, the Council has sought to reduce the number of small 
schools by pursuing amalgamations where opportunities have arisen to do 
so and closures where this has become necessary.   Small schools that 
amalgamate can reduce fixed costs by sharing head teachers and back 

Page 34



 
 

office services, together with rationalising Service Level Agreements and 
there are now a number of schools where this happens.  

63 There have been 12 school amalgamations since 2012, involving 25 
schools, and 3 schools have closed. This has facilitated a reduction in DSG 
funding provided through lump provision of £2.197 million in 2017/18, which 
has been directed towards pupil-based factors. In addition, across 2015/16 
and 2016/17 the Council phased in a £15,000 reduction in the primary lump 
sum to direct more resource to the secondary phase and help partially 
address a historic underfunding of secondary schools in the County (by 
increasing the amount available to be allocated on pupil led factors to these 
schools).  

64 In addition to formal amalgamations, schools can voluntarily share head 
teachers and look to make efficiencies through federated and other 
partnership models. Whilst the Council can encourage such efficiencies, it is 
ultimately a decision of the local Governing Bodies to enter into such 
arrangements.   

65 In December 2016, Cabinet approved an overarching strategy for school 
organisation and the pattern and provision of schools across County 
Durham.  

66 This report seeks to build on that strategy and establish a framework for a 
strategic review of educational provision to be undertaken on a locality basis 
across the county, to ensure that County Durham has an appropriate mix 
and the right number of high performing, financially sustainable schools 

Factors to be Considered when Reviewing School Provision 

67 Without a full review of what schools across the County already offer, and 
consideration of the ways that they can support and sustain each other, it will 
become increasingly difficult to maintain them in the future. It is essential that 
a range of options is considered, where possible, aimed at ensuring 
continued or enhanced delivery of the highest standard of education within a 
set budget that is determined by Government. 

68 While the main emphasis on school provision should be the standard of 
education, the overall strategy needs to take into account the wider provision 
in an area and financial sustainability is a key factor that cannot be ignored.  

69 With Durham having  a significant mix of rural / urban areas it is important to 
recognise that the needs of individual communities should be considered on 
a case by case basis rather than taking a ‘one size fits all’ approach to 
school provision. 

70 The Department for Education (DfE) recognises that schools cannot and 
should not be the same size, as the most important factor to consider is the 
standard of education provision. For example, there is a presumption against 
the closure of rural schools, which usually have low pupil numbers.  This 
does not mean that a rural school will never close, but the case for closure 
should be strong and in the best interests of educational provision in the 

Page 35



 
 

area. The DfE highlights that blanket assumptions should not be made that 
schools of a certain size cannot be Good / Outstanding schools, although 
viability and cost-effectiveness are important factors for consideration.  

71 As noted earlier, the DfEs view is that, in the case of new-build schools, the 
minimum sizes that would be financially viable are 420 pupil places for a 
primary and 600 for a secondary. However, in the view of DCC officers, a 
primary school with 210 pupils should have sufficient funding to be viable 
(i.e. one form entry of 30 pupils per annum).  

72 Looking ahead, the council would aim to have any new-build primary schools 
designed for a minimum of 210 pupils and a secondary of a minimum of 600 
pupils.  However, Cabinet should be aware that the capital investment 
requirements to provide new schools across the county to replace existing 
small schools would prohibit this as a main outcome of the current review. 

73 In addition, Cabinet should be aware that any proposals for change as a 
result of the review would need to take account of the plans for regeneration 
across the county, which will undoubtedly lead to increased pupil numbers 
as a result of new housing.  Cabinet would also need to take account of the 
diverse nature of County Durham from a Pupil Place Planning perspective 
with the significant mix of rural and urban communities that could potentially 
lead to some small schools still being retained as travelling distances to 
alternative schools would be unreasonable for some pupils at the same time 
as significantly increasing the amount and cost of Home to School transport 
that would be required. 

74 There are significant factors that need to be carefully considered in any 
review of individual schools and groups of schools within each planning 
area.  These would include: 

(a) Education standards; 

(b) Ofsted judgements; 

(c) Current and projected pupil numbers;  

(d) Geographical location, including remoteness of a school from other 
schools; 

(e) Evidence of financial difficulties being experienced by a school; 

(f) Strength of Governance and Leadership at schools; 

(g) Transport arrangements and implications on cost of any changes; 

(h) School’s projected budget position over a five year period (including the 
impact of the Schools National Funding Formula which is currently 
planned to be implemented in 2018/19); 

(i) Expected house building in a local area that will require the need for 
additional school places; 

Page 36



 
 

(j) Condition of school buildings; 

(k) Community involvement.  

75 The educational landscape is changing rapidly, particularly with the increase 
in the number of Academies and Federated schools, uncertainty about school 
funding, opening of ‘all through’ schools and school ‘campus’ arrangements. 
There is a range of different options for education provision that could be 
considered now that may not have been considered in the past.   

76 There is a clear need to consider potential for different patterns of educational 
provision in some local areas in County Durham to address some / all of the 
factors highlighted in paragraph 74. It is essential that schools and all relevant 
partners and key stakeholders are involved from the early stages of any 
review of educational provision. 

77 In most instances there will be a range of options that will need to be 
considered and therefore it is essential that the schools are fully involved in 
discussing long term plans for their own schools as early as possible.   

Proposed process for considering the future pattern and provision of schools  

78 The first stage of a County-wide review would be to undertake a strategic 
analysis of existing provision, prioritising schools with the most significant 
financial challenges. These are Wellfield School in Wingate and Wolsingham 
School and Sixth Form in Wolsingham. Consultation proposals for reviewing 
the two pupil place planning areas where these schools are located are 
attached as Appendix 4. The wider strategic review involving all provision in 
the county will begin early in 2018 and will be completed during 2020. 

79 In order to ensure there is an appropriate mix and number of high performing, 
financially sustainable education providers in each pupil place planning area, 
it is appropriate that the strategic review will consider overall provision, 
including pre-school provision. This will help to develop a model of provision 
for the full age range from 0-19, particularly in rural areas. 

80 At this initial stage a number of elements will be taken into account, namely: 
the financial position, performance data, projected pupil numbers and 
conditions reports on school buildings (if relevant) for each school. Where 
known, the implications of future housing developments that may impact on 
pupil numbers will be included.  

81 It is important to note that, in some pupil place planning areas, this first stage 
will indicate that there is sufficient education provision meeting these criteria 
and no further review or consultation is necessary. 

82 The next stage in the review process would be a joint meeting with the 
education providers in each area. These initial discussions will consider 
options for enhanced provision in local areas, from a long-list developed 
during stage 1, and schools and settings can consider the most appropriate 
way to involve parents and children/young people at this stage. Where the 

Page 37



 
 

proposals deem it appropriate, wider consultation with the community or other 
stakeholders will take place. 

83 Possible options for re-organisation may include: 
 
(a) doing nothing; 

 
(b) establishing a model of federated schools; 
 
(c) amalgamation of schools, with shared leadership; 

 
(d)  creation of Multi-Academy Trusts; 

 
(e)  establishment of through-schools; 

 
(f)  re-organisation options; 

 
(g)  establishing alternative sources of income; 

 

(h) closure or part-closure. 

84 Following the initial consultation meetings, described above (paragraph 82), 
the option(s) being considered would undergo detailed consideration, 
factoring in equalities impact assessment, an assessment of the impact on 
local communities, home to school transport implications and the level of 
capital investment required to implement the possible option(s).  

85 After detailed evaluation and assessment of the options, and with Cabinet 
agreement, a preferred option would be confirmed which may in some cases 
require formal consultation.  In the event that a statutory process is to be 
followed, timescales for this are set out in DfE guidance and these will be 
applied throughout the process. 

86 Appendix 4 gives details of the recommended approach for the two priority 
areas where it is proposed the strategic review will begin. These are:  

(a) 0-19 childcare and education provision in Wolsingham and the wider 
Weardale area, as a result of the financial challenges already facing 
the Secondary School in Wolsingham (refer to paragraph 28-31); 

(b) 0-16 childcare and education provision in Wingate and the 
surrounding area, as a result of the financial challenges already facing 
Wellfield, the Secondary School in Wingate (refer to paragraph 28-31).   

87 Additionally, Appendix 4 includes the recommended approach to review 0-11 
childcare and education provision in Horden. Cotsford Infant and Cotsford 
Junior Schools in Horden are facing financial challenges with a significant 
drop in pupil numbers, and a solution could be found through a strategic 
review of provision in the area. This matter is already subject to discussion at 
local level, including school leaders and elected members, so it is prudent to 
include it as part of the initial phase of the strategic review. 

Page 38



 
 

Conclusions 

88 This report discusses the need for a strategy for school organisation, which 
would involve reviewing educational provision for each local area across the 
county.  

89 The report seeks to address the financial difficulties being experienced by a 
number of schools across the county. These pressures being caused by a 
combination of cash flat Dedicated Schools Grant allocations over a number 
of years, school formula funding changes and reductions in admission 
numbers in some areas, which has necessitated the setting of deficit budgets 
within some schools to avoid a detrimental impact on educational outcomes 
for children and young people.  

90 The setting of deficit budgets is not a position that can continue indefinitely 
and the deficit budgets for 2017/18 have been agreed but only on the basis 
that reviews of educational provision are undertaken as set out in this report. 

91 In light of the NFF impacts, which are currently being modelled to inform 
options for the local formula in 2018/19, but which do little to address the 
underlying financial difficulties faced by some of our schools or (importantly) 
do not provide the Council with any flexibility to vary funding across schools, 
there is a need for the Council to undertake a strategic review of school 
provision and organisation across the County. This will potentially identify 
opportunities to reorganise schools to reduce the number of small schools 
across the County if we are to have a financially sustainable school 
organisation structure. 

92 The success of future re-organisations will require full engagement with 
communities about the issues raised in this report and will seek to involve 
communities in finding a solution.   

93 It is proposed that this strategic review be applied to the Wellfield (Wingate), 
Wolsingham and Horden areas in the first instance given the problems 
outlined in this report.  

Recommendations and Reasons 

94 Cabinet is asked to: 

(a) note the contents of this report and agree that the Council implements 
a strategic review of educational provision on a locality basis across the 
county, to ensure that County Durham has an appropriate mix and 
number of high performing, financially sustainable schools; 

(b) support for the process outlined in this report for the review of 
educational provision and that officers take immediate action to carry 
out an early review of education provision in the Wolsingham, Wingate 
and Horden areas using the process illustrated.  Further reports to be 
provided to Cabinet at key milestones, as highlighted in Appendix 4.   

 Contact: Phil Hodgson                                   Tel:     03000 268982 
                      Paul Darby                                   Tel:     03000 261930 

Page 39



 
 

Background Papers 
 
Report to Cabinet 14 December 2016  
Strategy for School Organisation and the Pattern and Provision of Schools across 
County Durham 
 

Report to Cabinet 12 July 2017 
Revenue and Capital Outturn 2016/17  
 

Report to Cabinet 13 September 2017 
Quarter 1 Forecast of Outturn 2017/18 
 

  

Page 40



 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Finance  
 
Schools are funded through Dedicated Schools Grant and operate to delegated 
budgets, which are the responsibility of individual school governing bodies.  Where a 
school wishes to set a deficit budget (where its spending exceeds it resources in 
year) it can only do so in accordance with EFA guidance and the Scheme of 
Financing for Schools and with the permission of the Council’s S151 Officer. 
 
School budgets have come under increased pressure in recent years, because of 
the cumulative effect of cash-flat DSG funding and changes (restrictions) placed on 
the Council through formula funding regulations, which has made funding for 
mainstream schools more sensitive to changes in pupil numbers, and has reduced 
the scope of local authorities to use its funding formulas to target funding to schools 
that are struggling financially.  
   
In terms of 2017/18 budget planning, six schools (Wellfield; Wolsingham, Peterlee 
St. Bede’s and Tanfield, plus Aclet Close Nursery and Sacriston Primary) have all 
been given permission to set a deficit budget in 2017/18. Sacriston Primary is due to 
convert to a sponsored academy on 30 September 2017 at which point their 
accumulated deficit will need to be written off.  
 
From April 2013 schools now have the powers to accept pupil numbers above their 
Pupil Admission Number and from April 2015 schools that had a poor Ofsted 
judgement were required to become sponsored academies.   
 
There are a number of schools in financial difficulty across the Council, with 
insufficient capacity to accommodate the pupil numbers displaced should these 
schools need to close.  Notwithstanding this, should a school close, the additional 
cost of providing home to school transport to pupils' nearest schools can be 
significant.  There would also need to be significant capital investment to expand 
other secondary schools to accommodate additional pupils should a secondary 
school close for financial reasons.   
 
Education Development Partners (EDPs) provide professional advice and support to 
head teachers on educational performance standards and school improvement.  
Where a school is in financial difficulties, EDPs can advise schools about where 
there is scope to make savings. 
 
The Government has announced proposals for the National Funding Formulas (NFF) 
for mainstream primary and secondary schools, Special Educational Needs & 
Disabilities and Central School Services.   These will be used to determine 
allocations to local authorities with effect from the 2018-19 financial year and to 
individual schools themselves from 2020/21.    
 
Local authorities will still be required to set a local formula for mainstream primary 
and secondary schools for the 2018-19 and 2019-20 financial years.   Early 
indications are that funding allocations will increase, but there is likely to be more 
scrutiny of the local formula by schools, because they will be able to compare their 
allocations to what they would have had through the NFF. 

Page 41



 
 

 
The NFF puts more funding into pupil-led factors than school-led factors, which could 
create longer-term challenges for smaller schools, because the increase in pupil-led 
funding will be of less benefit to schools with smaller numbers of pupils.   The NFF will 
include minimum funding levels which may reduce the amount that can be allocated 
through factors such as deprivation. 
 
The report outlines a strategic approach to the review of educational provision on a 
locality basis across the county, to ensure the Council has an appropriate mix and 
number of high performing, financially sustainable schools across the County.  
 
The report also outlines the significant financial difficulties that continue to be 
experienced by two schools (Wellfield School in Wingate and Wolsingham School 
and Sixth Form), the work that has been undertaken with these schools and the 
options that will need to be explored in terms of a solution to these problems.   
 
Staffing  
 
Staffing within schools is continually reviewed as schools consider arrangements for 
balancing their budgets on an annual basis.  The fact that the DSG has been cash 
flat for a number of years, together with formula funding changes and changes to 
way admissions works, has meant that this is becoming more prevalent and difficult 
to manage.  Any staff restructuring exercises are considered in line with the Council's 
existing schemes and the School Brokerage Scheme to minimise redundancies 
wherever possible. 
 
Risk  
 
One of the characteristics of schools in Durham is the number of small mainstream 
schools.  These schools will be affected by the reduction in the lump sum in the draft 
NFF.    
 
The DfEs view of the minimum size of a new build school to be financially viable is 
420 for a primary and 600 for a secondary, however, in our view a primary school 
with 210 pupils should have sufficient funding to be viable.    
 
In 2017-18 144 maintained primary schools (72%) and 7 primary academies (50%) 
are funded for less than 210 pupils, and 8 maintained secondary schools (53%) and 
5 secondary academies (29%) are funded for less than 600 pupils. 

In recent years the Council has sought to reduce the number of small schools by 
pursuing amalgamations where opportunities have arisen to do so and closures 
where this has become necessary.  Small schools that amalgamate can reduce fixed 
costs by sharing head teachers and back office services, together with rationalising 
Service Level Agreements and there are now a number of schools where this 
happens.  There have been 12 school amalgamations since 2012, involving 25 
schools, and 3 schools have closed.  This has facilitated a reduction in DSG funding 
provided through lump provision of £2.197 million in 2017-18, which has been 
directed towards pupil based factors.  In addition, across 2015/16 and 2016/17 the 
Council phased in a £15,000 reduction in the primary lump sum to direct more 
resource to the secondary phase and help partially address a historic underfunding 

Page 42



 
 

of secondary schools in the County (by increasing the amount available to be 
allocated on pupil led factors).  In addition to formal amalgamations, schools can 
voluntarily share head teachers and look to make efficiencies through federated and 
other partnership models. 
 
Proposals for school re-organisation can be controversial and unpopular with local 
communities.  The success of any future re-organisations is likely to aided by greater 
engagement with communities about the potential problems for small schools and to 
seek to involve communities in finding a solution.  The outcome is likely to be the 
same, but could be more acceptable to the local community 
 
There is a risk that pupils will not get a place at their local secondary school in future 
as places have been taken by pupils displaced from other schools that could need to 
close. 
 
There is a significant risk that pupils and students do not receive an adequate 
education if a schools budget is cut to meet funding allocations and avoid a deficit 
arising for pure financial reasons, resulting in poor outcomes and an inevitable poor 
Ofsted judgement.  
 
For future years, there are risks in terms of: 

(a) The impact of the National Funding Formula, which could start to affect 

funding from 2018-19; 

(b) Changes in numbers of admissions 

(c) The impact of changes in pupils on teaching costs  

 

The Section 151 officer must sign-off the budget for schools with a deficit budget 
plan and needs to be able to justify doing so in terms of the school having a robust 
plan to recover from its deficit.  The scheme of delegation allows for deficit budgets, 
but only for three years, and no more than 20% of the school’s budget share, up to a 
maximum of £750,000.  In certain cases these provisions can and have been 
breached in Durham, with the consent of the s151 Officer. At present both Wellfield 
and Wolsingham schools are in breach of these limits. The Councils External 
Auditors and the Education Funding Agency / DfE are all aware of this. Additional 
support and challenge is being provided to both schools 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty  
 
As a public body, the Council must take into account the Equality Act 2010, a 
consolidating Act which brings together previous Acts dealing with discrimination.  
Decisions must be reviewed for potential impact on persons with "protected 
characteristics".   
 
S.149 of the 2010 Act also lays down the Public Sector Equality Duty whereby from 
the 5 April 2011, local authorities and other organisations exercising public functions 
must have due regard to 3 key areas: 
 

(a) Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation. 
 

Page 43



 
 

(b) Advance equality of opportunity between those who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who don't; and 

 
(c) Foster good relations between those who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and those who don't. 
 
The relevant "protected characteristics" are: age, disability, gender re-assignment, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.  
 
Any review or change to educational provision in an area has the potential to 
adversely impact on these protected characteristics, both in terms of pupils, their 
families, local communities and employees working in the schools.  
 
Options for Possible re-organisation of Education Provision in the Local Area could 
involve doing nothing; a move to federated models; amalgamation of schools; 
creation of Multi-Academy Trusts; establishment of through schools; closure / new 
build re-organisation options etc. This could involve pupils being required to attend 
different schools or not being able to access a local school and being required to 
travel further.  

Although doing nothing and leaving all the schools as they are may initially be 
favoured by parents, who tend to view the closure of any school in a negative 
manner, the fact is that because of the size of some schools, in some areas very 
small, although they are viable currently they may become unviable in future if action 
is not taken in a planned way.  

In addition, whilst some small primaries can be considered financially viable, their 
local secondary may be in significant deficit and is not financially viable and therefore 
there must be some action taken.  If a local secondary school is closed, parents may 
also then reconsider sending their pupils to primary schools nearby to what would 
become their 'local' secondary school.  The consequences of this is that the primary 
schools may then become unviable over time. 

Full impacts assessments will need to underpin any review of educational provision 
in a locality and will be factored into the review process / updated throughout. 

 
Accommodation  

Any school re-organisation can have impacts on school based accommodation in 
terms of surplus properties and capital investment requirements in terms of new 
provision. This will need to be factored into the options appraisal for each area and 
made clear as part of determining the preferred option. 
 
Crime and Disorder - None 
 
Human Rights  
 
Human Rights are not affected by the recommendations in this report. 
 
  

Page 44



 
 

Consultation  
 
Schools are consulted through the Schools Forum in respect of funding allocations 
for the following years as part of the development of the local formula.   Consultation 
meetings are held as party of any restructuring activity within schools that may be 
required to balance the schools budget and meetings are held with head teachers 
and governing bodies to determine schools budget plans.  
 
There are many factors that should be considered carefully before any proposals for 
re-organisation of schools in an area can be brought forward with a clear rationale 
that demonstrates how the outcome of any changes would lead to enhanced 
education provision for children and young people in the local areas that would be 
subject to the proposals. These are outlined in paragraph 74. 

The reports sets out proposals for a strategic review of educational provision on a 
locality basis across the county, to ensure that County Durham has an appropriate 
mix and number of high performing, financially sustainable schools. 

There are a number of stages proposed in terms of undertaking these reviews. The 
first stage would be to ‘Review Existing Provision’ within a defined pupil planning 
area and set out clear aims / objectives for what we are trying to achieve and what 
outcomes we can expect. 

At this first stage the financial, educational performance and future pupil projections 
would be carefully considered for each school, including reference to the Local Plan 
for future developments.   

The next stage would be to consider ‘Options for Possible Re-organisation of 
Education Provision in the Local Area’. This could involve discussions with the local 
community, local schools and partners / key stakeholders around the impact of doing 
nothing; a move to federated models; amalgamation of schools; creation of Multi-
Academy Trusts; establishment of through schools; closure / new build re-
organisation options etc. 

Stage 3 would involve a detailed ‘Consideration of the Implications of the Options’ 
being considered. This would need to be wider than the educational provision and 
factor in a detailed equalities impact assessment, including an assessment of the 
impact on local communities; home to school transport implications; and capital 
investment requirements also. 

Stage 4 would involve ‘Identifying a Preferred Option’, taking into consideration all 
the available evidence and a detailed assessment of all options available. 

Stage 5 would need to follow regulations the ‘Statutory Process for Opening / 
Closing / Amalgamating Maintained Schools’. Whilst the Council can propose 
changes to maintained schools and make decisions on these proposals that affect 
the provision of education, but any proposals must follow a statutory process as 
prescribed by the Department for Education. Following the statutory six week 
consultation process Cabinet are required to make a decision before a statutory 
notice is then published. 

Page 45



 
 

It is essential that all partners and key stakeholders are involved throughout the 
process. Undertaking these reviews will require significant commitment and 
resource. 
 
In most instances there will be a range of options that will need to be considered and 
therefore essential that the schools and local communities are fully involved in 
discussing long term plans for their schools as early as possible so that they do not 
feel that the local authority is ‘imposing’ action. This can often lead to opposition at 
the early stages and inhibits forward thinking about the long term sustainability of 
their own school.   

To ensure there is meaningful involvement and participation of all relevant 
stakeholders the local Area Action Partnerships will play a leading role in helping to 
support the relevant consultation processes.  
 
Procurement - None 
 
Disability Issues - None 
 
Legal Implications  
 
Section 15 of the Education and Inspections Act requires a Local Authority to publish 
statutory proposals where it is considering discontinuing a maintained school.  
Section 16 of the Act requires the Local Authority to consult such people as they feel 
to be appropriate and to have regard to guidance published by the Secretary of State 
before publishing such proposals. 
 
The Corporate Director Resources is responsible by virtue of Section 151 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 for the administration of the authority’s financial affairs.  
The Corporate Director Resources also has a duty to report certain matters to the 
authority by virtue of Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988. 
 
Schools have delegated budgets, but if a school closes or converts as a sponsored 
academy then any deficit balance remains with the Council, which must meet the 
cost of writing-off the deficit from its general funds.  Surplus balances of closing 
schools are credited to the Council, but it does not retain any surplus balance for a 
school becoming a sponsored academy: the academy receives the balance upon 
conversion.  
 
The funding framework governing schools finance, which replaced Local 
Management of Schools, is based on the legislative provisions in sections 45-53 of 
the School Standards and Framework Act 1998.  Under this legislation the Council is 
required to publish a Scheme of Financing for Schools.  The scheme sets out the 
financial relationship between the authority and the maintained schools which it 
funds, including the respective roles and responsibilities of the authority and the 
schools.  The scheme does not limit unreasonably the flexibility of schools to control 
and deploy their budgets, recognising the need for public monies are involved to be 
properly accounted for and recorded.  The scheme includes provisions which are 
binding on both parties.  Under the scheme, any deficits of expenditure against 
budget share (formula funding and other income due to the school) in any financial 
year will be charged against the school and will be deducted from the following 

Page 46



 
 

year’s budget share to establish the funding available to the school for the coming 
year. 
 
Schools cannot set a deficit budget without the prior agreement in writing of the 
authority.  For clarity, a deficit budget is one where the gross expenditure in the 
budget plan exceeds the total of funding, income and the balance (surplus or deficit) 
brought forward from the previous year.  This consent is given by the Section 151 
officer - Corporate Director, Resources. 
 
The scheme of delegation allows for deficit budgets, but only for three years, and no 
more than 20% of the school’s budget share, up to a maximum of £750,000.  In certain 
cases these provisions can and have been breached in Durham, with the consent of 
the s151 Officer. 
 
The statutory process for closing / amalgamating/making changes to the age range 
of maintained schools is prescribed by the Department for Education in its guidance 
to Local Authorities. This guidance will be applied in all cases where there is likely to 
be consultation on any proposals for change to education provision. 
 
 
  

Page 47



 
 

Appendix 2 – Overview of NFF Proposals March 2017: Impact in Durham 

 

On 14 December 2016 the Government published consultation proposals for a 
National Formula for School Funding and a High Needs National Funding Formula, 
with responses required to be submitted by Wednesday 22 March 2017. The NFF 
proposals published by the DfE have been compared to the Durham Local Formula 
for schools in 2017/18, details as follows: 
 

(a) the allocation to the basic unit of funding per pupil (AWPU – Age Weighted 
Pupil Unit) is higher in the proposed NFF than the allocation in the current 
local formula: the 2017-18 local formula allocates 70% of funding through 
this factor, but the draft NFF allocates 72.5%, which is equivalent to a 
difference of around £7 million; 

(b) the local formula allocates more to deprivation, 12.3%, compared to 9.3% 
in the proposed NFF, which is equivalent to around £9 million less funding 
allocated through deprivation than in the local formula; 

(c) the proposed NFF allocates significantly more to low prior attainment than 
in the current local formula: in 2017-18 the local formula allocates 1.9% to 
this factor, but the draft NFF allocates 7.5%, which is equivalent to a 
difference of around £16 million; 

(d) the lump sum in the proposed NFF is £110,000 per school (same for both 
phases), compared to lump sums of £160,000 (primary) and £175,000 
(secondary) in Durham in 2017-18.   Using £110,000 in 2017-18 would 
have reduced the amount allocated through the lump sum by £13 million; 

(e) the proposed NFF includes sparsity funding with maximum funding per 
school of £25,000 for a primary and £65,000 for a secondary.   Sparsity 
funding is not currently included in the local formula, because of the high 
lump sum; 

(f) English as an Additional Language (EAL) and mobility are both included in 
the proposed NFF, but the latter, which is based on historic patterns of 
pupil movement, will not be provided to authorities that do not currently use 
this factor, which means that Durham will not receive this form of funding.   
(Nor does the local formula include EAL).  

(g) There is an area cost adjustment which will benefit schools in other regions 
but not the North East.   Around 2.5% of funding would be allocated 
through this in the proposed NFF; 2.5% of Durham’s funding for 2017-18 is 
around £7.5 million, which gives an idea of how much more Durham 
schools might receive through the NFF without an area cost adjustment; 

The lump sum is an amount per school regardless of pupil numbers and is intended 
to help small schools that receive relatively little pupil-led funding, but which still have 
fixed costs, because they need to employ a head teacher, and have back-office and 
premises-related costs. 

On 22 March 2017, the Council submitted its response to the NFF consultation and 
in doing so, made the following comments: 

Page 48



 
 

(a) The Council is very concerned over the impact of these proposals on small 
schools and fear that this will drive the need for significant rationalisation of 
these small schools. This would result in devastating impacts on local 
communities in Durham, particularly in our extensive rural areas with low 
population and in some cases falling pupil numbers;   

(b) A national formula can never accurately reflect the differing characteristics 
of a local area. A large rural area like County Durham will have very 
different challenges compared to a city for example.  The proposed change 
in the level of the lump sum in particular will have a significant effect on 
primary schools in Durham.  We are concerned about the greater impact on 
families and communities in rural locations and feel there is a lack of 
understanding of the issues for rural schools and little appreciation of the 
impact on rural areas.  To provide stability and to safeguard those 
underfunded schools in rural areas from closure as a result of the 
implementation of the new formula, Government should identify new and 
additional funding. Without such investment, the formula in its current form 
may bring into question the viability of already underfunded, in particular 
small rural schools. Based on the 2016/17 illustrative data the formula also 
seems to have a greater impact on faith schools where there are more 
funding losses; 

(c) A national formula will only allow for planning for future years if it is stable 
and not subject to significant annual changes, which would be still in the gift 
of those making decisions about the formula, whether it is a national or a 
local formula;  

(d) There are grave concerns across the schools community of the pressures 
that they are currently having to address, from what are cash flat budgets, 
in areas such as pay awards, national insurance, pension contributions and 
the impending apprentice levy in addition to general inflationary pressures.  
The real terms reduction in funding could impact on the level of education 
particularly for those schools that suffer a reduction in funding as a result of 
the national formula; 

(e) The National Audit Office report on the ‘Financial Viability of Schools’ 
estimated that £3 billion (8%) efficiency savings would be required by 
2019/20 to counteract cumulative cost pressures and this was against a 
background of growing pupil numbers and a real terms reduction in funding 
per pupil;  

(f) We are disappointed that further funding that has been made available for 
new free schools and grammar schools.   This funding would be better 
spent on helping existing schools to improve by providing more funding to 
help offset the rise in costs, many of which, e.g. the Apprentice Levy, are a 
result of decisions by the Government.   If there are concerns about the 
performance of schools then these are best addressed by working with 
existing schools and ensuring that they are adequately financed, rather 
than opening new schools. 

  

Page 49



 
 

Appendix 3 – Benchmarking Information 

 

The DfE publish details of schools balances at the end of each financial year for 
maintained schools and the latest data published is as at 31 March 2016 (the 
position to 31 March 2017 will not be available until December 2017).  The following 
table provides a comparative information of the number of schools with their total 
and average deficit balances in the North East:  

Authority and School Phase 
Number 

of 
Schools 

Total  Deficit 
Balances at 

31 March 
2016 

Average of 
Deficit 

Balances at 31 
March 2016 

Durham 12 -3,023,301 -251,942 

Primary 7 -425,540 -60,791 

Secondary 5 -2,597,761 -519,552 

Gateshead 5 -227,487 -45,497 

Primary 4 -172,396 -43,099 

Secondary 1 -55,091 -55,091 

Hartlepool 3 -435,652 -145,217 

Primary 2 -83,560 -41,780 

Secondary 1 -352,092 -352,092 

Middlesbrough 2 -849,696 -424,848 

Primary 1 -178 -178 

Secondary 1 -849,518 -849,518 

Newcastle upon Tyne 4 -812,062 -203,016 

Primary 2 -79,172 -39,586 

Secondary 1 -711,775 -711,775 

Special 1 -21,115 -21,115 

North Tyneside 8 -1,855,318 -231,915 

Primary 2 -12,999 -6,500 

Secondary 6 -1,842,319 -307,053 

Northumberland 27 -1,010,802 -37,437 

Primary 19 -354,131 -18,638 

PRU 1 -27,198 -27,198 

Secondary 7 -629,473 -89,925 

Redcar and Cleveland 1 -15,421 -15,421 

Primary 1 -15,421 -15,421 

South Tyneside 9 -471,251 -52,361 

Nursery 2 -47,654 -23,827 

Primary 6 -388,354 -64,726 

PRU 1 -35,243 -35,243 

Stockton-on-Tees 1 -9,075 -9,075 

Primary 1 -9,075 -9,075 

Sunderland 7 -501,248 -71,607 

Nursery 2 -68,755 -34,378 

Primary 4 -163,559 -40,890 

Secondary 1 -268,934 -268,934 

Grand Total 79 -9,211,313 -116,599 

 

Page 50



 
 

Appendix 4 – Strategic Review Approach  

 

Proposal 1 
Wolsingham School and Sixth Form 

1 Wolsingham School is a secondary school with a sixth form, located in the 
heart of rural Weardale. The school was recently refurbished (2015/16) at a 
cost of £7.4 million to address significant condition issues, which had been 
exacerbated by the delay and ultimate withdrawal of the Building Schools for 
the Future Programme.   

2 The area that it serves is sparsely populated, which means that pupil numbers 
are always likely to be small and unlikely to generate sufficient funding to 
provide a sustainable staffing structure, but at the same time, not having a 
secondary school in Wolsingham could lead to long daily journeys for pupils, 
with additional costs in respect of home-to-school transport.    

3 Based on pupil projections and the impact of the national funding formula, the 
school will continue to face a significant challenge to set a balanced budget. A 
consultation is proposed to identify options to provide greater financial stability 
for the school going forward.  

4 It is appropriate to review educational provision across the full 0-19 age range 
in the area served by Wolsingham School to develop a long-term, financially 
sustainable model for all children in the area. There are six primary schools 
serving Weardale and one secondary school.  The schools are Wolsingham 
Primary, Frosterley Primary, Stanhope Barrington CE Primary, Rookhope 
Primary, St John's Chapel Primary, Wearhead Primary and Wolsingham 
School and Sixth form.  All of the primary schools are classified as rural 
schools. 

5 A proposed timescale for the review, consultation and decision making 
process re: Wolsingham School and Sixth Form is detailed below: 

November 2017 

Cabinet to agree that a review of educational provision in 
all Pupil Place Planning areas should be undertaken with 
3 areas, including Wolsingham, starting with immediate 

effect.  

November 2017 

Review existing provision in Weardale. Long-list of 
options to be drawn up by local authority officers based 
on the financial position, performance data, projected 

pupil numbers and conditions reports on school buildings 
(if relevant) for each school. Where known, the 

implications of future housing developments that may 
impact on pupil numbers will be included. 

November 2017 
Elected members from affected area invited to meeting 
with Head of Education and Portfolio Holder to share 

long-list of options and express views. 

Page 51



 
 

November/December 
2017 

Joint meeting involving all schools (consisting of head 
teacher and 2 governors from each school, and, where 
appropriate, a manager from any pre-school providers 
concerned, meeting with Head of Education, other LA 

officers, as appropriate,  and Portfolio Holder) to 
consider long-list of options. 

November/December 
2017 

Additional individual school or setting meetings on 
request. 

November/December 
2017 

Schools and settings to inform parents of review, as 
determined by head teachers/ Chairs of Governors and 

managers.  

Engagement with the local community, and other 
partners/key stakeholders, with the aim of reaching 

consensus, will take place where the proposals deem it 
appropriate for wider consultation (potential to use Area 

Action Partnership (AAP) scheduled meetings). 

December 2017/ 
January  2018 

Schools/settings to agree preferred option(s) from long-
list. Evidence gathering around preferred option(s) by LA 

in partnership with affected schools and settings. 

January 2018 
Update Report to Cabinet re outcome of initial 

discussions and preferred option(s) 

January – March 
2018 

Detailed consideration, factoring in equalities impact 
assessment, an assessment of the impact on local 

communities, home to school transport implications and 
the level of capital investment required to implement the 

possible option(s).  

March 2018 
Schools/settings to notify parents (and other 

stakeholders) of outcome of options review and 
background to preferred option(s). 

April 2018 

Update Report to Cabinet.  If a preferred option is 
agreed by Cabinet that involves statutory 

consultation, Cabinet will be asked to approve that 
statutory consultation should begin on a preferred 

option for all three areas.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



 
 

Proposal 2 
Wellfield School 
 

1 Wellfield is a community school in Wingate with a capacity of 900, serving 
mainly deprived local wards / communities.  The school was modernised, 
through the Building Schools for the Future programme, with capital 
expenditure amounting to £8.8 million.  

2 In September 2012 the school failed an Ofsted Inspection and was judged as 
Inadequate. Significant support has been provided to the school to assist and 
challenge their financial planning and in addressing the performance issues 
within the school. Over a period of 18 months the DfE could not find a sponsor 
academy and therefore the school remained a maintained school. A new head 
teacher was appointed in September 2012 and a re-inspection of the school in 
March 2014 assessed the school as a Good school. There are currently no 
education standards concerns with the school and pupil numbers have started 
to rise as the reputation of the school continues to be restored, albeit during 
this time a significant deficit balance has accrued.  

3 The school has no retained balances and has had an in year and 
accumulating deficit balance, with pupil numbers falling significantly and 
steadily from 2006/07 up until 2016/17. The number of pupils funded through 
the formula steadily fell from 1,147 in 2005/06 until the number funded in 
2015/16 was 487, before increasing to 534 in 2016/17.  In terms of financial 
modelling, the projected pupil rolls for Wellfield are expected to rise from 567 
in 2017 to 726 in October 2019, with continual increases forecast year on year 
to 2022 (where 860 pupils are forecast) and 2030 (where 870 pupils are 
forecast). 

4 Pupil projections would indicate that the school will be able to set an in-year 
balanced budget by 2020, and from 2021-22 be in a position to start to 
generate an in-year surplus. The ability of the school to repay its deficit in full 
is uncertain and such a position will not be reached until well into the future – 
and is dependent on the school maintaining the increasing pupil numbers 
highlighted above. 

5 It would be appropriate to review educational provision across the full 0-16 
age range in the wider area served by Wellfield School and to develop a long-
term, financially sustainable model for all children in this part of the county. 

6 A proposed timescale for the review, consultation and decision making 
process re: Wellfield School is detailed below: 

November 2017 Cabinet to agree that a review of educational provision in 
all Pupil Place Planning areas should be undertaken with 

3 areas, including Wellfield, starting with immediate 
effect.  

November 2017 Review existing provision in Wingate. Long-list of options 
to be drawn up by local authority officers based on the 
financial position, performance data, projected pupil 

numbers and conditions reports on school buildings (if 
relevant) for each school. Where future housing 

Page 53



 
 

developments will impact on pupil numbers, these are to 
be included.  

November 2017 Elected members from affected area invited to meeting 
with Head of Education and Portfolio Holder to share 

long-list of options and express views. 

November/December 
2017 

Joint meeting involving all schools (consisting of head 
teacher and 2 governors from each school, and, where 
appropriate, a manager from any pre-school providers 
concerned, meeting with Head of Education, other LA 

officers, as appropriate,  and Portfolio Holder) to 
consider long-list of options. 

November/December 
2017 

Additional individual school or setting meetings on 
request. 

November/December 
2017 

Schools and settings to inform parents of review, as 
determined by head teachers/ Chairs of Governors and 

managers. 

Engagement with the local community, and other 
partners/key stakeholders, with the aim of reaching 

consensus, will take place where the proposals deem it 
appropriate for wider consultation (potential to use Area 

Action Partnership (AAP) scheduled meetings). 

December 2017/ 
January  2018 

Schools/settings to agree preferred option(s) from long-
list. Evidence gathering around preferred option(s) by LA 

in partnership with affected schools and settings. 

January 2018 Update Report to Cabinet re outcome of initial 
discussions and preferred option(s) 

January – March 
2018 

Detailed consideration, factoring in equalities impact 
assessment, an assessment of the impact on local 

communities, home to school transport implications and 
the level of capital investment required to implement the 

possible option(s).  

March 2018 
Schools/settings to notify parents (and other 

stakeholders) of outcome of options review and 
background to preferred option(s). 

April 2018 Update Report to Cabinet.  If a preferred option is 
agreed by Cabinet that involves statutory 

consultation, Cabinet will be asked to approve that 
statutory consultation should begin on a preferred 

option for all three areas.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



 
 

Proposal 3 
Horden Area  

1 Based on pupil based planning forecasts, there is a need urgently to consider 
the long term provision of Nursery / Primary provision in some pupil place 
planning areas.  An example of this is in Horden. 

2 Currently, there is a Nursery, Infant, Junior and Primary school in Horden. A 
One Point centre is next to the Junior School and pupil numbers across all 
schools are reducing significantly.   

3 These schools have been undertaking staffing reductions over the last few 
years to help maintain a balanced budget, however, they are now facing 
financial difficulties as a result of such low pupil numbers.   

4 A proposed timescale for the review, consultation and decision making process 
re: provision in the Horden Area is detailed below: 
 

November 2017 
Cabinet to agree that a review of educational provision in 
all Pupil Place Planning areas should be undertaken with 
3 areas, including Horden, starting with immediate effect.  

November 2017 

Review existing provision in Horden area. Proposals to 
consolidate provision to be drawn up by local authority 
officers based on the financial position, performance 

data, projected pupil numbers and conditions reports on 
school buildings. Any further options considered. 

November 2017 
Elected members from affected area invited to meeting 
with Head of Education and Portfolio Holder to share 

proposals and express views. 

November/December 
2017 

Joint meeting involving all providers and local authority 
officers to consider proposals. 

November/December 
2017 

Additional individual school or setting meetings on 
request. 

December 2017 

Schools and settings to inform parents of review, as 
determined by head teachers/ Chairs of Governors and 

managers. 

Engagement with the local community, and other 
partners/key stakeholders, with the aim of reaching 

consensus, will take place where the proposals deem it 
appropriate for wider consultation (potential to use Area 

Action Partnership (AAP) scheduled meetings). 

December 2017/ 
January  2018 

Schools/settings work with L.A. to refine and agree 
proposals. Evidence gathering as necessary by LA in 

partnership with affected schools and settings. 

Page 55



 
 

January 2018 
Update Report to Cabinet re outcome of initial 

discussions and proposal 

January – March 
2018 

Detailed consideration, factoring in equalities impact 
assessment, an assessment of the impact on local 

communities, home to school transport implications and 
the level of capital investment required to implement the 

possible option(s).  

March 2018 
Schools/settings to notify parents (and other 

stakeholders) of outcome of options review and 
background to preferred option(s). 

TBC Update Report to Cabinet. 

 
 

Page 56



Cabinet 
 

15 November 2017 
 

County Durham Plan Progress Report 
and the Council’s Response to the 
Planning for the Right Homes in the Right 
Places Consultation 
 

Key Decision REAL/03/17 

 

 

 
 

Report of Ian Thompson,  Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Local Services  

Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration 

Councillor Kevin Shaw, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Housing and Assets 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1 To update Members on the current position with the County Durham Plan 
(CDP) and to outline an initial timetable for taking it forward through the 
agreement of a new Local Development Scheme in the context of the current 
Government consultation on housing. 

2 For Cabinet to be presented with Durham County Council’s response to the 
consultation on Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places.  Comments 
were submitted in time for the closing date of the consultation on 9 November 
2017 following consultation with relevant Cabinet Portfolio holders and the 
Corporate Director. 

3 To seek approval of a number of supporting documents that will provide 
guidance on how planning applications will continue to be determined as the 
CDP progresses. 

4 To agree the 2016/17 Annual Monitoring Report which is attached for 
information to show current performance relating to policies from former 
district local plans and the minerals and waste plans which have been ‘saved’. 

Background 
 

5 The council, following a successful high court challenge to overturn the 
Inspector’s draft report in respect of the Local Plan Examination in 2015, has 
been in discussions with Government and the planning inspectorate in order 
to bring forward local plan as soon as possible.  The council is committed to 

Page 57

Agenda Item 6



delivering a Plan for the whole of the county as quickly as possible which 
meets the needs and aspirations of its residents, helps to promote economic 
growth whilst protecting and enhancing the things that make Durham special. 

6 Members will recall a report to Cabinet in December 2016 that resulted in 
pausing the preparation of the County Durham Plan which had reached the 
Issues and Options stage in June/July 2016.  The forthcoming publication of a 
Housing White Paper was expected to have several implications for the 
preparation of the Plan, including a new national methodology for the 
calculation of housing requirements.  The housing requirement figure, 
otherwise known as the Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for housing, is 
critical to the preparation of a local plan and impacts on a number of policy 
areas in addition to housing, such as employment, infrastructure and waste.  

7 The Housing White Paper was subsequently published on 7 February 2017.  
It did not however, include the proposed methodology but instead referred to 
a separate (then-forthcoming) consultation. Members will recall that the 
council submitted a response to the Housing White Paper consultation as 
reported to Cabinet in July. 

8 The Government’s subsequent document ‘Planning for the Right Homes in 
the Right Places’, which included the OAN methodology, was eventually 
published on 14 September 2017 for an eight week consultation. 

9 It should be noted, at this stage, that neither the Housing White Paper or the 
‘Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places’ are currently considered to 
have changed the policy context or raised issues to the extent that mean we 
would need to revisit the Issues and Options stage of plan preparation. This 
position will be reconsidered as additional advice, guidance and policy is 
received. 

10 It was hoped that on publication of the OAN methodology contained within the 
‘Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places, the council would have had 
the certainty to move forward with the local plan. However, whilst the 
government’s consultation does provide a baseline figure for the expected 
housing number, it also provides a context but as yet no detail as to how a 
figure could be uplifted to consider issues such as economic growth. Despite 
this current lack of clarity we believe that we can now move forward with 
progressing the local plan. 

11 The timescale that we have identified takes into account the consultation 
period and a reasonable time for government to respond. There are risks in 
developing a strategy in what is an emerging policy picture. However, after a 
period of almost 12 months it is considered that we can move the plan forward 
based on the consultation documents. To mitigate the risks, officers will 
continue to meet with government officials and ensure that members are 
informed of the outcome.  

12 Progressing the Plan will build on the momentum currently seen right across 
the county and ensure all parts benefit from growing confidence in the area, 

Page 58



as well as dealing with the issues that are still faced by some of our 
communities. The timescales identified build in significant opportunities for our 
communities and businesses as well as stakeholders to participate in the 
development of the strategy. 

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places 

13 The consultation document builds on some of the proposals in the Housing 
White Paper and seeks views on changes to national planning policy to help 
local planning authorities and communities plan for and deliver the homes 
they need, including: 

 a proposed standard methodology for calculating local housing need; 

 improving how authorities work together in planning to meet housing 
need and proposing the preparation of Statements of Common Ground 
between authorities; 

 how neighbourhood planning groups can have greater certainty on the 
level of housing need to plan for; 

 considering how authorities can plan for the needs of particular groups, 
including affordable housing and housing for older and disabled people; 

 proposals for improving the use of section 106 agreements, by making 
the use of viability assessments simpler, quicker and more transparent; 
and 

 increased planning application fees in those areas where local planning 
authorities are delivering the homes their communities need. 

  
14 The standardised housing methodology uses the latest household projections 

as the demographic baseline to arrive at an annual average household growth 
over a 10 year period.  An adjustment is then made to take account of market 
signals, where appropriate, based on affordability (the latest information on 
workplace-based median house price to median earnings ratios).  Using this 
methodology the government has also published a list of each local authority’s 
annualised housing need figure.  Where the affordability adjustment is a more 
than 40% increase then it will be capped; however this is not applicable in this 
area. 

15 Durham County Council’s published figure as set out in the methodology is 
1368 houses per annum.  This can be compared to the figures consulted on in 
the County Durham Plan Issues and Options (June 2016) which were 1717, 
1629 and 1533 per annum.  These figures were based on the ONS 2012 
projections whereas the government figure is based on the 2014 projections 
which are generally lower and were not available at the Issues and Options 
Stage.  To give some context, in terms of past performance housing 
completion rates for each of the last 3 years have been 1146, 1537 and 1386. 

16 The consultation document does suggest that it is possible to go beyond the 
published figure as a result of ‘a strategic infrastructure project, increased 
employment ambition through a LEP investment strategy, a bespoke housing 
deal or through delivering the modern Industrial Strategy’.  The document 

Page 59



does not provide any detail on how this could be done, and it gives no 
guidance on how to derive housing targets in areas of planning constraint. 

17 The council’s response to the consultation is attached at Appendix 2.  
Although many of the principles in the consultation are to be welcomed there 
are areas of the document where further clarity is required to ensure they will 
work as envisaged.  The government has indicated that following consultation 
the resultant changes will be made to the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) which is also intended to be published for consultation early 2018 with 
the final version being published in spring 2018. 

Re-starting the County Durham Plan 
 

18 The OAN methodology consultation has now been published, therefore it is an 
appropriate time to resume the preparation of the County Durham Plan. Whilst 
the proposed timescales take account of future government consultations, the 
process will continue to be monitored with caution taking account of feedback 
from Government on the extent and timescale of any further changes. 

19 Members will recall that consultation was undertaken on an Issues and 
Options document in June/July 2016.  It is considered that this document is 
still relevant however this will need to be assessed as further national 
guidance and policy is received. The responses we received through the 
Issues and Options consultation will form part of the evidence base for the 
Preferred Options including how these responses have been taken into 
account in the preparation of the document. 

20 Therefore the intention is that the next stage is the publication of a Preferred 
Options for consultation in summer / autumn next year.  Publication of the 
Pre-Submission Draft will then follow in Winter 2018. The full timetable, 
including for the additional Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocation 
document, is set out in the updated Local Development Scheme at Appendix 
3 and will be continually monitored but the key milestones are shown below: 

 

Stage Date 

Review progress and re-start the plan 
process 

Winter 2017 

Cabinet agree Preferred Options Spring/Summer 2018 

Consultation Summer/Autumn 2018 

Cabinet agree Pre-submission Draft Winter 2018 

Consultation Winter/Spring 2018/19 

Full Council agree submission Summer 2019 

Submission Summer 2019 

Examination in Public (Strategic Issues) Autumn 2019 

Examination in Public (Site Allocations) Spring 2020 

Adoption Summer 2020 

 

Page 60



Cabinet will be asked to consider and approve each stage of the process prior to it 
proceeding to public consultation.  Members will be kept up to date throughout the 
preparation of the local plan with members’ seminars in advance of each round of 
consultation.  During consultation, officers will be available to discuss any issues that 
members wish to raise.  There will also be a number of drop in surgeries arranged 
throughout the process to assist in answering any questions that members may 
have.  The LDS will be continually reviewed to ensure it takes account of changes to 
national guidance and legislation. 
 
Evidence Base and Supporting Documents 
 
21 On occasion the council publishes guidance documents to provide certainty to 

communities and developers of what is expected from developers to mitigate 
the impact of their developments. These include a document updating our 
guidance on Developer Contributions for Education Provision and a new 
document on Developer Contributions relating to the Habitat Regulations. 

Developer Contributions for Education Provision 
 
22 In September 2015 Cabinet agreed a report which set how the financial 

contributions required to accommodate pupils from new residential 
development is both calculated and secured through the statutory planning 
process.  The detail was set out in ‘Securing Developer Contributions towards 
Education Provision in County Durham’.  This document has now been 
updated and is included at Appendix 4.  The main changes are: 

(a) Following a Government benchmarking exercise of school extensions 
and new builds across the country and linking to the Building Cost 
Information Service (BCIS) index the new cost contribution per pupil 
place in County Durham is as follows: 
 
(i) £14,516 per primary place 

(ii) £16,344 per secondary place; 

 
(b) Contribution costs will be reviewed annually (December) using the 

BCIS index and any change agreed will be implemented from the 
following April.  In addition every 4 years the council will undertake its 
own benchmarking exercise, which will be based on the true costs of 
council delivered projects and if needed the baseline figure will be 
reset; 
 

(c) For large scale developments of more than 300 dwellings (e.g. 3 
classrooms), including the cumulative impact of multiple proposals, the 
policy will not apply and a negotiation will be required with the 
developer(s) which will be based on the full cost of the works; and 
 

Page 61



(d) Where a development needs to contribute towards education provision, 
the council will identify the schools or school place area.  If it is 
uncertain that existing schools can accommodate the additional places 
required, a first stage feasibility study will be requested to be paid for 
by the developer(s).  The developer(s) can choose to either use the 
Council Technical Services team or request the specification to 
undertake the study themselves. 

 
Habitat Regulations Assessment Developer Guidance and Requirements  
 
23 Under Regulation 61 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 

2010 (as amended), the council has a duty to ensure that all the activities it 
regulates have no adverse effect on the integrity of any European Protected 
wildlife sites. 

24 Previous Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) undertaken by the council 
and supported by independent bird and coastal visitor surveys determined 
that recreational pressure and associated disturbance is likely to have a 
detrimental effect on the habitats and species for which County Durham's 
coastal European Protected sites (Durham Coast SAC, Northumbria Coast 
SPA and Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA) were designated. 

25 The purposes of the guidance document (Appendix 5) are to: 

 explain the stages in the HRA process and the responsibilities of 
developers and the council; and 

 outline the coastal mitigation strategy which developers may wish to 
adopt for certain development proposals falling within the 6km of the 
coast to ensure that adverse effects arising as a result of recreational 
pressure can be avoided and mitigated. 
 

26 As part of the mitigation strategy developer contributions will be sought from 
relevant proposals towards either the provision or enhancement of suitable 
natural greenspace (SNG) or coastal access management and monitoring 
(CAMM) measures.  Where CAMM is considered the most suitable measure, 
a contribution of £658.98 will be sought per dwelling (sites of 10 or more 
dwellings) or £323.92 (for less than 10 dwellings).  For other types of 
development the contribution will be calculated on a case by case basis and 
the amount will be commensurate with the nature and size of the 
development, the degree of negative impact and the agreed mitigation 
outcome. 

 
2016/17 Annual Monitoring Report 
 
27 Monitoring of local plan policies enables the identification of any unintended 

consequences of policies, whether the assumptions and objectives that the 
policies are based upon are still relevant and if the policy targets are being 
achieved.  In turn, the findings highlight where adjustments and revisions to 

Page 62



policies are required and can inform the development of further new policies.  
The Annual Monitoring Report covers the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 
2017 and is attached at Appendix 6.  The policies being monitored during this 
period are the saved policies from the former district local plans and saved 
minerals and waste local plans. 

 
Recommendations and reasons 
 

28 In relation to the local plan Cabinet is recommended: 

(a) to note and endorse the approach and timescales, with Cabinet to 
receive regular updates in respect of Government guidance and advice 
and potential changes; 

(b) to note and endorse the content of the council’s response to the 
consultation on ‘Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places’; 

(c) that the following documents be agreed and published: 

(iii) Developer Contributions for Education Provision;  

(iv) Habitat Regulations Assessment Developer Guidance and 
Requirements; and 

(v) 2016/17 Annual Monitoring Report. 

 
Background papers 
Local Development Scheme  
Developer Contributions for Education Provision  
Habitat Regulations Assessment Developer Guidance and Requirements  
2016/17 Annual Monitoring Report  
 

Contact:  Mike Allum  Tel: 03000 261906 

Page 63



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Finance –  
The local plan has a continuing budget commitment for appropriate evidence 
gathering, consultation, printing and EIP costs.  The guidance on Developer 
Contributions for Education Provision and Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Developer Guidance and Requirements will ensure that developers provide the 
funding to address the requirements arising as a result of their development. 
 
Staffing –  
Resource required to progress the local plan. 
 
Risk –  
Not having an adopted local plan makes it more difficult to resist inappropriate 
development and also to provide the necessary certainty to facilitate appropriate 
development to support the local economy. The plan was paused awaiting further 
Government guidance and clarity as to the methodology for calculating housing 
numbers within the plan. Failure to make progress risks Government intervention as 
well as increasing the pressure on some towns and villages through increased 
developer interest whilst no plan is in place. Whilst the position is far from clear in 
terms of how the Government will respond to the consultation and what changes will 
be considered in the revised National Planning Policy Framework it is considered 
waiting for these changes would significantly impact on the ability to produce a 
strategic plan for the area that would be of greatest benefit to the County. Close 
monitoring and review of the process will be undertaken to ensure any risks are 
understood and reported to Cabinet. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – 
The Statement of Community Involvement 2016 which describes how stakeholders 
will be involved in local plan preparation and the determination of planning 
applications was subject to an Equality Impact Assessment and was prepared with 
the partnership and community engagement team.  The local plan will continue to be 
subject to Equality Impact Assessment as it progresses. 
 
Accommodation –  
None. 
 
Crime and Disorder –  
None. 
 
Human Rights –  
None. 
 
Consultation –  
The stages of consultation on the local plan are outlined in the local development 
scheme timetable.  The Statement of Community Involvement 2016 describes how 
stakeholders will be involved in plan preparation. 
 

Page 64



Procurement –  
When required consultants are commissioned to deliver evidence studies in 
accordance with the Council’s procurement rules/procedures. 
 
Disability Issues –  
The local plan will seek to address relevant issues identified as part of the Equality 
Impact Assessment referred to above. 
 
Legal Implications –  
Local plans must be positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with 
national policy in accordance with section 20 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and the national planning policy framework 
(NPPF).  The NPPF gives guidance to local authorities in drawing up their local 
plans. 
 
A Local Development Scheme is required under section 15 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and should be published on the Council’s website.  
Up-to-date and accessible reporting on the Local Development Scheme in an 
Authority’s Monitoring Report is an important way in which Local Planning Authorities 
can keep communities informed of plan making activity. 
 
As noted in the report it is unlawful for planning permission to be granted for 
development that is likely to have a significant effect on a European site without an 
appropriate assessment being carried out.  The Habitat Regulations Developer 
Guidance document will help ensure that these legal requirements are met as 
development proposals come forward. 
 
 
 
 

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


This page is intentionally left blank



Question 1

a) Do you agree with the proposed standard approach to assessing local housing need? If now,
what alternative approach or other factors should be considered?

b) how can information on local housing need be made more transparent?

Response

Durham County Council welcomes the broad aim of the proposal to develop a consistent
methodology to determining and formulating an appropriate housing need for each local authority
area. It is further noted that the method, as currently proposed, is transparent. However, there are
concerns with the proposed standard approach as proposed. Firstly, it does not align with the
overarching aim and purpose of NPPF. Secondly, it omits critical key steps as set out in current
PPG, most importantly, demographic sensitivity testing and the assessment of employment trends
across the planning period. Finally, the approach as presented does not consider the implications
of vacancy rates within housing stock

National Planning Policy Framework - NPPF

Para. 19 of the NPPF suggests that “the Government is committed to ensuring that the planning
system does everything it can to support sustainable economic growth. Planning should operate
to encourage and not act as an impediment to sustainable growth. Therefore significant weight
should be placed on the need to support economic growth through the planning system.” Para.
20 of the NPPF goes on to state that “to help achieve economic growth, local planning authorities
should plan proactively to meet the development needs of business and support an economy fit
for the 21st century.”

In doing this, NPPF states that local planning authorities should work together with county and
neighbouring authorities and with Local Enterprise Partnerships to prepare and maintain a robust
evidence base to understand both existing business needs and likely changes in the market; and,
work closely with the business community to understand their changing needs and identify and
address barriers to investment, including a lack of housing, infrastructure or viability.” (Para. 160).

The consultation paper does recognise the importance of supporting sustainable economic growth
through the plan making process. At Para. 46 the consultation paper sets out that:

“Plan makers may put forward proposals that lead to a local housing need above that given by our
proposed approach. This could be as a result of a strategic infrastructure project, or through
increased employment (and hence housing) ambition as a result of a Local Economic Partnership
investment strategy, a bespoke housing deal with Government or through delivering the modern
Industrial Strategy. We want to make sure that we give proper support to those ambitious authorities
who want to deliver more homes. To facilitate this we propose to amend planning guidance so that
where a plan is based on an assessment of local housing need in excess of that which the standard
method would provide, Planning Inspectors are advised to work on the assumption that the approach
adopted is sound unless there are compelling reasons to indicate otherwise.”

However, the use of a combination of baseline ONS-SNPP and DCLG housing projection data
together with the application of a formula to account for housing affordability at the local level. In
these terms, the derived figure of 1,368 dwellings per annum is transparent.

1Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Page 67



Question 1

However, given the importance of ensuring plans support sustainable economic growth, as set out
in NPPF, it is considered that a specific methodolgy is required to assess the impact of the matters
set out in paragraph 46 of the consultation. In the absence of a clear and transparent method by
which to assess the implications of employment trends it is likely that this will remain a major area
of uncertainty and speculation in the development of a figure for housing need.

Planning Policy Guidance - PPG

PPG is clear with regard to a stepped process by which to determine local housing need. The
following steps are set out in PPG:

1. Establish the relevant functional area to assess needs – for housing need, this is the Housing
Market Area (HMA) as defined by PPG (Paragraph: 010 Reference ID: 2a-010-20140306).

2. Make use of the household projections published by DCLG as the starting point estimate (PPG
Paragraph: 015 Reference ID: 2a-015-20140306).

3. Consider sensitivity testing specific to their local circumstances, based on alternative
assumptions in relation to the underlying demographic projections and household formation
rates. (PPG Paragraph: 017 Reference ID: 2a-017-20140306).

4. Take account of employment trends (Paragraph: 018 Reference ID: 2a-018-20140306) by
making an assessment of the likely change in job numbers based on past trends and/or
economic forecasts as appropriate and also having regard to the growth of the working age
population in the housing market area.

5. Take account of market signals (Paragraph: 020 Reference ID: 2a-020-20140306).

6. Consider an increase in the total housing figures where it could help deliver the total number
of affordable homes (Paragraph 029: Reference ID: 2a-029-20140306)

Again, in the context of PPG it is clear that two key steps are deleted from the methodological
process proposed by DCLG (steps 3 and 4 above).

Firstly, there is no means by which to identify and consider alternate demographic scenarios based
upon longer term historic demographic data. There is a concern that shorter term trends can be
more susceptible to one off events in the economic cycle (for example the financial crash post
2007) which can downwardly suppress demographic data in the short term. It is therefore reasonable
to develop demographic scenarios based upon longer term trends in order to capture the effects
of a full economic cycle. This ability is not afforded through the methodology which has been
proposed in the consultation paper and which only reflects a shorter term trend. This considers
only a starting point housing number based upon the projected period 2016-2026 in isolation from
historic demographic trends.

In order to address this concern, the methodology should make provision to consider a long term
trend. This would ensure that demographic trends are considered over a longer term than the
baseline shorter term trend.

Secondly, in relation to the consideration of employment trends, there is no prescription within the
methodology to consider the implications of either past employment trends or future employment
forecasts as part of the assessment of sustainable economic growth in a transparent way. This is

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places2

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Page 68



Question 1

a major omission and neglects a key and significant link in the process. It is well understood that
where the size of an area’s working age population is not sufficient to meet with forecast expectations
of employment growth then enhanced net migration may be required to meet the shortfall. This, in
turn, may have implications for an uplift in local housing numbers. It would appear that the process
to determine employment trends does not fully reflect this potential range of employment
circumstances.

It is considered that a mechanism for the assessment of future jobs, based on past trends or
economic forecasts (as appropriate) and the implications for housing need should be included in
the methodology. It is recognised that the current PPGmethodology does not prescribe an approach
to address this issue, and that this has been interpreted in different ways which has in part
contributed to the length of Local Plan examinations and S.78 appeals. Whilst paragraph 46 of the
consultation document notes that increased employment is a consideration in assessing housing
needs, no method is prescribed. The document at present will not serve to shorten discussions at
examinations or appeals.

Vacancy Rates

The relationship between households and dwellings in local housing need scenarios is usually
modelled using a ‘vacancy rate’, sourced from the 2011 Census. The vacancy rate is calculated
using statistics on households (occupied, second homes and vacant) and dwellings (shared and
unshared). This factor has not been given any consideration in the context of the consultation
paper.

A vacancy rate of 4.1% for County Durham is applied, based upon the Census 2011 figure. Using
this vacancy rate, the ‘dwelling requirement’ for each household growth trajectory is determined.
This results in a dpa figure which is higher than the household change figure which would appear
to have been presented by DCLG. If a 4.1% vacancy rate were to be applied to the 1,368 ‘dpa’
presented for County Durham, then the dpa figure would rise to 1,425 dpa.

It is proposed that a local figure on vacancy rates is applied for each plan area derived from the
most recent census information.

Question 2

Do you agree with the proposal that an assessment of local housing need should be able to be
relied upon for a period of two years from the date a plan is submitted?

Response

This proposal is welcomed as it would avoid the need to recalculate local housing need following
the submission of a local plan. From past experience this has led to delays and considerable
uncertainty both during and following the examination process. Whilst the data release cycle for
both ONS-SNPP and DCLG household projection data is now on a more regular and synchronised
two yearly cycle there have been occasions in recent years when this was not the case. Further,
household projection data was released in two stages at one point. There have also been other
local instances in which revised SNPP data has been released just days prior to an Examination
in Public leading to the need to completely revisit the local housing need number at short notice.
The development and presentation of demographic evidence to support local housing plans is
subject to an increasing degree of public scrutiny. In these circumstances it is important to avoid
the potential to introduce new data sources which can be subjected to divergent modes of

3Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Page 69



Question 2

interpretation once an Examination in Public process is underway. When new data has been
introduced to an EiP process this has invariably resulted in further obfuscation and confusion in
relation to a contested area. The proposed two year period would address these issues

Local Plan development is undertaken in stages (in line with regulation 18 and 19). It is therefore
prudent to ensure that local housing needs assessments developed at each plan stage can be
relied on for a period of 2 years. The concern is that, evidence developed as part of a preferred
option or other pre submission stage local plan could be undermined by release of data. This would
mean that plan making would be delayed. A two year period associated with each plan stage would
enable greater certainty in plan production and evidence development.

Question 3

Do you agree that we should amend national planning policy so that a sound plan should identify
local housing need using a clear and justified method?

Response

Durham County Council is committed to adopting a sustainable and deliverable local plan at the
earliest opportunity. As well as meeting its housing requirement in terms of quantum, the Council
also requests that policy ensures we can deliver the right houses in the right locations to support
a strong and competitive economy. In order to progress a local plan for County Durham, it is
necessary that stability and certainty is brought to the plan making process.

The Housing White Paper also consulted on a change to the soundness tests to 'an' appropriate
strategy for the area. We welcomed that proposal and similarly welcome the proposal to amend
the soundness tests further to ensure development needs are identified using a clear and justified
method as well as meeting objectively assessed development needs insofar is reasonable possibly.

Paragraph 9 of the consultation document suggests that local authorities then need to determine
whether there are any environmental designations or other physical or policy constraints which
could prevent authorities from meeting this need. Whilst the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) is clear that Green Belt boundaries should only be altered in exceptional circumstances,
the Housing White Paper then seeks comments on whether to amend national policy to make clear
that authorities should amend Green Belt only when they can demonstrate that they have examined
full all other reasonable options. The inference from the HousingWhite Paper is that unmet housing
need is a legitimate exceptional circumstances to be considered through the plan making process
however the current consultation seems to suggest that need does not need to be met.

In principle, it is therefore agreed that a sound plan should identify local housing need using a clear
and justified method subject to the detailed comments set out against other questions. However
more clarity and guidance is needed regarding instances where circumstances can be regarded
as exceptional to allow local authorities to have confidence in their ability to produce a sound plan.

We also note in paragraph 91 that the Government will engage with a range of stakeholders to
update planning guidance on identifying the housing need for individual groups. It is unclear from
paragraph 39 whether it will remain a role of the strategic housing market assessment to identify
the housing need for these individual groups or whether a completely new process is likely to be
included within the updated planning guidance.

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places4

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Page 70



Question 4

Do you agree with our approach in circumstances when plan makers deviate from the proposed
method, including the level of scrutiny we expect from Planning Inspectors?

Response

Whilst we welcome the intent that plan makers may put forward proposals that lead to a
housing figure above the Government's proposed approach, It is suggested that the proposed
method would greatly benefit from specific mechanisms or steps to accommodate for the matters
as set out in paragraph 46 of the consultation Whilst examples are given, no detail or guidance is
provided regarding how an authority could go about calculating an appropriate uplift or what
compelling reasons could indicate that this approach would be sound. For example, whether an
uplift would be justified if it included an authority looking at exceptional circumstances for the
consideration of releasing Green Belt land.

The County Durham Plan Issues and Options (June 2016) set out three population growth scenarios
within the 'County Durham Demographics Analysis and Forecasts' resulting in 1,717 houses per
year; 1,629 houses per year and 1,533 houses per year. The Government's proposed housing
number for County Durham is 1,368 which is at least 165 houses per year less than our assessment
of housing need. Given that the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) seeks to boost
significantly the supply of housing it is unclear how the Government's consultation allows for this.

Question 5

a) do you agree that the Secretary of State should have discretion to defer the period for using the
baseline for some local planning authorities? If so, how best could this be achieved, what minimum
requirements should be in place before the Secretary of State may exercise this discretion, and for
how long should such deferral be permitted?

b) do you consider that authorities that have an adopted joint local plan, or which are covered by
an adopted spatial development strategy, should be able to assess their five year land supply
and/or be measured for the purposes of the Housing Delivery Test, across the area as a whole?

c) do you consider that authorities that are not able to use the new method for calculating local
housing need should be able to use an existing or an emerging local plan figure for housing need
for the purposes of calculating five year land supply and to be measured for the purposes of the
Housing Delivery Test?

Response

a) It is agreed that in some specific cases more flexibility may be required in relation to the
timescales before applying the baseline. For consistency however this should be limited to a small
number of circumstances.

b) Authorities should only be able to assess five year land supply against adopted joint local
plans/adopted spatial development strategy in instances where it recognised that the assessments
of housing needs which informed them are not out of date.

5Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Page 71

http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/4011669


Question 5

c) More information and clarity would be needed setting out the instances where authorities are
unable to use the new method for calculating local housing, however, citing the examples given
(where local planning authorities do not align with local authority boundaries) it is logical to use any
locally identified housing need figure which exists in the absence of anything else.

Question 6

Do you agree with the proposed transitional arrangements for introducing the standard approach
for calculating local housing need?

Response

In December 2016, Durham County Council paused the progression of the County Durham Plan
owing to the then imminent release of the Housing White Paper. The proposed transitional
arrangements will therefore not apply. However in order to be able to progress a local plan at the
earliest opportunity it is necessary to ensure certainty and stability in the plan making process.

Question 7

a) do you agree with the proposed administrative arrangements for preparing the statement of
common ground?

b) how do you consider a statement of common ground should be implemented in areas where
there is a Mayor with strategic plan-making powers?

c) do you consider there to be a role for directly elected Mayors without strategic plan-making
powers, in the production of a statement of common ground?

Response

a) Although it appears logical that Statements of Common Ground are produced over housing
market areas it is not clear how this would work when the local authority is a self contained housing
market area. There is a suggestion that alternative areas can be agreed if justified but how exactly
this would work in the case of an authority like County Durham which has boundaries with 10 other
authorities including unitaries, districts and counties. More guidance on determining the areas for
Statements of Common Ground is therefore required.

The proposal that local authorities should only be signatories to those strategic issues in which
they have an interest is sensible and it also makes sense that counties and Marine Management
Organisation can also be signatories where relevant.

b) No Comment.

c) No Comment.

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places6

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Page 72



Question 8

Do you agree that the proposed content and timescales for publication of the statement of common
ground are appropriate and will support more effective co-operation on strategic cross-boundary
planning matters?

Response

Durham County Council take the legal, policy and practice requirements of the duty to cooperate
very seriously and work positively with neighbouring authorities and other statutory consultees on
strategic matters. This is in terms of maximising the effectiveness of the plan making process and
cooperating and engaging with the relevant bodies on an ongoing basis with regard to strategic
matters, including development and infrastructure requirements and other cross boundary issues.
We are ensuring that there has been effective joint working on cross boundary strategic matters
and priorities by setting in place clear processes for fulfilling the duty.

Through its Duty to Cooperate, we have maintained a record of discussions on strategic issues
with the Prescribed Bodies particularly where issues have arisen and collated evidence of how
these issues have been overcome and resolved. It would appear appropriate for the Statement of
Common Ground to be in addition to the Duty to Cooperate to ensure that strategic matters such
as Habitats Regulations Assessment with Natural England or any strategic highway issues with
Highways England are addressed also.

This existing work could form the starting point for our Statement of Common Ground and therefore
the requirements for the six month and twelve month timescales appear reasonable although the
timing of decisions made by individual local authorities may need to be taken into consideration
i.e. at different stages in plan making. In addition to the key milestones set out in the regulations it
would also be sensible to publish a Statement of Common Ground alongside a Preferred Options
if this stage was undertaken.

However what is not clear is if the Statements of Common Ground are in addition to the Duty to
Cooperate or actually replace it. If it is additional work this will have some resource implication but
would make more sense than if it is a replacement particularly in areas which are self contained
housing market areas.

In addition the Statement of Common Ground appears to introduce a Duty to Agree which could
in itself fetter decisions of a local authority. The requirement to agree could well bring about risks
in terms of delays to local plan production in terms of reaching a ransom where matters cannot be
agreed for example.

Question 9

a) do you agree with the proposal to amend the tests of soundness to include that:

i) plans should be prepared based on a strategy informed by agreements over the wider area; and

ii) plans should be based on effective joint working on cross-boundary strategic priorities, which
are evidenced in the statement of common ground?

b) do you agree to the proposed transitional arrangements for amending the tests of soundness
to ensure effective co-operation?

7Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Page 73



Question 9

Response

a i) Whilst in principle, the proposal to amend the tests of soundness to ensure plans are prepared
based on a strategy informed by agreements over the wider area is sensible, clarity is required on
what the Government deems to be 'the wider area'. This is particularly relevant in areas such as
County Durham which is a self contained housing market. As a self contained housing market area
it is unclear how the proposal for a Statement of Common Ground will operate and whether they
are prepared by neighbouring authorities regardless of whether or not they share a housing market
area.

a ii) National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) at paragraph 156 sets out strategic priorities for
the area. These strategic priorities have been the starting point for discussions with prescribed
bodies for the purposes of the Duty to Cooperate. Through its Duty to Cooperate, we havemaintained
a record of discussions on strategic issues with the Prescribed Bodies particularly where issues
have arisen and collated evidence of how these issues have been overcome and resolved. This
could form the starting point for our Statement of Common Ground and therefore the timescales
appear reasonable although the Statement of Common Ground could be better published alongside
each stage of the plan making process. We would reiterate however that the Statement of Common
Ground appears to introduce a requirement to agree which could result in delays to the plan-making
process in some situations. An inability to agree to a Statement of Common Ground does not in
itself indicate a plan is unsound in principle.

b) We are committed to adopting a sustainable and deliverable local plan at the earliest opportunity.
In order to progress a local plan for County Durham, it is necessary that stability and certainty is
brought to the plan making process. The transitional arrangements for the Statement of Common
Ground appear reasonable although clarity is required regarding self contained housing market
areas and whether and what Government deems to be a 'wider area'. This needs to be considered
ahead of the publication of the revised NPPF.

Question 10

a) do you have suggestions on how to streamline the process for identifying the housing need for
individual groups and what evidence could be used to help plan to meet the needs of particular
groups?

b) do you agree that the current definition of older people within the National Planning Policy
Framework is still fit-for-purpose?

Response

a) This is an extensive question relating to the methodology of the Strategic Housing Market
Assessment rather than the proposed methodology on housing numbers. We have limited our
comments to the types and tenures specifically identified in the text of the consultation but the issue
could perhaps be better addressed in a separate consultation:

Older and disabled people, Affordable Housing, Families with children: Reliable and annually
up-dated evidence on the size, detailed nature and broad accessibility of the housing stock in each
local authority area is collected by the valuation office for Council Tax purposes. Skeleton information
is published for each local authority, although is not routinely used. Further development and
categorisation of this evidence base by, for instance, cross analysing it with social housing address

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places8

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Page 74



Question 10

data, ensuring it can be broken down by super output area, etc would be enormously beneficial in
planning for older peoples/disabled housing, affordable housing, family housing, and housing for
newly forming households. For instance, such an approach could accurately differentiate the number
of private and social bungalows in each area, which cannot currently be achieved.

Affordable housing andOlder People: In the context of a rapidly aging society, it would be helpful
if the DCLG collected and published information in the DCLG live tables on the number of social
houses in each local authority area, sub divided by retirement housing and general needs housing.
It would also be helpful if the DCLG similarly published information on new affordable housing
completed, subdivided by retirement and general needs housing. Social retirement housing is often
needed to meet medical need as much as affordability need.

Self-build and custom build development: It would be helpful if clearer guidance was given to
authorities in Planning Practice Guidance on how to define housing sites with planning permission
which could reasonably be considered to be suitable as serviced self build/custom build sites for
the purposes of interpreting recent regulations on this issue.

Student accommodation: The baseline demographic figure used in the standard methodology
appears to exclude those aged 18-21. County Durham includes a major University City and the
majority of its substantial student population is in this age group. The standard methodology needs
to clarify if this age group has indeed been excluded. If so, the methodology needs to clarify whether
local authorities which include an University Cities, like County Durham, can add an allowance for
students to their future housing figure, incorporating any plans that universities may have for their
future growth.

Travellers who have ceased to travel: County Durham has extensive experience with Gypsies
and Travellers. It has the second highest number of social pitches of any authority in England and
routinely manages seasonal travel to events like Appleby Fair. It has also been recognised as a
best practise authority in its management of Gypsy and Traveller sites. Despite the Council’s positive
relationship with its Gypsy and Traveller Community and very extensive efforts, we have been
unable to identify or understand the needs of our housed Gypsy and Traveller population, which
we know accounts for the majority of this population. Our recent Travellers Assessment also shows
that census figures on this population are extremely inaccurate. In the context of our experience,
it is clear that it would be extremely difficult indeed to plan for the housing needs of this group. It
would indeed be harder to make a practical assessment of their needs than it is for the site population
– which experience across the country has already shown to be a very challenging exercise.

Private rented sector and build to rent housing: The extent of the private rented sector has
changed rapidly over the past ten years. The census is the only reliable information which can be
broken down to meaningful geographies and this quickly becomes out of date. Better information
to identify changing trends in the extent of the private rented sector at geographies relevant to
planning could perhaps be achieved through a breakdown of information from the Valuation Service
which informs the Local Housing Allowance and/or tax returns which give details of income from
rental properties.

b) The definition of older people in Annex 2 does require some amendment. The current definition
is limited to people of retirement age or above. In the context of an aging society, there are two
reasons why we consider this definition of older people to be too narrow:

1. Research clearly shows that people experience the disabilities of old age at varying ages
depending on socio-economic group, lifestyle, employment issues (like being employed in
manual trades), and genetic inheritance. This is unrelated to a retirement age which is ever

9Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Page 75



Question 10

increasing. It is well documented that those living in poorer areas, in particular, can have life
expectancy which is significantly below the national average. Their housing needs as they
age, sometimes prematurely, need to be understood and accommodated in planning for
housing.

2. Many in older age groups that are below retirement age, whether they are disabled or in good
health, have positive plans or aspirations to move to housing which will better meet their needs
as they age. In an aging society, it is particularly important to understand and plan for these
demands and aspirations, which also address issues of under-occupation and increasing the
availability of family housing. It would be misleading for the definition to suggest that these
general needs could be met purely be accessible and adaptable homes, rather than specific
house types.

The definition of older people could therefore be improved by including the following: 'People under
or over retirement age experiencing the disabilities of old age or people who are of an age where
they wish to make plans to move to housing which better meets their needs as they age.'

This can encompass those who are active and continue to work, are retired, or are increasingly
experiencing the disabilities of old age, including the frail elderly. Their housing needs can
encompass appropriate general needs housing like bungalows, flats and accessible housing for
those looking to downsize from family housing along with the full range of retirement and specialist
housing for those with support or care needs.

Question 11

a) should a local plan set out the housing need for designated neighbourhood planning areas and
parished areas within the area?

b) do you agree with the proposal for a formula-based approach to apportion housing need to
neighbourhood plan bodies in circumstances where the local plan cannot be relied on as a basis
for calculating housing need?

Response

a) The introduction of this proposal as an absolute requirement of local plans would only be workable
in practice if there is full coverage of such areas falling within the local authorities jurisdiction and/or
that the neighbourhood areas are contiguous with the parish area to which they relate. For example
within County Durham there are currently 102 parish areas and 22 designated neighbourhood plan
areas. Some of these neighbourhood areas relate to only part of a parish area. Additionally part of
the county remains unparished and not subject to a neighbourhood area designation.

In addition not all neighbourhood plans emerging within the county are seeking to specifically
address housing need. Therefore whilst the council considers that this may, in some cases, be a
relevant geographical basis to set a housing need figure, a degree of flexibility should be allowed to
cater for these localised situations where this would not be appropriate, for example where the
parish is very small.

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places10

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Page 76



Question 11

b) The council considers that this approach would be very difficult to apply. The areas covered by
neighbourhood plans can sometimes be very small to the point where an application of a formula
would be impractical. Furthermore distributing the housing need figure proportionate to all
neighbourhood plan areas would prejudice a local plan's ability to distribute housing according to
a plan strategy.

Question 12

Do you agree that local plans should identify the infrastructure and affordable housing needed,
how these will be funded and the contributions developers will be expected to make?

Response

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) at paragraph 173 to 177 sets out that sustainable
development requires careful attention to viability and costs in plan-making and decision-taking
and this includes requirements for affordable housing and infrastructure contributions. Paragraph
174 is clear that policies on local standards are set out in the Local Plan, including requirements
for affordable housing. This is the purpose of a whole plan viability study together with the
Infrastructure Delivery Plan. It is unclear what additional changes to the NPPF would achieve. In
order to progress a local plan for County Durham, it is necessary that stability and certainty is
brought to the plan making process.

Question 13

In reviewing guidance on testing plans and policies for viability, what amendments could be made
to improve current practice?

Response

In order to progress a local plan for County Durham, it is necessary that stability and certainty is
brought to the plan making process. Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) recognises that the testing
of viability at a plan making stage has to be proportionate and given the range of site allocations
it is not proportionate to individually test each site and therefore broad assumptions must be made.
This is recognised within Paragraph: 006 Reference ID: 10-006-20140306. Local Plans must remain
responsive to change with in built flexibility to respond to changing market conditions.

In order to ensure that policies including affordable housing are tested. It is necessary for the
proposed change in affordable housing definition to be resolved at the earliest opportunity so it can
be taken into account in assessing the plan viability.

PPG is helpful that it recognises that viability with plan making and decision taking however as this
consultation recognises local authorities do face challenge from the development industry about
providing evidence around land values and other costs and revenue. It is not in the interests of
developers to provide this information and therefore negotiations at both the plan making and
decision taking stage can prove challenging for local authorities.

11Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Page 77



Question 14

Do you agree that where policy requirements have been tested for their viability, the issue should
not usually need to be tested again at the planning application stage?

Response

County Durham is a unitary authority which covers over 232 communities of differing character and
size. To ensure a deliverable local plan, the costs of policy requirements to be applied to development
including affordable housing, sustainable drainage, open space and other infrastructure requirements
such as education will need to be taken into account to ensure that development is viable. The
scale of the County means that there are significant differences in viability across the geographical
area to the point where high value can be right next to low value areas.

In order to test plan viability, assumptions which relate to new development such as build costs,
sales proves, profit, abnormal costs are land values can applied but these are only assumptions.
Realistic assumptions are applied but these may not be appropriate to an actual site specific
circumstance once further evidence becomes available to the developer for example unanticipated
abnormal site specific costs. In our experience in County Durham, there are too many variables to
be relied upon for the plan making stage and this will also mean that assumptions will be more
heavily challenged at the plan making process placing the burden of proof on the local authority.

We agree that the policy requirements should be set out at the plan making stage and these must
be taken into consideration during negotiations between a developer and the landowner, however
the inability to test viability at a planning application stage is likely to mean there is little opportunity
to negotiate in circumstances where costs were unexpectedly higher. Our practice is that we only
discuss viability as a planning application stage if the proposal is not compliant with policy e.g. A
scheme is unable to deliver the full requirement for affordable housing. In areas where viability is
a challenge this could ultimately render sites unviable with little opportunity to negotiate on policy
requirements to allow the site to be delivered and also a lower proportion of affordable housing to
be negotiated.

Question 15

How can Government ensure that infrastructure providers, including housing associations, are
engaged throughout the process, including in circumstances where a viability assessment may be
required?

Response

As part of the plan making process, we have worked with statutory undertakers, utility companies
and other agencies to identify the need for new infrastructure. If additional infrastructure is not
delivered alongside new development, it can put pressure on existing facilities that may not have
the ability or capacity to cope with the additional demand. Local Plans need to be supported by
Infrastructure Delivery Plans for this purpose and will play a key role in securing private sector
involvement in infrastructure delivery, and in aligning the programmes of various providers.
Traditionally we have strong involvement from housing associations and infrastructure providers
with the exception of gas and electricity providers. In our experience it is increasingly difficult to
engage with these.

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places12

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Page 78



Question 16

What factors should we take into account in updating guidance to encourage viability assessments
to be simpler, quicker and more transparent, for example through a standardised report or summary
format?

Response

Currently any negotiations with applicants that take place in County Durham involve viability
assessments which are kept confidential for commercial reasons. Already we receive viability
appraisals which apply assumptions which have been made for plan making purposes rather than
actual information on costs for example. A summary format may not necessarily be appropriate for
a situation where challenge is provided to the assumptions. The risk of making such viability
assessment publicly accessible is that developers will be even more reluctant to demonstrate their
true costs and will instead default to generalised assumptions which will hinder an authority's ability
to effectively challenge and negotiate.

Question 17

a) do you agree that local planning authorities should set out in plans how they will monitor and
report on planning agreements to help ensure that communities can easily understand what
infrastructure and affordable housing has been secured and delivered through developer
contributions?

b) what factors should we take into account in preparing guidance on a standard approach to
monitoring and reporting planning obligations?

c) how can local planning authorities and applicants work together to better publicise infrastructure
and affordable housing secured through new development once development has commenced, or
at other stages of the process?

Response

a) Durham County Council consider that this is important, from a transparency and accountability
perspective, to monitor and have information available to demonstrate what contributions will be
forthcoming from developments in an area. However it may be more appropriate to report the
information in a Annual Monitoring Report or Statement of Community Involvement rather in the
main body of a local plan.

b) The factors which should be taken into account is the relevant information that people within a
community would be interested in, i.e. what obligation the development related to, how much it is,
and where it is going to be spent within the local area. We would seek clarification on why it would
be necessary to include this in a local plan however if the Government intends to provide guidance
on this matter.

c) A local planning authority and applicants could issue press releases or maintain website pages
(whether hosted by the applicant, local planning authority or jointly) which lets the community know
what is happening with the development, and what has and will be delivered in the future. It could
also provide details setting out what projects the community might be able to access, or influence
what s106 monies should be spent on.

13Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Page 79



Question 17

However, it is recognised that joint developer/local planning authority press coverage may lead to
perception or angst in the community if it was a particularly contentious application that was
approved.

Question 18

a) do you agree that a further 20 per cent fee increase should be applied to those local planning
authorities who are delivering the homes their communities need? What should be the criteria to
measure this?

b) do you think there are more appropriate circumstances when a local planning authority should
be able to charge the further 20 per cent? If so, do you have views on how these circumstances
could work in practice?

c) should any additional fee increase be applied nationally once all local planning authorities meet
the required criteria, or only to individual authorities who meet them?

d) are there any other issues we should consider in developing a framework for this additional fee
increase?

Response

a) No, because delivery of housing is often outside of the control of local authorities, Local
authorities can grant the permissions, but have no control over the market or whether developers
will build out the sites and consents. A more appropriate criteria to measure this would the level
of consents granted to enable enough homes to be built for their community's needs.

b) Yes, see previous answer. Speed of delivery of consents could be an example.

c) It should only apply to individual authorities who meet them.

d) Consideration should be given to an option of doubling the application fees but with developers
getting a rebate if they build out their scheme within a set time. If they do not deliver then they
would not get a refund. It would be much more effective having incentives for implementing
consents rather than just landbanking them.

Question 19

Having regard to the measures we have already identified in the Housing White Paper, are there
any other actions that could increase build out rates?

Response

It is considered that more incentives and options are needed nationally to stimulate house building,
such as allowing local authorities to build more housing and the ability of local authorities to take
into consideration past performance (track record) of those applying for consent.

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places14

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Page 80



Question 19

Durham County Council is keen to ensure sites with permission come forward to meet identified
housing needs and to introduce measures which would achieve this. It would therefore be useful
to take into account the realistic prospect of housing being built on a site which has had a past
history of the non implementation of earlier permissions. Such a site may be counted as a
'commitment' within the housing development pipeline therefore being counted towards meeting
future housing needs. It is important therefore that commitments will genuinely deliver new housing.

It is suggested that one approach would be to introduce a two stage approach to implementation
of a planning consent for all schemes. The first stage would be the preliminary acts which means
anything done on the site is actually governed by the permission. The second would mean revisiting
what is meant by ‘colourable’ implementations for section 56 purposes. At present, a permission
can be kept alive by digging a trench for future foundations. There is an opportunity to amend this
definition to make the start more meaningful such as having to develop estate roads.

15Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

COUNTY DURHAM PLAN 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

WHAT WE’RE DOING AND WHEN 
 
 

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 
 
 

November 2017 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 83



 

1 

THE LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 
 
The Local Development Scheme (LDS) is an essential part of the plan preparation 
process. It is a project plan that represents an agreement with central government 
outlining the arrangements for producing this new plan. It is the starting point for all 
interested parties to find out about the council’s emerging planning policies in respect 
to a particular area or issue. It illustrates the relationship between the individual 
documents currently proposed and how they fit into the council’s wider strategies. 
This project plan supersedes any previously adopted by Durham County Council.  
 
THE COUNTY DURHAM PLAN 
 
The County Durham Plan is being produced in accordance with government 
legislation and guidance. It provides a new and up to date policy context against 
which all planning applications and development proposals will be assessed and 
determined. It will be a key influence and steer in the manner in which the county will 
develop and prosper during the plan period and beyond.   
 
COUNTY DURHAM PLAN STRUCTURE 
 
The Local Plan sets out the spatial vision and strategic objectives for future 
development of the County, including minerals and waste, to which all supporting 
documents must conform. It will contain policies and site allocations to deliver these 
objectives, on which planning applications will be determined. The Local Plan will 
also contain a framework for monitoring and implementation. 
 
The Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations document will develop the 
strategic minerals and waste content of the County Durham Plan. Strategic 
components of the waste and minerals including strategic sites where justified and 
necessary will be allocated in the County Durham Plan. Where needed and justified 
the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations document will allocate non-strategic 
minerals and waste sites.  
 
The Proposals Map uses an Ordnance Survey base to depict the areas to which 
each of the policies contained within the County Durham Plan will apply. For 
example, it will show areas which have been allocated for specific types of 
development, such as industrial estates and retail areas; and designations such as 
conservation areas, where special controls apply. 
 
MILESTONES 
 
The key milestones for the production of each document that makes up the 
development plan are shown in Figure 1 below. 
 
SUSTAINABILITY APPRAISAL 
 

The County Durham Plan is subject to Sustainability Appraisal (SA). It considers the 
environmental, social and economic impacts of the policies and proposals. This will 
allow the County Durham Plan to comply with the Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA) Directive (European Directive 2001/42/EC). 

Page 84



 

2 

 
MONITORING AND REVIEW 
 
Each year an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) will be prepared to assess progress 
on the delivery of the County Durham Plan and to review the effectiveness of County 
Durham Plan policies. The AMR is published each year and assesses the following 
factors:  

 Progress on the delivery of the County Durham Plan compared with LDS 
milestones.  

 Reasons for any variance and proposed actions.  

 Any factors that may impact on the following year’s LDS milestones and 
planned action. 

 The need for new evidence or research.  

 A review of policy effectiveness.  

 A trajectory of future housing provision against housing requirements.  
 
The LDS will be reviewed and rolled forward when necessary to take account of 
changes to national or regional policy, progress on the programme, milestones and 
the content of the AMR. The flexible nature of the system means that new documents 
can be added to the LDS as circumstances change.  
 
 

Page 85



 

 3 

Figure 1 – Local Development Scheme Milestones 
 

 

 

S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D

Local Plan 18 18 19 19 S PE E E IIR E FIR A

Minerals and Waste 

Allocations
18 18 19 19 S PE E IR A

Document Preparation 19 Regulation 19 Consultation E Examination

18 Regulation 18 Consultation S Submission IIR FIR Receipt of Inspectors Reports

Consideration of Representations PE Pre-examination meeting A Adoption

20202019County Durham 

Plan Documents

2017 2018

P
age 86



2Introduction1

3Background2

4Education Provision - The National Picture3

5Education Provision - County Durham Picture4

7School Pupil Place Provision5

8Working with Developers6

10Calculating Developer Contributions7

Securing Developer Contributions towards Education Provision in County Durham 2017

Contents

Page 87



Introduction

1.1 The purpose of this document is to consider the potential pupil impact on pupil numbers as a
result of housing growth within County Durham and the resulting additional school places required
as a result of future development.

1.2 The report is not intended to address wider education matters relating to school organisation
which is a matter for the School Places and Admissions Team in Children and Young People's
Services.

Securing Developer Contributions towards Education Provision in County Durham 20172

Introduction1

Page 88



Background

2.1 The Sustainable Communities Strategy and Regeneration Statement sets out where the County
aims to be in 2033, which includes having a thriving economy and bridging the gap between its
economic performance and that of other parts of the North East and the rest of England. The County
will be a top location for business, capitalising on its strategic location in relation to road, rail and air
transportation and a distinctive multi-centred settlement pattern will comprise sustainable and
regenerated communities.

2.2 To meet the vision for sustainable communities it is essential that residents can live close to
employment opportunities and have access to local facilities. Where possible, new residential
development should help support schools, including those where pupil numbers have fallen, plan for
use of surplus capacity and where necessary contribute towards additional provision. Education
provision is critical to ensuring this vision is achieved. Where there is insufficient capacity to meet
the demands from a new housing proposal, it is critical that the developers engage with the local
education authority through the Development Management process to ensure that additional provision
can be secured.

3Securing Developer Contributions towards Education Provision in County Durham 2017

2Background

Page 89

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2470/Sustainable-Community-Strategy
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2385/Regeneration-Statement


Education Provision - The National Picture (England)(a)

3.1 The Office for National Statistics (ONS) has produced an overview of key findings from its
analysis of pupil numbers using the 2016 School Census information. This represents the national
picture and 'broadly' reflects the situation in County Durham.

3.2 Key Points:

Overall pupil numbers (aged up to and including 15) in state-funded schools began to increase
in 2011 and are projected to continue rising, although the numbers in primary and secondary
schools will obviously peak at different stages;
There was a 2.4% increase in the population in state-funded primary schools between 2015 and
2016. The annual rate of increase is them expected to fall slightly to 2.1% for 2017, due to
reducing birth rates, It is then projected to continue falling to 0.9% for 2020 and turn to negative
at -0.2% for 2023;
The overall population in state-funded primary schools was 4,479,000 in 2016 and is projected
to be 4,651,000 in 2025 (an increase of 3.7% on the 2016 pupil roll); and
In 2016 the overall number of pupils in secondary schools increased for the first time since 2009
reaching 2,758,000. This is because increased births from 2002 onwards means there are now
large numbers entering secondary school at age 11 than are leaving at age 16. Tolls will continue
to rise to reach a peak if 3,325,000 which is 567,000 higher than it was in 2015 and a 20.5%
increase over the whole 2016-2025 projection period.

a 2016

Securing Developer Contributions towards Education Provision in County Durham 20174

Education Provision - The National Picture3

Page 90



Education Provision - County Durham Picture

4.1 Durham County Council has a statutory responsibility as the Local Authority to ensure there
are sufficient school places for pupils within the County. Pupil place planning is a critical aspect of
the Local Authority's duty to assess the local need for school places to ensure that every child can
be provided with a place in a state funded school in County Durham. A pupil place planning document
is produced annually which gives an overview of current and future pupil numbers which supports
the future pattern and provision of school places across the County.

Forecasting Primary and Secondary Pupil Numbers

4.2 When Children and Young Peoples Services produce and update the Pupil Place Planning
document all pupil projections are based on relevant data provided from a range of sources, which
includes:

Health Authorities (live births);
Termly School Census (January, October, May each year);
Primary School patterns of transition to secondary school;
Neighbouring Authorities (transfer of information regarding pupil movement across borders and
school re-organisation proposals);
Housing data on new build developments and demolition programmes that have received planning
permission;
Early Years and Sure Start (nursery/childcare figures); and
Staying on rate at Post-16.

4.3 Pupil rolls in primary schools are projected by using data provided by the Health Authority on
the number of children born in County Durham. The data has postcodes and birth dates for all of the
children which are then used to estimate the intake for the reception year of primary schools in
forthcoming years.

4.4 Forecasting secondary school pupils is carried out at the same time as forecasting primary
numbers. Primary numbers feed through to the secondary phase, so our current projections have
the advantage that seven year groups are already in the school system.

4.5 The basic technique for forecasting secondary pupil numbers is to project forward the numbers
of children transferring to secondary schools from specific primary schools each year. This exercise
is carried out by Performance and Data Team within Children and Young People's Services. We
then adjust these forward projections to include other important factors.

4.6 These key factors are:

Expected House Building - The School Places and Admissions Team receive information from
colleagues in Regeneration andEconomic Development (DevelopmentManagement) on proposed
housing developments which are in the process of seeking planning approval;
Migration Trends - Migration trends means taking account of the additional numbers of children
expected to move in or out of a particular area or neighbouring authority and the arrival of new
migrants from abroad. Currently, less than 2% of our primary school pupils have moved in from
other authorities and less than 2% of our resident population go out of the Authority for their
education. We do not monitor nationalities of children, but English is the first language of nearly
98% of primary children.In respect of secondary schools, less than 1.5% of pupils have moved
in from other authorities, but more than 5.5% go out of the Authority for their education. English
is the first language for more than 98% of secondary children;
Changes in School Organisation - Recent or planned changes in number, size, age range,
and location of schools has an impact on pupil place planning. Pupil planning takes account of

5Securing Developer Contributions towards Education Provision in County Durham 2017

4Education Provision - County Durham Picture

Page 91



proposed changes to the current pattern and provision at primary age, 11-16, Post-16 and
provision in Special Schools; and
Schools' Popularity - The School Places and Admissions Team in Children and Young People's
Services monitors parental preference and admissions into schools. Any change in patterns of
admissions to both primary and secondary schools is taken into account.

Surplus Places

4.7 While it is not cost effective to maintain large numbers of surplus places, local authorities cannot
and should not try to eliminate all surplus capacity. A certain level of surplus places is necessary
because:

It allows greater opportunity to respond to parental choice;
There may be unpredicted changes to demographic patterns, with a sudden influx of children
to particular areas; and
There may be unexpected changes to house building patterns.

4.8 There is no single 'ideal' level of overall surplus capacity, since this varies from authority to
authority. It is reasonable to aim for between 5% and 10% overall surplus across the authority. Patterns
show that a reasonable figure for urban areas is around 5% whereas in more rural areas it is around
10%. As Durham has a number of 'rural' areas the aim is to work to a target of no more than 10%
surplus places overall. It is recognised that in some rural areas in County Durham it may be difficult
to achieve this target.

4.9 To enable effective planning and to respond to factors which cannot be predicted such as
changes in parental preference, the Council, where practicable, will aim for no less than 5% surplus
places across local school place planning areas. This figure was suggested by the Department for
Education and the National Audit Office as being the bare minimum needed for local authorities to
meet the statutory duty with operational flexibility while enabling parents to have some choice of
schools.

Rising Pupil Numbers

4.10 As at 1 April 2017 in the primary sector there are 193 Primary Schools (12 of which are
Academies), 11 Infant Schools (one of which is an Academy) and 11 Junior Schools (1 of which is
an Academy). In the secondary sector there are 30 Secondary Schools (14 of which are Academies),
1 Sixth Form Centre and 2 14-19 Studio Schools.

4.11 Children and Adult Services continuously review data to determine those pupil place planning
areas and schools where there will be pressure on school places in the future and allocate resources
to provide additional school places. These places can be provided by either remodelling current
accommodation, extending the current building or providing demountable buildings. The aim is to
provide the extra places required as soon as possible subject to funding being available.

Projected Pupil Numbers (Primary)

4.12 The total number of primary school places available across all schools in the County is currently
45,197.

Projected Pupil Numbers (11-16)

4.13 The total number of secondary school places available across all schools in the County for
pupils aged 11-16 is currently 36,424.

Securing Developer Contributions towards Education Provision in County Durham 20176

Education Provision - County Durham Picture4

Page 92



School Pupil Place Provision Context Statement

5.1 Pupil Place Planning is a critical aspect of the Local Authority's statutory duty to assess the
local need for school places to ensure that every child can be provided with a place in a state-funded
school in County Durham. The Local Authority has a statutory duty to assess the local need for school
places to ensure that every child can be provided with a suitable place in a state-funded school in its
area within high quality, stimulating and successful learning environments. The Local Authority needs
to identify what school places are needed at present and in the future and how they will be provided.
The challenge for the Local Authority in attempting to secure “value for money” and good quality
education for all, is to provide the right number of places in the right locations.

5.2 Local Authorities need to show that they have robust procedures and systems for forecasting
pupil numbers and identifying changes in local circumstances. These systems help to ensure there
will be the right number of schools in the right places for the number of pupils expected in the future.

5.3 Schools submit data on pupil rolls to the Local Authority in October, January and May each
year through the Termly School Census. A review of the projected rolls (for approximately 10 years
hence) is carried out annually. Schools are encouraged to play an active role in the pupil place
planning process and to identify at an early stage any concerns with projections that may impact on
future school planning.

5.4 There is a diverse pattern of population distribution and school provision across County Durham
so that there are both areas of place shortages and surplus places that currently exist both in specific
locations and individual schools that see considerable levels of over and under subscription. The
result is that specific locations and schools have either a deficient or a surplus of school places. It is
important that any new house building should take account of available school surplus places, and
that, new builds ought to strengthen community demand for school places. In addition, housing
development needs to generate a pupil place demand which sits inside any council strategic vision
for the primary school estate and its centrality to local community life.

7Securing Developer Contributions towards Education Provision in County Durham 2017

5School Pupil Place Provision

Page 93



Pre-application Discussions

6.1 The Council appreciates that developers will require certainty and expect to know the extent
of any financial contributions necessary to mitigate the effects of their development prior to submitting
a planning application in order to ensure the viability of their scheme. Themethodology for contributions
towards additional education provision is set out in this document and enables the level of contribution
(if any) that is required on a clear and consistent basis. All advice provided by Council staff will be
on a 'without prejudice' basis, and can only be accurate at the point in time it is given.

6.2 It should be noted that circumstances can change between contributions being calculated and
formal assessment of a planning applications. Scenarios which could have an impact include:

Other planning applications;
Changes to scheme (e.g. number of houses);
Annual updating of pupil forecasts;
EFA funding reviews; and
Changes to school management and structures.

6.3 Where a development is required to provide mitigation and it is uncertain if existing schools
within a pupil place planning area can accommodate the additional places, a first stage feasibility
study will be requested. The feasibility study can be undertaken by the County Council, however, the
detailed specifications can also be provided to developers if they wish to procure their own study. All
feasibility work will be at the cost of developers.

Planning Applications

6.4 When considering applications for housing, it is important for the council to also look at the long
term education planning requirements. There are going to be significant changes to the way that
schools are funded in the future, therefore, in planning our education provision, schools need to be
financially viable. Nationally LAs are being encouraged to move towards two form entry primary
schools (60 pupils in each year gap) to make them financially viable in the long term. It may therefore
be the case that a more strategic approach for some areas is not simply to add more classrooms to
existing primary schools if the council is to have significantly larger primary schools.

6.5 The need or otherwise for developer contributions towards education provision will be identified
at either the outline or full planning application stage, or where a developer subsequently seeks to
vary the number or type of units.

6.6 When a development site comes forward the County Council will identify which schools or
school place area(s) are considered to be impacted on by the development. Where schools are in
close proximity to the proposed development but are in a different pupil place planning area they may
still be considered as related schools if they meet the criteria on lack of surplus capacity and can
demonstrate a likely demand from families moving to the development.

Assessing the Sufficiency of Places

6.7 Contributions towards additional places will be sought where forecasts suggest that the
appropriate education establishments or pupil place planning area in relation to the development
cannot reasonably accommodate the expected increase in demand for places. Contributions will be
requested in those cases where a development will result in a specific school or pupil place planning
area having less than 5% surplus places.

Securing Developer Contributions towards Education Provision in County Durham 20178

Working with Developers6

Page 94



6.8 The Pupil Place Planning document referred to in section 4 sets out the current and projected
school rolls. This data is updated on an annual basis. The need for additional places may be immediate
or gradual and it is necessary to take into account the future demand for places as well as the current
positions because:

Time lag between the planning application and completion of the development;
Additional demand for places generally comes a few years after a development is first occupied;
and
The development will be a permanent feature of the local community and it should not just cater
for the immediate impact.

6.9 When assessing the nearest school(s) to a development(s) to assess and calculate any developer
contributions, the Council will apply a distance of 2 miles from the development measured by the
shortest available safe walking route. In some cases the Council would not wish the nearest school
to be the one that is extended. The Council's School Places and Admissions Team can provide advice
and guidance in relation to school rolls and forecasted pupil numbers. In addition they will also be
able to provide advice in relation to relevant national and local policy and regulations in relation to
education matters and Council policies and procedures for admissions and home to school transport.

9Securing Developer Contributions towards Education Provision in County Durham 2017

6Working with Developers

Page 95



Calculating Developer Contributions

Pupil Yield Methodology

7.1 New residential developments generate a demand for education places in all age groups over
and above natural population changes. In terms of housing developments, some properties will clearly
not generate a significant need for additional places such as student accommodation and care homes.
Accurately predicting the number of pupils likely to be produced from new housing developments is
not straightforward as it depends upon various factors including the location and type of housing.

7.2 Research in line with guidance from the Education Funding Agency(b) has been undertaken
on a number of existing housing developments(c) in County Durham to determine the number of pupils
produced. Each residence in the development was allocated a postcode and this is cross checked
with information provided by schools via the pupil census. The pupil census lists all pupils attending
schools in County Durham together with their address including the postcode.

7.3 The detailed research undertaken on a number of housing developments over the last 20 years
has taken into account market trends and changes and indicates that the expected pupil yield from
specific local 'family' housing developments as follows;

0.3 primary aged pupils per house(d) (i.e. 'broadly' 3 houses typically generate one primary aged
pupil)
0.12 secondary aged pupils per house(e)(i.e. just under 10 houses typically generate one
secondary aged pupil)

7.4 The pupil yields reflect demand for places generated, rather than actual children moving to the
development. It also recognises that some children will not need to change school and some may
attend private, selective or faith schools.

Cost of Additional Places

7.5 There is no requirement to calculate demand on school places from developments of less than
10 dwellings. For schemes of 10 or more dwellings, officers will advise whether the development will
be able to be accommodated within existing capacity or if a contribution from the developers will be
required, for additional provision across an area in line with the council's long term vision for delivery
of education.

b School Capacity (SCAP) Survey 2014 - Guide to forecasting pupil numbers in school place planning, June 2014, Education Funding
Agency

c Relley Garth, Merryoaks, Meadowfield, Rosemount, Grayson Road, Winterton, Templetown, Bracks Farm, Cobblers Hall, Seaham,
St Leonard's, Newcastle Road

d as at April 2015
e as at April 2015

Securing Developer Contributions towards Education Provision in County Durham 201710

Calculating Developer Contributions7

Page 96



7.6 Sites with planning permission should be considered deliverable until permission expires, unless
there is clear evidence that schemes will not be implemented within five years, for example they will
not be viable, there is no longer a demand for the type of units or sites have long term phasing plans.(f)

7.7 The contribution for each excess space will be based on information supplied by the National
School Delivery Cost Benchmarking exercise and BCIS all-in Tender Price Index (2017 quarter 2).
The costs per additional pupil place from 2017 is as follows;

Primary place £14,516
Secondary place £16,344

7.8 The Council will review the above costs on an annual basis using the BCIS all-in Tender Price
Index and any revised cost per pupil place will be advertised in advance of adoption from the 1st April
every year. The Council will seek to undertake a County Durham specific benchmarking exercise
every 4 years which will be based on actual projects delivered within the County and this will inform
the revised cost per place. Following this benchmarking exercise the Council will continue to use the
BCIS all-in Tender Price Index until the next benchmarking exercise.

7.9 To illustrate how the required developer contribution will be calculated, the example below
shows the calculation for a 100 dwelling development in area where there is available surplus school
capacity of 10 primary places and 5 secondary places (having regard to maintain 5% surplus places
across pupil place planning area).

f NPPF (Para 47)

11Securing Developer Contributions towards Education Provision in County Durham 2017

7Calculating Developer Contributions

Page 97



Number of Dwelling x Pupil Yield (less available surplus places) x Cost of Places = Developer
Contribution

Primary Example

(if contributions are needed and includes surplus places)

100 Dwellings x 0.3 = 30 place, less 10 surplus places = 20 places required

20 x £14,516 = £290,320 (Developer Contribution)

Secondary Example

(if contributions are needed and includes surplus places)

100 Dwellings x 0.12 = 12 place, less 5 surplus places = 7 places required

7 x £16,344 = £114,408 (Developer Contribution)

Large Scale Developments

7.10 Where developments, including the cumulative impact of multiple or phased proposals are in
excess of 300 dwellings, including triggering the need for new build schools, discussion and
negotiations will need to take place to agree the following;

Can the existing school(s) in the school place planning area be expanded;

Location;

Design;

Specification;

Size;

Number of classrooms;

Non-teaching space; and

Play area provision etc..

Securing Developer Contributions towards Education Provision in County Durham 201712

Calculating Developer Contributions7

Page 98



7.11 The full cost of the extension/new build will need to be agreed, along with developer
contributions as part of the planning process. Themethodology for determining contribution (paragraphs
7.5 to 7.9) detailed in this document will not be relevant in these cases and early discussions with
Council officers are encouraged.

Securing the Financial Contribution

7.12 The Council has a role in assessing the likely impact of a new development on the service it
provides, however, it is also the Local Planning Authority's role to decide whether or not the level of
contributions requested are appropriate and in line with the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulation
2010 (regulations 122 and 123), which are;

necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
directly related to the development; and
fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

7.13 Where the CIL regulations above are satisfied, any financial contribution required would be
secured at the time planning permission is granted (either outline or full) by way of a planning obligation
pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. The section 106 agreement
would set out an appropriate trigger for the payment of the contribution, and it is expected that the
contribution should be a single payment rather than provided in stages. No more than five planning
obligations will be pooled towards the same project.

Viability

7.14 In circumstances where the viability of a scheme is in question, the developer will be required
to demonstrate that this is the case through a site-specific financial evaluation, undertaken to the
Council's satisfaction at the earliest possible stage. Where a scheme is agreed to be unviable or
marginal, we will review the contributions for the development and the timing or phasing of payments
to assist the financial viability of the scheme.

13Securing Developer Contributions towards Education Provision in County Durham 2017

7Calculating Developer Contributions

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Habitat Regulations 
Assessment: Developer 

Guidance and Requirements in 
County Durham 

 
October 2017 

 

Page 101



Page 102



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
3EXECUTIVE SUMMARY.

4How to use this Document

REGION

6INTRODUCTION1.

10
STAGES IN THEHRAPROCESS
AND PARTICIPANT
RESPONSIBILITIES

2.

14COASTAL AVOIDANCE AND
MITIGATION STRATEGY

3.

163.1 Types of Development
Included

19
3.2 Measure 1: Development
within 0.4km of the Coastal
Sites

19
3.3 Measure 2: Provision /
enhancement of suitable natural
greenspace

213.4 Measure 3: Access
Management and Monitoring

23IMPLEMENTATION AND
MONITORING

4.

APPENDICES

xxxiii

APPENDIX A: PROCESS FOR
CONSIDERINGDEVELOPMENT

.

PROPOSALS AFFECTING
EUROPEANPROTECTEDSITES

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Contents

Page 103



xxxiv

APPENDIX B: SUITABLE
NATURAL GREENSPACE: 3HA

.

PER 1,000 PERSONS
METHODOLOGY

xxxvi
APPENDIXC: DESCRIPTIONOF
COASTAL EUROPEAN
PROTECTED SITES

.

xxxviC1: Durham Coast SAC

xlC2: Northumbria Coast SPA and
Ramsar

xliiiC3: Teesmouth and Cleveland
Coast SPA and Ramsar

xlviiAPPENDIX D: IMPACT OF
RECREATIONAL PRESSURE

.

lAPPENDIX E: REFINING LIKELY
EFFECTS

.

lxxAPPENDIX F: COASTAL
VISITOR SURVEY

.

lxxviF1: Additional questionsWinter
2015/16 survey

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Contents

Page 104



Executive Summary

The EU Habitats and Wild Birds Directives (i) aim to protect Europe’s most important
habitats and species. They primarily achieve this by requiring:

1. The designation and protection of a network of land and marine habitats (European
Protected Sites); and

2. The protection of certain animals and plants of European importance and all naturally
occurring wild birds (European Protected Species)

This guidance document aims to explain the requirements relating to European Protected
Sites. These requirements are transposed in England by the Habitats Regulations. (ii)

There are nine European Protected Sites in County Durham which are predominantly
located in the western uplands and along the coastline. The Council has a duty to ensure
that all the activities it controls, including land use planning does not harm any of the sites
or the natural processes that support them. In order to determine whether planning
proposals are likely to harm a European Protected Site(s) or not an assessment of their
effects is required. This is known as Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA). Whilst it is
the responsibility of the Council to undertake the HRA, those proposing or submitting
planning applications will need to provide the Council with sufficient information and
evidence to enable the assessment to be undertaken.

If following HRA, taking mitigating measures into account, it is established that harm is
likely to occur, or if there is uncertainty over the effects of a planning proposal, the Council
will be required to proceed on a precautionary basis and not grant consent. The Council
would only be able to grant consent under these circumstances if three additional,
sequential tests (known as derogations) are met. These tests must be interpreted strictly
and include:

No feasible less damaging alternative solutions to the proposal exist;
Imperative reasons of overriding public interest can be demonstrated; and
Compensatory measures can be secured

In practice it is likely that only a small minority of proposals will reach this stage of
consideration and meet the tests.

Coastal European Protected Sites

Previous HRA undertaken by the Council and supported by independent bird and coastal
visitor surveys has established that recreational pressure is likely to harm County Durham's
coastal European Protected Sites. Development types which increase recreational pressure
(e.g. residential development, visitor accommodation) falling within 6km of the coastal
European Protected Sites are considered to contribute to harmful effects. For example,
the disturbance of important breeding and over wintering bird populations.

i Council Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora (“the Habitats
Directive”) and Directive 2009/147/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 November 2009 on the conservation
of wild birds (“the Wild Birds Directive”)

ii The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (the “Habitats Regulations”) (as amended) apply in England and
its seas up to 12 nautical miles from the coast.

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Executive Summary

Page 105



The Council has developed a coastal mitigation strategy in order to aid developers
proposing relevant development types between 0.4km and 6km of the coastal European
Protected Sites and to enable development. If the mitigation strategy is adopted and
appropriately incorporated alongside planning proposals, the Council should be able to
establish following HRA that they will not lead to harmful effects as a result of increased
recreational pressure. Depending on the nature of the individual development, applicants
can choose to either:

Contribute to the provision of or enhancement of suitable natural greenspace; or
Contribute to coastal access management measures

The provision or enhancement of suitable natural greenspace should be funded by
developer contributions unless adequate onsite provision is being made. The calculation
of costs will be undertaken on a case by case basis. Per dwelling contributions towards
the coastal access management measures will be sought as follows:

Small residential developments (less than 10 dwellings) - £323.92 per dwelling
Medium to large residential development s (10+ dwellings) - £658.98 per dwelling

If for any reason the applicant chooses not to adopt the Council's mitigation strategy,
sufficient information and evidence will need to be supplied to the Council to enable the
HRA to be undertaken. The information/evidence should demonstrate beyond reasonable
scientific doubt why the proposal will not lead to harmful effects. In order to do so, it is
expected that the information supplied will build upon the evidence contained within this
guidance document, with supporting surveys, an assessment of in-combination effects
and discussion with neighbouring local authorities.

Owing to issues of proximity, proposals falling within 0.4km of a coastal European Protected
Site may not be sufficiently mitigated by suitable natural greenspace or coastal access
management measures. Applicants of 0.4km proposals will also need to provide information
and evidence to inform the HRA which robustly demonstrates why the proposal will not
lead to harmful effects.

How to use this Document

This document aims to explain the responsibilities of the Council and developers in respect
of HRA and sets out in greater detail the coastal avoidance and mitigation strategy. If you
are able to answer yes to either questions 1 or 2 below, all sections of this guidance
document are relevant. If you are able to answer yes to question 3 only, please refer to
sections 1 and 2.

1. Is my development either within the boundary of a European Protected Site or within
0.4km of the designation boundary.

2. Is my development between 0.4km and 6km of a coastal European Protected Site(s)
(Map 1) and likely to either increase the resident population or visitor levels to Durham's
coastline?

3. Whether or not development is outside of the 6km buffer, does it have characteristics
such as a very large size, or a major polluter, which may warrant its own HRA?

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Executive Summary

Page 106



Map 1 Buffer zones - coastal European Protected Sites

Further information

For further information on Habitats Regulations Assessment, please contact the Ecology
Team on: 03000 267137. For applicants proposing development within the 6km catchment
in East Durham, the relevant Development Management Team can be contacted on:
03000 262830

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Executive Summary

Page 107



1 Introduction

1.0.1 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010, referred to as the
'Habitats Regulations' implement in Great Britain the requirements of the EU Directive on
the Conservation of Natural Habitats and of Wild Fauna and Fauna, referred to as the
'Habitats Directive' (Council Directive 92/43/EEC) and protect areas classified under
Directive 2009/147/EC referred to as the 'Birds Directive.' The regulations aim to protect
a network of sites known as Natura 2000 that have rare or important habitats and species
threatened at a pan European level in order to safeguard biodiversity.

1.0.2 County Durham has a number of Natura 2000 or European Protected Sites,
comprising:

Special Areas of Conservation (SAC): protected because they make a significant
contribution to conserving habitats and species listed in the Habitats Directive

In County Durham there are 6 whole or part SACs which are predominantly divided
between the western uplands and the coastline.

Castle Eden Dene
Durham Coast
Moor House, Upper Teesdale
North Pennine Dales Meadows
North Pennine Moors
Thrislington

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham6

Introduction1

Page 108



Figure 1 SAC's within and bordering County Durham

Special Protection Areas (SPA): protected because they constitute internationally
important areas for breeding, feeding, wintering or the migration of rare and vulnerable
species of birds listed under the Birds Directive

In County Durham there are 3 whole or part SPAs, divided between the western
uplands and the coastline.

North Pennine Moors
Northumbria Coast
Teesmouth & Cleveland Coast

Each SPA has a list of qualifying bird species for which it is designated.

Land not within the SPA but used by the qualifying bird species of the SPA may also
be protected as “functional land” (determined through bird surveys) utilised by and
necessary to support the SPAs bird populations.

A sub-set of the coastline designated as SPA is also designated as an internationally
important wetland under the Ramsar Convention of 1971 and receives the same level
of protection as a European site.

7HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

1Introduction

Page 109



Figure 2 SPA's within and bordering County Durham

1.0.3 Under Regulation 61 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2010 (as amended), the Council (as a Competent Authority) has a duty to ensure that all
the activities it regulates have no adverse effect on the integrity of any of the European
Protected sites. Therefore, the Council must assess the possible effects of a plan or project
on any sites and shall agree to them (give consent) only after ascertaining that they will
not adversely affect them. The term Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) has come
into use for describing the overall assessment process including screening and the specific
Appropriate Assessment stage.

1.0.4 It is important to understand that the HRA will address not only the instigating plan
or project but must also consider the in combination (cumulative) effect the plan or project
may have along with other plans or projects which may be generated frommultiple, diverse
sources. Plans or projects which are geographically separate from the site but which may
still have an indirect effect on the site, (for example increased air pollution, recreational
use) will also need to be considered. It is also necessary to recognise that effects (including
cumulative effects) may extend beyond administrative boundaries and that there will be
a need to consult with neighbouring authorities. In Durham this will apply to all European
Protected Sites along with the functional land supporting the qualifying birds of the SPA.

1.0.5 The precautionary approach to the HRA process means that a “significant effect”
should be considered likely if it cannot be completely excluded on the basis of the available
information. The absence of information is not a basis to assume no negative effect.

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham8

Introduction1

Page 110



HRA Findings

1.0.6 Previous HRA undertaken by Durham County Council and supported by
independent bird and coastal visitor surveys determined that recreational pressure and
associated disturbance is likely to have a detrimental effect on the habitat and species for
which County Durham's coastal European Protected sites (DurhamCoast SAC, Northumbria
Coast SPA and Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA) were designated. These sites
collectively host the only example of vegetated sea cliffs onmagnesian limestone exposures
in the UK, important over wintering wader populations and internationally important breeding
populations of Little Tern. The research undertaken as part of the HRA has identified that
development types which increase recreational pressure, (e.g. Residential development,
visitor accommodation) falling within 6km of the coastal European Protected Sites are
likely to contribute to detrimental effects. For further information please see Appendices
C to F.

Purpose of this Document

1.0.7 The purpose of this document is twofold and aims to:

Explain the stages in the HRA process and the responsibilities of developers and the
Council; and

Outline the coastal mitigation strategy which developers may wish to adopt to ensure
that adverse effects arising as a result of recreational pressure can be avoided and
mitigated.

Sub-Regional Working

1.0.8 The coastal European Protected Sites extend into five authorities in the region(iii)

and recreational pressure arising in County Durham or its neighbouring authorities is not
limited to its own administrative boundaries. Therefore, in order to be sure of a consistent
approach, Durham County Council is working jointly at a sub-regional level to implement
complimentary avoidance and mitigation measures and will endeavour to continue to do
so in the future.

Document Status

1.0.9 This guidance document is a working document and will be reviewed for its
effectiveness at least every 5 years or sooner if new evidence emerges or monitoring
results indicate that a more urgent review is required. The Council is confident that the
measures advocated will be effective, however if for some reason specific measures are
not found to be working, these will be readdressed.

iii Including: Northumberland County Council, North Tyneside Council, South Tyneside Council, Sunderland City Council and
Hartlepool Borough Council

9HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

1Introduction

Page 111



2 Stages in the HRA Process and Participant Responsibilities

2.0.1 A staged approach is adopted for undertaking an HRA:

1. Screening
2. Appropriate Assessment
3. Avoidance and mitigation
4. Absence of alternatives, IROPI and compensation

2.0.2 For each of these stages it is the responsibility of the applicant or proposer of a
plan or project to provide sufficient information, in a suitable format, to the Council as the
competent authority. The timing and content of each stage will be agreed in advance by
the proposer and Durham County Council. A flowchart showing the stages is included at
Appendix A.

Stage 1. Screening

2.0.3 The purpose of the screening stage is to determine whether the plan or project is
connected with or necessary for the management of the site and if not whether it is 'likely
to have a significant effect' on a European site (either alone or in combination with other
plans and projects) and therefore require appropriate assessment.

2.0.4 There is no formal requirement for a screening stage in the habitats legislation,
however, screening is a useful assessment tool. The assessment acts as a coarse filter
which should not require extensive supporting evidence to establish where Likely (is it
possible, not is it probable) Significant (i.e. not trivial or inconsequential) Effects will occur.
The Council will decide how screening should be applied in each case, depending on the
likelihood of significant effects on a European site. Please note that the precautionary
principle applies to the screening stage, therefore if Likely Significant Effects cannot be
ruled out, an appropriate assessment will be required.

2.0.5 However, if at this stage it can be concluded that no likely significant effects arise
from the plan or project then no further stages of the HRA are required. It is strongly in an
applicant’s interests to ensure that any need for formal screening is identified as early as
possible. In practice they should seek to confirm this during pre-application discussions
with the Council to help minimise delays.

2.0.6 At the screening stage, it will often be appropriate to consider whether projects
can be adapted or mitigated so that any likely significant effect can be ruled out. This can
include conditions / legal agreements to secure any adaptations or mitigation. Ideally such
adaptations and / or mitigation measures should be incorporated into plans or projects
before screening takes place but, where this is not the case, they can and should be
considered during the screening stage.

Stage 2. Appropriate Assessment

2.0.7 If, after screening, it is undetermined whether adverse effects are likely or the
screening process identifies particular adverse effects either alone or in combination, then
an assessment of only those identified effects (i.e. An Appropriate Assessment, on the

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham10

Stages in the HRA Process and Participant Responsibilities2

Page 112



qualifying features of the SAC/SPA must be carried out. The Appropriate Assessment
utilises evidence to further refine and quantify the identified effects and to consider them
in combination with any proposed mitigation.

2.0.8 It is the responsibility of the Council to undertake the Appropriate Assessment and
to determine whether there will be an adverse effect on the integrity of the European
Protected Site. At the end of the assessment process Durham County Council must be
certain that there will be no adverse effect on the Conservation Objectives of the European
Protected Site before it can consider allowing the plan or project to proceed. It is the
responsibility of the applicant or proposer to provide sufficient information and evidence
in an appropriate format for the Council to carry out the assessment. This will be in the
form of a “shadow” Appropriate Assessment, likely to consist of a suite of specialist surveys
and desk studies including an assessment of in combination plans or projects. The Council
must consult Natural England on the assessment process and have regard to any
representations made. If at this stage it can be concluded that no adverse effects arise
then no further stages of HRA are required.

Stage 3. Avoidance and Mitigation

2.0.9 Where likely significant effects continue to be identified following Stage 2, avoidance
measures, followed by mitigation measures should be considered further. Please note
that mitigation measures should be proven to be deliverable and the Appropriate
Assessment will also need to ensure that residual effects (after mitigation) do not act in
combination with other plans and projects (cumulative effects).Where adverse effects are
still identified, the plan or project should be altered until adverse effects are cancelled out
fully.

Stage 4. Absence of alternatives, IROPI and compensation

2.0.10 If after stage 3 an adverse effect on the integrity of the European Protected Site(s)
remains the proposal can only proceed providing the following three sequential tests are
met:

There must be no feasible alternative solutions to the proposal which are less
damaging to the affected European site(s);
There must be 'imperative reasons of overriding public interest' (IROPI) for the plan
or project to proceed; and
All necessary compensatory measures must be secured to ensure that the overall
coherence of the network of European sites is protected.

2.0.11 The purpose of the assessment of alternative solutions is to determine whether
there are any other feasible ways to deliver the overall objectives of the proposal which
will be less damaging to the integrity of the European Protected site(s) affected. For the
assessment to be passed the Council must be able to demonstrate objectively the absence
of feasible alternative solutions. The applicant is primarily responsible for identifying
alternatives. Alternative solutions are limited to those which would deliver the overall
objective as in the original proposal. Please note that where housing developments are

11HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

2Stages in the HRA Process and Participant Responsibilities

Page 113



considered to adversely affect a European Protected site(s), alternative locations for
housing are often available and therefore it is difficult to demonstrate the absence of
alternatives.

2.0.12 Where the absence of alternatives can be demonstrated, and the proposal will
affect a Special Area of Conservation (SAC) the Council can normally only consider IROPI
reasons relating to human health, public safety or beneficial consequences of primary
importance to the environment. Other IROPI reasons can only be considered having
obtained and had regard to the opinion of the European Community. In all other cases the
Council can consider IROPI reasons including those relating to social or economic benefit.

2.0.13 Where the absence of alternatives and IROPI can be demonstrated, the ability
to secure suitable compensation must also be demonstrated. The Council, with Natural
England are initially responsible for ensuring that suitable compensation is identified. Such
measures must offset the negative effects caused by the proposal and must be secured
before consent is given and where possible, complete before the adverse effect on the
European site occurs.

HRA and the Development Management Process

2.0.14 It is likely that in most cases the HRA process will stop at either stage 2 or 3
above, with either avoidance or mitigation measures being applied. At this stage the
developer must have provided Durham County Council with an adequate “shadow”
Appropriate Assessment and the Council must be satisfied that the proposed mitigation
it contains will be sufficient to completely avoid or nullify all likely adverse effects on the
qualifying features of the European Protected Site(s) and will therefore not undermine the
sites Conservation Objectives.

2.0.15 Pre application discussion with Durham County Council’s Development
Management team should be carried out as early as possible in the decision making
process. This is needed to correctly inform the HRA process and confirm the structure
and content of an Appropriate Assessment if it is required and to determine the level and
nature of any subsequent mitigation required. This must be done in advance of any
planning application, most effectively through Durham County Council’s Development
Management pre-application consultation system. Failure to do so may result in significant
delays to the Development Management process.

2.0.16 HRA can be carried out for strategic plans and/or individual plans or projects
down to the level of very small scale developments where an impact on the qualifying
features of a European Protected Site has been identified. A strategic approach to HRA
is encouraged where a land owner/developer owns multiple holdings for sale or
development all of which may be subject to HRA. A holistic, master planning, approach
will allow for efficiencies in assessment of impacts and ease of identification of appropriate
mitigation at a plan level rather than the process stalling if sites are treated individually.

2.0.17 HRA at a strategic plan level is more efficient allowing for:

the early identification of plans or projects which may have an impact on European
Protected Sites

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham12

Stages in the HRA Process and Participant Responsibilities2

Page 114



early stage screening to eliminate individual plans or projects
early stage recognition of those individual plans or projects which will be subject to
Appropriate Assessment
more effective assessment of in combination effects across plans or projects
the identification of early stage requirements for mitigation
single consultation with external consultees for multiple sites in one plan
cumulative mitigation proposals where possible
coordinated HRA and Appropriate Assessment
efficiencies in mitigation, maximising development potential
ease and speed within the Development Management process.

2.0.18 The following sections of this guidance document aim to outline the coastal
mitigation strategy which developers may wish to adopt to ensure that adverse effects
arising as a result of coastal recreational pressure can be avoided and mitigated.

13HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

2Stages in the HRA Process and Participant Responsibilities

Page 115



3 Coastal Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

3.0.1 Recreational pressure and associated disturbance along the coast comes from
two distinct pathways:

Residential pressure within a local catchment - Residents are likely to visit
frequently and consistently e.g. to walk the dog or exercise
Visitor pressure from a wider catchment - Visitors are likely to be 'tourists' from
within and outside the region and are likely to visit less frequently

3.0.2 A three pronged approach to the strategy is required to avoid likely significant
effects to the coastal European Protected Sites and includes:

1. Presumption against any net increase in residential development within
0.4km of the coastal sites

2. Provision /enhancement of suitable natural greenspace to reduce the
frequency of visits to the coastal sites by residents and hence reduce pressure
on them.

3. Access management and monitoring measures to reduce and monitor the
effects of residents and those from a wider catchment who visit the coastal sites.

3.0.3 A 6km recreational catchment has been defined within which the strategy should
be applied.(iv) Measures 2 and 3 should be applied from 0.4km from the perimeter of the
coastal European Protected Sites to 6km from the perimeter of the coastal European
Protected Sites as the crow flies. The following figure shows the extent of the catchment
and associated buffer zones.

iv Please see Appendix E

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham14

Coastal Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy3

Page 116



Figure 3 Recreational Catchment and Buffer Zones

15HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

3Coastal Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Page 117



3.0.4 Where the application of the coastal mitigation strategy to proposals between 0.4
and 6km of the coastal European Protected Sites is considered sufficient, Appropriate
Assessment can be avoided. This is because the measures will be taken into account at
the initial Screening Stage. (v) As long as the mitigation follows that proposed in the strategy
and is appropriate (i.e.commensurate with the nature and size of the development and
degree of negative impact) it should be possible to effectively 'screen out' likely significant
effects and no further assessment will be required.

3.0.5 Alternatively, it is the responsibility of the applicant to provide sufficient information
in an appropriate format for Durham County Council to carry out the Appropriate
Assessment. The information provided should build upon the evidence contained within
this document with supporting information and surveys, including an assessment of in
combination effects and discussion with neighbouring local authorities.

3.0.6 If either insufficient mitigation or information to support an Appropriate Assessment
is supplied alongside proposals within the 0.4 - 6km buffer, the Council will not be able to
conclude that there will be no likely significant effects to coastal European Protected sites.
As a result, the Council will need to apply the precautionary approach and will seek further
mitigation or information from the applicant in the first case which may delay determination
of the proposal. The Council will be minded to recommend refusal of proposals in the
event that either:

the necessary mitigation cannot be secured;

Evidence to inform the Appropriate Assessment is not provided which supports to the
Council's satisfaction a conclusion of 'no likely significant effects; and

The three sequential tests of absence of alternatives, IROPI and compensation cannot
be demonstrated

3.0.7 Residential developments of over 50 houses and major tourism developments
located between 6 and 7km from the perimeter of the coastal European Protected sites
will be assessed on a case by case basis and subject to Appropriate Assessment where
required.

3.1 Types of Development Included

3.1.1 This strategy largely concerns itself with the effects arising from net new
development related to residential and visitor accommodation. The strategy will apply to
applications for full or outline planning permission. Developers making outline planning
applications will need to provide complete information on the number of dwellings / units,
so that the required calculations for contributions may be made. Without this information,
the Council cannot satisfy itself that the level of any proposed contribution is adequate
and would be unable to grant planning permission as a result.

v The principle of taking mitigation measures into account during the screening stage was established through the High Court
Judgement of Sullivan, J in Hart DC v SoS for Communities and Local Government (2008)

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham16

Coastal Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy3

Page 118



3.1.2 Reserved matters, discharge of conditions, or amendments to existing planning
consents will be considered on a case by case basis by the Council. Please note that like
for like replacement development is not considered to increase recreational pressure and
is therefore not included in the strategy. The types of development that are included are
described as follows against the relevant use classes: (vi)

C1 Hotels

3.1.3 The strategy will apply to purpose built hotels, staff accommodation, boarding and
guest houses and the change of use to such where levels of guest/staff accommodation
are considered by the Council to increase upon any previous levels of residential
accommodation provided. The strategy will also apply to extensions to existing C1 uses
which increase levels of accommodation.

C2 Residential Institutions

3.1.4 The strategy will be applied to developments within the C2 use class (i.e. Residential
care homes, hospitals, nursing homes, boarding schools, residential colleges and training
centres) on a case by case basis. In general, developments such as hospitals and
residential care/nursing homes will not be considered to have a likely significant effect
with regard to recreational impacts but will be considered on a case by case basis taking
into account potential 'in combination' effects and any associated net change in residential
occupancy for carers residing on the site.

3.1.5 Certain types of C2 residential accommodation may also be considered not to
affect recreational impacts within the 0.4km buffer of coastal European Protected Sites
including:

1. Purpose built schemes for the frail elderly where there is an element of close care
provided on site 24 hours a day. This level of care is above that of provision of an
on-site wardening service provided for sheltered accommodation. It would be expected
that there would normally be an age restriction of 60+years for the occupants of the
units and that the planning permission would be conditioned in such a way that the
units could not become open market housing.

2. Purpose built schemes for the accommodation of disabled people, where by the nature
of the residents’ disabilities, they are unlikely to have any impact on the coastal
protected sites.

3.1.6 The use of pet covenants or other suitable legally binding agreements by authorities
is considered acceptable by Natural England in these specific situations as:

The nature of the establishment is such that pressure from residents to own pets is
likely to be very low creating an acceptable risk.
In the context of a residential care home with 24 hour wardening, enforcement is seen
as being achievable in terms of time taken to detect infringements and resources on
site to achieve enforcement outcomes.

vi as established through the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended)

17HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

3Coastal Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Page 119



3.1.7 Relevant conditions may need to be attached to any planning permission to ensure
that no significant effects can arise for the lifetime of the development including for example:

Preventing further changes of use within the C2 use class and ensuring that units will
not become open market housing
The applicant/management body will provide a biannual written confirmation to the
Council detailing the compliance with the pet covenant, the number of residents and
their age.
The applicant/management body will prevent, through design and enforcement
measures, the use of onsite car parking for public use for accessing the coast.

C3 Dwelling Houses

3.1.8 The strategy will apply to dwelling housings, including affordable houses, flats,
annexes, retirement and age restricted properties and the change of use to such. The
strategy will apply to the extension of existing C3 uses on a case by case basis.

C4 Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO)

3.1.9 The strategy will apply to purpose built HMO's, including proposals for large HMO's
(i.e. 6 or more people sharing) which are unclassified by the Use Classes Order and are
'sui generis'. The strategy will also apply to the extension of existing HMO's where they
are considered by the Council to provide additional levels of occupancy. The strategy will
apply to the change of use from C3 to C4 where levels of occupancy increase.

Other Types of Development (Sui Generis)

Camp and caravan sites(vii) -The strategy will apply to proposals for temporary,
seasonal and permanent camp and caravan sites and extensions to such where the
number of pitches or guest accommodation increases. This includes applications to
extend temporary planning consent. If subsequently made permanent, no additional
contribution will be sought.
Mobile and temporary dwellings - The strategy will apply to proposals for mobile
or temporary dwellings. If subsequently made permanent no additional contribution
will be sought.
Temporary and permanent gypsy and traveller pitches - The strategy will apply
to proposals for temporary and permanent gypsy and traveller pitches and the
extension of sites for such. If subsequently made permanent no additional contribution
will be sought.
Visitor attractions - The strategy will apply to proposals which are considered likely
to increase the visitor draw and appeal of the coast.

vii Camping and caravan sites can include basic ridge /dome tents, yurts, tipis/teepees, geodesic domes, safari-style tents/canvas
lodges, bell tents, wooden shepherds huts, wooden wigwams/cocoons/snugs, cabins, chalets, eco-pods or similar structure
and caravaning (both static and touring)

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham18

Coastal Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy3

Page 120



Permitted Development

3.1.10 The Government allows planning permission for certain classes of development
without the requirement for a planning application, although prior approval may be required.
This includes the change of use from business offices (B1a), light industrial (B1c), storage
and distribution (B8), betting offices, pay day loan shop, launderette (Sui Generis) and
agricultural buildings (other changes of use).(viii)

3.1.11 Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(England) Order sets out that development described as permitted development in Schedule
2 can be permitted subject to the provisions of the Order and the Conservation of Habitats
and Species Regulations. Therefore, where it is considered that a ‘significant effect’ on
the coastal European Protected Sites may arise, (or any other European Protected Site)
the development must not commence until written approval has been received by the
developer from the Council (or Natural England). In circumstances where significant effects
to coastal European Protected Sites may arise, the proposed development will be subject
to the avoidance and mitigation strategy.

3.1.12 The following sections describe the three avoidance and mitigation measures.

3.2 Measure 1: Development within 0.4km of the Coastal Sites

3.2.1 Within 0.4km of the coastal European Protected Sites(ix) the effects of a net new
increase in residential development is likely to be such that even if measures 2 and / or 3
of this strategy are implemented it may not be possible to conclude no adverse effect on
coastal European Protected sites. This is due to the likely higher frequency of visits
originating within 0.4km and the potential for increased levels of predation as a result of
pet ownership. (Please see Appendix E).

3.2.2 There should therefore be a presumption against any net increase in such
development within this 0.4km buffer zone unless information and evidence to inform the
Appropriate Assessment can be provided by the proposer or applicant which is able to
satisfactorily demonstrate that it will not adversely affect the integrity of the coastal
European Protected Site in question.(x) For proposals falling within 0.4km early stage
advice should be sought from Development Management Officers.

3.3 Measure 2: Provision / enhancement of suitable natural greenspace

3.3.1 As local visitor surveys show that dog walking is the main activity undertaken at
the coast with 'convenience' and 'space for dogs to run around' cited as top reasons for
choosing the coast as a dog walking location it is considered essential to tailor mitigation
towards this activity given that dog walking is:

The main recreational activity undertaken at the coast;

viii Further information relating to permitted development including temporary permitted development can be found on the Planning
Portal Website as: https://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200130/common_projects/9/change_of_use

ix measured as the crow flies from the closest perimeter of the coastal European Protected site to the closest perimeter of the
development site

x NPPF Paragraph 119: Please note that the presumption in favour of sustainable development (as defined in Paragraph 14 of
the NPPF) does not apply where development requiring Appropriate Assessment under the Birds or Habitats Directives is being
considered, planned or determined

19HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

3Coastal Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Page 121



Considered to be a greater cause of disturbance to qualifying SPA species than
visitors without dogs; and
Can also adversely affect Durham Coast SAC

3.3.2 Whilst the provision or enhancement of green space is unlikely to fully dissuade
dog walkers from using the coast due to the appeal of the coastal environment in itself,
natural green space provision / enhancement is likely to contribute to reducing the frequency
of visits and associated residential pressure within the local catchment by displacing users.
(xi)

3.3.3 There are two ways for developers to provide or enhance suitable natural
greenspace:

Make a payment contribution towards suitable natural greenspace sites identified by
the Council either through the planning process or in support of housing allocations
in the emerging County Durham Plan (xii); or
Make onsite provision based upon the principles within this guidance document (this
is more likely to apply to large residential proposals e.g. 100+ dwellings).

3.3.4 In order to provide effective mitigation, green space provision or enhancement of
such needs to replicate, as far as possible the recreational qualities of the designated sites
to make them attractive to potential users. Whilst it is not possible to replicate the coastal
environment, green space can replicate aspects of coastal land that makes it attractive to
dog walkers. In addition to the findings of local visitor surveys, studies from all over the
UK repeatedly show that the three most important amenities dog owners seek are:

Off lead access;
Close to home; and
Away from traffic.

3.3.5 Taking into consideration Natural England’s SANG guidelines, together with the
County Council’s Open SpaceNeeds Assessment (OSNA) andHampshire County Council’s
Planning for Dog Ownership in New Developments design guidance (2013), the following
criteria are recommended with respect to the provision / enhancement of natural green
space:

Sites should be semi-natural in appearance in order to provide a similar natural
experience as the Durham Coast;
They should be a minimum of 3ha per 1000 persons (xiii) and include sufficient
sized areas to enable users to walk their dogs off the lead without any conflict/fear
for their safety (smaller sites would also be considered if they were close to and
had good links to other smaller sites, to form a larger total area/network);

xi visitor surveys undertaken show that just under two thirds of all dog walkers would utilise local green space as an alternative
to walking their dog at the coast if it was available.

xii Please note that this guidance document will be updated with information on suitable natural greenspace sites that may be
identified to support any housing allocations within the County Durham Plan once available.

xiii Please see Appendix B for 3ha per 1,000 persons justification

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham20

Coastal Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy3

Page 122



Sites should ideally aim to allow a minimum dog walking penetration of 784 m
from starting point and a circular dog walk of 2.7km
The design of the site, if near to a designated site, should not inadvertently
increase access to the designated site, but rather should be self-contained;
Sites should be within 400-500m (xiv) of the target audience/new housing, unless
a larger fit for purpose site is created which has a larger catchment area, with
sufficient capacity for additional users;
They should have adequate car parking if they are larger than 10 ha, and would
therefore aim to have a larger catchment area;
Existing green spaces should be assessed to ensure that the proposed use of
the site is compatible with its existing use and that there is available carrying
capacity.

3.3.6 Where existing areas of green space are not already at carrying capacity or have
conflicting uses, suitable green space may be created from existing areas of green space
where they:

Meet the criteria outlined above with no existing public access or limited public access,
which for the purposes of mitigation could be made fully accessible to the public; or
They are already accessible but could be changed in character so that it is more
attractive to dog walkers who might otherwise visit the coast.

3.3.7 In certain circumstances it may be possible to satisfy both the the requirements
of the coastal avoidance and mitigation strategy and planning requirements regarding
green infrastructure provision alongside new development e.g. Meeting targets for semi
natural greenspace provision.

3.4 Measure 3: Access Management and Monitoring

3.4.1 The third avoidance andmitigationmeasure is accessmanagement andmonitoring.
The principles of such measures include:

Recognition of highly sensitive areas, particularly bird roosting sites
Rationalisation of access points and footpaths to avoid highly sensitive areas
New signage diverting people away from sensitive areas and towards alternative
areas
Community engagement and wardening
Educational initiatives which raise awareness of the vulnerabilities of qualifying
species and associated responsible visitor behaviour.
Monitoring of changes in the qualifying species and habitats
Monitoring changes in recreational use

xiv Hampshire County Council’s Planning for Dog Ownership in New Developments (2013) noted that dog owners will on average
walk no further than 400 – 500m to get to a greenspace that is in all ways suitable for exercising their pets

21HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

3Coastal Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Page 123



3.4.2 The measures are required in addition to the provision/enhancement of green
space to mitigate the impact from all recreational users of the coast including those
associated with visitor pressure from a wider catchment. Monitoring will be crucial in
providing a method of fine-tuning of the avoidance and mitigation measures to increase
their effectiveness and maximise benefits.

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham22

Coastal Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy3

Page 124



4 Implementation and Monitoring

4.0.1 In terms of deciding whether new development should contribute towards measure
2 or measure 3, please note that the two strands are not mutually exclusive and will be
tailored to fit the nature of individual developments. However, it is anticipated that tourism
type developments such as hotels and caravan sites will normally contribute towards
measure 3 and residential developments will contribute towards either measure 2 or 3.

4.0.2 If appropriate, planning permission will be granted subject to conditions. Proposers
/ land owners of small scale residential developments (less than 10 dwellings) will be given
the choice as to whether to enter into either a Section 106 agreement or a unilateral
undertaking. (xv)Where Section 106 agreements are required, these are to be agreed and
entered into, prior to the determination of a planning application. Any payments made to
the Council by Section 106 agreements should be paid no later than the commencement
of the development. If the development is likely to be built in major phases, payment by
instalment will be considered.

4.0.3 Where specific measures and/or works (by the developer or, by others who are
better placed to provide) are needed to avoid and mitigate the effect that occupiers of a
development will have on a coastal European Protected Site(s), these should be undertaken
and in place before or in conjunction with those occupiers moving in. Consequently, in
some cases the Council will, by planning condition or obligations, restrict the occupation
of a development until related avoidance and mitigation measures and/or works are
complete.

4.0.4 Where contributions are secured and paid under a Section 106 Agreement with
the Council, the receipt and use of contributions can be tracked and information on spending
will, on request from a contributing developer, be made available subject to the Council's
reasonable costs being met.

Measure 2: Greenspace

4.0.5 The provision or enhancement of suitable natural greenspace should be funded
by developer contributions unless adequate onsite provision is being made. The calculation
of costs will be undertaken on a case by case basis and will take account of acquisition
costs if required, cost of enhancement measures and maintenance and management
costs in perpetuity.

Measure 3: Access Management and Monitoring

4.0.6 Developer contributions will be sought towards the actions identified within the
following tables:

xv A unilateral undertaking is a legal document made pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. This
document provides that if you receive planning permission and decide to implement the development, you must make certain
payments to the Council in the form of planning contributions

23HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

4Implementation and Monitoring

Page 125



Table 1 Access Management and Monitoring Measures (Revenue Costs)

20 year
Present
Value
(PV @
3.5%)
cost

CostJustificationActionNo.

£12,098Bird surveys
£2,500 every 3
years

Action is directly linked to the
future management of the SPA's.
Monitoring provides confidence

Monitor the nature
conservation interest in SPAs

1

that should populations and their
distribution decline, the measures
within this action plan can be
amended accordingly.

£34,581£12,000 every 6
years

Action is directly linked to the
future management of the SAC.

Monitor the SAC and the
adjacent reversion areas
every 6 years

2

Monitoring provides confidence
that should recreational trampling
/ nitrification of qualifying habitat
increase the measures within this
action plan can be amended
accordingly.

£50,147£10,000 every 3
years

Action is directly linked to the
future management of the SAC

Monitor recreational usage of
the SAC and SPA (summer
and winter) every 3 years

3

and SPA's. Monitoring provides
confidence that should recreational
disturbance increase themeasures
within this action plan can be
amended accordingly.

£51,956Initial £32,000
for route

Potential for positive effects in
terms of raising awareness of

Production of leaflets to
diffuse visitor use inland and
to key mitigation sites.

4

creation andSAC/SPA and responsible visitor
behaviour.

Develop and deliver
opportunities to diffuse visitor
pressure inland from SAC

leaflet
production and
subsequent
£1,5000 pa

and SPA. Path network
exists, requires promotion of
existing network.

£759,487£54,054Positive effects derived - raising
awareness and influencing
responsible visitor behaviour.

Beachcare and wardening
programme:

Funding of a warden (Scale
9) to include SAC and SPA
wardening and to act as a

5

Scale 9 full time, inc oncosts
Vehicle and support costs
Operating budget

Little tern warden. General
awareness raising and
engagement, rationalisation

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham24

Implementation and Monitoring4

Page 126



20 year
Present
Value
(PV @
3.5%)
cost

CostJustificationActionNo.

of ad hoc paths, path and
fence maintenance and
volunteer management.

£908,269Total

2,804Current
Forecast Yield
(Dwellings)

£323.92Revenue
contribution
per unit

Table 2 Access Management and Monitoring Measures (Capital Costs)

CostJustificationActionNo.

£267,000Controls access, deters
recreational use and enhances
the SAC buffer

Durham Coast Grazing Project

Areas will be fenced off and water provided for
grazing

1

£232,500Removes illegal vehicle access
to the SAC and promotion of

Castle Eden Denemouth

Access rationalisation and improved
understanding between users in area. Includes
improving the current footpath around the
allotments. Delivers controlled access.

2

circular allotment walk will help to
deflect recreational pressure from
the coast.

£120,000Positive effects derived -
restricting access to sensitive

High tide roost areas

Fence off/advise against public access
(particularly during the autumn/winter months)
the high tide roosts as identified in the Coastal
Bird study, i.e:

3

areas and influencing responsible
visitor behaviour

SeahamHall Beach Picnic site (west of the
car parking area);
Noses Point;
Blackhall Rocks; and
Blackhall Colliery

£140,000Positive effects derived -
restricting and controlling access
to sensitive areas

Introduce highly sensitive areaswhere visitors
are not encouraged through:

4

The provision of interpretation;

25HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

4Implementation and Monitoring

Page 127



CostJustificationActionNo.

The removal of the car park at Limekiln Gill
Horden
The removal of the adhoc car parking at
Hwathorn Dene and Ryhope Dene.

£180,000Controlling access and influencing
responsible visitor behaviour

Crimdon

Provision of clear pedestrian routing and
interpretation at a very heavily visited site,
adjacent to SAC/SPA. Educational and

5

information provision. Site management function.
Provision of linking routes in land away from
SAC/SPA

£939,500Total

2,804Current Forecast Yield (Dwellings)

£335.06Contribution per unit

4.0.7 Per dwelling costs have been calculated by dividing the total costs of the measures
by the number of dwellings anticipated to come forward based on historic completions
data, within the 6km catchment over a 20 year period. Once further information is available
on planned growth in the area through the County Durham Plan the dwelling figures utilised
will be reviewed accordingly.

4.0.8 Please note that the Eastern area of County Durham, within which the 6km
catchment and avoidance and mitigation strategy applies, suffers from the lowest average
residential values within County Durham, with values being significantly below the County
Durham average. (xvi) This area is therefore the most challenging for viability. In order to
ensure that small scale residential developments (less than 10 dwellings) which have
tighter profit margins are not discouraged altogether they will be required to contribute to
revenue costs only at £323.92 per dwelling.(xvii) However, where small scale proposals
form part of larger developments they will be required to contribute to the same costs as
medium to large scale residential developments. Medium to larger scale residential
developments (10+ dwellings) will be required to contribute to both revenue and capital
costs at £658.98 per dwelling.

4.0.9 In respect of other types of development to which the mitigation strategy applies,
financial contributions should be formulated in discussion with the relevant Durham County
Council Development Management Team before a planning application is submitted. The
amount of contribution will be commensurate with the nature and size of the development
and degree of negative impact.

xvi District Valuer Services (May 2016) Issues and Options Viability Assessments in County Durham Durham County Council
xvii Please note that analysis of historic completions data shows that small scale housing developments only contributed 11% of

the total housing growth within the 6km catchment over the last 5 years.

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham26

Implementation and Monitoring4

Page 128



Monitoring

4.0.10 Whilst developer contributions will be sought towards the cost of monitoring as
part of measure 3, the following table and explanatory note explains how the Council
intends to monitor the effectiveness of all measures advocated:

27HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

4Implementation and Monitoring

Page 129



Ta
bl
e
3
M
on

ito
rin

g
R
eq

ui
re
m
en

ts

A
ct
io
ns

to
re
ct
ify

po
te
nt
ia
l

fa
ilu

re
of

m
iti
ga

tio
n

Tr
ig
ge

rf
or

R
ev
ie
w
of

M
ea
su

re
W
he

n
w
ill
th
e

m
ea
su

re
be

m
on

ito
re
d?

H
ow

w
ill
th
e

O
ut
co

m
e
be

M
on

ito
re
d?

H
ow

w
ill
th
e

M
ea
su

re
be

m
on

ito
re
d?

M
iti
ga

tio
n

M
ea
su

re
R
el
ev
an

t
N
at
ur
a
20
00

Si
te
(s
)

Th
e
ne

ce
ss
ar
y
ac
tio
ns

ar
e

de
ta
ile
d
in
th
e
ro
w
s
be

lo
w

N
o
tri
gg

er
-t
hi
s

m
on

ito
rin

g
el
em

en
t

M
on

th
ly
th
ro
ug

h
ex
is
tin
g

A
pp

lic
at
io
n
of

0-
4-
6k
m

bu
ffe

r
D
ur
ha

m
C
oa

st
S
A
C
,

1
N
um

be
ra

nd
si
ze

of
H
ou

si
ng

co
ns
en

ts
/

co
m
ple

tio
ns

N
or
th
um

br
ia

pr
ov
id
es

ba
se
lin
e

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

dw
el
lin
gs

ap
pr
ov
ed

w
ith
in
th
e

bu
ffe

r
zo
ne

C
oa

st
S
PA

,
Te
es
m
ou

th
an

d
C
le
ve
la
nd

C
oa

st
S
PA

in
fo
rm

at
io
n
fo
rt
he

m
ea

su
re
s
be

lo
w

m
an

ag
em

en
t

sy
st
em

s
N
um

be
ro

f
to
ur
is
m

ty
pe

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts

ap
pr
ov
ed

To
ur
is
m

ty
pe

de
ve
lop
m
en
t

co
ns
en

ts
/

co
m
ple

tio
ns

w
ith
in
th
e

bu
ffe

r
zo
ne

R
ev
ie
w
th
e
ex
te
nt

to
w
hi
ch

th
is
ch
an

ge
s
ei
th
er

th
e
ne

ed
Si
gn

ifi
ca
nt
ch
an

ge
(m

or
e

th
an

0.
1
pe

rh
ou

se
ho

ld
)

Vi
a
C
en

su
s
20

21
da

ta
(th

e
in
iti
al

B
as
ed

on
th
e

re
su
lts

of
th
e
20

11
C
en

su
s

Av
er
ag

e
ho

us
eh

ol
d
si
ze

G
re
en

S
pa

ce
P
ro
vi
si
on

/
E
nh

an
ce
m
en

ta
nd

2

fo
ro

pe
n
sp
ac
e
pr
ov
is
io
n
or

an
al
ys
is
of

th
e

C
oa

st
al
A
cc
es
s

fu
nd

in
g
of

co
as
ta
la
cc
es
s

m
an

ag
em

en
tm

ea
su
re
s

ce
ns
us

w
ill

pr
ov
id
e
th
is

M
an

ag
em

en
t

M
ea

su
re
s

in
fo
rm

at
io
n
an

d
co
ul
d
be

ex
pe

ct
ed

to
be

pu
bl
is
he

d
be

fo
re

en
d
of

20
22

ba
se
d
on

th
e

an
al
ys
is
of

th
e

20
11

ce
ns
us
)

In
cr
ea

se
m
iti
ga

tio
n
ra
te

fo
r

fu
tu
re

sc
he

m
es

R
ec
ei
pt
s
ar
e
in
su
ffi
ci
en

t
to

de
liv
er

op
en

sp
ac
e

K
ep

ta
s
a
liv
e

sp
re
ad

sh
ee

t
R
ep

or
te
d
fro

m
C
ou

nc
il
fin
an

ce
Fu

nd
in
g

re
ce
iv
ed

G
re
en

S
pa

ce
P
ro
vi
si
on

/
3

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham28

Implementation and Monitoring4

Page 130



A
ct
io
ns

to
re
ct
ify

po
te
nt
ia
l

fa
ilu

re
of

m
iti
ga

tio
n

Tr
ig
ge

rf
or

R
ev
ie
w
of

M
ea
su

re
W
he

n
w
ill
th
e

m
ea
su

re
be

m
on

ito
re
d?

H
ow

w
ill
th
e

O
ut
co

m
e
be

M
on

ito
re
d?

H
ow

w
ill
th
e

M
ea
su

re
be

m
on

ito
re
d?

M
iti
ga

tio
n

M
ea
su

re
R
el
ev
an

t
N
at
ur
a
20
00

Si
te
(s
)

pr
ov
is
io
n
/

en
ha

nc
em

en
ts
or
ac
ce
ss

E
nh

an
ce
m
en

ta
nd

C
oa

st
al
A
cc
es
s

m
an

ag
em

en
tm

ea
su
re
s

M
an

ag
em

en
t

M
ea

su
re
s

in
ta
nd

em
w
ith

ho
us
in
g

de
liv
er
y
/t
ou

ris
m

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

E
ith
er
:

Pa
ym

en
ts
to
de

liv
er
op

en
sp
ac
e
pr
ov
is
io
n
/

K
ep

ta
s
a
liv
e

sp
re
ad

sh
ee

t
R
ep

or
te
d
fro

m
C
ou

nc
il
fin
an

ce
Fu

nd
in
g
sp
en

t
G
re
en

S
pa

ce
P
ro
vi
si
on

/
4

B
rin

g
ot
he

rg
re
en

sp
ac
e

on
st
re
am

en
ha

nc
em

en
ts
or
ac
ce
ss

m
an

ag
em

en
tm

ea
su
re
s

E
nh

an
ce
m
en

ta
nd

C
oa

st
al
A
cc
es
s

In
tro

du
ce

co
nd

iti
on

s
re
ga

rd
in
g
ph

as
in
g
of

ar
e
fa
lli
ng

be
lo
w
ac
tu
al

ho
us
in
g
de

liv
er
y
/

to
ur
is
m

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

M
an

ag
em

en
t

M
ea

su
re
s

ho
us
in
g
or

re
fu
se

co
ns
en

ts
un

til
su
ffi
ci
en

t
op

en
sp
ac
e
ca
pa

ci
ty
/

ac
ce
ss

m
an

ag
em

en
t

m
ea

su
re
s
ar
e
in
pl
ac
e

E
ith
er
:

Th
e
pr
ov
is
io
n
of

gr
ee

n
sp
ac
e
ca
pa

ci
ty
fa
lls

K
ep

ta
s
a
liv
e

sp
re
ad

sh
ee

t
G
re
en

S
pa

ce
P
ro
vi
si
on

/
E
nh

an
ce
m
en

t

G
re
en

S
pa

ce
P
ro
vi
si
on

/
E
nh

an
ce
m
en

t

5
A
re
a
of

op
en

sp
ac
e

pr
ov
id
ed

/
im
pr
ov
ed

B
rin

g
ot
he

rg
re
en

sp
ac
e

on
st
re
am

be
lo
w
th
e
ra
te

at
w
hi
ch

re
si
de

nt
s
ar
e
in
cr
ea

si
ng

in
th
e
lo
ca
lit
y

In
tro

du
ce

co
nd

iti
on

s
re
ga

rd
in
g
ph

as
in
g
of

Lo
ca
tio
ns

of
op

en
sp
ac
e

ho
us
in
g
or

re
fu
se

pro
vid
ed
/im
pro
ve
d

co
ns
en

ts
un

til
su
ffi
ci
en

t
an

d
pr
ox
im
ity

op
en

sp
ac
e
ca
pa

ci
ty
/

to
ne

w
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t

ac
ce
ss

m
an

ag
em

en
t

m
ea

su
re
s
ar
e
in
pl
ac
e

H
ea

dr
oo

m
of

op
en

sp
ac
e

pr
ov
id
ed

/
im
pr
ov
ed

29HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

4Implementation and Monitoring

Page 131



A
ct
io
ns

to
re
ct
ify

po
te
nt
ia
l

fa
ilu

re
of

m
iti
ga

tio
n

Tr
ig
ge

rf
or

R
ev
ie
w
of

M
ea
su

re
W
he

n
w
ill
th
e

m
ea
su

re
be

m
on

ito
re
d?

H
ow

w
ill
th
e

O
ut
co

m
e
be

M
on

ito
re
d?

H
ow

w
ill
th
e

M
ea
su

re
be

m
on

ito
re
d?

M
iti
ga

tio
n

M
ea
su

re
R
el
ev
an

t
N
at
ur
a
20
00

Si
te
(s
)

E
ith
er
:

D
ec
re
as
e
in
bi
rd

po
pu

la
tio
n
an

d/
or

K
ep

ta
s
a
liv
e

sp
re
ad

sh
ee

t
Im

pl
em

en
ta
tio
n

of
co
as
ta
l

ac
ce
ss

m
an

ag
em

en
t

m
ea

su
re
s

C
oa

st
al
A
cc
es
s

M
an

ag
em

en
t

M
ea

su
re
s

6
M
ea

su
re

de
liv
er
ed

In
tro

du
ce

ot
he

r
m
iti
ga

tio
n
m
ea

su
re
s

su
ch

as
by
el
aw

s
re
st
ric
tin
g
do

g
w
al
ki
ng

de
te
rio

ra
tio
n
in
ha

bi
ta
t

du
e
to

re
cr
ea

tio
na

l
pr
es
su
re

In
tro

du
ce

co
nd

iti
on

s
re
ga

rd
in
g
ph

as
in
g
of

ho
us
in
g
or

re
fu
se

co
ns
en

ts
un

til
su
ffi
ci
en

t
ac
ce
ss

m
an

ag
em

en
t

m
ea

su
re
s
ar
e
in
pl
ac
e

E
ith
er
:

Vi
si
to
rd

at
a

G
re
en

S
pa

ce
P
ro
vi
si
on

/
7

E
vi
de

nc
e
th
at

gr
ee

n
sp
ac
es

A
ut
om

at
ed

co
un

te
rs

at
U
se

of
co
as
ta
ls
ite
s

B
rin

g
ot
he

rg
re
en

sp
ac
e

on
st
re
am

pr
ov
id
ed

/
en

ha
nc
ed

ar
e
no

t
be

in
g
us
ed

gr
ee

n
sp
ac
es

pr
ov
id
ed

/
en

ha
nc
ed

(n
um

be
rs

an
d
lo
ca
tio
n)

E
nh

an
ce
m
en

ta
nd

C
oa

st
al
A
cc
es
s

M
an

ag
em

en
t

M
ea

su
re
s

In
tro

du
ce

ot
he

r
m
iti
ga

tio
n
m
ea

su
re
s

su
ch

as
by
el
aw

s
re
st
ric
tin
g
do

g
w
al
ki
ng

U
se

of
gr
ee

n
sp
ac
e

pr
ov
id
ed

/
en

ha
nc
ed

D
ec
re
as
e
in
bi
rd

po
pu

la
tio
n
an

d/
or

de
te
rio

ra
tio
n
in

an
d
ke
y

co
as
ta
ls
ite
s

In
tro

du
ce

co
nd

iti
on

s
re
ga

rd
in
g
ph

as
in
g
of

(n
um

be
rs

an
d
lo
ca
tio
n)

ha
bi
ta
td

ue
to

re
cr
ea

tio
na

l
pr
es
su
re

Fa
ce

to
fa
ce

su
rv
ey
s

ev
er
y
2-
3

ye
ar
s.

ho
us
in
g
or

re
fu
se

co
ns
en

ts
un

til
su
ffi
ci
en

t
op

en
sp
ac
e
ca
pa

ci
ty
/

ac
ce
ss

m
an

ag
em

en
t

m
ea

su
re
s
ar
e
in
pl
ac
e

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham30

Implementation and Monitoring4

Page 132



A
ct
io
ns

to
re
ct
ify

po
te
nt
ia
l

fa
ilu

re
of

m
iti
ga

tio
n

Tr
ig
ge

rf
or

R
ev
ie
w
of

M
ea
su

re
W
he

n
w
ill
th
e

m
ea
su

re
be

m
on

ito
re
d?

H
ow

w
ill
th
e

O
ut
co

m
e
be

M
on

ito
re
d?

H
ow

w
ill
th
e

M
ea
su

re
be

m
on

ito
re
d?

M
iti
ga

tio
n

M
ea
su

re
R
el
ev
an

t
N
at
ur
a
20
00

Si
te
(s
)

E
ith
er
:

S
ub

je
ct
to

na
tu
ra
l

ch
an

ge
,e

vi
de

nc
e
th
at

qu
al
ify
in
g
bi
rd

B
ird

da
ta

G
re
en

S
pa

ce
P
ro
vi
si
on

/
E
nh

an
ce
m
en

ta
nd

8
W
eB

S
da

ta
an

nu
al
ly

W
eB

S
da

ta
if

av
ai
la
bl
e

A
m
en

d
or

im
pl
em

en
t

fu
rth

er
ac
ce
ss

m
an

ag
em

en
tm

ea
su
re
s

Bi
rd
su
rv
ey
s

ev
er
y
3

ye
ar
s

B
ird

su
rv
ey
s

C
oa

st
al
A
cc
es
s

M
an

ag
em

en
t

M
ea

su
re
s

po
pu

la
tio
ns

ar
e
ei
th
er

co
ns
is
te
nt
ly
de

cr
ea

si
ng

or
ar
e
be

in
g
fo
rc
ed

in
to

sm
al
le
ra

re
as

ov
er

a
8

ye
ar

tre
nd

pe
rio

d.

In
tro

du
ce

ot
he

r
m
iti
ga

tio
n
m
ea

su
re
s

su
ch

as
by
el
aw

s
re
st
ric
tin
g
do

g
w
al
ki
ng

E
ith
er
:

S
ub

je
ct
to

na
tu
ra
l

ch
an

ge
,d

et
er
io
ra
tio
n
or

ch
an

ge
in
th
e
ha

bi
ta
t

E
ve
ry

6
ye
ar
s

C
on

di
tio
n
of
ha

bi
ta
t

w
ith
in
th
e
SA

C
an

d
S
PA

H
ab

ita
t

m
on

ito
rin

g
G
re
en

S
pa

ce
P
ro
vi
si
on

/
E
nh

an
ce
m
en

ta
nd

9
A
m
en

d
or

im
pl
em

en
t

fu
rth

er
ac
ce
ss

m
an

ag
em

en
tm

ea
su
re
s

C
oa

st
al
A
cc
es
s

M
an

ag
em

en
t

M
ea

su
re
s

In
tro

du
ce

ot
he

r
m
iti
ga

tio
n
m
ea

su
re
s

su
ch

as
by
el
aw

s
re
st
ric
tin
g
do

g
w
al
ki
ng

,
ta
rg
et
ed

en
fo
rc
em

en
t

ac
tiv
ity

in
re
la
tio
n
to
do

g
fo
ul
in
g.

Ex
pl
an

at
or
y
N
ot
e

1.
H
ou

si
ng

co
ns
en

ts
/c
om

pl
et
io
ns

an
d
to
ur
is
m
de

ve
lo
pm

en
tw

ith
in
0.
4-
6k
m
-t
he

ai
m
of
th
is
ro
w
is
to
pr
ov
id
e
a
cl
ea

ru
nd

er
st
an

di
ng

of
w
he

re
ne

w
ho

us
in
g
an

d
to
ur
is
m

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ti
s
be

in
g
de

liv
er
ed

.

2.
Av

er
ag

e
ho

us
eh

ol
d
si
ze

-T
he

m
iti
ga

tio
n
ne

ed
s
to

fo
cu
s
on

th
e
nu

m
be

ro
fp

eo
pl
e
w
ho

ar
e
be

in
g
di
ve
rte

d
fro

m
th
e
co
as
ta

nd
ho

w
to

be
st
m
an

ag
e
lo
ca
lp
op

ul
at
io
ns

(in
ad

di
tio
n
to

vi
si
to
rs
)w

he
n
th
ey

do
ac
ce
ss

th
e
co
as
t.
Th

is
in
fo
rm

at
io
n,

w
he

n
co
m
bi
ne

d
w
ith

ro
w
2,

w
ill
gi
ve

a
cl
ea

ru
nd

er
st
an

di
ng

of
w
he

re
,a

nd
by

ho
w
m
uc
h
th
e
po

pu
la
tio
n
w
ith
in
th
e
co
as
ta
lz
on

e
is
in
cr
ea

si
ng

.

31HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

4Implementation and Monitoring

Page 133



3.
Fu

nd
in
g
re
ce
iv
ed

-
Th

is
w
ill
en

ab
le
th
e
C
ou

nc
il
to

tra
ck

w
he

th
er

th
e
pa

ym
en

ts
ar
e
co
m
in
g
in
as

an
tic
ip
at
ed

.

4.
Fu

nd
in
g
sp
en

t-
Th

is
w
ill
en

ab
le
th
e
C
ou

nc
il
to

tra
ck

w
he

th
er

fu
nd

s
ar
e
be

in
g
sp
en

ti
n
a
tim

el
y
m
an

ne
r.

5.
G
re
en

sp
ac
e
pr
ov
is
io
n
/e

nh
an

ce
m
en

t-
Th

is
w
ill
en

ab
le
th
e
C
ou

nc
il
to

tra
ck

th
e
am

ou
nt

of
op

en
sp
ac
e
th
at

is
be

in
g
pr
ov
id
ed

/e
nh

an
ce
d
an

d
th
e
ca
pa

ci
ty
of

ea
ch

si
te
.

6.
C
oa

st
al
ac
ce
ss

m
an

ag
em

en
tm

ea
su
re
s
-T

hi
s
w
ill
en

ab
le
th
e
C
ou

nc
il
to

tra
ck

w
he

th
er

m
ea

su
re
s
ar
e
be

in
g
im
pl
em

en
te
d
th
at

co
rr
es
po

nd
w
ith

as
so
ci
at
ed

ac
ce
ss

po
in
ts
to

th
e
co
as
tf
ro
m

ne
w
ho

us
in
g
/t
ou

ris
m

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t.

7.
Vi
si
to
rd

at
a
-I
nf
or
m
at
io
n
co
lla
te
d
w
ill
be

us
ed

to
de

te
rm

in
e
ho

w
th
e
co
as
ta

nd
al
te
rn
at
e
gr
ee

n
sp
ac
es

ar
e
be

in
g
us
ed

.T
hi
s
w
ill

he
lp
to

co
nt
in
ue

to
ju
st
ify

/m
od

ify
th
e
re
cr
ea

tio
na

lc
at
ch
m
en

ta
nd

m
iti
ga

tio
n
m
ea

su
re
s
as

ne
ce
ss
ar
y.

8.
Bi
rd

da
ta
-I
nf
or
m
at
io
n
co
lla
te
d
w
ill
be

us
ed

to
de

te
rm

in
e
he

al
th
of
po

pu
la
tio
ns

an
d
ar
ea

s
th
at
ar
e
be

in
g
us
ed

.M
iti
ga

tio
n
m
ea

su
re
s

ca
n
be

m
od

ifi
ed

as
ne

ce
ss
ar
y
in
re
sp
on

se
to

tre
nd

s
id
en

tif
ie
d.

9.
H
ab

ita
tm

on
ito
rin

g
-I
nf
or
m
at
io
n
co
lla
te
d
w
ill
be

us
ed

to
de

te
rm

in
e
th
e
he

al
th

of
as
so
ci
at
ed

S
A
C
/S
PA

ha
bi
ta
t.

M
iti
ga

tio
n

m
ea

su
re
s
ca
n
be

m
od

ifi
ed

as
ne

ce
ss
ar
y
in
re
sp
on

se
to

tre
nd

s
id
en

tif
ie
d.

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham32

Implementation and Monitoring4

Page 134



Appendix A: Process for Considering Development Proposals Affecting European
Protected Sites

Appendix 2: Consideration of Development 
Proposals Affecting Internationally 
Designated Sites 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/spa 30 

xxxiiiHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix A: Process for Considering Development Proposals Affecting
European Protected Sites

Page 135



Appendix B: Suitable Natural Greenspace: 3ha per 1,000 Persons Methodology

This Appendix aims to outline the methodology for arriving at the 3ha per 1,000 persons
of suitable natural greenspace requirement.

In relation to the quantity of greenspace proposed, to be workable, the quantity standards
for mitigation greenspace need to be based on existing open space provision. Simply
selecting a quantity standard developed elsewhere is unlikely to be successful.(xviii) The
starting point for developing the quantity standard, therefore, was to extract data utilising
the County Council's land terrier Geographic Information Systems (GIS) layer, together
with aerial photos and ground truthing, to identify how much publicly usable open space
is currently available in and around each settlement, within the 6km recreational catchment.
The total area of existing accessible greenspace within that area, was then assessed
against the current residential population figures (2011 census data) for each settlement,
to get an average figure of hectares per person. An average across the settlement area
was calculated as being 2ha per 1,000 persons.

A second calculation of the existing coastal recreation area versus the existing residential
population within 6km was also calculated to assess existing provision per 1,000 persons,
and this was calculated at being 3ha per 1,000 persons (based on a 660.5ha coastal
recreation area, and a population of 236,318). Please note that the existing coastal
recreation area includes all relevant sections of the Natura 2000 sites, all intervening and
extending coastal strips down to low tide viable for recreation and all apparent rough
grassland inland of the cliff-tops which is or could be used by dog walkers up to the first
change of land use or break in accessibility, such as a road (please see the following
figure). Adopting the precautionary principle, the larger of the two greenspace quantity
figures (3ha per 1000 persons) has been selected as the target for future mitigation
provision.

xviii Developing Open Space Standards, Guidance and Framework (2013) Scotland and Scottish Natural Heritage.

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamxxxiv

Appendix B: Suitable Natural Greenspace: 3ha per 1,000 Persons
Methodology

Page 136



Figure 4 Coastal Recreation Resource Area

xxxvHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix B: Suitable Natural Greenspace: 3ha per 1,000 Persons
Methodology

Page 137



Appendix C: Description of Coastal European Protected Sites

This section aims to provide an introduction to and overview of the coastal European
Protected Sites comprising:

Durham Coast SAC
Northumbria Coast SPA and Ramsar
Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA and Ramsar

C1: Durham Coast SAC

Durham Coast SAC was designated in April 2005 and covers an area of approximately
394 hectares. DurhamCoast SAC is the only example of vegetated sea cliffs on magnesian
limestone exposures in the UK. These cliffs extend along the North Sea coast for over 20
km from South Shields southwards to Blackhall Rocks. Their vegetation is unique in the
British Isles and consists of a complex mosaic of paramaritime, mesotrophic and calcicolous
grasslands, tall-herb fen, seepage flushes and wind-pruned scrub. Within these habitats
rare species of contrasting photogeographic distributions often grow together forming
unusual and species-rich communities of high scientific interest. The communities present
on the sea cliffs are largely maintained by natural processes including exposure to sea
spray, erosion and slippage of the soft magnesian limestone bedrock and overlying glacial
drifts, as well as localised flushing by calcareous water.

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamxxxvi

Appendix C: Description of Coastal European Protected Sites

Page 138



Figure 5 Durham Coast SAC

xxxviiHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix C: Description of Coastal European Protected Sites

Page 139



Qualifying Features

Vegetated sea cliffs of the Atlantic and Baltic coasts

Conservation Objectives

With regard to the SAC and the natural habitats and/or species for which the site has been
designated (the ‘Qualifying Features’ listed above), and subject to natural change;

Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and ensure
that the site contributes to achieving the Favourable Conservation Status of its Qualifying
Features, by maintaining or restoring the;

Extent and distribution of qualifying natural habitats
Structure and function (including typical species) of qualifying natural habitats, and
Supporting processes on which the qualifying natural habitats rely

Reported Threats / Pressures

The Natura 2000 Standard Data form for the site outlines the following threats and
pressures which are ranked as high:

Human induced changes in hydraulic conditions;
Invasive non-native species;
Other human intrusions and disturbances;
Abiotic (slow) natural processes; and
Fertilisation

Natural England's Site Improvement Plan for the Durham Coast expands upon the issues
identified as currently impacting or threatening the condition of the features as follows:(xix)

:

Table 4 Description of Threats / Pressures

DescriptionThreat /
Pressure

Development and arable land use already come very close to the existing cliff top
in many place, constraining the the ability of the cliff top habitats to roll back as the

Natural changes
to site conditions

cliffs naturally erode. It is uncertain whether there is enough space for natural
migration of the SAC habitat.

Decades of deposition of colliery spoil at the base of the cliffs has formed an artificial
raised beach along much of the Durham coastline which prevents waves reaching

Inappropriate
coastal
management the cliff foot. This has slowed the erosion of the cliffs and changed their profile,

reducing the slumping which exposes fresh substrate and creates niches for the
development of different successional stages of vegetation. It has also reduced the
influence of salt spray on the cliff vegetation. The constraint of these natural
processes has degraded the diversity of the vegetation, its uniqueness and its
scientific interest, and upset the ecological balance allowing scrub and ruderal

xix Plan available at: Site Improvement Plan Durham Coast

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamxxxviii

Appendix C: Description of Coastal European Protected Sites

Page 140



DescriptionThreat /
Pressure

species to encroach into more sensitive habitats. Deposition of colliery spoil ceased
in the 1980s and there have been significant efforts to clean up the beaches since.
The remaining spoil is being naturally eroded back by the sea but at current rates
in some place it could take decades for the sea to act directly on the cliff base again.
New coastal defences that interfere with erosional process could have a similar
negative impact on the vegetated sea cliffs.

Where scrub is encroaching too far into grassland areas this is detrimental to the
interest feature. This is due to lack of management e.g. Grazing, and/or because

Invasive species

the natural coastal processes which keep the scrub in check such as erosion and
exposure to the elements are constrained. Bracken is spreading into the good
grassland in some areas, especially at the mouths of the denes, and sycamore and
invasive species like Himalayan Balsam are also most problematic where the denes
meet the coast as the watercourses bring in the seed. Cultivated species from
caravan parks and gardens have also colonised parts of the coast and need to be
kept in check. Unauthorised burning of scrub makes it more difficult to treat.

Many of the wet fen/flush areas have become degraded by nutrient enrichment from
fertiliser run-off from arable land. Where the hinterland to the SAC has been reverted

Fertiliser use

to low input grassland the issue should resolve over time, though there may be a
long lag. In specific areas there is still arable land immediately adjacent to the SAC
where run-off is occurring and reversion to grassland would benefit the SAC feature.

Illegal use of motorbikes, quadbikes and 4x4s occurs in specific areas along the
coast, especially around soft cliffs and dunes, causing erosion and damage to
vegetation and soils.

Vehicles: illicit

There are at least two or three sites on the coast where contaminated/toxic waste
has been landfilled into old quarries and as the cliffs erode this is now being exposed.

Change to site
conditions

This could lead to pollution of the cliff habitats and changes in vegetation. Also,
schemes to address the problem, e.g. by slowing coastal erosion, could be damaging
to the SAC in themselves by interfering with natural processes. Rock armouring has
already been used in some locations.

In public access hot spots e.g. close to housing and car parks, dog fouling leads to
increased nutrients which can change the vegetation, favouring ranker grasses and
weeds.

Public access

Key Environmental Conditions

The key environmental conditions required to support site integrity comprise the following:

Overall length and/or area of cliff habitat to be maintained taking into account natural
variation
There should be no increase in area constrained by introduced structures or landforms
The range of physical conditions supporting the habitats, and the range of maritime
grasslands and other communities should be maintained
There should be no increase in species untypical of the communities that define the
feature
Reduced risk of trampling / nutrient input

xxxixHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix C: Description of Coastal European Protected Sites

Page 141



C2: Northumbria Coast SPA and Ramsar

Northumbria Coast SPA and Ramsar was designated in February 2000 and covers an
area of approximately 1,108 hectares. The site comprises several discrete stretches of
the coastline in North East England between Spittal in the north of Northumberland to
Crimdon Dene in County Durham. The site consists of rocky shore with associated bolder
and cobble beaches. These support a rich algal flora and associated fauna and form an
important feeding area for wading birds. The areas of sandy beach within the site support
a flora which includesAmmophila arenaria;marram andHonkenya peploides; sea sandwort
. A diverse range of recreational activities takes place along the coast including walking,
camping, sea angling, bird watching, water sports (water-skiing, sailing, windsurfing and
canoeing) and general use of amenity beaches. As well as attracting a large number of
day trippers, a sizable population of summer visitors stay in caravan sites and other
accommodation along the coast. The site also includes parts of three artificial pier structures
and a small section of sandy beach

The designated stretches in Durham consist of approximately 55 hectares and broadly
pertain to Seaham's coastal area and harbour in the north east of the County and the area
of coastline between Blackhall Rocks and Crimdon Dene in the south east of the County.
The habitat of the SPA is predominantly classified as Shingle, Sea Cliffs and Islets.

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamxl

Appendix C: Description of Coastal European Protected Sites

Page 142



Figure 6 Northumbria Coast SPA and Ramsar

Qualifying Features (Natura 2000 and Ramsar)

Calidris maritima Purple sandpiper (wintering)
Arenaria interpres Ruddy turnstone (wintering)
Sterna albifrons Little tern (re-producing)

xliHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix C: Description of Coastal European Protected Sites

Page 143



Conservation Objectives

With regard to the SPA (and Ramsar) and the individual species and/or assemblage of
species for which the site has been classified and subject to natural change;

Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and ensure
that the site contributes to achieving the aims of the Wild Birds Directive, by maintaining
or restoring the;

Extent and distribution of the habitats of the qualifying features
Structure and function of the habitats of the qualifying features
Supporting processes on which the habitats of the qualifying features rely
Population of each of the qualifying features, and,
Distribution of the qualifying features within the site.

Reported Threats / Pressures

The Natura 2000 Standard Data form for the site outlines the following threats and
pressures which are ranked as high:

Outdoor sport and leisure activities, recreational activities;
Change in biotic conditions;
Pollution to marine waters;
Human induced changes to hydraulic conditions; and
Other human intrusions and disturbances

Natural England's Site Improvement Plan for the Northumberland Coastal area which
includes the SPA/Ramsar expands upon the issues identified as currently impacting or
threatening the condition of the features as follows: (xx)

Table 5 Description of Threats / Pressures

DescriptionThreat / Pressure

Little terns are a particularly high priority in relation to disturbance affecting
condition. Wintering waders and other species are also at risk. Wildlife tourism

Public access /
disturbance

is identified as a moderate threat in Northumbria Coast SPA, due to loss of
foraging habitat for birds, and there is also disturbance/displacement of birds
by dog walkers, light aircraft and watersports.

Populations of the qualifying bird species in Northumbria Coast SPA have
declined or changed but it is unclear if this is site specific or driven by wider
trends in distribution.

Changes in species
distributions

Predation on terns by raptors and other predatorsPredation

There is loss of irreplaceable habitat caused by the cumulative effect of small
scale impacts resulting from existing and new developments adjacent to
Northumbria Coast SPA.

Coastal Squeeze

xx Available at: Site Improvement Plan Northumberland Coastal

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamxlii

Appendix C: Description of Coastal European Protected Sites

Page 144



DescriptionThreat / Pressure

Wildlife crime occurs in Northumberland Coast SPA e.g. Egg theftDirect impact from
third party

Dredges (inc. hydraulic), benthic trawls and seines and shore-based activities
are categorised as 'Red’ for these interest features as part of Defra’s revised
approach to commercial fisheries management in EMS's, and requisite

Fisheries

mechanisms are being or will be implemented by Northumberland Inshore
Fisheries and Conservation Authority (NIFCA). Commercial fishing activities
such as potting categorised as ‘amber or green’ under Defra’s revised approach
to commercial fisheries in EMSs require assessment and (where appropriate)
management. This assessment will be undertaken by NIFCA. For activities
categorised as ‘green’, these assessments should take account of any in
combination effects of amber activities, and/or appropriate plans or projects, in
the site.

Key Environmental Conditions

The key environmental conditions required to support site integrity comprise the following:

Freedom from disturbance
Extent and availability of habitat (no decrease) - breeding areas, feeding areas, roost
sites
Food availability (marine fish, crustaceans, worms and molluscs; epibenthic
invertebrates amongst rolling seaweed; surface and sub surface invertebrates)
Open landscape
Protection from predation and human interference

C3: Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA and Ramsar

Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA and Ramsar was designated in August 1995 and
covers an area of approximately 1,247 hectares. Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast
comprises intertidal sand and mudflats, rocky shore, saltmarsh, freshwater marsh and
sand dunes. The Tees Estuary has been much-modified by such activities as land-claim,
construction of breakwaters and training walls, and deep dredging. The remaining intertidal
areas within the estuary are composed of mud and sand, with some Enteromorpha beds
in sheltered areas. Outside the estuary mouth, sandflats predominate, but with significant
rocky foreshores and reefs at both Redcar and Hartlepool and anthropogenic boulder beds
at South Gare. Moderately extensive sand dune systems flank the estuary mouth, while
a smaller dune system lies north of Hartlepool. Surviving saltmarsh is very limited in extent.
Behind the dunes and sea-defences a number of significant areas of grazing marsh are
found. The site is also referred to as a European Marine Site (EMS) as it consists of areas
continuously or intermittently covered by tidal waters or any part of the sea in or adjacent
to Great Britain up to the limit of territorial waters.

The designated stretch within County Durham's administrative boundary is approximately
1km in length and covers an area of approximately 22 hectares. The are is located between
Crimdon Dene and Hartlepool Borough Council's administrative boundary and
predominantly consists of coastal sand dunes and sand beaches.

xliiiHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix C: Description of Coastal European Protected Sites

Page 145



Figure 7 Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA and Ramsar

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamxliv

Appendix C: Description of Coastal European Protected Sites

Page 146



Qualifying Features

Table 6 Qualifying Features Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA and Ramsar

Qualifying species (Natura
2000 and/or Ramsar)

TypeCommon NameScientific Name

Natura 2000 and RamsarwinteringRed knotCalidris canutus

Natura 2000 and RamsarconcentrationCommon redshankTringa totanus

Natura 2000concentrationSandwich ternSterna sandvicensis

Natura 2000Re-producingLittle ternSterna albifrons

Natura 2000 and RamsarwinteringWaterbird assemblageN/A

Conservation Objectives

With regard to the SPA (and Ramsar) and the individual species and/or assemblage of
species for which the site has been classified (the ‘Qualifying Features’ listed above), and
subject to natural change;

Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and ensure
that the site contributes to achieving the aims of the Wild Birds Directive, by maintaining
or restoring the;

Extent and distribution of the habitats of the qualifying features
Structure and function of the habitats of the qualifying features
Supporting processes on which the habitats of the qualifying features rely
Population of each of the qualifying features, and,
Distribution of the qualifying features within the site.

Reported Threats / Pressures

The Natura 2000 Standard Data form for the site outlines the following threats and
pressures which are ranked as high:

Outdoor sport and leisure activities, recreational activities;
Pollution to marine waters;
Human induced changes to hydraulic conditions;
Industrial or commercial areas; and
Fishing and harvesting aquatic resources

Natural England's Site Improvement Plan for Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast expands
upon the issues identified as currently impacting or threatening the condition of the features.
(xxi) The issues that are considered relevant to Durham's coastal stretch of the SPA/Ramsar
are identified in the following table:

xxi Available at: Site Improvement Plan: Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast

xlvHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix C: Description of Coastal European Protected Sites

Page 147



Table 7 Description of Threats / Pressures

DescriptionThreat / Pressure

Both breeding Little tern and non-breeding waterbirds are disturbed by
recreational beach users. These include walkers, dog walkers and kite surfers.

Public access /
disturbance

Undesignated land that supports SPA birds ('functional habitat') has been
negatively affected by development in the recent past.

Direct land take from
development

Improvements to wastewater treatment and catchment management and the
closure and re-location of wastewater discharges have significantly reduced

Water quality

the inputs of nutrients and organic matter to the Tees. These improvements
in water quality have reduced the biomass of the benthic fauna that the estuary
supports, and hence the food supply of a number of bird species.

Commercial fishing activities categorised as ‘amber or green’ under Defra’s
revised approach to commercial fisheries in EMSs require assessment and

Fisheries

(where appropriate) management. This assessment will be undertaken by
Northumberland Inshore Fisheries and Conservation Authority (NEIFCA).

Some of the undesignated land that is used by non-breeding waterbirds is
being encroached by scrub and coarse vegetation. Consequently these areas
are becoming unsuitable for foraging or roosting

Undergrazing

The Little tern colony has suffered from predation in recent years, including
from sparrowhawk, kestrel, hedgehog and fox. A large number of eggs were
stolen from the site in 2013.

Predation

Coastal squeeze will reduce the area of intertidal and upper shore habitats,
which are used for foraging and roosting by non-breeding waterbirds and for
nesting by Little tern.

Coastal squeeze

Sand dunes are accreting along sections of the coast. This may result in some
former Little tern breeding sites becoming unsuitable. Nutrient enrichment
through nitrogen deposition is likely to encourage vigorous growth of vegetation
in embryo

Changes to site
conditions / air
pollution

Key Environmental Conditions

The key environmental conditions required to support site integrity comprise the following:

Food availability (small fish, crustaceans, worms and molluscs, seed bearing plants,
surface and sub-surface invertebrates
Vegetation structure
Limited disturbance

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamxlvi

Appendix C: Description of Coastal European Protected Sites

Page 148



Appendix D: Impact of Recreational Pressure

European protected sites are subject to different types of recreational pressure and have
differing vulnerabilities. Studies across a range of species have shown that recreational
effects can be complex with a range on interrelating impacts as demonstrated by the
following diagram.

Figure 8 Interrelationships between recreational impacts (adapted from Wall and Wright, 1977)

This section aims to outline the potential pathways by which increased recreational pressure
could adversely affect the coastal European Protected Sites and associated qualifying
species.

Durham Coast SAC

Durham Coast SAC supports the only example of vegetated sea cliffs on magnesian
limestone exposures in the UK. Increased recreational activity by foot or by vehicle can
lead to trampling of qualifying vegetation, erosion and soil compaction. This in turn can
lead to the reduction in vegetation cover and the overall health of species in addition to
changes to species composition. Walkers with dogs also contribute to pressure on sites
through nutrient enrichment via dog fouling.

Durham Coast SAC's vegetated sea cliffs are of very limited extent and in some cases
only a few meters in width and are highly vulnerable to the impacts from the passage of
walkers, horse riders and cyclists. These plant communities are fragile and already under

xlviiHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix D: Impact of Recreational Pressure

Page 149



high environmental stress, from among other factors, drought, thin soils and natural
sub-aerial erosion. Though highly susceptible to such wear the habitats location on generally
steep slopes or dangerous cliff edges, are by their position relatively safe. However, there
are some localities where the sea cliff plant community is adjacent to or even on the inland
side of the coast path, such as Blackhills Gill, Horden, Beacon Point and Noses Point, but
here there is a surfaced footpath that directs and in most parts, confines walkers to the
route. There are however many other desire lines, and footpaths, some linking back to
the main towns along the coast, especially evident at Crimdon, Blackhall Colliery, and
Castle Eden Dene in addition to heavy and sustained walking pressure, especially along
the coast path.

Many studies on the effects of trampling, by feet, horses, cycles and vehicles and on the
impacts of soil enrichment including dog fouling are cited in the literature. A useful
compendium of this varied research is given in the Natural England (formerly English
Nature) commissioned reports relating to the implementation of the Countryside and Rights
of Way Act (Lowen et al, 2008, Penny Anderson Associates, 2001). For example, the
commissioned report into the effects of access on foot identified that; impacts are greater
on wet ground or steep slopes; sensitive species disappear on and beside paths with
impacts extending up to 50 metres on either side of the path and about 400 passages per
year can result in 50% loss of cover and species. (xxii)

Findings from a variety of experiments and research, and in various localities also support
the view that low productivity turf (eg. Magnesian limestone/calcareous grassland) is more
prone to trampling and enrichment damage than more productive grassland and that
recovery from such damage is slower. Even with quite modest pressure it can result in
changes in plant composition, reduction in biodiversity, reduction in soil invertebrates, and
in soil compaction. Even where diversity appears to be maintained, there can be a shift
to more resilient and generalised species rather than the characteristic species of
calcareous grassland.

In addition to trampling effects, low nutrient sites, typical of many semi-natural habitats
including limestone grassland, are especially susceptible to the addition of fertiliser. Sources
include atmospheric deposition (mainly nitrogen and ammonia), agricultural run off and
dog faeces and urine (phosphorus and nitrogen). Studies show that the eutrophication
effects of faeces and urine can impact upon overall species composition and diversity.
(xxiii)The total volume of dog faeces and urine deposited on sites can also be surprisingly
large. For example, at Burnham Beeches National Nature Reserve over one year the total
amount of urine was estimated at 30,000 litres and faeces at 60 tonnes. (xxiv)

Northumbria Coast and Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA / Ramsar

In respect of the Coastal SPA sites an increase in recreational activity through both local
visitors and tourism by foot or by vehicle is considered likely to increase levels of
disturbance to qualifying features and may increase trampling of eggs. Human activity

xxii Penny Anderson Associates, 2001 Scientific research into the effects of access on nature conservation: Part 1: access on foot
Natural England Commissioned Report NECR012

xxiii Asken Ltd and Penny Anderson Associated Ltd (2005) Dogs, access and nature conservation Natural England (formerly English
Nature) Reports Number 649

xxiv Barnard, A. (2003) Getting the Facts - Dog Walking and Visitor Number Surveys at Burnham Beeches and their implications
for the Management Process Countryside Recreation, 11:16-19

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamxlviii

Appendix D: Impact of Recreational Pressure

Page 150



can affect birds either directly (e.g. through causing them to flee) or indirectly (e.g. through
damaging their habitat). The most obvious direct effect is that of immediate mortality such
as death by shooting, but human activity can also lead to behavioural changes (e.g.
alterations in feeding behaviour, avoidance of certain areas etc.) and physiological changes
(e.g. an increase in heart rate) that, although less noticeable, may ultimately result in major
population-level effects by altering the balance between immigration/birth and
emigration/death.

Recreational activity will often result in a flight response (either flying, diving, swimming
or running) from the animal that is being disturbed. This carries an energetic cost that
requires a greater food intake. Concern regarding the effects of disturbance on wintering
birds, stems from the fact that they are expending energy unnecessarily and the time they
spend responding to disturbance is time that is not spent feeding(xxv) Disturbance of winter
birds therefore risks increasing energetic output while reducing energetic input, which can
adversely affect the ‘condition’ and ultimately survival of the birds at a time when food is
scarce. In addition, displacement of birds from one feeding site to others can increase the
pressure on the resources available within the remaining sites, as they have to sustain a
greater number of birds.

Disturbance can also affect roosting birds over high tide periods when the birds’ feeding
grounds are submerged, again putting a demand on energy reserves. These impacts can
affect winter survival, particularly during periods of cold weather. In addition, displacement
of birds from one feeding/roosting site to another can increase the pressure on the
resources available within the remaining sites, as they have to sustain a greater number
of birds. Increased nest predation by natural predators can also occur as a result of adults
being flushed from the nest and deterred from returning to it by the presence of people
and dogs, leading to an overall reduction in breeding success.

A number of studies have also shown that birds are affected more by dogs and people
with dogs than by people alone, with birds flushing more readily, more frequently, at greater
distances and for longer.(xxvi) This is because fast-moving and loud disturbances such as
the running and barking of unleashed dogs is generally thought to be more disturbing.
(xxvii)

xxv Riddington, R et al. 1996 The impact of disturbance on the behaviour and energy budgets of Brent geese Bird Study 43:269-279
xxvi Gill, J.A. et al. The consequences of human disturbance for estuarine birds RSPB Conservation Review 12:67-72.
xxvii Burger, J. (1981) The effects of human activity on birds at a coastal bay Biological Conservation 21: 231-241

xlixHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix D: Impact of Recreational Pressure

Page 151



Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

In order to refine likely effects arising from recreational pressure further it was necessary
to collate and analyse local evidence sources, primarily in the form of overwintering bird
studies (xxviii) and winter and summer visitor surveys(xxix) to gain a localised understanding
of:

Whether qualifying species associated with the coastal European protected sites
are being adversely impacted as a result of recreational pressure;
Which areas of the coast qualifying species are utilising and how;
The recreational catchment of the coast and associated European protected sites;
and
Motivations for visiting the coast.

This section presents the findings of the evidence collated.

What impact is recreational pressure having onDurham's coastal European protected
sites and species?

Whilst studies and reports point to the type of impacts that recreational pressure can have
on wildlife, additional localised evidence was collated to determine whether the coastal
European protected sites and species are being adversely affected by recreational pressure
and if so how.

The two bird studies revealed that there was not a great diversity of bird species or indeed
high numbers using the Durham Coast. It was evident that very few birds were found on
the degraded and polluted soft shore or blast beaches in the north of the survey area.
Eurasian oystercatcher (waterbird assemblage) and Common redshank were generally
restricted to rocky promontories. Wading birds were generally not found on any soft shore
until south of Crimdon Dene. Apart from Seaham Harbour, generally used as a High tide
roost by Northern lapwing, Eurasian oystercatcher, Common redshank and Ruddy
turnstone, most of the wading birds were found at sites south of Blackhall Rocks.

Cadwallender T & M consider that the factors contributing to the findings include:

Poor quality habitat present, as a result of historical degradation and pollution from
mining and general industrial outputs, although this is improving;
High and increasing levels of human disturbance through an increase in recreational
usage; and
Changes in populations of species and their distribution due to climate change

xxviii Cadwallender, T, M, 2012 A Study of Over-winteringWaterbirds of the DurhamCoast - December 2011-March 2012 Cadwallender
Consultancy and Cadwallender, T & M, 2013 A Second Year Review of Overwintering Waterbirds of the Durham Coast -
December 2012 - March 2013 Cadwallender Consultancy

xxix collated in 2013 and 2015/16 by Bluegrass Research

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhaml

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 152



The findings of the coastal bird surveys accord with the outcomes of a study commissioned
by the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast European Marine Site (EMS) Management Group
to identify the disturbances and associated risks of unregulated recreational activities at
the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast EMS (xxx). This study found that only 31% of the
EMS and SPA's component Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI's) were classed as
being in favourable condition in 2011. The report states that the unfavourable condition
statements are a result of the decline in water bird numbers (knot and sanderling have
declined by 64% and 51% respectively over the past 25 years). The Natural England
Research Report Number 038 (European Marine Site Review, 2010) acknowledges that
increasing recreational activities may be one of the reasons for this. This review report
also stated that recreational activities were identified as presenting a risk to SPA birds
and SAC habitats, and that these risks were generic across a number of sites including
Durham’s and Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast. It stated that recreational activities could
pose a high risk of disturbance to SPA bird features affecting a number of sites throughout
England.

The Durham coastal bird studies concluded that the observed high levels of human
recreational disturbance by fishermen, dog walkers, walkers, vehicles and rock - poolers
(not an exhaustive list), is bound to have a significant impact on feeding and roosting
opportunities for wading birds and is a contributing factor for the reduced populations of
wading birds. Specifically, the study identified the following causes of recreational
disturbance in areas used by Annex I birds:

Table 8 Causes of Recreational Disturbance to Qualifying Annex I birds of Northumbria Coast and Teesmouth
and Cleveland Coast SPA and Ramsar

Cause of
Recreational
Pressure

Qualifying
Species of...

SpeciesTypeGeographically

Associated
Natura 2000
site

Site Name

Well used by
walkers, with and

Teesmouth and
Cleveland Coast
SPA

Common
Redshank

Low Tide
Feeding
Area

Northumbria
Coast SPA

Shore nth &
sth of
Pincushion without dogs, and

anglers from
Pincushion south

Heavily
disturbed, 60+

Teesmouth and
Cleveland Coast
SPA

Common
Redshank

Low Tide
Feeding
Area

Northumbria
Coast SPA

Featherbed
Rocks

people, with and
without dogs,
cyclists and
anglers over
whole stretch,
also surfers to
the south

xxx K. Simpson (2012) A Study into Recreational disturbance at the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast European Marine Site The
University of York

liHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 153



Cause of
Recreational
Pressure

Qualifying
Species of...

SpeciesTypeGeographically

Associated
Natura 2000
site

Site Name

This whole area
is used

Teesmouth and
Cleveland Coast
SPA

Common
Redshank

Low Tide
Feeding
Area

Northumbria
Coast SPA

Red Acre

extensively by
dog walkers and
other walkers

30-40 anglers on
piers, a few dog

Northumbria Coast
SPA and

Common
Redshank,

High Tide
Roost

Northumbria
Coast SPA

Seaham
Harbour
North walkers around

Seaham Harbour
Teesmouth and
Cleveland Coast
SPA

Ruddy
Turnstone

As aboveNorthumbria Coast
SPA and

Common
Redshank,

High Tide
Roost

Northumbria
Coast SPA

Seaham
Harbour
Middle Teesmouth andRuddy

Turnstone Cleveland Coast
SPA

As aboveNorthumbria Coast
SPA

Ruddy
Turnstone

High Tide
Roost

Northumbria
Coast SPA

Seaham
Harbour
South

Some
disturbance from

Northumbria Coast
SPA and

Common
Redshank,

Low Tide
Feeding
Area

Not applicableNoses
Point

walkers and
fishermen

Teesmouth and
Cleveland Coast
SPA

Ruddy
Turnstone

As aboveTeesmouth and
Cleveland Coast
SPA

Common
Redshank

High Tide
Roost

Not applicableNoses
Point

A few dog
walkers and

Teesmouth and
Cleveland Coast
SPA

Common
Redshank

Low Tide
Feeding
Area

Not applicableFox Holes -
Whiteside

anglers, 4x4
vehicle south of
Whitesides Gill in
March

Area heavily
used by dog

Northumbria Coast
SPA and

Red Knot,
Common

Low Tide
Feeding
Area

Northumbria
Coast SPA

Blackhall
Rocks
North walkers,Teesmouth andRedshank,

fishermen and
other users

Cleveland Coast
SPA

Ruddy
Turnstone

As aboveNorthumbria Coast
SPA and

Red Knot,
Common

Low Tide
Feeding
Area

Northumbria
Coast SPA

Blackhall
Rocks
Middle Teesmouth andRedshank,

Cleveland Coast
SPA

Ruddy
Turnstone

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamlii

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 154



Cause of
Recreational
Pressure

Qualifying
Species of...

SpeciesTypeGeographically

Associated
Natura 2000
site

Site Name

As aboveNorthumbria Coast
SPA and

Common
Redshank,

High Tide
Roost

Northumbria
Coast SPA

Blackhall
Rocks and
Grassland Teesmouth andRuddy

Turnstone Cleveland Coast
SPA

As aboveNorthumbria Coast
SPA and

Red Knot,
Common

Low Tide
Feeding
Area

Northumbria
Coast SPA

Blackhall
Rocks

Teesmouth andRedshank,
Cleveland Coast
SPA

Ruddy
Turnstone

As aboveNorthumbria Coast
SPA and

Red Knot,
Common

High Tide
Roost

Northumbria
Coast SPA

Blackhall
Rocks

Teesmouth andRedshank,
Cleveland Coast
SPA

Ruddy
Turnstone

Up to 20 people,
some with dogs

Northumbria Coast
SPA and

Red Knot,
Common

Low Tide
Feeding
Area

Teesmouth and
Cleveland Coast
SPA

Crimdon
Beach

and anglers over
whole stretch

Teesmouth and
Cleveland Coast
SPA

Redshank,
Ruddy
Turnstone

The table above highlights extensive use of the coast by dog walkers in particular. Dog
walking is a daily discipline and in many cases may mean one or more walks with the dog
every day, in every season, and every weather. Thus the disturbance impact of dog walkers
is comparatively much more frequent than for other walking activity.

Additionally, and as mentioned in the previous section, Durham Coast SAC is especially
susceptible to the addition of fertiliser such as dog faeces and urine (phosphorus and
nitrogen). Over a third of the component SSSI's are in an 'unfavourable recovering' condition
and the presence of rank grassland, indicating a decline in species diversity is recorded
in several SSSI units. The units identified as hosting rank grassland and being in an
unfavourable recovering condition that correspond with the SAC designation boundaries
include 020 Seaham-Easington, 029 Whitesides Gill (Horden) and 030 Horden
Point. Collectively, these units comprise approximately 39.4ha of SAC area.(xxxi)

Which areas of the coast are qualifying species utilising and how?

Having determined that Durham's coastal European protected species are being adversely
affected by recreational pressure it was necessary to determine the areas utilised by bird
species in particular, given that they are not confined by their designation boundaries.

xxxi Natural England - Durham Coast SSSI Units

liiiHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 155



This information in combination with evidence regarding the type and location of recreational
activity helped to inform the mitigation measures within this strategy, particularly in relation
to coastal access measures.

In respect of areas of the coast that qualifying species are using a Little Tern colony is in
residence at Crimdon within the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA designation and
breeds on the beach over the summer. This is the only colony along Durham's coastline
and coincides with the principal access to the strand .The Little Tern, further feeds inshore
at Blackhall and south to Redcar in late April to August.

In regards to other qualifying species, the bird studies aimed to identify areas or locations
which are used by waterbirds for low and high tide feeding and high tide roosting as well
as important offshore feeding and roosting areas. Particular attention was paid to finding
the high tide roosts of wading birds (often not well documented) which may being used
by qualifying species i.e. functional land.To assist with the preparation of the initial survey
a review of historical Wetland Bird Survey (WeBS) data held by the British Trust for
Ornithology (BTO) was attempted. BTO Wetland Bird Unit staff revealed that, away from
Hartlepool Headland, very little of the Durham coast had been regularly surveyed as part
of WeBS and no Non-Estuarine Waterbird Survey (NEWS) had taken place at any time.
Discussion with members of Durham Bird Club confirmed that no regular or coordinated
bird survey of the Durham coast had been undertaken. It was therefore reasonable to
conclude that, as there had been no regular and coordinated counts, the first study results
could act as a baseline.

The studies recorded the presence of qualifying species along various points of Durham's
coastline, of which the location of Annex I birds (and regularly occurring migratory birds
not listed on Annex I) are documented for ease of reference in the following tables and
maps. Please note that Purple sandpiper were observed but only in locations north and
south of Durham County Council's administrative boundary over both survey periods. This
does not mean that they are not present along Durham's coastline, only that they were
not observed at the times of the survey. The Durham Biodviersity Action Plan - Species
Plan indicates their presence on rocky outcrops at Blackhall and at Seaham Docks. (xxxii)

Table 9 Location and Numbers of Annex I Birds

Count
2012/13

Count
2011/12

SpeciesTypeSite Name

2-Common RedshankLow Tide Feeding AreaShore nth & sth of
Pincushion

1-Common RedshankLow Tide Feeding AreaFeatherbed Rocks

1-Common RedshankLow Tide Feeding AreaRed Acre

39-Common RedshankHigh Tide RoostSeahamHarbour North

-3Ruddy Turnstone

-35Common Redshank
High Tide RoostSeaham Harbour

Middle

xxxii Purple Sandpiper - Species Action Plan

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamliv

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 156



Count
2012/13

Count
2011/12

SpeciesTypeSite Name

113Ruddy Turnstone

510Ruddy TurnstoneHigh Tide RoostSeahamHarbour South

21Common RedshankLow Tide Feeding AreaNoses Point

1-Ruddy Turnstone

-1Common RedshankHigh Tide RoostNoses Point

5-Common RedshankLow Tide Feeding AreaFox Holes - Whiteside

2-Red KnotLow Tide Feeding AreaBlackhall Rocks North

-15Common Redshank

-10Ruddy Turnstone

51Red KnotLow Tide Feeding AreaBlackhall RocksMiddle

-1Common Redshank

24Ruddy Turnstone

5-Common RedshankHigh Tide RoostBlackhall Rocks and
Grassland

2Ruddy Turnstone

33Red KnotLow Tide Feeding AreaBlackhall Rocks

-3Ruddy Turnstone

-7Common Redshank

-10Red KnotHigh Tide RoostBlackhall Rocks

-5Common Redshank

-10Ruddy Turnstone

14-Red Knot
Low Tide Feeding AreaCrimdon Beach

5-Common Redshank

1-Ruddy Turnstone

The following maps show the location of roosting and feeding areas in relation to both
SPA designations:

lvHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 157



Figure 9 Map Showing the Location of Annex I Birds - Pincushion, Featherbed Rocks, Seaham Harbour
and Noses Point

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamlvi

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 158



Figure 10 Map Showing the Location of Annex I Birds - Fox Holes

lviiHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 159



Figure 11 Location of Annex I Birds - Blackhall Rocks and Crimdon Beach

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamlviii

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 160



What is the recreational catchment of the coast?

In addition to understanding which areas of the coast qualifying species are utilising and
what types of recreational activity are taking place where, it was also necessary to define
the recreational catchment of the coast. There is an increasingly strong body of evidence
showing how increasing levels of development, even when well outside the boundary of
protected sites, can have a negative impact. The issues are often particularly acute in
coastal areas as the coast will always have a strong draw for visitors. The recreational
catchment of the coast identifies where people visiting the coast travel from. Additional
housing located within the catchment will therefore lead to increased populations and
levels of access / recreational pressure.

In order to establish the recreational catchment of the coast, visitor surveys were conducted
by an independent research company (Bluegrass Research) in 2013 to determine in part
where people travel from and how often they visit. Face to face interviews were conducted
in six locations along Durham's coastline stretching from Seaham Hall beach in the north
to Crimdon beach in the south. Interview dates and times were staggered to cover mornings,
afternoons and evenings, weekdays and weekends. Each interviewed visitor was asked
for the full postcode from which they had travelled and the frequency of their visits both
in summer and winter months.

The analysis of the data showed that on removal of the few visitors to the coast who had
not travelled from within the North East region, visitors were willing to travel as far as 15
miles to visit Durham's coast with an increase in the reported frequency of visits the shorter
the distances travelled. In order to determine at which distances within the wider catchment
the majority of people travel from and therefore where the majority of recreational pressure
arises the data was subject to significance testing.

On advice from Natural England, the Council referred to the data analysis techniques
utilised by The Solent Mitigation and Disturbance Project and the 75% approach in particular
to aid the refinement of the catchment. (xxxiii)

Accordingly, the number of visits from each postcode location (grouped into distance
bands) were annualised based on the reported frequency of visits over the winter and
summer months. The total annualised visits (19,656) were then divided by 100 and
multiplied by 75 to derive the 75% significance figure (14,742). Following which, it was
possible to identify that the catchment within which 75% of the cumulative visits per distance
band is reached is between 0-6km as demonstrated by figure 11. Please note that the
distance bands were defined as follows:

Table 10 Distance Bands

BandDistance (km)

10-0.4

20.4 - 0.99

xxxiii R,Clarke; H, Fearnley; D, Liley; R, Stillman; A, West (2012) The Solent Mitigation and Disturbance Project Footprint Ecology &
Bournemouth University

lixHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 161



BandDistance (km)

31 - 1.9

42 - 2.9

53 - 3.9

64 - 4.9

75 - 5.9

86 - 6.9

97 - 7.9

108 - 8.9

119 - 9.9

1210 - 11.9

1312 - 13.9

1414 - 15.9

1516 - 17.9

1618 - 19.9

1720 - 21.9

1822 - 23.9

1924+

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamlx

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 162



Figure 12 Chart showing the cumulative percentage of visits per distance band

Figure 11 shows that 75% significance is achieved at band 8 (6-6.9km). As a cumulative
total of 15,626 annual visits are likely to be achieved between 6 and 6.9km (844 visits over
the 75% target of 14742) the lower end of the band (6km) was established as the
catchment. Please note that figure 11 shows an increasing cumulative total of visits per
band (e.g. The annualised visits occurring in band 1 are added to those in band 2 and so
on) and does not represent the total number of visits attributed to each band. This is shown
by figure 13 which shows higher visitor levels at lower distance bands. Figure 12 shows
the extent of the recreational catchment.

lxiHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 163



Figure 13 Map to show the Extent of the Recreational Catchment

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamlxii

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 164



Figure 14 Chart showing the number of annualised visits to the coast per distance band

Figure 13 shows the decreasing trend in annualised visitor numbers as the distance band
and associated distance from the coast increases. The trendline completely falls away
between bands 15 and 16 (16-19.9km).

As part of agreed monitoring arrangements further coastal visitor surveys were undertaken
by Bluegrass Research over summer and winter 2015 / 2016, following the same
methodology to review whether the recreational catchment established should be retained
or modified. The only difference to the methodology was that the winter survey was also
undertaken simultaneously within Sunderland and South Tyneside local authority areas
and a few additional questions regarding dog walking activity were added.

The findings of the summer 2015 survey showed that the 75% significance figure is
achieved at band 8 (6-6.9km) in line with previous outcomes. As a cumulative total of
27,427 annual visits (an increase of 11,801 visits from previous surveys) are achieved
between 6 and 6.9km (541 visits over the 75% target of 26,886) the lower end of the band
(6km) was reconfirmed as the recreational catchment. The 75% significance figure is also
achieved at band 8 (6-6.9km) when the summer 2015 data is combined with the results
of the 2013 surveys.

The winter 2015/16 coastal visitor survey showed that the 75% significance figure is
achieved at the upper end of band 4 (2-2.9km). On combining the results from the summer
and winter 2015/16 surveys, it is evident that the 75% significance figure is achieved at
the upper end of band 6 (4 - 4.9km). However, as three out of the four coastal visitor
surveys undertaken to date establish the recreational catchment as 6km, this larger
catchment will be retained. This is considered to accord with the use of the 'precautionary
principle' required by the Habitats Directive. The catchment will be reviewed on receipt of
five years worth of survey data.

lxiiiHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 165



In relation to the reported frequency of visits per band the following chart shows that a
significantly higher percentage of high frequency visits originate from distance band 1
(0-0.4km). High frequency visits are those that reported that they visit the coast either two
or three times a day.

Figure 15 Chart showing the percentage of high frequency visitors per distance band

In addition to the issue of higher frequency visitors originating within 0-0.04km of the coast,
the qualifying species of Northumbria Coast SPA and Ramsar and Teesmouth and
Cleveland Coast SPA and Ramsar are vulnerable to increased predation by cats and other
predatory species. Breeding pairs of Little tern may be particularly vulnerable to increased
predation. Increasing levels of urbanisation is likely to lead to higher levels of cat predation
and studies have shown that the approximate roaming distance of cats is 0.4km. (xxxiv)

Natural England have previously informed the Council that they do not consider the use
of pet covenants to be an effective from of mitigation in relation to domestic housing as
they are difficult to enforce.

In relation to the travelling locations of visitors to Durham's coastline the results from the
2013 and 2015/16 coastal visitor surveys show that just under a third of visitors are from
outside of County Durham. Of these visitors, the greater proportion were from Sunderland
as shown by figure 15. Additional development in neighbouring authorities is therefore
considered to contribute to adverse in-combination effects.

xxxiv Turner and Meister (1988) found the mean range of cats to be 37a metres

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamlxiv

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 166



Figure 16 Chart showing the location of visitors to Durham's coastline

Motivations for visiting Durham's coast

In addition to understanding visitor patterns and defining the recreational catchment, the
collation and analysis of visitor data was necessary to understand the motivation of
individuals visiting Durham's coast. The full set of questions asked can be viewed in
Appendix F.

The coastal visitor surveys undertaken in 2013 indicated that dog walking is the main
activity undertaken at the coast (60% of respondents).

lxvHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 167



Figure 17 Reported activities undertaken at Durham's coast 2013

When asked why people choose to walk their dog(s) at the coast 58% of respondents
cited that it was due to the availability of space for the dog to run around followed by 55%
of respondents whom indicated that it was due to the general enjoyment of the coastal
environment.

Figure 18 Reported reasons for walking dogs at the coast

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamlxvi

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 168



The individual and combined results of the summer and winter 2015/16 survey also
indicated that dog walking is the main activity undertaken at the coast (61% of respondents
combined, followed by walking at 35% as the next most cited activity). When asked why
people choose to walk their dog(s) at the coast the combined results from the summer
and winter 2015/16 surveys show that convenience and space for the dog to run around
are the most cited reasons at 38% and 28% respectively.

When the dog walking respondents were asked how often local green space is used for
dog walking compared to the coast, respondents to the 2013 coastal visitor survey indicated
that 45% use green space more often for dog walking purposes than the coast, 36% use
green space just as often as the coast and 19% use green space less often than the coast.

Figure 19 Use of local green space versus the coast

The 2015/16 visitor surveys asked the following question to respondents who cited that
there was no suitable local green space close to home with the following results:

lxviiHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 169



Figure 20 Chart showing how alternative green space would be used if available

Findings therefore indicate that just under two thirds of all dog walkers would use green
space as an alternative to walking their dog at the coast if it was available. The winter
2015/16 survey also indicated that feeling safe/safety for dog followed by enough space
to let the dog off the leash are the top considerations that would attract dog walkers to
going somewhere else rather than the coast.

In relation to the additional questions asked in the winter 2015/16 survey regarding dog
walking activity at Durham's coast, it is also evident that:

Dog walkers visit more frequently than non dog walkers;
Dog walkers are travelling from closer by;
A higher proportion of dog walkers (43%) walk their dog at the coast every day,
followed by 2-3 times a week. This is a consistent picture with the results from
Sunderland and South Tyneside;
A higher proportion of dog walkers had three or more dogs with them compared to
Sunderland and South Tyneside; and
A higher proportion of dog walkers let their dog off the lead on the beach in Durham
compared to Sunderland. Off lead activity equals that of South Tyneside.

Summary

This section has presented the findings of evidence collected to refine local recreational
patterns and effects to Durham's coastal European protected sites. In conclusion, the
evidence establishes the following:

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamlxviii

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 170



Recreational pressure is having an adverse effect upon Durham's coastal European
Protected sites;
The specific areas of coast the qualifying species are utilising;
The recreational catchment of the coast is 6km;
Dog walking is the main activity undertaken at the coast with convenience and 'space
for dogs to run around' being the top reasons for choosing the coast as a dog walking
location;
The availability and use of local green space is important for minimising visitation
levels to the coast for dog walking purposes; and
The safety of the green space for dog walking and space for allowing off lead activity
are key considerations.

Additional Studies and Surveys

Further coastal bird studies and visitor surveys will be undertaken in winter 2017/18. The
findings will be used to build upon the information already collated in respect of the location
and health of bird populations, visitor behaviour and to amend or implement additional
mitigation measures if necessary.

lxixHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix E: Refining likely Effects

Page 171



Appendix F: Coastal Visitor Survey

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamlxx

Appendix F: Coastal Visitor Survey

Page 172



Coastal Visitor Survey 

 

 
 

 
 

Q1 Interview location: 

 
 

Seaham Hall Beach 

Nose’s Point 
Easington Colliery 

Cotsford Lane, Horden 

Blackhall Rocks car park 
Crimdon Beach 

1 

2 
3 

4 

5 
6 

 

 

Good morning / afternoon, my name is________ from Bluegrass Research a 

marketing research company. 

We are conducting a survey on behalf of the Durham Heritage Coast Partnership 

about visitors to the coast and recreation. Would you be willing to answer a few 

questions, it should only take up to 5 minutes. All of your answers will be kept strictly 

confidential. 

 
SHOWCARD Q2 

Q2a 

 
 

Q2b 

Using the following list, please state all activities you carry out at this site. 

MULTI CODE 
 

And which the activity do you carry out the most at this site. 
SINGLE CODE 

 

If only one answer is given at Q2a please code this in Q2b and skip Q2b 
 

 Q2a Q2b 

Bird watching 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Dog walking  (Go to Q3a)  
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Horse riding 

Beachcombing 

Kite flying 

Sea angling 

Walking 

Quiet time  

Other, please specify_____________________________________________  

1 
------ 

2 

------ 
3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

1 
------ 

2 

------ 
3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

 

ASK ALL WHO SAY DOG WALKING AT Q2 

Q3a  Why do you choose to walk your 
dog at the coast? 

Any other reasons? 

MULTI CODE 

UNPROMPTED 

No green space close to home / 
nowhere suitable close to home 

------------------------------------------------ 

Ease of access 

Tranquillity 

Convenient / close to home 

Parking 

Views 

Feels safe 

Plenty of space for my dog to run 

around 

Enjoy the beach / sea 

Other, please specify______________        

-1--
-      

---- 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

 

9 

10 

Go to 
Q3c 

---------- 

 

 

 

Go to 
Q3b 

lxxiHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix F: Coastal Visitor Survey

Page 173



15074 Durham Heritage Coast            2                

ASK ALL WHO DID NOT SAY ‘NO GREEN SPACE’ AT Q3a 

Q3b  To what extent, if at all, would you say you walk 

your dog at the coast because there is nowhere 
suitable to do so close to your home? 

Yes, to a large extent 

Yes, to some extent 

----------------------------- 

No, to some extent 

No, to a large extent 

1 

2 

---- 

3 

4 

Go to 

Q3c 

---------- 

Go to 

Q4 

 

ASK ALL WHO SAY ‘NO GREEN SPACE’ AT Q3a OR ‘YES’ AT Q3b 
SHOWCARD Q3c 

Q3c  If a suitable area of green space was available 
close to your home would you use this as an 

alternative to walking your dog at the coast? 

Yes, most of the time 

Yes, some of the time 

No 

1 

2 

3 

 

 

ASK ALL WHO SAY ‘NO GREEN SPACE’ AT Q3a OR ‘YES’ AT Q3b 

Q3d  Which of the following statements do you 
agree most with: 

When walking my dog I use local green 

space... 

more often than the coast 

just as often as the coast 

less often than the coast 

1     

2 

3 

 

 

ASK ALL 

Q4  How would you describe 

the group that you are 

here with today? 

On my own 

As a couple / with partner 

Group of friends 

Family group with children under 16 years 

Family group without children under 16 years 

Friends and family group 

Walking group 

Other, please specify_____________________ 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

 

 

SHOWCARD Q5 

Q5a 
 

 
Q5b 

What is it about this particular site that makes you visit it? Please list all features. 
MULTI CODE 

 
What is it about this particular site that makes you visit it? Please list the main feature. 

SINGLE CODE 
 

 Q5a Q5b 

Interest  

Ease of access 

Tranquility 

Convenient / close to home 

Parking 

Views 

The natural environment 

Feels safe 

Good for children 

Enjoy the beach / sea 

Other, please specify_____________________________ 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

 

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamlxxii

Appendix F: Coastal Visitor Survey

Page 174



15074 Durham Heritage Coast            3                

SHOWCARD Q6 

Q6a 

 
Q6b 

How often do you typically visit this site during the winter months (Oct-Apr)? 

 
How often do you typically visit this site during the summer months (May-Sep)? 

 
 

 Q6a Q6b 

Three or more times a day 

Twice a day 

Once a day 

Once a week 

Couple of times a week 

Monthly 

Less than monthly 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

 
SHOWCARD Q7 

Q7  During the summer months, at what 

time(s) do you generally visit / use this 
site? 

Any other times? 

MULTI CODE 

After midnight and before 6am 

6 – 7:59am 

8 – 9:59am 

10 – 11:59am 

12 – 1:59pm 

2 – 3:59pm 

4 – 5:59pm 

6 – 7:59pm 

8 – 9:59pm 

10 – 12am 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

 

 

SHOWCARD Q8 

Q8  How do you usually get 

to this site? 

MULTI CODE 

Walk 

Cycle 

Drive 

Public Transport 

Other, please specify_____________________ 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

 

 

SHOWCARD Q9 

Q9  How far have you travelled to get here 
today? 

½ mile or less 

½ - 1 mile 

2 - 5 miles 

6 - 10 miles 
------------------------------------------ 

11 - 15  miles 

16 - 20 miles 

21 - 25 miles 

26 - 30 miles 

31+ miles 

1 

2 

3 

4 
---- 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

 

Go to 

Q11 

 
---------- 

 

Go to 

Q10 

 

ASK ALL WHO HAVE TRAVELLED MORE THAN 10 MILES AT Q9 

Q10  Where have you travelled from?  Write in location 
 
___________________________ 

 

lxxiiiHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix F: Coastal Visitor Survey

Page 175



15074 Durham Heritage Coast            4                

 

ASK ALL 

Q11  To help understand where visitors come from it is very 
useful to know postcodes. Are you willing to provide 

your postcode? 

Please note it will not be used to contact you, each 

postcode applies to about 20 houses and does not 

identify you individually. 

Write in postcode 

 
                         _ 
 

 
 

Q12  The Durham Coast is home to a unique range and mix 
of plants and wildlife. 

Did you know that Durham's coast is protected by 
European wildlife designations because of the 

importance of its habitats and the species they host? 

Yes 

No 

1 

2 

 

 
 SHOWCARD Q13 

Q13 As the number of people who use the coast increases the pressures on the unique 

environment will increase. 
With this in mind, to what extent would you support or object to plans which require...   

 

 INTERVIEWER: ROTATE AND TICK START POINT  

 
Completely 

support 

Support 
to some 
extent 

Neither 
support 

nor 
object 

Object 
to some 
extent 

Completely 
object 

 
A. Visitors only walking on designated 

paths along the coast 
5 4 3 2 1 

 
B. Dog owners to keep dogs on a lead 

during nesting season 
5 4 3 2 1 

 
C. Dog owners to keeps dogs on a lead 

when walking through specific areas 
5 4 3 2 1 

 

 

Q14  At what point during the day do you 
think this site receives the most visits 

/ is the busiest? 

Morning 

Afternoon 

Evening 

1 

2 

3 

 

 
 

Q15  Is there any particular location along this coast line that you think is the most popular? 

Write in 
 

 

 

Q16 Do you think this site could be improved in any way? Yes 

-------------------- 
No 

1 

---- 
2 

Write in 
---------- 

 

 If yes, please give details... 

 

 

 

 
 

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamlxxiv

Appendix F: Coastal Visitor Survey

Page 176



15074 Durham Heritage Coast            5                

Q17  Age 
   

18 - 29 

30 - 49 

50 - 65 

65+ 

1 

2 

3 

4 

 

 

Q18    Gender 

  
Male 

Female 

1 

2 

 

 
INTERVIEWER – THANK RESPONDENT AND COMPLETE RESPONDENT 

SUMMARY PAGE 
 
 

 

 

 

 
  

  
 

I certify that I have conducted this interview in accordance with the MRS Code of Conduct 

 

Interviewer name (print)...............................................  ID No.....................  

 

Interviewer signature...................................................   Date...................... 

FOR BACK CHECK PURPOSES ONLY 

    

Respondent’s Name:  

Address & Postcode:  

Tel. No:  

PLEASE ENSURE YOU RECORD THESE DETAILS. FAILURE TO DO SO MAY LEAD TO A 

DEDUCTION FROM YOUR PAY. 

lxxvHRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durham

Appendix F: Coastal Visitor Survey

Page 177



F1: Additional questions Winter 2015/16 survey

How many dogs do you have with you today?

1 dog
2 dogs
3 or more dogs

Do you let your dog(s) off the lead on the beach?

Yes
No

How often would you say you walk your dog here?

Every day / almost every day
2-3 times a week
About once a week
Once or twice a month
Less than once a month

What, if anything, might attract you to going somewhere else rather than the coast?

Feel safe / safe for my dog
Enough space to let my dog off the leash
Easier parking
Somewhere close to home / takes less time to get there
Other facilities
Other
Nothing

Roughly what % of time, if any, do you (or your dogs (for dogwalkers)) generally spend
on the rocky shore

Less than 10%
10% to 50%
More than 50%

Aside from this location, do you visit any other places for similar purposes as you
visited here today?

List location

HRA: Guidance and Requirements for Developers in County Durhamlxxvi

Appendix F: Coastal Visitor Survey

Page 178



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

1
st

 A
p

ri
l 2

0
1

6
 –

 3
1

st
 M

ar
ch

 2
0

1
7

 

November 2017 

Annual 

Monitoring 

Report 
 

Altogether better 

Page 179



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             1                                                        
 

Contents 
 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Structure of report ........................................................................................................................ 4 

3. Progress in preparing the County  Durham Plan..................................................................... 5 

4. The County at a glance ............................................................................................................... 6 

5. Summary of Findings ................................................................................................................... 8 

6. Monitoring Indictors .................................................................................................................... 10 

7. Housing ..................................................................................................................................... 10 

H1 - Net Housing Completions ................................................................................................. 10 

H2 - Housing Permissions ........................................................................................................ 12 

H3 - Percentage of affordable housing units delivered by Delivery Area .......................... 12 

H4 - Net additional Traveller pitches or plots approved and completed by type .............. 13 

H5 – Student exempt properties .............................................................................................. 13 

8. Economic Growth and Town Centres ....................................................................................... 14 

EG1 - Employment Land approved and completed .............................................................. 14 

EG2 - Employment Land Lost to other uses .......................................................................... 15 

EG3 – Net additional Retail Floorspace approved and completed inside and outside 

Town Centres .............................................................................................................................. 15 

EG4 - Vacancy rates in retail centres ...................................................................................... 16 

EG5 - Percentage of units within Town Centres in A5 use (Hot-food Takeaways) ......... 17 

9. Minerals and Waste .................................................................................................................. 18 

MW1 - Crushed Rock land bank (years) and the extent of crushed rock reserves 

(tonnes) with planning permission ........................................................................................... 19 

MW2 - Crushed rock sales (tonnes) per annum .................................................................... 19 

MW3 - Sand and gravel land bank (years) and the extent of sand and gravel reserves 

(tonnes) with planning permission. .......................................................................................... 20 

MW4 - Sand and gravel sales per annum (tonnes) .............................................................. 21 

MW5 - Extent of high grade dolomite (land bank in years) at Thrislington Quarry west 

and east of the A1(M) ................................................................................................................ 21 

MW6 - No of years of approved reserves at Todhills, and the Union Brickworks ............ 22 

MW7 - Quantity of new permitted reserves of coal and fireclay ......................................... 22 

MW8 - Quantity of new permitted reserves of natural building and roofing stone granted

 ...................................................................................................................................................... 22 

Page 180



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             2                                                        
 

MW9 - Quantity of new permitted reserves granted on relic sites for natural building and 

roofing stone working ................................................................................................................. 23 

MW10 - Amount of waste (tonnage) imported into/exported out of County Durham per 

annum and by stream ................................................................................................................ 23 

MW11 - New Capacity permitted by waste type and management type ........................... 23 

MW12 - Amount of municipal and household waste arising, and managed by 

management type ....................................................................................................................... 24 

10. Environmental Quality .......................................................................................................... 25 

EQ1 - Per Capita Co2 Emissions (t) ........................................................................................ 25 

EQ2 - Changes and condition of Areas of Biodiversity Importance ................................... 26 

EQ3 - Renewable Energy Capacity of approved and completed schemes by type ........ 29 

EQ4 – Changes and condition of Heritage Assets ................................................................ 31 

Appendix 1 ........................................................................................................................................ 32 

Appendix 2 ........................................................................................................................................ 33 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 181



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             3                                                        
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1. Monitoring activity relating to local plan policies, enables the identification of 

any unintended consequences of policies, whether the assumptions and 

objectives that the policies are based upon are still relevant and if the policy 

targets are being achieved. In turn, the findings highlight where adjustments 

and revisions to policies are required and can inform the development of 

further new policies. 

 

1.2. Further, with monitoring, any difficulties in achieving delivery in terms of 

timescales and other measurable targets can be highlighted. Where variance 

from policy is identified, the actions required to bring implementation back in 

line can be identified and implemented thereafter. 

 

1.3. Following the introduction of the Localism Act in 2011, local planning 

authorities have much greater flexibility concerning the preparation of Annual 

Monitoring reports (AMR). An AMR must still be published annually and made 

available at Council offices and published on the website. The Act however 

allows local planning authorities to choose indicators and targets to include in 

their AMR, that best relate to local circumstances and priorities in their area.  

 

1.4. This AMR relates to the period 1st April 2016 – 31st March 2017. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 182



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             4                                                        
 

2. Structure of report 
 

2.1. The Localism Act in 2011 gave local authorities much greater flexibility to 

decide what they include in their AMR’s, whilst ensuring that they are 

prepared in accordance with relevant legislation. Reports must still be 

produced on an annual basis. 

 

2.2. The Council’s local plan is currently in a transitional phase and we are 

therefore using the existing development plan. This is made up of a number of 

documents (local plans) that were put in place for the former districts of 

County Durham before the local authority became unitary in 20091.   

 

2.3. These existing local plans set out information on how planning and 

development is currently managed. Saved policies in these local plans will 

continue to influence planning and development decisions until the County 

Durham Plan replaces them. 

 

2.4. It would be difficult to monitor all of these local plans and so it has been 

decided to monitor indicators that are cross-cutting and common amongst all 

previous local plans. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
1 Two neighbourhood plans which introduce new planning policies specifically for their areas have been formally adopted by 

Durham County Council in July 2017. 

Page 183



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             5                                                        
 

3. Progress in preparing the County 

 Durham Plan 
 

3.1. In 2014, the council submitted a local plan for Examination. Following 

Examination, the Inspectors Interim Report identified areas of unsoundness. 

This was challenged by the council through a Judicial Review. 

 

3.2. With the Consent of the Government this resulted in the Interim Report being 

quashed by the High Court and an agreement which saw the Council 

withdraw the plan. 

 

3.3. A local plan seeks to guide the future development of a place and to improve 

the lives of its existing and future residents. The Issues and Options was the 

first stage of consultation on the County Durham Plan which took place in 

June 2016.  

 

3.4. Looking forward, it is the intention that the monitoring framework will be 

developed around the emerging County Durham Plan. On the 7th February 

2017, the Government published its Housing White Paper entitled ‘Fixing out 

broken housing market.’ The Council produced a full response to the 

consultation however the Housing White Paper signalled a further 

consultation which could fundamentally change the number of houses that 

councils are required to plan for and make significant changes to the 

methodology on which the County Durham plan is based. This was eventually 

published in September 2017. Further information is available on our website 

or consultation portal. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 184

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/7547/County-Durham-Plan-news
http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal/


Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             6                                                        
 

4. The County at a glance 
 

4.1. County Durham is the seventh largest authority in North East England, lying 

at the heart of the region with Teesside to the south, and Tyne and Wear and 

Northumberland to the north. It covers a total area of 862 square miles and 

borders Tyne and Wear, North Yorkshire, Cumbria and Northumberland. 

County Durham has high quality landscapes rich in wildlife, attractive 

countryside, villages, historic towns and buildings and a restored coastline. 

The environment is one of the County’s key assets. 

 

4.2. The County is home to around 519,700 people2 of whom over 228,000 are in 

employment (compared to around half a million in neighbouring Tyne and 

Wear). The County has around 16400 businesses3 employing 173,000 

employees4. Overall, the value of economic output is around £7.8 billion5. 

 

4.3. Lying at the heart of the North East region with conurbations to the north and 

south, County Durham has commuting relationships with these areas as it is 

adjacent to the Tyne and Wear and Tees Valley labour markets. The County 

has net out-commuting in the region of 30,000 people on a daily basis6. 

 

4.4. County Durham shares many of the problems of the North of England, arising 

from a long-term pattern of sectoral change and industrial decline. It also has 

unique challenges arising from its legacy of scattered industrial settlements, 

and its lack of large urban areas to drive growth. Countering these, though, 

are the unique environments of Durham City and the Durham Dales and the 

key strengths of Durham University. The County, though commonly regarded 

as a predominantly rural area, varies in character from remote and sparsely 

populated areas in the west, to the former coalfield communities in the centre 

and the east, where villages tend to accommodate thousands rather than 

hundreds. Around 90% of the population lives east of the A68 road in 

approximately half of the County by area. 

 

4.5. Our largest towns act as service centres for the surrounding communities, 

providing employment, shopping and key day-to-day services. The role of the 

towns in County Durham varies widely. Some provide vital services to isolated 

communities whilst others have grown to provide a much wider range of 

services for both the town and other communities nearby. Whilst there are 

                                                           
2 ONS Mid-Year Population Estimates 2015 
3 Inter Departmental Business Register (ONS) 2015 
4 Business Register and Employment Survey 2015. Employees at place of work 
5 GVA ONS 2014 
6 NOMIS Census 2011 TTW data 

Page 185



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             7                                                        
 

over 300 settlements within the County, 94% of the population live within a 5-

mile radius of the largest towns.  

 

4.6. The 2011 Census indicates the limited diversity in the County’s population 

compared with larger urban areas. 98.4% - White, 0.6% Mixed Multiple 

Ethnic, , 0.8% -  Asian, 0.1%  - Black & Other Ethnic Group – 0.1%.The 

largest ethnic minority group in the County are gypsies and travellers, either 

migrant or settled.  

 

4.7. County Durham remains a source of economically important minerals to meet 

commercial development needs. A steady and adequate supply should be 

maintained for both local and nationally important mineral resources. The 

approach to waste management is to tackle the growth in waste through the 

use of the waste hierarchy which seeks to prioritise the prevention of waste at 

source, followed by reuse, recycling, recovery including energy recovery and 

as a last option, safe disposal. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 186



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             8                                                        
 

5. Summary of Findings 

 
5.1. Economic Growth and Town Centres 

 Employment: 11.1ha approved and 7.8ha of completions 

 No employment land lost to other uses on industrial estates. 

 Decrease in overall town centre vacancy rates. The current average rate 

for County Durham is 10.6%7, compared to 11.3% in 2015/16. Newton 

Aycliffe has the highest vacancy rate of 23.2%. 

 Hot-food takeaways have an average rate of 4.7% per town centre, with 

Ferryhill and Shildon having the highest rates, 9.3% and 8.3% 

respectively. 

 

5.2. Housing 

 A total of 1,381 dwellings (net) were completed in 2016/17, including 149 

affordable housing units.  

 Total completions since 2011/12 have been 7,544 an average of 1,257 

per annum 

 

5.3. Minerals and Waste 

 Both crushed rock and sand and gravel sales rose in 20158 for the third 

consecutive year. Sales of crushed rock reached 2.77 million tonnes, the 

highest level of production since 2008 and sand and gravel sales reached 

256,000 tonnes, the highest level of production since 2006.  

 Permitted reserves of crushed rock and sand and gravel are very healthy 

at 138.3 million tonnes and 8.3 million tonnes respectively. 

 1,064,000 tonnes of coal and 83,000 tonnes of fireclay were permitted in 

the period and are available for extraction.9 

                                                           

7 Rate excludes district centres 

8 Due to the way in which mineral information is collected by the North East Aggregates Working Party (NEAWP) no 

information is available for the monitoring period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017. Information is only available on a 

calendar year basis. However, the figures for this indicator set out in the table below provide the most up to date information 

available (January 2017). 

9 The Bradley surface mined coal site was submitted to the Council by UK Coal Mining Ltd in December 2006. This 

planning application proposed the extraction of 550,000 tonnes of coal from a 67.8ha site near Leadgate. This scheme was 

refused planning permission by the Council in February 2011. The refusal was then upheld at appeal on 23 February 2012. 

Following a high court challenge against the Inspector’s appeal decision, on Friday 19th July 2013 the High Court quashed 

the inspector's decision on the grounds that he had misunderstood the Government's planning guidance. The appeal was 

subsequently heard in October 2014 and the appeal Inspector determined that planning permission should be granted on 3 

June 2015. 

The Field House surface mined coal site was submitted to the Council by Hargreaves Surface Mining Ltd in August 2013. It proposed the 

extraction of 514,000 tonnes of coal and 83,000 tonnes of fireclay from a 55.9ha site on land to the north of Low Pittington. This planning 

Page 187



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             9                                                        
 

 Reserves of brick clay are below 15 years reflecting the need for further 

permissions to ensure that continued brick production can continue in the 

long term. 

 The extent of the high-grade dolomite land bank at Thrislington Quarry is 

currently greater than 15 years, this is sufficient to meet ongoing 

requirements of the steel and chemical industry.  

 No new permitted reserves were granted for natural building and roof 

stone. 

 Percentage of municipal waste landfilled – 4.1%. 

 

5.4. Environmental Quality 

 A decrease of 2.3 tonnes per capita C02 emissions between 2005 and 

2014. 

 A renewable energy capacity of 199.77 MWe, a 0.5% increase from the 

previous period (2015/16). 

 93 Conservations Areas, 42 with appraisals/management proposals. 

 18 new listed buildings added (mainly war memorials). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
application was refused planning permission by the Council in June 2014. The appeal was subsequently heard in September/October 

2015 and the appeal Inspector determined that planning permission should be granted on 5 January 2016. 

 

Page 188



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             10                                                        
 

 

6. Monitoring Indictors 

7. Housing 
Indicator 

H1 - Net Housing Completions 

H2 – Housing Permissions 

H3 - Percentage of affordable housing units delivered by Delivery Area 

H4 - Net additional Traveller pitches or plots approved and completed by type 

H5 – Student Exempt Properties 

H1 - Net Housing Completions 
 

7.1. In 2016/17, there were 1,381 net housing completions in the county. Although 

there has been a steady decline in completions since 2011/12, 2014/15 and 

2015/16 have shown a recovery. However,completions have declined again in 

2016/17, with a decrease of 10.4%. 

  2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Net Housing Completions 1,244 1,124 1,090 1,164 1,541 
 

1,381 
 

Table 1: Net Housing Completions. * figures may be subject to small changes over time, as data is 
collected from a large number of sources and due to this some figures may be delayed. Data 
extract:24/10/2017 

 

1,244
1,124 1,090

1,164

1,541

1,381

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

s

Year

Net Additional Dwellings in County Durham

Page 189



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             11                                                        
 

Figure 1: Net Housing Completions. * figures may be subject to small changes over time, as data is 
collected from a large number of sources and due to this some figures may be delayed. Data 
extract: 24/10/2017 

7.2. The NPPF states that housing applications should be considered in the 

context of a presumption in favour of sustainable development and that if the 

Council cannot demonstrate a five year housing land supply, housing policies 

in a Local Plan cannot be considered up to date. The housing trajectory 

associated with the withdrawn County Durham Plan (CDP) is no longer 

relevant and similarly the CDP Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for housing 

figure no longer exists. This raises the issue of what is the requirement 

against which the supply is to be measured in order to calculate whether or 

not a 5 year housing supply exists.  

 

7.3. On 15 June 2016 the County Durham Plan Issues and Options (the first stage 

of the re-emerging plan process) was presented at Cabinet. The report was 

approved at Cabinet and consultation on the CDP Issues and Options 

commenced on 24 June 2016. In relation to housing, the Issues and Options 

present three alternative assessments of housing needs, each based on 

average net completions up to 2033 (the end of the CDP plan period). The 

three alternatives are: 

 1,533 houses per year (29,127 houses by 2033) 

 1,629 houses per year (30,951 houses by 2033) 

 1,717 houses per year (32,623 houses by 2033)  

 

7.4. As of April 2017 the Council considers that it has a deliverable supply of 

10,234 (net) new dwellings for the next 5-year period. Set against the lowest 

figure the Council can demonstrate a supply of 4.91 years of deliverable 

housing land, against the middle figure around about 4.51 years’ worth supply 

and against the highest figure, 4.20 years of supply. Recent case law has 

indicated that the extent of any shortfall in supply is a material planning 

consideration which should be factored into the planning balance under 

Paragraph 14 (Phides case).  

 

7.5. Whilst none of the three scenarios within the Issues and Options has been 

publicly tested, it does serve to demonstrate that set against varying potential 

figures, one of which may be identified as the OAN following consultation in 

the Preferred Option Stage Local Plan, the Council has a relatively substantial 

supply of housing.   

 

7.6. Nevertheless, the decision-taking requirements of NPPF Paragraph 14 apply, 

as the Council does not have a five-year supply in the terms of the NPPF 

requirements and additionally the relevant local plan policies may be out of 

date for other reasons, as discussed below, and will only be rebutted where a 

Page 190



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             12                                                        
 

proposal would result in adverse impacts that would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, both in the form of a contribution to 

housing supply and any other benefits, or if specific policies in the NPPF 

indicate development should be restricted. 

H2 - Housing Permissions 
 

7.7. Whilst housing completions are important for considering housing supply and 

delivery, they only show part of the picture. It is also relevant to consider 

planning permissions to understand the number of dwellings that the County 

is actively seeking to boost the supply of housing. 

 

7.8. Recent monitoring activity has confirmed that there remains a large supply of 

housing sites with planning permission that are yet to be implemented (10,205 

units) and  under construction (5,314 units), therefore a healthy land supply 

exists.10 

H3 - Percentage of affordable housing units delivered by Delivery 

Area 

 

7.9. In 2016/17 there were 149 affordable housing units completed in County 

Durham.  This is a 32.3% decrease from 2015/16 where there were 220 

affordable units delivered. 

                                                           
10 Housing Monitoring April 2017 

Page 191



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             13                                                        
 

 
Figure 2: Affordable Completions breakdown by Local Plan Monitoring Area 

 

7.10. Looking at Local Plan Monitoring Areas and affordable completions as a 

percentage of all housing completions, the bulk of affordable completions in 

the last three years came from North Durham. In 2016/17 North Durham had 

the highest percentage of affordable completions with 28.1%. 

 

7.11. In 2016/17,220 affordable units were approved, this is an increase of 358% 

from the previous period when there were 48 affordable units approved. 

H4 - Net additional Traveller pitches or plots approved and 

completed by type 
 

7.12. There has been 11 additional traveller pitches approved and completed 

during the period. 

H5 – Student exempt properties 
 

11.7

11.6

36.6

6.1

7.1

8.5

0.0

12.4

19.7

1.4

9.9

36.2

12.8

10.5

0.0

16.9

10.0

16.4

20.3

28.1

0.5

13.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

10.7

0.0 5.0 10.0 15.0 20.0 25.0 30.0 35.0 40.0

Durham City

Central Durham

North Durham

North West

Mid Durham

South Durham

South East Durham

East Durham

West Durham

Affordable Completions by Local Plan Monitoring Area

%  14/15 %15/16 %16/17

Page 192



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             14                                                        
 

7.13. The 2016/17 AMR considers data on the spatial concentration of the student 

properties by presenting data on properties benefiting from a student 

exemption from Council Tax by postcode, as a proportion of total residential 

properties. The postcode geography utilised in the AMR provides a small 

scale and constant geography to monitor change over time.   

 

7.14. As background, on the 13th April 2016 Durham County Council adopted an 

Interim Policy on Student Accommodation. This indicator supports the 

monitoring impact of the Interim Policy. In addition, an Article 4 Direction for 

areas of Durham City on 16th September 2016. This Article 4 Direction means 

that planning permission will be required for the change of use from a family 

home to a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO).  An Article 4 Direction has 

also been confirmed for a defined area of Framwellgate Moor, Newton Hall 

and Pity Me covering change of use from a family home to a HMO. This will 

come into force on the 13th May 2017. This indicator supports the monitoring 

impact of the Interim Policy. 

 

7.15. Appendix 1 contains a map of the concentrations of the properties benefiting 

from a student exemption from council tax in Durham City. It is clear that the 

concentrations vary across the City, with the highest concentrations in the 

viaduct area and the town centre. Appendix 2 provides a map of 

concentrations of student exempt properties in the Framwellgate Moor, 

Newton Hall and Pity Me areas. Whilst in lower concentrations than Durham 

City, it is clear that there are a spread of student exempt properties across 

this geography. 

8. Economic Growth and Town Centres 
 

Indicator 

EG1 - Employment Land approved and completed 

EG2 - Employment Land Lost to other uses 

EG3 - Approved and completed retail floor space outside retail centres 

EG4 - Vacancy rates in retail centres 

EG5 - Percentage of units within Town Centres in A5 use 

 

EG1 - Employment Land approved and completed 
 

8.1. During the period 11.1 ha of land of employment uses (B1,B2,B8) was 

approved. The majority of this was B1 – Office/ Light Industry (7.2 ha), with 

3.3ha approved at Glaxo Smith Kline, Barnard Castle for a pharmaceutical 

manufacturing facility. There was also 1.8ha approved at Meadowfield 

Industrial Estate for a two storey office building.  

 

Page 193



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             15                                                        
 

 
Figure 3: Employment Land Approvals 2016/17 

8.2. There was 7.8ha of employment completions in 2016/17 on industrial estates. 

Of which 3.7ha of development was seen at Bowburn North Industrial Estate. 

There was a further 2.3ha at Meadowfield Industrial Estate. The remainder 

was made up of completions across Stainton Grove, Low Willington Industrial 

Estate, Freemans Reach and Prospect Road, Crook11. 

EG2 - Employment Land Lost to other uses 

 

8.3. It is important that major employment sites across the county are retained to 

ensure a sustainable distribution of business premises and employment land 

and maintain a range of potential job opportunities. 

 

8.4. During the period there was no land lost to other uses12.  

EG3 – Net additional Retail Floorspace approved and completed 

inside and outside Town Centres 
 

8.5. The Council supports our retail centres to generate local employment, 

promote beneficial competition within and between town centres, and create 

attractive, diverse places where people want to live, visit and work. 

 

8.6. Retail centres are important as they are highly accessible places, providing 

customers with the ability to complete multipurpose shopping trips. This 

reduces the need to travel by car. Therefore, most new retail developments 

should be within existing Town Centres. 

                                                           
11 Employment Land Completions data analysis is made up of a combination of OSMastermap and Employment 
Monitoring Database data. 
12 Housing Monitoring database used in analysis 

7.2ha

3.5ha

0.4ha

B1 B2 B8

Page 194



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             16                                                        
 

 

Approvals 

 

8.7. There was 1,984m2 of net additional retail floorspace approved within 

town/district centres within the period. With 1,645m2 approved for an Aldi 

Supermarket at the former Bus Station and Co-op Buildings, Stanley. 

 

8.8. There was 12,167m2 net additional floorspace approved outside retail centres 

in the period, with 2,049m2 approved at Black Diamond, Delves Lane, Consett 

for a mix of A1 convenience, retail, office and restaurant uses. 

 

Completions 

 

8.9. There was 153m2 of new retail floorspace completed within town/district 

centres, this was at the Thai River restaurant in The Gates development in 

Durham City. 

 

8.10. There was 15,417m2 was completed outside retail centres. The largest 

individual scheme completed was 8,411m2 for A1 Supermarket at Dalton 

Park. However this unit currently remains unoccupied13. 

 

EG4 - Vacancy rates in retail centres 

 

8.11. The proportion of vacant units is a key market indicator used to measure the 

vitality and viability of existing centres. 

 

8.12. Overall across the county in 2016/17 the vacancy rate was 10.6%14 , this is 0.8% 

below the national vacancy rate of 11.2%15. 

 

8.13. This continues a trend of a decreasing vacancy rate in County Durham, the average 

vacancy rate is now the lowest it’s been in the last 5 years and has decreased every 

year from a high of 13% in 2012/13. 

 

8.14. Newton Aycliffe had the highest rate of 23.2% and Barnard Castle showed the 

biggest improvement from last year, showing a decrease it's vacancy rate of 4.3%. 

 

8.15. The lowest vacancy rates within the County are at the defined district centre of 

Arnison and also at Tindale (not defined as a centre). It is interesting to note that 

both locations offer more modern style retail park shopping destinations with free 

parking and larger units. Neither centre has any vacancies. 

                                                           
13 Retail completions data from IDOX database. 
14 Rates include district retail centres 
15 Local Data Company October 2016 

Page 195



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             17                                                        
 

 

8.16. For more information on County Durham’s Town Centres please visits our 

Storymap for 2016. 

Town Centre 2014/15 
Vacancy 

Rate  

2015/16 
Vacancy 

Rate  

2016/17 
Vacancy 

Rate  

% Change 
from 2015/16 

Arnison 9.1 4 0 4 

Tindale 11.1 2.8 0 -2.8 

Hermiston 17.6 0 0 0 

Ferryhill   8.0 5.9 3.5 -2.4 

Barnard Castle   8.9 8.2 3.9 -4.3 

Seaham   6.3 4.6 6.1 1.5 

Durham City   8.6 8.3 7.1 -1.2 

Consett   6.7 7.9 8.3 0.4 

Crook   9.7 11 8.3 -2.7 

Shildon   11.2 8.2 8.3 0.1 

Dragonville 0 7.3 10.8 3.5 

Chester-le-Street   12.7 9.7 12.2 2.5 

Spennymoor   12.3 12.8 12.8 0.0 

Stanley   12.3 11.4 13.7 2.3 

Peterlee   14.5 17.2 13.8 -3.4 

Bishop Auckland   20.3 19.1 18.1 -1.0 

Newton Aycliffe   32.8 27.4 23.2 -4.2 

Table 2: Vacancy Rate and % change 
 

EG5 - Percentage of units within Town Centres in A5 use (Hot-food 

Takeaways) 

 

8.17. Hot-food takeaways have an average rate of 4.7% per town centre, with 

Ferryhill and Shildon having the highest rates, 9.3% and 8.3% respectively. 

Whilst over the period Crook showed the largest decline in A5 usage with a 

decline of 1.3%. 

 

 

2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  
% Change from 

2015/16 

Arnison 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Hermiston   0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Sherburn / Dragonville   0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Peterlee   2.6 1.6 1.6 0.0 

Page 196

https://durhamcounty.maps.arcgis.com/apps/MapSeries/index.html?appid=16b65ce27fcf4d789636706b3dfc9c56


Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             18                                                        
 

Durham City   3.2 2.4 2.7 0.3 

Tindale 2.8 2.8 2.7 -0.1 

Stanley   3.5 3.5 3.4 -0.1 

Barnard Castle   4.5 4.9 3.9 -1.1 

Bishop Auckland   4.3 4.0 4.0 0.0 

Newton Aycliffe   3.4 3.8 4.0 0.3 

Chester-le-Street   4.5 4.5 4.4 -0.1 

Seaham   6.3 5.3 5.3 0.0 

Crook   7.6 7.6 6.3 -1.3 

Consett   9.1 7.9 7.8 -0.1 

Spennymoor   5.6 7.9 7.9 0.0 

Shildon   8.2 9.2 8.3 -0.9 

Ferryhill   7.0 9.4 9.3 -0.1 

Table 3: Hot Food Take-away % 

9. Minerals and Waste 
 

Indicator 

MW1 - Crushed Rock land bank (years) and the extent of crushed rock 
reserves (tonnes) with planning permission 

MW2 - Crushed rock sales (tonnes) per annum 

MW3 - Sand and gravel land bank (years) and the extent of sand and 
gravel reserves (tonnes) with planning permission 

MW4 - Sand and gravel sales per annum (tonnes) 

MW5 - Extent of high grade dolomite (land bank in years) at Thrislington 
Quarry west and east of the A1(M) 

MW6 - No of years of approved reserves at Todhills, and the Union 
Brickworks 

MW7 - Quantity of new permitted reserves of coal and fireclay 

MW8 - Quantity of new permitted reserves of natural building and roofing 
stone granted 

MW9 - Quantity of new permitted reserves granted on relic sites for natural 
building and roofing stone working 

MW10 - Amount of waste (tonnage) imported into/exported out of County 
Durham per annum and by stream 

MW11 - New Capacity permitted by waste type and management type 

MW12 - Amount of municipal and household waste arising, and managed 
by management type 

* Due to the way in which mineral information is collected by the North East 

Aggregates Working Party (NEAWP) no information is available for the monitoring 

period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017. Information is only available on a calendar 

year basis. However, the figures for this indicator set out in the table below provide 

the most up to date information available (January 2017).  

 

Page 197



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             19                                                        
 

MW1 - Crushed Rock land bank (years) and the extent of crushed 

rock reserves (tonnes) with planning permission 
 

9.1. Policy M1 of the County Durham Minerals Local Plan advised that as a whole 

that a crushed rock landbank of at least 10 years will be maintained 

throughout the plan period. 31 December 2015 the crushed rock land bank for 

County Durham stood at 44.9 years. This landbank comprised 138,326,200 

tonnes of crushed rock comprising magnesian limestone, carboniferous 

limestone and dolerite 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure 4: Crushed Rock Permitted Reserves 

MW2 - Crushed rock sales (tonnes) per annum 

 

9.2. Crushed rock sales are the quantity of crushed rock aggregate which was 

extracted and sold from all of County Durham’s hard rock quarries. It excludes 

all mineral used for non-aggregate purposes, for example agricultural lime. 

Crushed rock sales in 2015 were 2,770,000 tonnes. This continues an upward 

trend in sales for County Durham over the last few years and shows a slight 

increase of sales from 2014 when 2,654,000 tonnes of crushed rock was sold. 

Crushed rock sales in 2015 were also higher than the ten year sales average 

for crushed rock which is 2,527,000 tonnes. The three year annual average 

sales, over the period 2013 to 2015, is 2,556,667 tonnes which is 1.1% higher 

than the ten year average sales. The last three years sales all being higher 

than all previous years since 2008 reflecting growth in the economy in recent 

years following the significant decline in sales between 2009 and 

2012.Crushed rock sales are expected to continue to rise as the economy 

comes out of the recession. 

130,000,000

131,000,000

132,000,000

133,000,000

134,000,000

135,000,000

136,000,000

137,000,000

138,000,000

139,000,000

140,000,000

141,000,000

2012 2013 2014 2015

Page 198



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             20                                                        
 

 

9.3. Sales during 2015 were, however, below the annual demand requirement 

figure of 3,078,000 as set out in the Joint Local Aggregate Assessment for 

County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne and Wear, and still well below the 

pre-recession figure of 3,777,000 tonnes which were sold in 2005. 

 

Figure 5: Crushed Rock Sales per Annum (tonnes)16 
 

MW3 - Sand and gravel land bank (years) and the extent of sand 

and gravel reserves (tonnes) with planning permission. 

 

9.4. Policy M1 of the County Durham Minerals Local Plan advised that as a whole 

that a sand and gravel landbank of at least 7 years will be maintained 

throughout the plan period. On 31 December 2015 County Durham’s sand 

and gravel land bank stood at 29.7 years. This comprised 8,353,960 tonnes of 

sand and gravel reserves within five sand and gravel quarries.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 6: Sand and Gravel Permitted Reserves 

                                                           
16 Source Aggregate Minerals Survey, North East Aggregates Working Party Reports and Mineral Planning 
Authority best estimates. 

0

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

3,000,000

3,500,000

4,000,000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

County Durham

Northumberland

Tyne and Wear

0

2,000,000

4,000,000

6,000,000

8,000,000

10,000,000

2012 2013 2014 2015

Page 199



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             21                                                        
 

 

MW4 - Sand and gravel sales per annum (tonnes) 
 

9.5. Sand and gravel sales in 2015 were 256,000 tonnes. This is a slight fall in 

sales since 2014 when 276,000 tonnes were sold. Sand and gravel sales in 

2015 were also higher than the ten year sales average for sand and gravel 

which is 230,400 tonnes. The three year annual sales average over the three 

year period 2013 to 2015 is 250,000 tonnes which is 1.1% higher than the ten 

year average sales. The last three years sales all being higher than all 

previous years since 2008 reflecting growth in the economy in recent years 

following the significant decline in sales between 2009 and 2012. 

 

9.6. Sales in 2015, however, were still well below the annual demand requirement 

figure of 281,000 tonnes as set out in the Joint Local Aggregate Assessment 

for County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne and Wear, and the pre-

recession sales figure of 411,000 tonnes in 2005.  

 
Figure 7: Sand and Gravel Sales per Annum (tonnes)17 
 

MW5 - Extent of high grade dolomite (land bank in years) at 

Thrislington Quarry west and east of the A1(M) 
 

9.7. Policy M1 of the County Durham Minerals Local Plan advised that as a whole 

that a landbank of burnt dolomite of at least 15 years will be maintained 

throughout the plan period. The extent of the high grade dolomite land bank at 

                                                           
17 Source Aggregate Minerals Survey, North East Aggregates Working Party Reports and Mineral Planning 
Authority best  estimates. 

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

700,000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

County Durham

Northumberland

Tyne and Wear

Page 200



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             22                                                        
 

Thrislington Quarry is currently greater than 15 years. This landbank is 

contained within Thrislington East Quarry which lies east of the A1(M). 

 

MW6 - No of years of approved reserves at Todhills, and the Union 

Brickworks 
 

9.8. County Durham contains one remaining brickworks is located at Todhills near 

Byers Green. This brickworks is supplied by the adjacent Long Lane Quarry. 

County Durham supplies clay for the Union Brickworks in Gateshead, via the 

adjacent Birtley Quarry which is located in County Durham. Policy M1 of the 

County Durham Minerals Local Plan advised that as a whole that a landbank 

of brick making raw material of at least 15 years will be maintained throughout 

the plan period. 

 

9.9. The number of years of approved reserves currently stands at the following: 

 Todhills Brickworks: Less than 15 years 

 Union Brickworks: Less than 15 years 

*Data based on end date of planning permission 

  

MW7 - Quantity of new permitted reserves of coal and fireclay 
 

9.10. There are currently 1,064,000 tonnes of coal and 83,000 tonnes of fireclay 

permitted in two sites in County Durham. 

 

9.11. The Coal reserves are made up of: 

 The Bradley surface mined coal site, near Leadgate. Planning 

permission was granted on 3 June 2015 on appeal and the Field House 

surface mined coal site, near Pittington. Planning Permission was 

granted 5th January 2016 on appeal. 

9.12. The Fireclay reserves are made up of: 

 The fireclay within the Field House surface mined coal site, near 

Pittington (Permission granted 5th January 2016). 

 

MW8 - Quantity of new permitted reserves of natural building and 

roofing stone granted 

 

9.13. There were no permitted reserves granted for natural building and roofing 

stone in the period. However, in March 2015 planning permission was issued 

for a 136,000 tonne extension to Dunhouse Quarry. 

Page 201



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             23                                                        
 

 

MW9 - Quantity of new permitted reserves granted on relic sites for 

natural building and roofing stone working 

  

9.14. There were no planning permissions granted to allow the reworking of relic 

sites for natural building and roofing stone during the monitoring period. 

 

MW10 - Amount of waste (tonnage) imported into/exported out of 

County Durham per annum and by stream  

 

9.15. A total of 1,410,900 tonnes were imported into County Durham in 2015 

(Waste Data Interrogator data from EA, 2015 latest available)18. Of this, 

871,944 tonnes were inert wastes19; 531,357 tonnes were Household 

Industrial and Commercial (HIC) wastes; and 7,600 tonnes were hazardous 

wastes. 

 

9.16. A total of 558,134 tonnes were exported20. Of this, 105,883 tonnes were inert 

wastes; 447,776 tonnes were HIC wastes; and 4,475 tonnes were hazardous 

wastes. 

 

MW11 - New Capacity permitted by waste type and management 

type 
 

Site Potential Capacity Waste Management 

Type 

 Land At Former Birtley 

Quarry, Station Lane, 

Birtley 

267,600 tonnes 

(overall, not per 

annum)21 

Inert landfill 

Unit 10, Wheatley Hill 

Workshops, Front 

Street Industrial Estate, 

Wheatley Hill, Durham 

DH6 3QZ 

 End of Life Vehicle 

(ELV) 

                                                           
18 This is lower than the EA Waste Data Interrogator figure as Hollings Hill Quarry landfill in Northumberland 
has been removed from the total figures. This was wrongly assigned to County Durham. 
19 This differs from the EA Waste Data Interrogator figure as this incorrectly identifies Hollings Hill Quarry 
Landfill as being in County Durham and consequently this figure is subtracted. 
20 (2015 Waste Data Interrogator data from EA, latest available) 
21 This is not included in the total capacity as it is overall, not per annum and is landfill 

Page 202



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             24                                                        
 

Durham County 

Council, Civic Amenity 

Site, The Green, 

Stainton Grove, DL12 

8UH  

3,950tonnes per 

annum 

Household Waste 

Recovery Centre 

(HWRC) 

Eldon Brickworks, Eldon 
Estates, Eldon, Bishop 
Auckland, DL14 8EA 

300,000 tonnes per 
annum 

Municipal Solid Waste 
(MSW); residual 
Commercial and 
Industrial Waste (C&I) 
and residual 
Construction and 
Demolition Waste 
(C&D) Materials 
Recycling Facility 
(MRF) 

Kilmond Wood Quarry, 
Boldron, DL12 9HN 

192,000m3 (total, not 
per annum)22 

Inert landfill 

Tonks Recycling, 
Tursdale Business 
Park,  Tursdale, 
Durham, DH6 5PG 

75,000 tonnes per 
annum 

Inert/CDEW recycling 

Total Capacity:378,950 tpa 

Table 4: Waste Capacity Permitted in 2015/16 by Waste Management Type 

9.17. In the 2016-17 monitoring period, a total additional waste management 

capacity of 378,950 tonnes were granted approval, consisting of Non-

hazardous waste recycling and inert waste recycling, and a Household Waste 

Recycling Centre. Whilst some landfill capacity23 was permitted during the 

monitoring period, this was for importation of inert waste for site restoration. 

An End of Life Vehicle (ELV) site was also permitted. This shows that the 

saved policies of the Waste Local Plan are continuing to drive waste up the 

Waste Hierarchy towards more sustainable management in line with 

international and national policy and guidance.    

MW12 - Amount of municipal and household waste arising, and 

managed by management type 
 

9.18. Total municipal waste collected in the period is 249,721  tonnes: 

 Landfilled: 10,132 tonnes 

 Recycled: 90,326 tonnes 

                                                           
22 This is not included in the total capacity as it is overall, not per annum and is landfill. It is also dependent 
upon the extraction and is also in cubic metres. This also does not include the 85,000 tonnes (total, not per 
annum) imported for restoration operations (approved under a separate application) as this is indicated as 
‘topsoil’. 
23 267,600 tonnes and 192,000m3, both total, not per annum. 

Page 203



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             25                                                        
 

 EFW/RDF24: 149,263 tonnes 

 

9.19. The percentage of municipal waste landfilled: 4.1%. 

 

9.20. The estimated municipal waste landfill deposits at 10,132 tonnes are a lot 

lower in this monitoring period compared to others (e.g. 40,944 in 2013-14), 

but slightly higher than last year (10,011 tonnes in 2015-16). This is likely to 

be down to the change in management type now that contracts are in place to 

use capacity at the Haverton Hill energy from waste (EFW) facility in Tees 

Valley. The percentage of municipal waste landfilled has also therefore 

decreased (16% in 2013-14 to 4% in 2015-16 and 4.1% in 2016-17). This 

compares to the tonnage which was sent to EFW/RDF of 149,263 tonnes, a 

slight increase on 149,111 tonnes in 2015-16. 

 

9.21. This said, the percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and 

composting has reduced slightly from 39.1% in 2015-16 to 36.1% in 2016-17. 

The reduction is mainly due to the introduction of the Green Waste charging 

scheme and therefore less garden waste has been collected from the 

kerbside. This also applies to the amount recycled and sent for re-use which 

has also slightly reduced from previous years for the same reason, although 

increasing from last year (90,326 in 2016-17, from 88,357 in 2015-16 but 

95,839 tonnes in 2014-15). 

 

9.22. These figures continue to show that wider council policy is driving more 

sustainable use of resources throughout the county.  

10. Environmental Quality 
 

Indicator 

EQ1 - Per Capita Co2 Emissions (t) 

EQ2 - Changes and condition of Areas on Biodiversity Importance 

EQ3 - Renewable Energy Capacity of approved and completed schemes 
by type 

EQ4 – Changes and condition of Heritage Assets 

 

EQ1 - Per Capita Co2 Emissions (t) 

 

10.1. There has been a steady decline in per capita CO2 emissions across the 

County is depicted with a decrease of 2.3 tonnes per capita between 2005 

                                                           
24 Energy from Waste/Refuse Derived Fuel. 
 

Page 204



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             26                                                        
 

and 201425. Emissions for the North East have also decreased overall 

between 2005 and 2014 but with an increase between 2011 and 2013. This 

may be due to the variations in economic recovery across the region. 

Figure 8: Co2 Emissions per Capita 

EQ2 - Changes and condition of Areas of Biodiversity Importance 

 

Special Areas of Conservation 

10.2. There are currently Six Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) designated 

under the European Union Habitats Directive. The six SACs which are wholly 

or partly within the County are listed below. There have been no changes to 

the extent of these designations during the monitoring period. They cover an 

area of 44,416.9 ha in total.  

SAC Site Name 

Caste Eden Dene Moor House – Upper 
Teesdale 

North Pennine Moors 

Durham Coast North Pennine Dales 
Meadows 

Thrislington Plantation 

Table 5: Special Areas of Conservation in County Durham 

Special Protections Areas 

10.3. Three Special Protection Areas (SPAs) are designated under the Wild Birds 

Directive. There have been no changes to the extent of these designations 

during the monitoring period. They cover an area of 44,983 ha in total.  

                                                           
25 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-2014 

 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

C
o

2
 E

m
is

si
o

n
s 

(t
)

County Durham

North East

Page 205



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             27                                                        
 

SPA Site Name 

Northumbria Coast North Pennine Moors Teesmouth and Cleveland 
Coast 

Table 6: Special Protection Areas in County Durham 

Ramsar Sites 

10.4. Stretches of the Durham Coast are designated as part of two Ramsar Sites, 

the Northumbria Coast and the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast Ramsar 

sites. There have been no changes to the extent of these designations during 

the monitoring period. They cover an area of 67 ha in total. 

 

International Biosphere Reserves 

10.5. A biosphere reserve is an area that has been recognised for its unique mix of 

plants and animals, valued environment and sustainable way of life of the 

people who live and work within the biosphere reserve. The biosphere 

reserves are chosen by UNESCO (the United Nations Educational, Scientific 

and Cultural Organization) but rely on local cooperation to ensure the careful 

management of the resources within biosphere reserves that allow 

development without harming the area for future generations. 

 

10.6. Moor House – Upper Teesdale National Nature Reserve was designated in 

1976 and covers 7,386 ha. There have been no changes to the extent of this 

designation during the monitoring period.  

 

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) 

10.7. There are 85 SSSIs either wholly or partly within County Durham, covering 

approximately 48,053.41 ha. There have been no changes to the extent of 

these designations during the monitoring period. 

 

National Nature Reserves (NNRs) 

10.8. Six SSSIs in County Durham are designated as National Nature Reserves 

under section 19 of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act. 

There have been no changes to the extent of these designations during the 

monitoring period. They cover an area of 5,142.95 ha in total.  

NNR Site Name 

Cassop Vale Castle Eden Dene Derwent Gorge & 
Muggleswick Woods 

Durham Coast Moor House Upper 
Teesdale 

Thrislington Plantation 

Table 7: NNR's in County Durham 

Local Nature Reserves 

Page 206



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             28                                                        
 

10.9. Local Nature Reserves (LNRs) are statutory designations made by local 

authorities under the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949. 

There are currently 36 LNRs within County Durham. There have been one 

Local Nature Reserve added within the period – Easington LNR. The former 

Easington Colliery site was reclaimed for recreation and nature conservation 

under the Turning the Tide Programme in 2000. In 2014 Easington Colliery 

Regeneration Partnership requested that the site be declared an LNR and 

managed in the future for biodiversity and recreation. It has high nature 

conservation value and supports several UK Biodiversity Action Plan Priority 

Species and Durham Biodiversity Action Plan Priority Habitats. 

 

Local Sites 

10.10. Durham has 308 Local Wildlife Sites and 68 Local Geological Sites. The 

number of Local Wildlife Sites has not changed (no additions or deletions) 

during 2016-2017. 18 Local Wildlife Sites have been resurveyed during 2016-

2017 and each of these will maintain its LWS status. 

 

10.11. Local Wildlife Sites in positive management in October 2016 stood at 80 of 

378 sites; this is 21% of sites. 

Condition of sites of biodiversity importance  

10.12. With the exception of Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), no information 

is currently available to indicate the health of any of these biodiversity sites.  

 

10.13. SSSI condition – while information is not available for the end of the 

monitoring period, the latest information from Natural England indicates that 

98.99% of SSSIs in County Durham met the PSA target26 and27, 12.93% were 

reported as in favourable condition28, 86.06% were unfavourable but 

recovering29, 0.092% were reported as in unfavourable condition with no 

                                                           
26 PSA target: The Government’s Public Service Agreement (PSA) target to have 95% of the SSSI area in 
favourable or recovering condition by 2010.  
27 Meeting the PSA target: if a SSSI unit is currently assessed as being in favourable or unfavourable recovering 
condition it is described as ‘meeting the PSA target’. 
28 Favourable: Favourable condition means that the SSSI land is being adequately conserved and is meeting its 
‘conservation objectives’, however, there is scope for the enhancement of these sites. 
29 Unfavourable recovering: Unfavourable recovering condition is often known simply as ‘recovering’. SSSI 
units are not yet fully conserved but all the necessary management measures are in place. Provided that the 
recovery work is sustained, the SSSI will reach favourable condition in time. In many cases, restoration takes 
time. Woodland that has been neglected for 50 years will take several years to bring back into a working 
coppice cycle. A drained peat bog might need 15-20 years to restore a reasonable coverage of sphagnum.   

Page 207



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             29                                                        
 

change30, 0.09% were reported as in unfavourable condition and declining31 

and32.     

EQ3 - Renewable Energy Capacity of approved and completed 

schemes by type 

 

10.14. As at 31st March 2017 the installed capacity figure in County Durham was 

199.77 MWe. 

 

10.15. It is considered that capacity has plateaued, due in part to stricter planning 

controls on Wind turbines and a reduction in Government incentive schemes 

such as the ‘Feed in Tariff’, which has seen a reduction in Solar Pv 

installations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 9: Installed Capacity in County Durham 

 

10.16. County Durham has 220MWe of Operational and Approved Capacity installed 

within the County. 

 

 

 

                                                           
30 Unfavourable no change: This means the special interest of the SSSI unit is not being conserved and will not 
reach favourable condition unless there are changes to the site management or external pressures. The longer 
the SSSI unit remains in this poor condition, the more difficult it will be, in general, to achieve recovery.   
31  Unfavourable declining; This means that the special interest of the SSSI unit is not being conserved and will 
not reach favourable condition unless there are changes to site management or external pressures. The site 
condition is becoming progressively worse. 
32 Source: Natural England, Nov. 2010: http:www.english-
nature.org.uk/special/sssi/report.cfm?category=C.CF0 

167.88

177.99

188.86

198.74 199.77

150

160

170

180

190

200

210

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

M
W

e

Installed Capacity

Page 208



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             30                                                        
 

RENEWABLE ENERGY DEVELOPMENT IN COUNTY DURHAM 

Generation as % Electricity Use: Position at 31 March 2017 

  Installed 

Capacity 

(MWe) 

Output 

(GWh p.a.) 

% Co. Durham 

household 

electricity  

%  Co. Durham 

electricity use 

Equivalent no of 

households 

Operational 

FiT (solar) 29.512 24.79                3.08                1.26             8,329.66  

Wind     138.90        328.52               40.86              16.76           92,722.78  

Bio Energy 21.8 110.74 12.85 4.90 25635.19 

Landfill 9.05 55.49 6.90 2.81               15,663  

Hydro 0.568 1.9 0.2 0.1 547.7 

Total  199.83 521.49 63.94 25.83 142,899 

Approved 

Wind 3.88 9.17 1.14 0.47 2587.50 

Bio Energy 15.5 78.74                9.14                3.48           18,226.85  

Landfill 0 0 0 0 0 

Hydro 1.72 5.9 0.7 0.3            1,658.54  

Total  21.096 93.78              11.01                4.25  22,473 

Operational and Approved 

FiT (solar) 29.512 24.79 3.08 1.26 8329.66 

Wind     142.77        337.68               42.00              17.23           95,310.28  

Bio Energy       37.30        189.48               21.99                8.38           43,862.04  

Landfill 9.05 55.49 6.90 2.81           5,663.17  

Hydro 2.29 7.82 0.97 0.40            2,206.24  

Total  220.92 615.27 74.95 30.08 165,371 

Planning (not Scoping) 

Wind 10.75 25.43 3.16 1.30 7177.04 

Bio Energy 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0 

Landfill 0 0 0 0 0 

Page 209



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             31                                                        
 

Hydro 0.0235 0.08 0.01 0.00 23 

Total  10.77         25.51                 3.17                1.30  7,200 

Overall: operational / approved / planning  

Overall Total  231.70 640.78 78.13 31.38             172,571  

Table 8: Renewable Energy Development in County Durham 

EQ4 – Changes and condition of Heritage Assets 
 

Conservation Areas 

  
10.17. There are 93 Conservation Areas in the County and this number has 

remained unchanged since 2009. 

 

10.18. Of these, there are 42 Conservation Areas with appraisals/management 

proposals.  

 

10.19. There were 8 Conservation Areas on the Heritage at Risk register in 2017 

Scheduled Monuments 

10.20. There are 230 Scheduled Monuments in the County, this number has 

remained unchanged in the monitoring period 

Listed Buildings 

10.21. There are 3,110 listed building in the County. 18 listings have been added in 

the monitoring period, these mainly consist of war memorials. 

 

10.22. The Listed Buildings consist of the following: 

 Grade I – 104  

 Grade II* - 161 

 Grade II – 2845 

 

10.23. There were 27 Listed Buildings on the Heritage at Risk register in 2017, the 

same as 2016. 

 

World Heritage Site 

10.24. The county has one World Heritage Site: Durham Castle and Cathedral. 

Battlefields 

10.25. The County has one Historic Battlefield at Neville’s Cross. 

Page 210



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             32                                                        
 

Appendix 1 

 

Figure 10: Student Property Postcodes February 2017 

Page 211



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             33                                                        
 

Appendix 2 

 

Figure 11: Student Property Postcodes June 2017: Pity Me, Framwellgate Moor and Newton 

 

 

 

Page 212



Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 

                                                                                             34                                                        
 

 

 

 

 

Durham County Council 

Spatial Policy Team 

03000 263 424 
Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
 

15 November 2017 
 

Forecast of Revenue and Capital 
Outturn 2017/18 – Period to 30 
September 2017 
 

 

 
 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Alan Napier, Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1 To provide Cabinet with information on the:  
 
(a) forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2017/18; 

 
(b) forecast for the Council’s Council Tax and Business Rates Collection 

Fund position at 31 March 2018; 
 

(c) use of earmarked, cash limit and general reserves. 
 

2 To seek approval of the budget adjustments and proposed sums outside of 
the cash limit. 
 

Background 

3 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Council agreed the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Plan, which incorporates the revenue and capital 
budgets for 2017/18, on 22 February 2017. 

4 The Constitution also states that the Chief Finance Officer must report to 
Cabinet on the overall Council budget monitoring position on a quarterly 
basis. 

5 This report provides an updated forecast of the revenue and capital outturn for 
2017/18, based upon expenditure and income up to 30 September 2017. 

Revenue Outturn Forecast – Based on Position to 30 September 2017 

6 The table overleaf compares the forecast of outturn with the revised budget.   
Further detail is provided in Appendices 2 and 3. 

7 The following adjustments have been made to the original budget agreed by 
Council on 22 February 2017: 

(a) agreed budget transfers between Service Groupings; 

(b) additions to budget for items outside the cash limit (for Cabinet 
consideration and recommended approval); 

Page 215

Agenda Item 7



(c) planned use of or contribution to Earmarked Reserves (please refer to 
Appendix 4). 

 
Forecast of Revenue Outturn 2017/18 

 

 
 
 
Note:  Negative figures in the variance column represent an underspend or overachievement of 
income  
 

  

Original 

Budget 

2017/18

Budget - 

incorporating 

adjustments

Service 

Groupings 

Forecast of 

Outturn

Forecasted 

Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adult and Health Services 151,581 132,348 129,714 -2,634

Children and Young People's Services 98,963 115,841 119,753 3,912

Regeneration and Local Services 126,024 129,722 128,739 -983

Resources 16,628 19,296 18,537 -759

Transformation and Partnerships 8,716 11,768 12,063 295

Cash Limit Position 401,912 408,975 408,806 -169

Contingencies 5,422 4,701 4,701 0

Corporate Costs 3,990 4,095 3,824 -271

NET COST OF SERVICES 411,324 417,771 417,331 -440

Capital charges -57,113 -57,113 -57,113 0

Interest and Investment income -1,700 -1,700 -2,320 -620

Interest payable and similar charges 38,108 38,587 38,337 -250

Levies 15,979 15,979 15,979 0

Net Expenditure 406,598 413,524 412,214 -1,310

Funded By:

Council tax -195,706 -195,706 -195,706 0

Use of earmarked reserves -18,185 -24,086 -24,086 0

Estimated net surplus on Collection Fund -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 0

Start up Funding Assessment -172,364 -172,364 -172,364 0

New Homes Bonus -8,882 -8,882 -8,883 -1

New Homes Bonus - Re-imbursement -267 -267 -283 -16

Section 31 Grant -5,875 -5,875 -6,336 -461

Education Services Grant -1,500 -1,500 -1,516 -16

Forecast contribution to/from(-) Cash Limit Reserve -819 156 325 169

Forecast contribution to/from (-) General Reserves 0 -2,000 -365 1,635

 

TOTAL 0 0 0 0

Page 216



8 The table on the previous page identifies that there is forecast to be a £0.169 
million underspend within service grouping cash limits with a forecast 
underspend on all other budgets of £1.635 million. This position is reflected in 
the movement in cash limit and general reserves. Taken together, the net 
£1.804 million underspend represents a 0.4% underspend against the revised 
net expenditure budget of £413.5 million. 

9 Approval is being sought for the following sums to be funded from, or 
transferred to general contingencies. These sums are deemed to be outside 
of service grouping cash limits.  

Service Grouping Proposal Amount 

  £ million 

Adult and Health 
Services (AHS) 

Care providers inflation pressures 0.268 

Adult and Health 
Services (AHS) 

Transforming Care – changes in estimated 
discharge dates 

-0.272 

Children and Young 
People’s Services 

(CYPS) 

Premises related costs for former school 
buildings 

0.047 

Resources Coroner’s Services underspend -0.110 

Transformation and 
Partnerships (T&P) 

Local Insight Digital Tool Survey 0.002 

Total  -0.065 

 
10 After adjusting the budgets as detailed above, the forecast outturn for Cash 

Limit Reserves and the General Reserve are summarised in the table below. 
A sum of £2 million has been transferred from the General Reserve into a 
Transformation Programme Reserve to provide the required support for the 
next three years. 

 

 

Planned 

contribution to 

(-) or use of 

reserve

Contribution 

to (-) or use 

of reserve

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

Service Grouping Cash Limit

Adult and Health Services -5.512 0.000 -0.075 -2.634 -8.221

Children and Young People's Services -3.309 0.819 -1.819 3.912 -0.397

Regeneration and Local Services -6.231 0.000 1.167 -0.983 -6.047

Resources -1.023 0.000 0.079 -0.759 -1.703

Transformation and Partnerships -0.179 0.000 -0.327 0.295 -0.211

Total Cash Limit Reserve -16.254 0.819 -0.975 -0.169 -16.579

General Reserve -23.004 0.000 2.000 -1.635 -22.639

Type of Reserve

Opening 

Balance 

as at 1 

April 2017

Budgeted 

use at 1 

April 2017

Movement during 2017/18

2017/18 

Forecast of 

Outturn 

Page 217



11 The forecasted Cash Limit and General Reserves position is a prudent one 
given the forecasted levels of savings the Council needs to make of £37.4 
million over the period 2018/19 to 2021/22 with the delivery of further savings 
becoming ever more challenging to achieve. 

12 The reasons for the major variances against the revised budgets are detailed 
below by each service grouping.   

Adult and Health Services (AHS) 
 
13 The 2017/18 projected outturn for AHS at 30 September 2017 is a cash limit 

underspend of £2.634 million, representing circa 1.8% of the total budget for 
AHS. This compares to the quarter 1 forecast of outturn position of a £2.599 
million cash limit underspend. 

14 The projected outturn takes into account adjustments for sums outside the 
cash limit including redundancy costs which are met from the corporate 
reserve, capital accounting entries and use of / contributions to earmarked 
reserves. 

15 The outturn reflects the proactive management of activity by Heads of Service 
across AHS to remain within the cash limit and to prepare for 2018/19 MTFP 
savings requirements.  The outturn position is accounted for as follows: 

(a) early achievement of a number of future years’ MTFP savings from 
management and support service proposals across the Adult Care and 
related areas, together with the careful management and control of 
vacant posts and supplies and services budgets across the service, 
has created a net underspend for the year of £2.578 million; 

(b) net spend on adult care packages is £0.219 million over budget.  This 
area of spend is being closely monitored to assess the impact of 
demographic and procedural/operational changes, where significant 
MTFP savings have been delivered in recent years. Within the adult 
care budgets there are overspends of £1.152 million on Learning 
Disability / Mental Health Services, offset by underspends on Older 
People Services of £0.933 million.  A review of Learning Disabilities 
commissioning processes is currently underway to help to identify 
further opportunities to maximise value for money and reduce the 
overspending in this area; 

(c) net expenditure in respect of Environment, Health and Consumer 
Protection (EHCP) services, is £0.275 million under budget, resulting 
mainly from early achievement of future years’ MTFP savings; 

(d) net expenditure on Public Health-related activity is in line with grant 
allocations. 

16 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, £0.723 million relating to 
contributions to and from reserves and cash limits have been excluded from 
the outturn. The major items being use of the Council’s MTFP Redundancy 
Reserve (£0.242 million), a contribution to the social care reserve (£63,000) 
and use of the Public Health Reserve (£0.548 million). 

 

 

Page 218



17 In addition, to these contributions to and from reserves, a new Improved 
Better Care Fund Reserve (iBCF) has been created this quarter. This reflects 
the £13million of iBCF funding which was received after the budget was set 
for 2017/18. On 18 October 2017 Cabinet considered a report that outlined 
the plans for utilising this funding across the next three years. The creation of 
this reserve will ensure that the funding received is earmarked for the 
purposes outlined in the grant conditions. Future budgetary control reports will 
identify sums drawn down from the reserve, in line with the plans agreed by 
Cabinet on 18 October 2017. 

18 Taking the projected outturn position into account, including the transfer 
to/from Reserves in year, the estimated cash limit reserve to be carried 
forward for AHS is forecast to be £8.221 million.  

 
Children and Young People’s Services (CYPS) 
 
19 The 2017/18 projected outturn position for CYPS, based on the position to 30 

September 2017, is a cash limit overspend of £3.912 million. This represents 
a 3.71% overspend against the total budget for CYPS and compares to the 
previously forecast position at quarter 1 of a £3.936 million overspend.  
 

20 In arriving at the cash limit outturn position, premises related costs of £47,000 
incurred in respect of the former school sites have been treated as outside the 
cash limit.  
 

21 The projected outturn takes into account adjustments for sums outside the 
cash limit including redundancy costs which are met from the corporate 
reserve, capital accounting entries and use of / contributions to earmarked 
reserves. The outturn position is accounted for as follows: 
 
(a) Children’s Services are forecasting a net overspend of £4.731 million. 

This is primarily related to costs associated with placements, both 
those who have a legal status of looked after and those young people 
in permanent placements that are financially supported by the Council, 
details as follows: 

(i)  young people looked after is a volatile and high cost area of 
 activity within CYPS and current external demographic demands 
 are creating a strain on the service in terms of financial resource 
 allocation. Work is actively being taken to try to address the 
 placement mix, focusing on increasing the proportion of 
 placements in higher quality low cost in house foster care and 
 on increasing the number of in-house fostering. The current 
 numbers and mix of placements is leading to an overspend 
 when combined with non-Looked After Children (LAC) 
 permanent placements of circa £4.69 million;  

(b) Education Services and Operational Support are forecasting a net 
underspend of £0.82 million. This includes a forecast overspend on 
Home to School Transport, primarily relating to SEN pupils, of £0.25 
million (an improved position when compared to the quarter 1 forecast), 
offset by underspends across the rest of the service from early 
achievement of MTFP savings, staff vacancies and reduced pension 
liabilities in year.  

Page 219



22 Whilst it was anticipated that LAC numbers and costs would have stabilised in 
the current year and that the budget would meet demand, having built circa 
£2.735 million growth into the 2017/18 base, in the short term further 
additional financial support will be required.  
 

23 On 18 October 2017, Cabinet considered a report providing an update on the 
development of the 2018/19 budget, the Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP(8)) and Council Plan / Service Plans 2018/19 to 2021/22.  Additional 
budget support of £2.9 million in 2018/19 has been included in the MTFP(8) 
forecasts to allow numbers to stabilise and to enable the policy of adjusting 
the placement mix to reduce future years’ costs. 
 

24 The additional £2.9 million provided in 2018/19 is effectively a temporary 
budget uplift that is planned to be withdrawn over the 2019/20 to 2021/22 
period as the forecast placement mix shift takes place, in line with plans 
developed by CYPS. 
 

25 Taking the projected outturn position into account, including the transfer 
to/from Reserves in year, the estimated cash limit reserve to be carried 
forward for CYPS is forecast to be £0.397 million at the year end. 

 
Regeneration and Local Services (REAL) 
 
26 The forecast revenue outturn for 2017/18 is a cash limit underspend of £0.983 

million, after taking account of the forecast use of reserves and items outside 
the cash limit. The cash limit outturn position compares to the previous 
forecast underspend for 2017/18 of £0.929 million based on the position as at 
the end of quarter one.  

27 The forecast underspend reflects the proactive management of activity by 
Heads of Service across Regeneration and Local Services to remain within 
the cash limit.  The main reasons accounting for the outturn position are as 
follows: 

(a) Direct Services is forecast to be £0.277 million underspent.  In this 
area, increased income relating to Trade and Bulky Waste (£0.416 
million), and early achievement of 2018/19 MTFP savings (£0.400 
million), is being partially offset by a forecast £0.560 million overspend 
on waste disposal contracts. 

(b) Culture and Sport is forecast to underspend by £91,000, which is the 
net of; savings on third party leisure contracts (£70,000), and 
underspending on Leisure Centres (£0.122 million), Libraries (£0.1 
million), and Service Development (£59,000).  This is offset by a 
forecast overspend in the Gala Theatre (£0.260 million). 

(c) Technical Services is forecast to be £53,000 underspent.  This is the 
net position and takes into account an overspend of £1.3 million within 
Highway Services, due to additional policy led expenditure on 
highways maintenance, mainly in relation to Category 1 and 2 defects 
and footway maintenance.  The overspend is however broadly offset by 
additional surpluses generated within Design Services (£0.400 million), 
and Highways Trading activities (£0.900 million). 

(d) Business Support is forecast to be £86,000 underspent, due to 
managed savings on vacant posts and reductions in hours.  

Page 220



(e) Transport is forecast to be £0.390 million overspent, mainly due to 
increased employee costs within Care Connect (£0.155 million), and 
additional costs on bus and rail contracts and within traffic 
management (£0.240 million). 

(f) Planning and Assets is forecast to be £0.283 million underspent, 
mainly resulting from increased planning fee income (£0.2 million), and 
early achievement of 2018/19 MTFP savings (£68,000).   

(g) Economic Development and Housing is forecast to be underspent by 
£0.153 million.  Savings of approximately £0.313 million in Housing 
Solutions, Business Durham and Visit County Durham are partially 
offset by overspends in Economic Development associated with the 
Employability and Skills team (£0.160 million). 

28 In arriving at the forecast outturn position, £0.339 million relating to 
contributions to and from reserves and cash limits have been excluded from 
the outturn. The major items being: 

(a) £0.180 million drawn down from the MTFP redundancy reserve; 

(b) a net contribution to earmarked reserves of £0.655 million in respect of 
Repairs and Maintenance, Bin procurement, and Community Safety 
projects, and Culture and Sport; 

(c) £0.412 million use of reserves relating to Economic Development; 

(d) £0.120 million use of reserves relating to Planning; 

(e) £0.249 million has been treated as outside the cash limit and this 
relates to Care Connect (£0.122 million), Strategic Traffic (£0.118 
million) and Culture and Sport (£9,000). 

29 Taking the projected outturn position into account, including items proposed to 
be treated as outside the cash limit, the forecasted cash limit reserve to be 
carried forward for Regeneration and Local Services is £6.047 million. 

Resources 
 
30 The 2017/18 updated forecast revenue outturn for Resources is a cash limit 

underspend of £0.759 million.  This takes into account adjustments for sums 
outside the cash limit such as redundancy costs which are met from corporate 
reserves and use of / contributions to earmarked reserves. The cash limit 
underspend forecast at quarter one was £0.832 million. 

31 The Heads of Service across Resources continue to proactively manage 
activity to remain within the cash limit.  The projected underbudget position is 
the net effect of the following items: 

(a) Corporate Finance and Commercial Services is forecast to be 
underbudget by £83,000, relating mainly to managed underspending 
against employees in Procurement (£41,000) and Health and Safety 
(£42,000) in advance of MTFP savings requirements in 2018/19. 
 
 
 

Page 221



(b) Finance and Transactional Services is forecast to be underbudget by 
£0.391 million, consisting of a managed position on vacancies in 
relation to the early achievement on 2018/19 MTFP savings (£0.420 
million) and additional Financial Management SLA income (£88,000), 
offset in part by other minor variances. 
 

(c) Digital and Customer Services is forecasting an overbudget position of 
£25,000, consisting of an underspend on supplies and services (£0.147 
million) in ICT Services and on employee related expenditure (£0.195 
million) in Customer Services. This has been offset by funding two ICT 
capital schemes from revenue contributions in 2017/18 (£0.335 million) 
and a net reduction in income (£98,000) due to withdrawal from Service 
Level Agreements by a number of schools and also County Durham 
Housing Group. Additional (one-off) income from NEWCO in respect of 
telecoms has covered a large part of the shortfall in income in the 
current year.   
 

(d) Internal Audit, Risk and Corporate Fraud is forecast to be underbudget 
by £31,000, comprising a managed underspend of £18,000 on 
employees in Corporate Fraud, linked to the early achievement of 
MTFP savings for 2018/19, and an overachievement of income of 
£15,000. 

 
(e) Legal and Democratic Services is forecast to be underbudget by 

£0.236 million, which includes a £67,000 managed underspend on 
employees and £0.208 million on supplies and services. There is a net 
under recovery of income (£75,000) after taking into account a 
reduction in Land Charges income (£0.137 million). This has been 
possible due to the receipt of (one-off) income from County Durham 
Housing Group (£51,000) and additional Government Grants (£42,000). 
There are also a number of other minor variances in this service area.  

 
(f) Service Management is forecasting a minor £2,000 overbudget 

position, which is a minor variance against supplies and services. 
Central costs are forecast to be underbudget by £45,000. 

 
32 The forecast cash limit outturn shows the position after some £96,000 of net 

contributions from reserves and cash limits have been applied to finance the 
following items: 

(a) £0.110 million to contingencies to remove a surplus from the Coroners 
Service budget. 

(b) £0.165 million from the ICT Trading Reserve in respect of Windows 10 
upgrade where additional technicians have been employed to implement 
these upgrades across the ICT estate; wireless networks and 
implementation of Tribal software; 

(c) £0.113 million from the Elections reserve to fund County Council 
elections undertaken in the year; 

33 Taking the outturn position into account, including items outside the cash limit 
and transfers to and from earmarked reserves, the cash limit reserve to be 
carried forward for Resources is forecast to be £1.703 million. 

 

Page 222



Transformation and Partnerships (T&P) 

34 The forecast revenue outturn for 2017/18 is a cash limit overspend £0.295 
million for the year after taking account of the forecast use of reserves and 
items outside the cash limit.  The cash limit overspend forecast at quarter one 
was £0.440 million. 
 

35 The main reasons for the projected overspend are as follows: 
 
(a) The previously planned restructure of the former Assistant Chief 

Executive’s service grouping has been delayed following the unitisation 
of services into T&P. A larger restructure, incorporating both the 
2017/18 and 2018/19 savings targets is now planned across the new 
T&P service grouping. This has resulted in a delay in achieving £0.379 
million of the 2017/18 MTFP savings. The net overspend as a result of 
the savings delay is fully covered by the use of managed underspends 
and the T&P cash limit reserve; 

 
(b) Partnerships and Community Engagement are forecast to be £72,000 

overbudget, primarily due to a managed overspend on employee costs; 
 

(c) Strategy is forecast to be £66,000 underbudget, primarily due to a 
managed underspend on employee costs;  

 
(d) Communications and Information Management are forecast to be 

£82,000 underbudget, due to a managed underspend on employee 
related costs; 

 
(e) Transformation is forecast to be £8,000 underbudget as a result of a 

managed underspend on employee related costs. 
 

36 In arriving at the forecast cash limit outturn position £53,493 relating to 
contributions to and from reserves and cash limits have been excluded from 
the outturn. These are : 

 
(a) £21,643 from reserves to fund posts in Transformation; 
 
(b) £21,851 from reserves in respect of early retirement / voluntary 

redundancy costs associated with MTFP savings; 
 
(c) £8,149 contribution from reserves in respect of engagement activities; 
 
(d) £1,850 from the Corporate Contingencies in respect of the Local 

Insight Digital Tool Survey. 
 

37 Taking the projected outturn position into account, including items proposed to 
be treated as outside the cash limit and a transfer of £7,279 from the 
Regeneration and Local Services cash limit reserve, the total cash limit 
reserve forecasted to be carried forward for T&P at 31 March 2018 is £0.211 
million. 

 
 

Page 223



Corporate Costs / Contingencies 
 
38 The forecast revenue outturn for 2017/18 for Resources – Centrally 

Administered Costs is a cash limit underspend of £0.271 million. This takes 
into account adjustments for sums outside the cash limit such as the use of / 
contribution to earmarked reserves and compares with the previously forecast 
position of a £0.210 million underspend at quarter one.  

39 The forecast outturn position is accounted for by an underbudget position on 
corporate subscriptions (£0.140 million), expenses associated with raising 
loans (£26,000), de-minimis capital receipts (£50,000); external audit fees 
(£17,000); payment card fees (£46,000) offset by additional expenditure on 
professional fees (£5,000). MTFP savings are factored into these budget 
heads for 2018/19. 

Central Budgets  
 
Interest Payable and Similar Charges - Capital Financing 

40 Following a review of capital financing costs relating to re-profiling and 
forecast interest rates, there is a forecast underspend of £0.250 million.   

 
Interest and Investment Income 
 
41 The forecast at this stage is an overachievement of income of £0.620 million 

which is mainly due to higher than forecast level of returns on short-term 
investments and council commercial activities. A higher target for this income 
budget has been included in MTFP(8). 

Council Earmarked Reserves Forecast 
 
42 Earmarked reserves are funds set aside for specific, known or predicted 

future expenditure. Appendix 4 details the Council and school earmarked 
reserves showing the opening balance at 1 April 2017, the forecast movement 
on reserves during the year and the forecast closing balance as at 31 March 
2018.   

43 A summary of the latest forecast of Council reserves (excluding school 
reserves) is shown below. The summary highlights that the total earmarked 
and cash limit reserves are forecast to reduce by £13.396 million in 2017/18, 
from £202.549 million to £189.153 million. This compares with a Quarter 1 
forecast of a reduction in reserves of £27.3 million. The change reflects the 
creation of the £13 million iBCF Reserve in Quarter 2. The movement in 
earmarked reserves is explained in the service grouping commentaries.  This 
utilisation is to be expected as these funds are applied to the expenditure for 
which they were earmarked. 

 

Page 224



 
 
Schools 
 
44 Maintained schools have delegated budgets and carry forward accumulated 

surpluses and deficits from one year to the next.  At the end of quarter 1, the 
forecast balances at 31 March 2018 were for an overall net surplus balance 
£10.558 million. 

45 Officers are currently supporting schools to undertake their mid-year budget 
reviews. This process commenced in September and will not be completed 
until the end of November. Based on the work undertaken to date the forecast 
overall net surplus balance to be carried forward has increased slightly to 
£10.559 million.  A more meaningful update will be available in quarter 3. 

46 A breakdown of the quarter 2 updated forecasts is shown below.  The 
significance of balances above or below 2.5% of funding is that the Council 
views a balance of at least 2.5% as being appropriate in terms of the ability of 
schools to cope with unforeseen expenditure during the year.  

 

Schools 
forecasting a 

surplus balance 
above 2.5% of 
annual funding 

Schools 
forecasting a 

surplus 
balance of less 

than 2.5% of 
annual funding 

Schools 
forecasting a 

deficit balance 
Total 

 No. 
Forecast 
Balances 
£ million 

No. 
Forecast 
Balances 
£ million 

No. 
Forecast 
Balances 
£ million 

No. 
Forecast 
Balances 
£ million 

Nursery 9 0.427 1 0.002 1 -0.011 11 0.418  

Alternative 
Provision 

- - 1 - - - 1 - 

Primary 139 10.279 57 0.448 3 -0.080 199 10.647 

Secondary 6 1.633 5 0.822 4 -5.015 15 -2.560 

Special 8 2.054 1 - - - 9 2.054 

Total 162 14.393 65 1.272 8 -5.106 235 10.559 

 
47 At quarter 1, seven schools were forecasting that they would have a deficit 

balance carried forward at 31 March 2018, totalling an estimated £5.154 
million. In setting the 2017/18 budgets six schools had been given permission 
to set deficit budgets from the Corporate Director of Resources:  
 
(a) one was due to convert to an academy in September;  

(b) one was planning on undertaking a re-structuring in the autumn to 
allow it to balance its budget;  

(c) one was expected to join a Multi-Academy Trust in the year; 

Earmarked Cash Limit TOTAL

£ million £ million £ million

Opening Earmarked Balances as at 1 April 2017 -186.295 -16.254 -202.549

Adjusted for forecasted increase (-) / use of 

Earmarked Reserves
13.721 -0.325 13.396

Forecasted Earmarked Reserve Balances as at 

31 March 2018
-172.574 -16.579 -189.153

Page 225



(d) the Council was taking steps to address longer-term issues with the 
remaining three schools.  

48 The other school was expected to be able to balance its budget once it had 
completed some staffing changes.  

 

49 During the last quarter, two schools (The Sacriston Primary and South Stanley 
Junior School) have converted to academies. One of these schools had an 
accumulated deficit at the point of conversion, which has been charged to the 
Council, whereas the other had an accumulated surplus, which will transfer to 
the Academy. 

50 The eight schools with deficits include the five schools already mentioned.  Two 
of the other schools are forecast to have sufficient surplus in 2018-19 to be able 
to clear their forecast deficit.  For the remaining school, officers from Education, 
HR and Finance are working with the school to address the budget shortfall. 

51 The School Funding Team continues to work with schools to support and 
provide advice about budget issues, and is reviewing budgets this term in 
preparation for budget-setting in spring 2018.  Where there are concerns 
about a school’s financial viability this is shared with the Education Service so 
that we can take a joined-up approach to resolving these issues. 

Capital 

Background 
 
52 On 12 July 2017, Cabinet received a report which provided details of the final 

outturn position of the 2016/17 Capital Programme. This included details of 
budgets of £15.375 million that were reprofiled from 2016/17 to 2017/18. 
Adding these to the new 2017/18 capital allocations approved by Council on 
22 February 2017 and the existing 2017/18 budget gives the original budget 
for 2017/18 that is shown in the table below. 

53 The Council’s Member Officer Working Group (MOWG) that closely monitors 
the capital programme has since considered further revisions to the capital 
programme, taking into account additional resources received by the council 
and further requests for reprofiling as Service Management Teams continue 
to monitor and review their capital schemes. 

Current Position 

54 The table overleaf summarises the latest capital budget alongside the original 
budget. The table also shows the forecast outturn for each service and the 
actual capital spend as at 30 September 2017. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 226



Service 
Grouping 

Original 
Budget 

2017/18 as 
at May 
MOWG 

Revised 
Budget 
2017/18 

Quarter 1 

Amendments 
recommended 

by MOWG 

Revised 
Budget 
2017/18 
Quarter 

2 

Projected 
Outturn 
2017/18 

Actual 
Spend to 
30 Sept 

2017 

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million 

Transformation 
and 

Partnerships 
4.149 4.594 -0.084 4.510 4.510 0.977 

Adult and 
Health Services 

0.318 0.318 0.002 0.320 0.320 0.094 

Children and 
Young People's 

Services 
28.765 28.783 0.205 28.988 28.988 8.096 

Regeneration 
and Local 
Services 

84.257 86.778 3.301 90.079 90.079 34.311 

Resources 16.228 16.828 0.000 16.828 16.828 2.632 

Total 133.717 137.301 3.424 140.725 140.725 46.110 

 

55 Further to the revised quarter 1 2017/18 budget that was agreed by Cabinet 
on 13 September 2017, the MOWG has considered a number of variations to 
the capital programme which are a result of additions and reductions in 
resources received by the Council. The variations of note are as follows: 

Additions 

 

(a) CYPS - the service budget is to be increased for various schemes, 
including work at the Aycliffe Secure Unit on fencing and acoustic 
panels (£66,000 – Department for Education (DfE) grant funding) and 
on safety and security at the Durham House courtyard to allow six beds 
to be re-opened (£0.136 million - DfE grant funding).  
 

(b) REAL  

 
(i) Technical Services - the service has secured additional funding 

of £0.247 million to fund work at 6 play areas to support the 
implementation of the Council’s play strategy, the majority coming 
from Section 106 contributions from developers and £75,000 from 
the Economic Employability Reserve.  

(ii) Transport and Contracted Services – additional grant 
resources totalling £4.918 million have been allocated by the 
Department for Transport to fund schemes, including for a new 
railway station at Horden (£4.374 million). 

Page 227



(iii) Economic Development and Housing - budget increases 
totalling £4.077 million are required for three schemes. The 
largest is for £3.851 million for the Pennine Peat LIFE project, 
which the Council will administer as the accountable body for the 
North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Partnership. 
The project aims to restore 1,353 hectares of bare and degraded 
peat to healthy functioning peat bog and will operate at sixteen 
sites across the North Pennines, Yorkshire and the Forest of 
Bowland (in Lancashire) in the next three years. A further £1.613 
million will fund revenue activities. The majority of the funding 
comes from the European Union, with further contributions from 
three beneficiaries (Durham County Council, Lancashire County 
Council and the Yorkshire Wildlife Trust) and four co-financers 
(Northumbrian Water, United Utilities, Yorkshire Water Services 
and the Environment Agency). 

The Council has also received £71,000 from the War Memorials 
Trust towards the refurbishment of war memorials at Burnhope 
and Leasingthorne and a budget increase of £0.155 million is also 
needed to fund the installation of a permanent heating boiler at 
Glenroyd House. 

(c) Resources – an ICT budget increase of £0.335 million is needed to 
fund projects to extend and improve Remote Access arrangements 
(£0.155 million) and to refresh the Mail Fulfilment Equipment (£0.180 
million). The proposed increase will be funded from a contribution from 
revenue, that is available as a result of cash limit underspends that 
have been forecast and reported at quarter 1. 

56 Budget managers continue to challenge and review the programming and 
phasing of works, which has resulted in the re-profiling of the following 
budgets in line with anticipated activity in 2017/18: 

(a) REAL – Planning and Assets – some £1.521 million of the funds 
allocated for the Pennine Peat LIFE project are programmed to be 
applied after 2017/18 and a reprofiling is required. 

 
(b) REAL – Transport and Contracted Services – of the additional 

resources that have been received to fund new schemes, some £4.571 
million relates to work that will be completed in future years - all of the 
£4,374 million for a new railway station at Horden into 2019/20 and 
£0.197 million of the Safer Roads scheme for work on the A67 at 
Barnard Castle into 2018/19 

 
(c) Resources – it is not planned that the additional ICT revenue funded 

schemes costing £0.335 million will be implemented until 2018/19, so it 
is necessary to reprofile the budget. 

 

Page 228



Capital Financing 
 
57 The following table summarises the recommended financing of the revised 

Capital Programme: 

 
Council Tax and Business Rates Collection Funds 
 
Council Tax 

58 Council Tax is charged for all residential dwellings in bandings agreed by the 
Valuation Office Agency, which is part of Her Majesty’s Revenues and 
Customs (HMRC).  Exemptions, reliefs and discounts are awarded dependent 
upon the state of the property, its use and occupiers’ personal circumstances.  
 

59 The collection rate at 30 September 2017 was below the profiled target of 
56.92%, but is broadly in line with last year, being just 0.10 percentage points 
below the same position in 2016/17.   

 
60 The in-year collection rates to the end of quarter two for the last three years, 

including the current year, are shown below: 
 

Billing Year Position at 30 September 
Each Year % 

2017/18 56.79 

2016/17 56.89 

2015/16 56.47 

 
61 The current overall collection rate for 2016/17 council tax liabilities is now 

97.75% (compared to 96.69% at 31 March 2017), and for 2015/16 the rate is 
now 98.44% (compared to 96.32% at 31 March 2016).  The Council continues 
to recover Council Tax from earlier years, and currently the collection rate for 
all years excluding the current year is 99.55% which is line with our medium 
term financial plan forecasts.  
 

62 The income shown in the Council Tax Collection Fund is the amount 
collectable from Council Tax payers over the long term, rather than the actual 
cash collected in the year the charges are raised.  Likely bad debts are 
accounted for by maintaining a bad debt provision.  The amount estimated to 
be collectable is estimated each year by reference to the actual council tax 
base for all domestic properties in the county (schedule of all properties, 
discounts and reliefs) with an allowance for non-collection.  
 

Financed By: 

Original 
Budget 
2017/18 

 
£ million 

Revised 
Budget 
2017/18 

Quarter 1 
£ million 

Amendments 
recommended 

by MOWG 
 

£ million 

Revised 
Budget 
2017/18 

Quarter 2 
£ million 

Grants and 
Contributions 

53.135 52.514 3.095 55.610 

Revenue and Reserves 3.000 4.079 0.162 4.241 

Capital Receipts 17.700 17.825 0.007 17.832 

Borrowing 59.883 62.883 0.159 63.042 

Total 133.717 137.301 3.423 140.724 

Page 229



63 In July, Cabinet approved a reduction in the provision for non-payment, from 
1.5% to a prudent 1.0%. This will increase the council tax base from 2018/19, 
generating c£1 million of additional Council tax income within MTFP(8) and 
reducing the likelihood of Collection Fund surpluses being generated in future 
years. 
 

64 Due to changes in the number of properties (including new build and 
demolitions), eligibility of discounts and reliefs during the year, the actual 
amount collectable increases or decreases from the estimate on a dynamic 
day to day basis.  In addition, adjustments for previous billing years take place 
during each accounting year.  All of these adjustments result in the actual 
amounts collected always being different to the estimate.   
 

65 Such differences at the end of each accounting year, after taking into account 
the calculated change required in the ‘bad debt’ provision, determine whether 
a surplus or deficit has arisen, which is then shared proportionately between 
the Council and its major preceptors, being Durham Police and Crime 
Commissioner and County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority. 

 
66 At 30 September 2017, the estimated outturn for the Council Tax Collection 

Fund is a surplus of £5.483 million as shown in the following table, which 
takes into account the undeclared surplus as at 31 March 2017. Durham 
County Council’s share of this forecasted surplus is £4.627 million, which 
could be available to support the 2018/19 budget.  

 £ million 

Net Bills issued during Accounting Year 2017/18 303.703 

  

LCTRS and previous years CTB adjustments -53.660 

  
Calculated change in provision for bad debts required and 
write offs 

-3.258 
 

Net income receivable (a) 246.785 

  
Precepts and Demands  
Durham County Council  195.707 

Parish and Town Councils 11.851 

Durham Police and Crime Commissioner 22.952 

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority 13.243 

Total Precepts and Demands (b) 243.753 

  

Net Surplus / (-) Deficit for year (a) – (b) 3.032 

Undeclared Surplus Brought Forward from 2016/17 2.451 

Estimated Year end surplus 5.483 

 
67 By 15 January each year, the estimated surplus/deficit on the Collection Fund 

Council Tax Account is notified to the two major preceptors for inclusion in the 
budget setting process for the following year as an additional income or 
expenditure item.   
 

Page 230



68 By 15 January 2018, an estimated year end position on the Council Tax 
Collection Fund for 2017/18 will be declared and taken into account in the 
budget setting process for 2018/19.  Any difference between this and the 
actual surplus at 31 March 2018 will be carried forward to 15 January 2019 
and will be taken into account in estimating the surplus/deficit for 2018/19, 
which will need to be taken into account for 2019/20 budget setting. 
 

69 Over the past four years, the Council Tax provision for bad debts has been 
increasing steadily.  This managed approach has been necessary to minimise 
the risk of the Council Tax Collection Fund moving into deficit whilst securing 
the robustness of the levels of provision held.  The position has now been 
reached where maintaining the provision at a prudent level does not prevent 
the declaration of a surplus. 
 

Business Rates 

70 2013/14 was the first year of the new Business Rates Retention Scheme 
whereby the Council has a vested budget interest and stake in the level of 
business rate yield, as income generated from Business Rates is now shared 
between Central Government (50%), Durham County Council (49%) and 
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority (1%).  Therefore, it 
is not only the accuracy and timeliness of bills levied and collected that is 
monitored and audited, but the level of income anticipated for the year is 
important and new monitoring procedures have been devised for this purpose. 
 

71 In 2017/18, following consultation, the Government implemented the first 
revaluation of Business Rates since April 2010.  
 

72 The revaluation of the rateable values of all Business Properties was 
undertaken by the Valuation Office Agency, part of HM Revenues and 
Customs, and, along with national changes to Multipliers, Relief Thresholds 
and Transitional Arrangements came into effect from April 2017. The overall 
effect of the revaluation on the Collection Fund saw a decrease of an 
estimated £9.3 million in rates yield / liability when compared to 2016/17. The 
revaluation should be cost neutral to Durham County Council and County 
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority, therefore compensation 
arrangements are to be made through adjustments to Section 31 grants and 
Top Ups for their shares of losses of income. 
  

73 Bills raised, exemptions and reliefs awarded are examined together with local 
knowledge of anticipated changes in reliefs such as Mandatory Charitable 
Relief and Discretionary Rate Relief on a monthly basis to enable a 
comparison with the January 2017 estimate of 2017/18 Business Rates 
income that was used for budget setting purposes.  At 30 September 2017, 
the estimated outturn for the Collection Fund Business Rates is a surplus of 
£5.876 million, as shown in the following table, which takes into account the 
undeclared surplus as at 31 March 2017. 

 

Page 231



  
£ 

Million 

Net rate yield for 2017/18 including previous year adjustments 108.516 

    

Estimate of changes due to appeals lodged and future appeals -3.484 

    
Estimated losses in Collection – Provision for Bad Debts and 
Write-offs 

-1.181 

Net income receivable (a) 103.851 

  
Agreed allocated shares   

Central Government (50%) 49.646 

Durham County Council (49%) 48.653 

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority (1%) 0.993 

Cost of Collection Allowance and Renewable Energy (paid to 
Durham County Council) 

0.693 

Total fixed payments (b) 99.985 
  

Net surplus for year (a) – (b) 3.866 

Undeclared Surplus brought forward from 2016/17 2.010 

Estimated year end Surplus 5.876 

 
74 The estimated surplus of £5.876 million at 31 March 2018 is made up of the 

in-year estimated surplus and the undeclared surplus brought forward from 
2016/17.  Any surpluses or deficits at 31 March in any year are shared 
proportionately between Durham County Council, Central Government and 
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue, Durham County Council’s 
share being 49%.  Durham County Council’s share of the estimated year end 
surplus will therefore be £2.879 million. 
 

75 The payment profile on collection performance is changing due to more 
businesses opting to spread their payments over 12 months rather than ten.  
The major Business Rate Payers have all opted to take up this opportunity to 
re-profile their cash flow.  However, robust collection procedures have 
enabled the setting of a challenging collection rate target of 58.42% at 30 
September 2017, which has been exceeded. 

 
76 The in-year collection rates in quarter two for the last three years, including 

the current year, are shown below:   
 

Billing year Position at 30 
September 

Each Year % 

2017/18 59.64 

2016/17 58.42 

2015/16 58.65 

 

Page 232



77 In year performance to 30 September shows a collection rate of 59.64%, 
which is above the target by 1.22 percentage points.  The current overall 
collection rate for 2016/17 business rate liabilities is now 98.93% (compared 
to 97.40% at 31 March 2017) and for 2015/16 business rate liabilities is now 
99.44% (compared to 97.20% at 31 March 2016).  The Council continues to 
recover Business Rates from earlier years and currently, the collection rate for 
all years excluding the current year is 99.32% which is line with our medium 
term financial plan forecasts.   

Section 31 Grant - Small Business Rate Relief 

78 Small Business Ratepayers with properties with rateable values under 
£15,000 will now benefit from relief on their rates payable.  The Government 
has awarded local authorities a special ‘Section 31’ grant to cover their share 
of the shortfall in business rates that these small business ratepayers would 
have paid had the relief scheme not been in place. 

79 Small Business Ratepayers with properties with rateable values up to £12,000 
are now being granted full relief, and properties with rateable values between 
£12,000 and £15,000 have a tapered relief applied to them ranging from 
100% down to 0%. The Government have indicated Durham County Council 
will be refunded for any retained rates foregone due to change of the 
threshold arrangements following the 2017/18 NNDR Revaluation, and this 
has been built into the forecast.  

80 The Government has agreed to pay Section 31 grant for any additional Small 
Business Rate Relief in respect of business rates bills and adjustments 
thereof relating to the period commencing 1 April 2013.  Any adjustments that 
relate to bills for years prior to this will be dealt with as part of the normal Rate 
Retention shares.  At 30 September 2017, the gross Small Business Relief 
awarded against 2017/18 Business Rates bills and adjustments to 2016/17, 
2015/16, 2014/15 and 2013/14 bills is £13.527 million, and the Council will 
receive £4.197 million in Section 31 Grant, including the capping adjustment 
and threshold change adjustments, in this regard. 
 

Other Section 31 Grants 

81 In the Autumn Statements of 2013, 2014 and 2015, additional Business Rate 
Reliefs have been announced for each following financial year for which 
Section 31 Grants would be payable. These included reliefs for properties 
empty from new, reoccupation of long-term empty properties and an 
additional relief for small shops. Durham County Council will be recompensed 
for any retained rates foregone because of reliefs given.   

82 In the Autumn Statement 2016 and the Spring Budget 2017, following 
consultation on the 2017/18 NNDR revaluation, further additional Business 
Rate Relief Schemes have been announced which Section 31 Grants would 
be payable from April 2017. These further relief schemes include Rural Rate 
Relief and Local Newspaper Reliefs in the Autumn Statement, followed by 
Supporting Small Business, Local Discretionary Relief Scheme and Pub 
Relief in the Spring Budget. Funding for these schemes will be provided 
through Section 31 grants. 

 

Page 233



83 Despite the delay in Government releasing details of these schemes, Cabinet 
approved the Councils Local Discretionary Rate Relief Scheme in July and 
the necessary software amendments have been made to enable all three 
schemes to be implemented. By 30 September, all businesses who have 
been identified as being potentially eligible had either had the relief applied, 
where it was clear that State Aid rules would be complied with, or asked to 
apply for the award by confirming that the award would not result in them 
breaching State Aid rules.  

84 When assessing estimated outturn income from Business Rates, due regard 
must also be given on the effect that changes in estimated reliefs will have on 
the Section 31 grants.  At 30 September 2017, the increase in Durham 
County Council’s Section 31 Grants (including Small Business Rate Relief) 
was £0.461 million.  

85 Whilst the increase in Section 31 grants is accounted for in 2016/17, the 
surplus on Business Rates retention is accounted for in 2017/18. 

Recommendations and Reasons 

86 It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(a) note the Council’s overall financial position for 2017/18; 

(b) agree the proposed ‘sums outside the cash limit’ for approval; 

(c) agree the revenue and capital budget adjustments; 

(d) note the forecast use of Earmarked Reserves; 

(e) note the forecast end of year position for the Cash Limit and General 
Reserves; 

(f) note the position on the Capital Programme and the Collection Funds 
in respect of Council Tax and Business Rates. 

Background Papers 

 County Council – 22 February 2017 – Medium Term Financial Plan 
2017/18 to 2019/20 and Revenue and Capital Budget 2017/18. 

 Cabinet – 12 July 2017 - 2016/17 Final Outturn for General Fund and 
Collection Fund. 

 Cabinet – 13 September 2017 - Forecast of Revenue and Capital 
Outturn 2017/18 – Period to 30 September 2017. 

Contact:  Jeff Garfoot                        Tel: 03000 261946 
                      Paul Darby                         Tel:    03000 261930 

  

Page 234



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Finance -  

The report details the 2017/18 forecast of outturn position for Revenue and Capital 
and details the forecast movement on Reserves. 

 
Staffing -  

None 

 
Risk -  

The figures contained within this report have been extracted from the General 
Ledger, and have been scrutinised and supplemented with information supplied by 
the Service Management Teams and budget holders.  The projected outturn has 
been produced taking into consideration spend to date, trend data and market 
intelligence, and includes an element of prudence.  This, together with the 
information supplied by Service Management Teams and budget holders, helps to 
mitigate the risks associated with achievement of the forecast outturn position. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - 

None 

 
Accommodation -  

None 

 
Crime and Disorder -  

None 

 
Human Rights -  

None 

 
Consultation -  

None 

 
Procurement -  

None 

 
Disability Issues -  

None 

 
Legal Implications -  

The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of the 
Councils Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. This report shows the 
forecast spend against budgets agreed by Council in February 2017 in relation to the 
2017/18 financial year. The forecasts contained within this report have been 
prepared in accordance with standard accounting policies and procedures. 

Page 235



 

 

Appendix 2:  Revenue Summary 2017/18 

 

 

Original 

Budget 

2017/18

Revised 

Budget

Proposed 

Budget 

Revisions

Cash Limit 

Reserve

Contribution to 

/ Use of 

Earmarked 

Reserves

Budget - 

incorporating 

adjustments

Service 

Groupings 

Forecast of 

Outturn

Forecasted 

Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adult and Health Services 151,581 144,834 -101 0 -12,385 132,348 129,714 -2,634

Children and Young People's Services 98,963 115,599 202 0 40 115,841 119,753 3,912

Regeneration and Local Services 126,024 129,383 0 349 -10 129,722 128,739 -983

Resources 16,628 19,200 -110 0 206 19,296 18,537 -759

Transformation and Partnerships 8,716 11,715 2 0 51 11,768 12,063 295

Cash Limit Position 401,912 420,731 -7 349 -12,098 408,975 408,806 -169

Contingencies 5,422 4,694 7 0 4,701 4,701 0

Corporate Costs 3,990 4,095 0 0 0 4,095 3,824 -271

NET COST OF SERVICES 411,324 429,520 0 349 -12,098 417,771 417,331 -440

Capital charges -57,113 -57,113 -57,113 -57,113 0

Interest and Investment income -1,700 -1,700 -1,700 -2,320 -620

Interest payable and similar charges 38,108 38,587 38,587 38,337 -250

Levies 15,979 15,979 15,979 15,979 0

Net Expenditure 406,598 425,273 0 349 -12,098 413,524 412,214 -1,310

Funded By:

Council tax -195,706 -195,706 -195,706 -195,706 0

Use of earmarked reserves -18,185 -38,184 14,098 -24,086 -24,086 0

Estimated net surplus on Collection Fund -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 0

Start up Funding Assessment -172,364 -172,364 -172,364 -172,364 0

New Homes Bonus -8,882 -8,882 -8,882 -8,883 -1

New Homes Bonus - Re-imbursement -267 -267 -267 -283 -16

Section 31 Grant -5,875 -5,875 -5,875 -6,336 -461

Education Services Grant -1,500 -1,500 -1,500 -1,516 -16

Forecast contribution to/from(-) Cash Limit Reserve -819 505 -349 156 325 169

Forecast contribution to/from (-) General Reserves 0 0 -2,000 -2,000 -365 1,635

 

TOTAL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 236



 

 

 

Appendix 3:  Revenue Summary by Expenditure / Income for the period ended 31 March 2018 

 

 
 

Revised 

Budget

Proposed 

Budget 

Revisions 

Agreed 

Budget

Corporate 

Costs

Sums 

Outside 

the Cash 

Limit

Cash Limit 

Reserve

Contribution to / 

Use of 

Earmarked 

Reserves

Revised 

Service 

Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Employees 501,630 525,166 1,525 526,691 521,326 721 49 0 -921 521,175 -5,516 3

Premises 51,282 52,511 318 52,829 53,539 0 -14 -10 -306 53,209 380 0

Transport 41,578 40,971 13 40,984 40,960 0 1 0 -2 40,959 -25 0

Supplies & Services 117,755 121,696 304 122,000 120,562 1,161 36 -239 -112 121,408 -592 -225 

Agency & Contracted 321,720 321,610 14,029 335,639 333,005 2,280 4 0 13,233 348,522 12,883 0

Transfer Payments 208,855 190,759 27,203 217,962 217,730 0 0 0 28 217,758 -204 0

Central Costs 89,345 105,083 5,434 110,517 111,706 110 0 0 -149 111,667 1,150 0

DRF 710 933 33 966 1,412 0 0 0 -48 1,364 398 0

Other 0 0 0 0 79 0 0 -100 100 79 79 0

Capital Charges 57,113 57,113 0 57,113 57,113 0 0 0 0 57,113 0 0

GROSS EXPENDITURE 1,389,988 1,415,842 48,859 1,464,701 1,457,432 4,272 76 -349 11,823 1,473,254 8,553 -222 

Income

Government Grants 568,850 578,423 47,695 626,118 626,735 249 0 0 -177 626,807 -689 0

Other Grants and Contributions 75,964 74,583 -18 74,565 76,828 0 11 0 32 76,871 -2,306 0

Sales 9,308 8,450 -411 8,039 7,640 200 0 0 0 7,840 199 -50 

Fees and Charges 107,513 110,020 327 110,347 109,963 -1 0 0 -110 109,852 495 1

Rents 7,774 7,896 216 8,112 8,386 0 0 0 0 8,386 -274 0

Recharges To Other Services 205,043 204,942 507 205,449 211,542 0 0 0 0 211,542 -6,093 0

Other 9,634 6,702 485 7,187 7,532 0 0 0 -20 7,512 -325 0

Total Income 984,086 991,016 48,801 1,039,817 1,048,626 448 11 0 -275 1,048,810 -8,993 -49 

NET EXPENDITURE 405,902 424,826 58 424,884 408,806 3,824 65 -349 12,098 424,444 -440 -271 

Forecasted 

Variance 

(including 

Corporate 

Costs)

                         

Original 

Budget 

2017/18

Service 

Groupings 

Forecast of 

Outturn

Forecasted 

Variance - 

Corporate 

Costs

P
age 237



 

 

Appendix 4:  Earmarked Reserves Position as at 30 September 2017 

 

 

EARMARKED RESERVES AND CASH LIMIT RESERVES SERVICE 

GROUPING

2016/17 

CLOSING 

BALANCE

USE OF 

RESERVES 

CONTRIBUTION 

TO RESERVES 

TRANSFERS 

BETWEEN 

RESERVES

TOTAL 

MOVEMENT ON 

RESERVES

2017/18 

CLOSING 

BALANCE AS 

AT 30 SEPT 

2017

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1 T&P AAP/Members Reserve T&P -2,482 870 0 0 870 -1,612

2 T&P Grant Reserve T&P -1,172 86 0 -60 26 -1,146

3 T&P Operational Reserve T&P -890 156 -9 -147 0 -890

4 T&P Transformation Reserve T&P 0 0 -2,000 0 -2,000 -2,000

5 Social Care Reserve AHS -6,337 410 -13,185 60 -12,715 -19,052

6 Public Health Reserve AHS -3,436 3,420 -1,161 0 2,259 -1,177

7 Env. Health and Consumer Protection Reserve AHS -708 61 0 0 61 -647

8 Children's Services Reserve CYPS -4,985 2,386 -250 1,819 3,955 -1,030

9 Continuing Professional Development Reserve CYPS -1,186 0 -74 0 -74 -1,260

10 Education Reserve CYPS -9,044 1,095 0 0 1,095 -7,949

11 Neighbourhoods AAP Reserve REAL -45 0 0 0 0 -45

12 Direct Services Reserve REAL -2,605 278 -684 0 -406 -3,011

13 Culture and Sport Reserve REAL -2,531 374 0 0 374 -2,157

14 Strategic Waste Reserve REAL -136 0 0 136 136 0

15 Technical Services Reserve REAL -4,631 257 0 -102 155 -4,476

16 Business Growth Fund Reserve REAL -764 718 -71 0 647 -117

17 Economic Development Reserve REAL -2,164 629 0 0 629 -1,535

18 Planning Reserve REAL -1,516 309 0 0 309 -1,207

19 North Pennines AONB Partnership Reserve REAL -328 0 0 0 0 -328

20 Employability and Training Reserve REAL -125 114 0 0 114 -11

21 REAL Match Fund Progamme Reserve REAL -1,735 36 0 0 36 -1,699

22 Housing Regeneration Reserve REAL -1,091 71 0 0 71 -1,020

23 Housing Solutions Reserve REAL -1,327 172 -169 -100 -97 -1,424

24 Restructure Reserve REAL -114 0 0 0 0 -114

25 Transport Reserve REAL -207 0 0 0 0 -207

26 Funding and Programmes Management Reserve REAL -390 24 0 0 24 -366

27 Customer Services Reserve Resources -210 0 0 -136 -136 -346

28 Resources Corporate Reserve Resources -978 0 0 0 0 -978

29 Resources DWP Grant Reserve Resources -1,681 110 -235 0 -125 -1,806

30 Resources System Development Reserve Resources -725 172 0 0 172 -553

31 Resources Housing Benefit Subsidy Reserve Resources -433 0 0 0 0 -433

32 Resources Revenue and Benefits Reserve Resources -300 0 -200 0 -200 -500

33 Resources Legal Expenses Reserve Resources -200 0 0 0 0 -200

34 Resources Legal Services Reserve Resources -154 0 0 0 0 -154

35 Resources Elections Reserve Resources -1,010 564 0 0 564 -446

36 Resources ICT Reserves Resources -959 421 0 0 421 -538

37 Human Resources Reserve Resources -97 0 0 0 0 -97

38 Equal Pay Reserve Corporate Fin -20,140 306 0 203 509 -19,631

39 Insurance Reserve Corporate Fin -9,991 0 0 0 0 -9,991

40 Performance Reward Grant Reserve Corporate Fin -638 400 0 0 400 -238

41 MTFP Redundancy and Early Retirement Reserve Corporate Fin -12,822 2,778 0 0 2,778 -10,044

42 Office Accommodation Project Support Reserve Corporate Fin -77 0 0 0 0 -77

43 Budget Support Reserve Corporate Fin -42,622 12,622 0 0 12,622 -30,000

44 Office Accommodation Capital Reserve Corporate Fin -40,645 0 0 0 0 -40,645

45 Inspire Programme Reserve Corporate Fin -2,664 1,247 0 0 1,247 -1,417

Total Earmarked Reserves -186,295 30,086 -18,038 1,673 13,721 -172,574

Cash Limit Reserves

46 Adult and Health Services -5,512 0 -2,634 -75 -2,709 -8,221

47 Children and Young People's Services -3,309 819 3,912 -1,819 2,912 -397

48 Regeneration and Local Services -6,231 553 -983 614 184 -6,047

49 Resources -1,023 145 -759 -66 -680 -1,703

50 Transformation and Partnerships -179 0 295 -327 -32 -211

Total Cash Limit Reserves -16,254 1,517 -169 -1,673 -325 -16,579

Total Council Reserves -202,549 31,603 -18,207 0 13,396 -189,153

Schools' Balances

Sch 1 Schools' Revenue Balance CYPS -19,836 9,301 0 0 9,301 -10,535

Sch 2 DSG Reserve CYPS -11,159 1,066 0 0 1,066 -10,093

Total Schools and DSG Reserve -30,995 10,367 0 0 10,367 -20,628

Page 238



Purpose of the Report

1 The purpose of this report is to provide information on the treasury 
management mid-year position for 2017/18 and seek approval of a revision to 
the Council’s Investment Strategy.

Background

2 Treasury management is defined as ‘the management of the local authority’s 
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions, the effective control of the risks associated with those activities 
and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks’.

3 The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash 
raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury 
management operation is to ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, with 
surplus monies being invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate 
liquidity initially before considering optimising investment return.

4 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding 
of the Council’s capital programme. The capital programme provides a guide 
to the borrowing need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow 
planning to ensure the Council can meet its capital spending requirements. 
The management of longer term cash may involve arranging long or short 
term loans, utilising longer term cash flow surpluses and on occasion any debt 
previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives. 

5 The Council adopts the latest CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management (the Code) which is regarded as best practice in ensuring 
adequate monitoring of the Council’s capital expenditure plans and its 
Prudential Indicators (PIs). This requires that Members agree the following 
reports, as a minimum:

(a) an annual Treasury Management Strategy in advance of the year 
(reported to the County Council on 22 February 2017 in respect of the 
2017/18 financial year);

Cabinet

15 November 2017

Mid-Year Review Report on Treasury 
Management for the period to 
30 September 2017 

Report of Corporate Management Team
John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources
Councillor Alan Napier, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance 

Page 239

Agenda Item 8



(b) an annual review following the end of the year describing the activity 
compared to the strategy (reported to the County Council on 20 
September 2017 in respect of the 2016/17 financial year);

(c) a mid-year Treasury Management Review Report (this report covering 
6 months of the 2017/18 financial year).

6 This mid-year report has been prepared in accordance with the Code and 
includes: 

(a) a review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy;

(b) a review of the Council’s capital expenditure (prudential indicators);

(c) a review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2017/18;

(d) a review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2017/18;

(e) a review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 
2017/18.

Treasury Management Statement and Investment Strategy Update

7 The Annual Treasury Management Statement for 2017/18 was approved by 
the Council on 22 February 2017.

8 It is recommended that revisions be made to the Investment Strategy. The 
proposed changes and rationale are detailed in paragraphs 27 to 28.

Capital Expenditure

9 The following table shows the revised estimates for capital expenditure in 
2017/18 and the changes since the capital programme was agreed by 
Council.

Capital Expenditure by Service

2017/18
Estimate 

agreed by 
Council in 
Feb 2017 
(£ million)

2017/18
Approved 
Revisions 

(£ million)

2017/18
Revised
Estimate 

(£ million)
Adults and Health 0.526 (0.206) 0.320
Children and Young People’s Service 12.007 16.981 28.988
Regeneration and Local Services 83.609 6.470 90.079
Resources 10.435 6.393 16.828
Transformation and Partnerships 3.167 1.343 4.510

Total Capital Expenditure by Service 109.744 30.981 140.725

Page 240



10 Taking into account re-profiling from the 2016/17 capital programme, 
additional approved expenditure funded from grants, capital receipts and 
reserves and re-profiling into future years, the revised capital expenditure 
budget for the General Fund is £140.725 million. 

11 In addition to the capital expenditure, shown in the table above, a leasing 
budget of £10.207 million was agreed by Full Council in February 2017, which 
will be revised to £8.949 million to reflect re-profiling from 2017/18 into future 
years.

12 Further details on the capital programme can be found in the 15 November 
2017 Cabinet report ‘Quarter 2 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 
2017/18 for the General Fund – Period to 30 September 2017’.

 Financing of Capital Expenditure

13 The following table draws together the capital expenditure plans, highlighting 
the expected financing arrangements in 2017/18, to determine the underlying 
borrowing need.  

Capital Expenditure
2017/18
Original
Estimate
(£ million)

2017/18
Revised
Estimate
(£ million)

Capital Expenditure by Service 109.744 140.725
Leasing 10.207 8.949
Financed by:

Capital receipts 17.700 17.832
Capital grants 44.726 55.610
Revenue and Reserves 4.935 4.241
Leasing financing 10.207 8.949

Total Financing 77.568 86.632
Borrowing Need 42.383 63.042

14 Following approval of the 2017/18 capital programme in February 2017, 
additional capital grants have been received and additional earmarked capital 
receipts and revenue and reserves have been allocated to finance the capital 
programme.

15 As a result of the changes to the capital budget the underlying borrowing 
requirement has been revised upwards by £20.659 million to £63.042 million. 
The borrowing need increases the underlying indebtedness of the Council by 
way of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).  This will be reduced in part 
by revenue charges for the repayment of debt which is known as the Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP).

Page 241



Capital Financing Requirement

16 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) shows the council’s underlying 
need to borrow for capital purposes. It is the total historical outstanding capital 
expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital 
resource.  The CFR includes any other long term liabilities *e.g. PFI schemes 
and finance leases. Whilst these increase the CFR these investments are 
separately financed and do not require additional borrowing.

17 The objective is to keep external debt within sustainable and prudent limits 
and ensure that in the medium term, debt is only used for a capital purpose. 
This is undertaken by a comparison of the gross debt with the CFR. To 
ensure that, over the medium term, gross borrowing will only be for a capital 
purpose, borrowing should not, except in the short-term, exceed the CFR for 
the previous year plus the cumulative increases in CFR for 2017/18 to 
2019/20. The Council has complied with this requirement as shown in the 
following table, which shows gross borrowing is less than the CFR:

Position at 
1 Apr 2017
(£ million)

Position at 
30 Sep 2017
(£ million)

Gross Borrowing* 303.510 303.500
CFR as at 1.4.17 431.641 431.641
Increase in CFR 2017/18 47.173 47.173
Increase in CFR 2018/19 10.841 10.841
Increase in CFR 2019/20 5.114 5.114
CFR comparator for gross borrowing 494.769 494.769
*includes PFI and finance lease liabilities on balance sheet

18 The revised forecast CFR position for the end of 2017/18 is £478.814 million, 
which compares with the original estimate of £501.181 million. The difference 
is due to reprofiling of the capital programme into future years and use of 
additional resources to finance the capital programme such as grants, 
contributions and revenue contributions. 

19 The Authorised Limit is the council’s “affordable borrowing limit” required by 
section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 2003. This represents the limit 
beyond which borrowing / external debt is prohibited. The limit reflects the 
level of borrowing which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short 
term, but is not sustainable.

20 The Operational Boundary is the level of borrowing that the Council could 
reach during the year. It is not a limit and actual borrowing could vary around 
this boundary for short times during the year. It acts as an indicator to ensure 
that the Council’s Authorised Limit is not breached. The table below shows 
that borrowing has remained within the Authorised Limit and Operational 
Boundary during 2017/18.

Page 242



*includes PFI and finance lease liabilities on balance sheet

Borrowing Strategy

21 The CFR indicates the requirement for the Council to borrow to support its 
capital activities. This borrowing can be in the form of external sources (e.g. 
PWLB) or internal resources (e.g. use of reserves and working capital).

22 The Corporate Director of Resources, under delegated powers, will adopt the 
most appropriate form of borrowing depending on the prevailing interest rates 
at the time. 

23 Due to the overall financial position of the Council, no new borrowing has 
been raised during the first six months of 2017/18. 

24 The overall borrowing position at 30 September 2017 was £255.623 million 
(excluding PFI and finance lease liabilities). There are three debt related 
treasury activity limits which are designed to manage risk and reduce impact 
of adverse movement in interest rates. These are the upper limit for both fixed 
and variable interest rate exposure and the maturity structure of fixed interest 
rate borrowing. The position at the half-year stage compared with the 
parameters set out in the 2017/18 strategy is shown below.

Upper 
Limits

Position at 30 
September 

2017
1 Upper limit for FIXED interest rate 

exposure 100% 90.13%
2 Upper limit for VARIABLE interest 
rate exposure 70% 9.87%
3 Maturity structure of FIXED interest rate borrowing
less than 1 year 20% 0%
between 1 and 2 years 40% 4%
between 2 and 5 years 60% 9%
between 5 and 10 years 80% 26%
10 years or more 100% 61%

2017/18
Approved 

Limit
(£ million)

Authorised Limit 555.000

Operational Boundary 502.000

Maximum gross borrowing position during 2017/18* 303.510

Actual gross borrowing position as at 30 September 2017 303.500

Page 243



Debt Rescheduling

25 Debt rescheduling opportunities are very limited in the current economic 
climate given the consequent structure of interest rates and following the 
increase in the margin added to gilt yields which has impacted PWLB new 
borrowing rates since October 2010. Therefore no debt rescheduling has 
been undertaken this year.

Investment Portfolio

26 In accordance with the Code, it is the Council’s priority to ensure security of 
capital and liquidity and to obtain an appropriate level of return which is 
consistent with the Council’s risk appetite.

27 It is proposed to amend the Investment Strategy to:

(a) facilitate a more balanced approach to investing by diversifying the 
Council’s investment portfolio, spreading the investment risk and 
maximising investment returns (whilst having regard to security and 
liquidity);

(b) invest in businesses within County Durham in order to encourage 
regeneration and economic development in the area.

28 The proposed changes are to:
 
(a) increase the monetary limit for equity shareholdings up to £30 million in 

total (from £20 million);
 

(b) £15 million in an individual business (from £11 million);

(c) allow investment in property funds of not more than £50 million in total 
and £25 million in an individual fund (from £10 million and £5 million 
respectively).

29 Any new investments will only be agreed after appropriate due diligence has 
been carried out.

30 A revised list of investments which the Council will be permitted to use, if 
Members are in agreement, is attached as Appendix 2.

31 Members are recommended to approve the aforementioned revisions to the 
Investment Strategy for 2017/18.

32 The following table details the Council’s equity shareholdings as at 31 March 
2017 and 30 September 2017.

Page 244



31 Mar 2017 30 Sep 2017
Company

£ million £ million

Atom Bank 0.152 0.152
Chapter Homes 1.715 1.715

Durham County Cricket Club 0.000 3.740
Forrest Park 1.000 1.000

Newcastle International Airport Ltd 10.558 10.558
Polyphotonix 0.300 0.300

Total 13.725 17.465

33 The original budgeted investment return for investment income 2017/18 was 
£1.700 million, however it is now expected that this will be exceeded by 
around £0.620 million. This is mainly due to higher than forecast level of 
returns on short term investments and council commercial activities.

Investment Risk Benchmarking

34 All of the Council’s investment activity has remained within the benchmarks 
for managing investment risk which were included in the Annual Treasury 
Management Strategy. 

35 The following table compares the actual position for the first six months of 
2017/18 against the previously agreed benchmarks.

Investment 
Risk

Measured by Benchmark Actual position
30 September 

2017
Security % of historic risk 

of default
0.08% 0.012%

Liquidity Weighted 
average life to 

maturity

6 months (183 days) 
average

9 months (274 days) 
maximum

224 days average

Yield Internal returns 
above the 7 day 

LIBID rate

0.112% 0.53%

 
Investment Counterparty Criteria

36 The current investment counterparty criteria selection as approved in the 
Annual Treasury Management Strategy is meeting the requirements of the 
treasury management function.
  

37 At 30 September 2017 the Council held investments, with a maturity of no 
longer than one year, totalling £149.647 million. The following table provides a 
breakdown of the type of financial institution within which these investments 
were held at 30 September 2017, split by the maturity period.

Page 245



0-3 
months

3-6 
months

6-12 
monthsSector

£m £m £m
Banks 29.040 59.876 29.938
Building Societies 25.661
Central 
Government/Local 
Authorities

5.132

Local Authorities
Money Market Funds
TOTAL 34.172 59.876 55.599

Icelandic Bank Deposits

38 Prior to Local Government Review, one former District Council had £7 million 
deposited across the Icelandic banks Glitnir Bank hf (£4 million), Landsbanki 
(£2 million) and Kaupthing Singer and Friedlander Ltd (£1 million), which all 
collapsed financially in October 2008. The County Council inherited this 
position in April 2009.

39 The only outstanding balance as at 31 March 2017 is in relation to the 
investment with Kaupthing Singer and Friedlander Ltd (KSF). All monies with 
KSF are currently subject to the respective administration and receivership 
processes. As at 30 September 2017, 85.15% of the outstanding balance has 
been repaid to the Council; 86.25%-87.25% recovery is ultimately anticipated.

Recommendations and Reasons

40 It is recommended that Cabinet:

(a) approve the proposed changes to the Treasury Management Strategy 
for 2017/18;

(b) note the contents of the mid-year review report and agree to report 
further to Full Council.

Background papers

 22 February 2017 – County Council – Appendix 12: Durham County Council 
Annual Treasury Management Strategy of the Medium Term Financial Plan, 
2017/18 – 2019/20 and Revenue and Capital Budget 2017/18.

 County Council – 20 September 2017 – Treasury Management Outturn 
2016/17.

Contact: Jeff Garfoot         Tel: 03000 261946
                      Azhar Rafiq         Tel:                  03000 263480

Page 246



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance -

Details of the overall financing of the Council’s anticipated capital expenditure, along 
with forecast borrowing and investment income returns are provided in the report. 

Staffing –

None

Risk –

None

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty –

None

Accommodation -

None

Crime and Disorder -

None

Human Rights -

None

Consultation -

None

Procurement -

None

Disability issues -

None

Legal Implications –

None

Page 247



Appendix 2:  Revised List of Investment Instruments for use in 2017/18

Specified Investments

These investments are sterling investments of not more than one year maturity, or 
those which could be for a longer period but where the Council has the right to be 
repaid within 12 months if it wishes. These are considered low risk assets where the 
possibility of loss of principal or investment income is small. These would include 
sterling investments which would not be defined as capital expenditure with:

 The UK Government (such as the Debt Management Account deposit 
facility);

 UK treasury bills or a gilt with less than one year to maturity;
 Term deposits with UK banks and building societies;
 A local authority, parish council or community council;
 Certificates of Deposit;
 Pooled investment vehicles (such as money market funds) that have been 

awarded a high credit rating by a credit rating agency.
 

Non-specified Investments 

These are investments which do not meet the specified criteria outlined above. The 
Council is required to examine non-specified investments in more detail. The 
identification and rationale supporting the selection of these other investments and 
the maximum limits to be applied are set out below.  

Non-specified investments would include any sterling investments in the following:

 Gilt edged securities with a maturity of greater than one year. 
These are Government bonds and so provide the highest security of 
interest and the repayment of principal on maturity. 

 The Council’s own banker if it fails to meet the basic credit criteria.  
In this instance balances will be minimised as far as is possible.

 Equity shareholding in businesses of not more than £30 million in total, and 
£15 million in any one company.
This will be after undertaking significant due diligence checks only. It will 
facilitate a more balanced approach to investing by diversifying the 
investment portfolio and reducing concentration risk.

 Local businesses, in order to encourage regeneration and economic 
development in the area.
Any new investments will only be agreed after significant due diligence 
checks have been carried out.

 Property funds of not more than £50 million in total and £25 million in an 
individual fund.

Page 248



Cabinet

15 November 2017

Review of humanitarian support in 
County Durham

Report of Corporate Management Team
Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships
Margaret Whellans, Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services
Councillor Joy Allen, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Transformation

Purpose of the Report
1 This report:

(a) outlines the findings of the evaluation of the first year of delivering 
resettlement support under the Syrian Vulnerable Persons 
Resettlement Scheme (SVPRS) and considers future support for the 
programme;

(b) updates Members on other humanitarian support schemes in the 
county, specifically the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme 
and initiatives to assist unaccompanied asylum-seeking children;

(c) informs Members about the government’s national scheme for 
accommodating asylum-seekers and considers approaches received 
from the Home Office to encourage County Durham to participate in 
asylum-seeker dispersal.

Background
2 On 16 December 2015, Cabinet considered a report on the government’s 

response to the Syrian refugee crisis and the development of the Durham 
Humanitarian Support Partnership.  The partnership includes representation 
from Clinical Commissioning Groups, County Durham Housing Forum, the 
Voluntary and Community Sector, North East Regional Faiths Network and 
North East Churches Acting Together.

3 The partnership recommended a number of key principles for the resettlement 
of families: 

(a) Resettling arrivals in the County’s main towns/areas, avoiding isolation 
in smaller villages and settlements.  

(b) Offering support to family groups, who are more likely to assist one 
another and settle within County Durham’s communities.

Page 249

Agenda Item 9



(c) Resettling arrivals in clusters of small family groups (approximately 25 
people), which would hopefully offer a self-supporting mechanism 
within communities.

4 In line with the partnership’s recommendations, Cabinet agreed to participate 
in the Syrian Vulnerable Persons Relocation Scheme, offering to support 
around 200 vulnerable people in family groups, over the duration of the 
scheme to May 2020.

5 Cabinet agreed to evaluate the effectiveness of the programme within 12 
months of the arrival of the first group of refugees in order to determine if the 
number of Syrian refugees supported to settle in the county could be 
increased.

6 It was also agreed that the outcome of the review would be used to inform 
Durham’s participation in wider programmes to support asylum-seekers.

7 Since the report to Cabinet, the council has worked with the humanitarian 
support partnership to support three phases of resettlement, commencing in 
May 2016.

8 To date, 92 vulnerable people have been helped to settle in the county.  
Arrangements are currently being made for a fourth phase, which will see a 
further six families supported to lead new lives in the county.  This would bring 
the total number of people supported to approximately 120.

Evaluation
9 In line with Cabinet’s decision, and in conjunction with partner organisations in 

the humanitarian support partnership, officers have undertaken a review of 
the first phases of the resettlement scheme.

10 The evaluation report, which is attached as Appendix 2, also considered other 
support schemes which the council and its partners have been asked to 
consider by government.

11 The principal findings and conclusions from the review in relation to the 
SVPRS are:

(a) Council services have been effectively co-ordinated to settle refugees 
into their new homes and to support their integration into the Durham 
community.

(b) This has been matched by outstanding support from external partners 
including social housing providers, the voluntary and community sector, 
faith groups, Department for Work and Pensions, health and police.

(c) Of particular note has been the degree of voluntary support from local 
voluntary and community sector and church organisations, as well as 
Durham University (including the University’s Islamic Society), who 
have provided a significant range of goods for the family homes, 

Page 250



hosted and contributed to welcome events, provided interpreters, 
organised conversation groups and befriending opportunities.

(d) Neighbours and local communities have extended a warm welcome to 
the families resettled in the county.  Unfortunately, some families have 
experienced a few incidents of low-level anti-social behaviour.  These 
have been dealt with by the local police, housing providers and council 
services.

(e) The first three phases funded by the SVPRS have worked well, with 
the vulnerable people assisted settling well in the county and reporting 
a very high degree of satisfaction and appreciation for the help and 
assistance provided.

(f) Despite its lack of previous experience, the council is seen as a model 
of best practice regionally in resettling families under the Syrian 
Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme.

(g) Families stated that all parts of the support provided had worked really 
well, including pre and post-arrival organisation and a smooth settling 
in process.  Refugees advised they were satisfied with the welcome 
information pack (in English and Arabic) provided on arrival and could 
not offer suggestions for improvement.  All families reported that they 
were “very satisfied” with the overall service provided by the council.

(h) Families said that the council had done everything possible to support 
them, they felt welcome within County Durham, the welcome pack 
provided was very useful, neighbours were extremely friendly and 
helpful and the help and assistance of support workers was greatly 
valued.

(i) Review discussions amongst partner organisations were extremely 
positive and complimentary about the success of the scheme and 
partners were keen to build on this for future phases/initiatives.

(j) Partners felt that the model adopted in County Durham, focusing on the 
main towns assessed as suitable for the resettlement of small clusters 
of family groups, was appropriate.

(k) It was suggested that for future phases, the following should also be 
considered:

(i) Where appropriate, it might be preferable to locate future 
arrivals within a town or area where Syrian families had 
previously resettled and therefore a presence in the community 
was established rather than focusing on new resettlement 
areas for each phase.

(ii) Some of the larger villages and areas with good access and 
transport links to the City centre would be appropriate to 
consider, in consultation with partners to confirm suitability.

Page 251



(iii) There was strong support for partnerships with social landlords 
as the preferred approach.  The experience of phase one and 
two reinforced the significant amount of time and resource 
required to identify suitable properties in appropriate areas, 
highlighting the important role of the housing provider in 
facilitating housing adaptations and the additional support that 
social landlords provide for tenants, including integration, 
support in response to problems etc.  The partnership working 
with social landlords had been significant in contributing to the 
successful resettlement of families in the county.

Other humanitarian support schemes
12 The evaluation also considered Durham’s experience of other humanitarian 

support schemes, namely the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme 
and the Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children National Transfer Scheme.

13 Partners agreed to use a property secured for the SVPRS, to house a family 
under the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme (VCRS), on the basis 
that the scheme and the family assisted were similar to the SVPRS.

14 The National Transfer Scheme for Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children 
(UASC) seeks to disperse unaccompanied asylum-seeking children across 
the country, in order to relieve the pressure on local authorities at entry points 
to the country, most notably Kent.  When children arrive and seek asylum, 
they are treated as looked after children (LAC) and become the legal 
responsibility of the local authority.

15 The government is encouraging local authorities to accept UASC, which 
involves the local authority becoming legally responsible for the child at the 
point it accepts transfer from the entry point local authority.  Authorities 
receiving transferred children then have to meet statutory duties around 
assessment and placement as the child is recognised as looked after.

16 Support for schemes to assist unaccompanied asylum-seeking children is 
particularly challenging within the county, as a result of the significant 
demands on placement provision for children and young people in County 
Durham, at a time when the county has its highest level of looked after 
children.

17 Nevertheless, the county has endeavoured to offer support to initiatives to 
assist unaccompanied asylum-seeking children and presently is providing 
support to 10 young people/children, although this support is on the basis of 
ad hoc offers and not participation in the National Transfer Scheme.

18 At its meeting in January 2017, the humanitarian support partnership was 
provided with an update on the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme 
and initiatives to assist unaccompanied asylum-seeking children.

19 The partnership reiterated its commitment to focus on ensuring the effective 
delivery of humanitarian support schemes within the county and outlined its 

Page 252



support for the continuation of the planned and incremental approach to assist 
refugees successfully adopted to date.

20 The partnership agreed to support the consideration of assistance to refugees 
and asylum-seekers under the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme 
and the National Transfer Scheme for Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking 
Children, where this was appropriate, adequately funded and could be 
effectively delivered in the county with the resources available.

21 At a humanitarian support review meeting on 10 February 2017, which was 
held as part of the evaluation process, partners and services were updated on 
the government’s proposals to resettle up to 3,000 people from the Middle-
East and North Africa Region under the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement 
Scheme (VCRS).  The views of services and partners were invited to inform a 
response to the Home Office’s request for local authority pledges of support.

22 Concerns were expressed about the potential difficulties in supporting families 
under the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme, particularly focused 
on the health issues of children resettled under the scheme and the 
availability of appropriate health services and the significant pressure on 
special education places in Durham.

23 It was recommended that further consideration of support offered under this 
scheme would require considerable input and consideration from children’s 
services, health and education, including the involvement of special 
educational needs professionals where appropriate.

National Dispersal Scheme for Asylum-seekers
24 In the United Kingdom, a person is a refugee when they have their claim for 

asylum accepted by the government.  An asylum-seeker is a person who has 
left their country of origin and formally applied for asylum in another country, 
but whose application has not yet been concluded.  The majority of asylum-
seekers do not have the right to work in the United Kingdom and so must rely 
on state support.

25 Individuals seeking asylum who can prove they are destitute, are eligible for 
support from the Home Office.  Support can be financial (asylum-seekers are 
entitled to receive £36.95 a week) and in the form of accommodation whilst a 
person’s claim for asylum is being considered.

26 The government is encouraging greater dispersal of asylum-seekers across 
the country and since 2015 has been encouraging local authorities which do 
not currently accommodate asylum-seekers to do so.

27 The national dispersal scheme, unlike the SVPRS, does not provide funding 
for local authorities for asylum dispersal placements, as these are progressed 
through a contract arrangement between the Home Office and their 
contracted providers.

28 The Home Office has approached the council to discuss County Durham’s 
participation in schemes to widen asylum-seeker dispersal in the region and 

Page 253



meetings have taken place with the Home Office in summer 2016 and June 
2017.

29 The evaluation report considered the government scheme and partners’ views 
on whether Durham should participate.

30 Although the humanitarian support partnership has indicated in principle 
support to engage in programmes to support asylum-seekers, County Durham 
is the only local authority area in the North East not presently signed up to the 
national scheme to accommodate asylum-seekers.  However, a number of 
local authorities are not involved in the humanitarian support schemes in 
which Durham is participating.

31 In view of Durham’s lack of experience in resettling asylum-seekers, the 
humanitarian support partnership proposed that Durham should initially focus 
on helping to deliver the government’s commitment to resettle Syrian 
refugees, via the SVPRS.  It was agreed that a decision to take part should 
not be taken until the evaluation of the implementation of the SVPRS over a 
full year of operation was completed.

32 Earlier this year, the partnership reviewed its position in the light of the 
government’s latest calls for asylum-seeker dispersal and its experience of 
assisting Syrian refugees and unaccompanied asylum-seeking children.

33 The partnership expressed significant concerns about participation in the 
national dispersal scheme for asylum-seekers.

34 Partners were concerned about the practical delivery of the scheme in County 
Durham.  Issues raised included the demands on the housing service, 
particularly for single people; the demands on children’s services; the lack of 
infrastructure and support services in the county, including asylum-seeker 
support, legal assistance and English for Speakers of Other Languages 
(ESOL) provision; and the significant impact on the voluntary and community 
sector.

35 These concerns and others were raised with the Home Office, following the 
meeting in June 2017.  Whilst the Home Office has responded, a number of 
points have not been fully addressed.  The most crucial issues concern the 
number of asylum seekers accommodated in future years should the council 
take the decision to participate in the scheme, and the ability of the council to 
withdraw from the scheme.  

36 In its response the Home Office confirmed that it is content to establish a clear 
plan for year one asylum dispersal with the council at a pace and timescale 
that the local authority is comfortable with.  In terms of future growth, it also 
confirmed that this would not take place without discussion with the local 
authority in the first instance, involving the Strategic Migration Partnership, UK 
Visas and Immigration and G4S.

37 Whilst participation in the asylum seeker accommodation scheme is voluntary, 
local authorities are unable to subsequently withdraw from the scheme, as 

Page 254



this is likely to require the relocation of individuals from an area where they 
have settled and made links.  The council therefore sought an assurance that, 
if it was to participate in the scheme, it can cease at any time to accept 
additional numbers, should this be deemed necessary, whilst clarifying that 
we would not propose relocating asylum seekers who had already resettled in 
the county.  This would be in line with the recommendations of the House of 
Commons Home Affairs Committee for councils to do so where there are 
genuine concerns over issues such as the quality or concentration of 
accommodation, the capacity of support services and risks to social cohesion. 

38 In response, the Home Office confirmed that it would not normally agree to an 
area withdrawing from the scheme, although it would meet with the council to 
discuss any future concerns around asylum dispersal and numbers.  

Participation in future schemes
39 Whilst commending the work that had taken place to welcome vulnerable 

Syrian refugee families to the area, partners strongly expressed a view that it 
would be inappropriate to engage in the asylum accommodation scheme at a 
time when there were a number of issues with the scheme and the county 
would be unable to deliver the same level of planned co-ordination and 
support to asylum-seekers as that offered to refugees under the resettlement 
scheme.

40 The partnership supported the view that the county should provide its fair 
share of support to humanitarian initiatives by assisting additional families 
under the Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme, which allowed a 
co-ordinated, incremental approach to resettlement and provided a support 
structure to facilitate successful integration.

41 It is therefore suggested that the county should consider increasing the 
numbers resettled by 50 to 100 people, under schemes which are adequately 
resourced and where we can support arrivals, namely the Syrian Vulnerable 
Persons Resettlement Scheme, suitable cases under the Vulnerable 
Children’s Resettlement Scheme and, where possible, unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking children, if the level of care and support required are 
available.

Conclusions
42 The evaluation report paints a positive picture of Durham’s experience 

supporting Syrian refugee families, with council services, partner 
organisations and the voluntary and community sector working together very 
effectively to make a difference to extremely vulnerable people’s lives and 
local communities accepting and welcoming the families into their midst.  The 
council’s co-ordination role has been key in facilitating this approach 
throughout each phase of the scheme.

43 Partners are positive about what has been achieved through the co-ordinated 
and collaborative approach and the families assisted are very satisfied and 
appreciative of the assistance provided and the welcome they have received 
from support services and their local neighbours and communities.

Page 255



44 County Durham is presently contributing to the government’s humanitarian 
support effort under three separate programmes: the Syrian Vulnerable 
Persons Resettlement Programme, the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement 
Programme and schemes to assist unaccompanied asylum-seeking children.  
These are three of the four main asylum/refugee programmes established by 
the government.  Compared to national figures, the region is providing a key 
role in supporting the government’s humanitarian efforts.

45 Whilst the government has called on Durham to participate in another 
scheme, the scheme to disperse asylum-seekers, partners have expressed 
significant reservations about the nature of the scheme and Durham’s 
capacity and resources to provide the support and assistance required.

46 Partners are suggesting that the county should increase the numbers 
resettled by 50 to 100 people, under schemes which are adequately 
resourced and where we can support arrivals, namely the Syrian Vulnerable 
Persons Resettlement Scheme, suitable cases under the Vulnerable 
Children’s Resettlement Scheme and, where possible, unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking children, if the level of care and support required are 
available.

Recommendations and reasons
47 Cabinet is recommended to:

(a) note the contents of the evaluation report;

(b) commend the organisations and partners involved in resettling the 
Syrian refugee families for their effective approach;

(c) support the view of partners that the numbers resettled in the county 
could be increased by an additional 50 to 100 people, under 
appropriate schemes where the county has capacity and resources to 
do so, as outlined in paragraph 46;

(d) agree to delegate authority to progress Durham’s offer of support, as 
outlined in paragraph 47(c), to the Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Transformation;

(e) support the Durham Humanitarian Support Partnership’s view that the 
county should decline to participate in the National Dispersal Scheme 
for Asylum-seekers at this stage.

Background papers

Cabinet, 16 December 2015, Durham Humanitarian Support Partnership

• Contact: Gordon Elliott Tel: 03000 263605

Page 256



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – The government has provided funding for local authorities engaging with 
the Syrian Vulnerable Persons Relocation Scheme (SVPRS) and the Vulnerable 
Children’s Resettlement Scheme (VCRS).  This is provided, on a tapering basis, for 
the 5 years refugees are accommodated under the scheme.  Funding is also 
provided to local authorities supporting unaccompanied asylum-seeking children.  
Direct funding for local authorities is not allocated for the wider range of asylum-
seeker accommodation programmes operated by the government. 

Staffing – An element of the resources provided by government to support the 
resettlement schemes is being used to employ a team to assist refugees to settle in 
the County.

Risk – The Government has announced the contribution that will be made to 
councils taking part in the resettlement schemes, along with a commitment to meet 
full costs in year one. Government funding is also provided under the National 
Transfer Scheme for unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. There is a risk that 
the Government may change these funding arrangements and that the funding for 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children may be insufficient to meet the costs of 
care and placement provision.  There is also a risk that resettlement costs incurred in 
years two to five may not be fully covered by the tariff funding provided.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – There is a significant 
requirement for language support for refugees.  The vulnerable nature of refugees 
supported under the scheme will include a number of medical issues. The funding 
provided by the government is intended to meet these costs.

Accommodation – Close liaison with housing providers is central to successful 
implementation of the resettlement support scheme. This is ongoing and the initial 
response suggests the approach adopted has been effective.  It has also been 
necessary to accommodate the Refugee Support Team within the council’s estate.

Crime and Disorder – The Partnership involves input from the Police and they 
support the approach set out in this report. The Police will continue to be engaged in 
the implementation of a resettlement programme if approval is given for Durham’s 
continued participation.

Human Rights – Human Rights is a key driver for the government’s implementation 
of the Syrian Vulnerable Persons Relocation Scheme, the Vulnerable Children’s 
Resettlement Scheme and the National Transfer Scheme for Unaccompanied 
Asylum-seeking Children.

Consultation – Consultation with partners and neighbouring authorities is a key 
element of the approach set out in this report.

Procurement – None.

Page 257



Disability Issues – The SVPRS and the VCRS prioritises those in the greatest need 
who cannot be supported in the region and prioritises people requiring urgent 
medical treatment, survivors of torture and violence, and women and children at risk. 
There will be a need to ensure that accommodation meets the needs of the 
individuals relocated and links are made with health.

Legal Implications – The council will become legally responsible for all 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children supported under the National Transfer 
Scheme from the point transfer acceptance is confirmed under section 69 of the 
Immigration Act 2016.  As the receiving local authority, the council will then need to 
comply with its obligations under the Care Planning, Placement and Case Review 
(England) Regulations 2010.

Page 258

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/19/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/959/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/959/contents/made


1

Appendix 2

HUMANITARIAN SUPPORT IN COUNTY 
DURHAM

AN EVALUATION

AUGUST 2017

Page 259



2

CONTENTS
Page

SECTION ONE: 
The Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme 3 - 26

SECTION TWO: 
Other Humanitarian Support Schemes within County Durham 27 - 30
Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme 27 - 28
Unaccompanied Asylum-seeking Children 28 - 29

SECTION THREE:
Other Programmes not Operating In County Durham 31 - 34
National Asylum-seeker Accommodation Scheme 31 - 32

SECTION FOUR: 
Conclusions 35 - 38

Page 260



3

SECTION ONE

THE SYRIAN VULNERABLE PERSONS RESETTLEMENT SCHEME - 
BACKGROUND

The Refugee Crisis in Syria 

1 In July 2013 the United Nations (UN) stopped counting the death toll in Syria 
due to a lack of confidence in its own data.  In mid-2015 it estimated that over 
250,000 people had been killed and well over a million injured since the conflict 
in Syria began in 2011.1  Since then estimates of the death toll have varied. 

2 In February 2016 the Syrian Centre for Policy Research claimed the figure was 
as high as 470,000.2  In April 2016 the UN special envoy in Syria put the figure 
around 400,000.3 

3 In December 2016, the UN Office for the Co-ordination of Humanitarian Affairs 
(UNOCHA), concluded there are: 

(a) 13.5 million people in need of humanitarian assistance in Syria, of which 
5.8 million are children.

(b) 6.3 million Syrians who are internally displaced, of which 2.4 million are 
children.

(c) 4.9 million in hard-to-reach and besieged areas, of which 1.2 million are 
children.4

4 Since it began in 2011 the civil war in Syria has caused mass movement of 
Syrians, both within Syria and to neighbouring countries.  Syrians now make up 
the largest refugee population in the world, with almost five million having fled to 
neighbouring countries to escape the devastation.  Many countries currently 
hosting large numbers of Syrian refugees are developing countries and cannot 
afford to support such large numbers.  As a result, the UN estimates that one in 
ten Syrian refugees in the Middle East and North Africa region needs to be 
resettled elsewhere.

The UK Response

5 At the start of the Syrian crisis, government policy was to be generous with 
humanitarian aid to Syria's neighbours rather than to accept fleeing Syrians for 
resettlement in the UK.  However, in January 2014, the UK government 
announced that it would establish a Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement 
Programme to allow selected refugees to resettle in the UK.  

6 On 7 September 2015, in response to the spiralling humanitarian crisis in the 
region, the government announced the programme would be expanded to 

1 UN press release, Alarmed by Continuing Syria Crisis, Security Council Affirms Its Support for Special Envoy’s Approach in 
Moving Political Solution Forward, 17 August 2015
2 Syrian Centre for Policy Research, Confronting fragmentation, February 2016
3 ‘UN Envoy Revises Syria Death Toll to 400,000’, Foreign Policy, 22 April 2016  
4 UNOCHA, 2017 Humanitarian Needs Overview, December 2016  

Page 261



4

resettle 20,000 of the most vulnerable Syrian refugees in the UK by May 2020.  
The government later added a milestone to resettle 1,000 Syrian refugees 
before Christmas 2015. 

The Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Programme

7 The Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme (SVPRS) gives priority to 
the most vulnerable, including children and orphans.  Refugees are resettled 
from border camps and nations neighbouring Syria to avoid refugees being 
encouraged to make dangerous journeys to central Europe; to ensure that the 
most vulnerable can be prioritised; and to help break the business models of 
criminal gangs preying on human misery.  

8 In expanding the programme, its eligibility criteria were extended to include the 
seven vulnerability criteria recognised by the United Nations High Commission 
for Refugees (UNHCR):

(a) Legal and or physical protection needs.
(b) Survivors of torture and/or violence.
(c) Medical needs.
(d) Women and girls at risk.
(e) Family reunification.
(f) Children and adolescents at risk.
(g) Lack of foreseeable alternative durable solutions.

9 The programme is the joint responsibility of the Home Office, the Department 
for International Development and the Department for Communities and Local 
Government.  A joint programme team has been established within the Home 
Office to manage the scheme.

10 Syrians supported under the programme were initially granted five years 
humanitarian protection status upon arrival in the UK, with permission to work 
and access public funds.  In March 2017 the Home Secretary announced that 
from 1 July 2017 all those admitted to the UK under the Vulnerable Persons 
Resettlement Programme (VPRP) would be granted refugee status.  Syrians 
already resettled in the UK are able to apply for refugee status.

11 This move acknowledged that humanitarian protection status does not carry the 
same entitlements as refugee status, such as swifter access to student support 
for those in higher education and the internationally recognised refugee travel 
document.  The duration of leave to remain in the UK will stay the same at 
five years and is not affected by the status change.

12 Refugees are able to choose where they wish to live in the UK, following their 
initial settlement into a location, although they may not receive resettlement 
support if they move to another local authority area.

13 Individuals resettled are eligible to apply for family reunion with immediate 
family members, in accordance with the immigration rules. The government has 
indicated that at the end of the five years resettled refugees will be eligible to 
apply for permanent settlement in the UK.

Page 262



5

14 A refugee’s resettlement costs are fully funded by central government using the 
overseas aid budget during the first 12 months.  Resources are allocated on a 
tariff basis, with additional costs covered under an exceptional costs fund.  The 
government subsequently committed £129 million to assist with local authority 
costs over years 2-5 of the scheme.  This is also assigned on a tariff basis over 
four years, tapering from £5,000 per person in the second year in the UK, to 
£1,000 per person in year five. 

15 Local authorities have a central role in the resettlement of refugees.  For 
authorities supporting the scheme, a statement of outcomes specifies 
responsibilities during a refugee’s first year in the UK.  This stipulates a range of 
services for resettled refugees, including a meet-and-greet service at the 
airport, provision of furnished accommodation and assistance in accessing 
welfare benefits, education, employment and other integration services in 
accordance with a personalised support plan for the first 12 months. 

16 Years 2-5 funding is intended as a contribution towards costs incurred in 
supporting a refugee’s continued participation in the programme.  To maximise 
flexibility, it is for local authorities to determine the best use of funding claimed 
to support refugees on their journey towards integration and self-sufficiency.  
Support may include, but is not limited to, ongoing integration into communities; 
social care costs for adults and children; additional educational support; 
supporting refugees into employment; formal or informal language training etc.  

17 On 3 July 2017, the Home Secretary announced that the scheme would be 
extended to enable UNHCR to refer the most vulnerable refugees in the Middle 
East and North Africa (MENA) region who have fled the Syrian conflict, 
regardless of nationality.  Non-Syrian nationals will be eligible for the scheme if 
they fled the Syrian conflict and are genuine refugees who cannot return in 
safety to their country of origin.  The policy change follows advice from the 
United Nations High Commission for Refugees (UNHCR) who identified that a 
diversified resettlement scheme was required to address the needs of the 
refugee population in the region.

18 It is not expected that the change will significantly affect the delivery of the 
scheme at a local level.  The overall number of vulnerable people the UK aims 
to resettle will remain the same and the same tariff will be paid to local 
authorities supporting those resettled, regardless of nationality.

19 The approach will continue to take refugees from the regions around Syria, 
specifically Turkey, Jordan, Lebanon, Iraq and Egypt through the Vulnerable 
Persons Resettlement Scheme (VPRS), discouraging the hazardous journey to 
Europe which has tragically cost so many lives. 

20 In July 2016 the government launched a “community sponsorship” initiative to 
encourage and facilitate the direct resettlement of refugees by individuals, 
charities, faith groups and businesses, in addition to the support offered by local 
authorities.  

Page 263



6

21 Supporting a vulnerable resettled family is a significant responsibility and the 
Home Office will approve every sponsor.  The approval process requires local 
authority consent for a prospective sponsor to operate as a community sponsor 
in the area.  The approval process is designed to establish that the prospective 
sponsor: 

(a) has sufficient resources (housing, financial and personnel) to support a 
resettled family; 

(b) has a credible plan for supporting a resettled family, backed by relevant 
experience; and 

(c) does not present a risk to the resettled family. 

22 Community sponsors will be allocated a family fleeing conflict and it will be the 
sponsor’s responsibility to support the resettled family from the moment of 
arrival in the UK, including meeting the family at the airport; providing a 
welcome and cultural orientation; providing housing; supporting access to 
medical and social services; English language tuition; and support towards 
employment and self-sufficiency.  The formal responsibility to support the 
resettled family will last for one year, with the exception of housing, for which 
the responsibility lasts for two years.  Sponsors may choose to provide support 
beyond this, according to the needs of the resettled family.  

23 In May 2017 the Bishop of Durham hosted an event in the North East to 
highlight the initiative in the region.  

24 A total of 7,307 people have been granted humanitarian protection under the 
Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme (SVPRS) since the scheme 
began.  In the year ending March 2017, 5,453 people were resettled under the 
SVPRS across 235 different local authorities.  Half (50%) of those resettled 
under the Syrian VPRS were under 18 years (2,726) and around half (47%) 
were female (2,571).5

Durham Humanitarian Support Partnership

25 To consider how County Durham can best support the UK’s response to the 
crisis, the council established the Durham Humanitarian Support Partnership, 
which met for the first time on 25 September 2015.

26 The Partnership, which is chaired by the council, seeks to ensure that Durham’s 
support for refugees placed in the county is joined up and promotes cross-
service and agency working, as well as engagement with communities.

27 At its first meeting, the Partnership outlined its support for the UK’s response to 
the crisis, welcomed the national commitment to ensure that support is 
resourced and confirmed it was preparing to play its part in welcoming refugees 
to County Durham.

5 Home Office Quarterly Immigration Statistics, January to March 2017, 25 May 2017  

Page 264



7

28 The Partnership also approved the establishment of a working group, 
comprising appropriate council services and partner representatives, to 
consider the operational aspects of accommodating refugees within the county.  

29 In developing a model for supporting refugee arrivals in County Durham, the 
working group recommended a number of key principles which were agreed by 
the Partnership:

(a) Resettling arrivals in the county’s main towns/areas, avoiding isolation in 
smaller villages and settlements.  The county’s twelve main towns/areas 
were assessed against a number of key criteria including availability of 
appropriate housing, health provision/GP access, school places, 
Jobcentre plus access, cohesion and policing issues.  This concluded that 
ten areas would be appropriate for resettlement.  For each phase of 
resettlement, a further evaluation was undertaken with key partners, to 
confirm suitability.

(b) Offering support to family groups, who are more likely to assist one 
another and settle within County Durham’s communities.

(c) Resettling arrivals in clusters of small family groups (approximately 25 
people), which would hopefully offer a self-supporting mechanism within 
communities.

30 Whilst there was a strong desire to assist the government’s support for the 
crisis, it was recognised that County Durham had limited experience in this area 
and the Partnership and working group therefore proposed that:

(a) The county should consider offering support which is in line with the 
Council’s share of the national population (this would equate to circa 200 
Syrian refugees over five years, which is slightly more than the county’s 
proportionate share), and the offer should focus on family groups.  As the 
first phase of support within the North East commenced in May 2016, 
refugees would be accommodated over four years to May 2020.

(b) Within 12 months of the first group of refugees arriving in the county, an 
evaluation be completed into the effectiveness of the programme to 
determine if the number of Syrian refugees settled in County Durham 
could be increased.

31 The proposals were agreed by Cabinet at its meeting on 16 December 2015.

Delivering the Programme in County Durham

32 The programme is co-ordinated and managed within Transformation and 
Partnerships, ensuring cross-service and partnership working to deliver 
effective resettlement support.  The day-to-day integration and casework 
support for the families is provided by the Family Intervention Project (FIP) 
Team within Regeneration and Local Services, utilising the Team’s knowledge 
and experience of supporting vulnerable families.

Page 265



8

33 In providing integration and casework support, the FIP Team employs a multi-
agency method which ensures that all services are involved in a Team Around 
the Family (TAF) approach to deliver a co-ordinated response to the needs of 
individual families.  A FIP key worker acts as the lead professional for each 
family and provides intensive and tailored packages of support.  

34 Each family follows an initial 4-week action plan to ensure all essential 
assessments and registrations are completed in line with the requirements in 
the Home Office’s statement of outcomes.  Following the initial action plan, a full 
single assessment is undertaken and a whole family 12-month support plan is 
established.  The plan is continuously reviewed to ensure families and 
individuals are achieving their goals in areas including health, education, social 
inclusion etc.  

35 The intensity of the support offered gradually de-escalates over the 12-month 
period, as individuals become more integrated and self-sufficient.  After the 12-
month period, the FIP Team continues to provide lower level support, with 
quarterly welfare visits focusing on finances, education, employment and 
training, health and integration.  Support workers also provide regular drop-in 
sessions at the befriending group which has been established within the 
community.

36 FIP casework support is provided by a dedicated team, including two 
keyworkers and an Arabic-speaking support officer.  In recognition of the 
importance of adequate interpreting and translation support, an additional 
Arabic-speaking support officer has recently been recruited.  The staffing 
establishment will be reviewed as additional families are supported in the 
county.  Staffing costs are fully met by Home Office funding provided under the 
programme.  

37 Other council services and teams have worked together to offer the full range of 
support for the families, including education, English for Speakers of Other 
Languages (ESOL) for adults, English as an Additional Language (EAL) for 
children, adult social care and health, occupational therapy, children’s services, 
employment support, translation and equalities, resources, welfare rights, public 
health and communications.  

38 This has been matched by outstanding support from external partners including 
social housing providers, the voluntary and community sector, faith groups, 
Department for Work and Pensions, health and police.  Of particular note has 
been the degree of voluntary support from local voluntary and community sector 
and church organisations, as well as Durham University (including the 
University’s Islamic Society), who have provided a significant range of goods for 
the family homes, hosted and contributed to welcome events, provided 
interpreters, organised conversation groups and befriending opportunities etc. 

39 Durham Christian Partnership (DCP) and North East Churches Acting Together 
(NECAT) have played a key role in co-ordinating and offering additional support 
to families resettled under the scheme, from organising VCS support, 
requesting and matching contributions and storing and transporting property-
related items.  Additional items provided include welcome packs of toiletries, 

Page 266



9

cleaning products and non-perishable food items for each property, additional 
kitchen and household items, household accessories such as soft furnishings, 
additional bedding, towels, pushchairs and travel cots, toys and warm clothes.  
In addition, DCP and NECAT have raised funds to provide a television for each 
family, to support the development of English language skills.

40 Durham City of Sanctuary has been extremely supportive and active in assisting 
with the resettlement programme.  Activities to date include the provision of 
welcome packs for each family upon arrival, interpreting services for the arrival 
and welcome events, the organisation of orientation and integration events and 
transporting families to healthcare appointments.  Members of the City of 
Sanctuary also have a strong involvement in conversation groups and 
befriending initiatives to assist and support the integration of arrivals.

41 The police have assisted throughout the co-ordination of arrangements helping 
to ensure that the areas identified for resettlement are appropriate and 
undertaking neighbourhood liaison.  Police staff play a part in the initial 
integration programme, providing an opportunity for new arrivals to meet police 
representatives in a relaxed community setting and to address any 
preconceptions refugees may have, based on negative previous experiences.  
The police have also been a keen and collaborative partner in facilitating 
community liaison and responding to any issues identified within local 
communities.

42 The Department for Work and Pensions has worked with the council to 
establish appropriate procedures to ensure swift access to benefit entitlements.  
Appointments are organised in advance of arrival, linked to the support 
programme, with the DWP facilitating group appointments to assist casework 
and interpreting support arrangements, and to provide arrivals with a positive 
experience of early interaction with DWP.

43 The social housing providers engaged with the programme to date have been 
extremely supportive and proactive in identifying and securing appropriate 
housing in suitable areas and in working to address any issues identified both 
prior to and following the arrival of refugee families.  

44 The Clinical Commissioning Groups have effectively assisted the programme 
throughout each phase, identifying specific health needs which will require 
follow-up, allocating GP practices and liaising with primary and secondary 
healthcare providers where appropriate, to ensure an effective process for 
arrivals to access healthcare provision.

SVPRS - Phase I

45 In May 2016 five Syrian families arrived in the UK and were welcomed to central 
Durham.  An additional family arrived at the end of June 2016 and has been 
housed in the same area. 

46 The experience and feedback from phase one to date has been extremely 
positive. 

Page 267



10

47 County Durham Housing Group provided invaluable support and assistance in 
helping to identify suitable homes.  The housing provider also worked closely 
with the council and other partners to respond to issues, helping to develop 
appropriate measures in response.  

48 The approach of locating the families in a small cluster in relatively close 
proximity appears to have been effective.  The families have maintained contact 
and are supporting one another.  Concentrating the education support on two 
schools (one primary and one secondary school) helped to focus the provision 
of additional assistance.

49 There have been a number of low-level incidents within the community, 
including the shouting of negative comments at individuals and small-scale 
damage to property.  Whilst relatively low level, the importance of addressing 
these was not underestimated and procedures have been established to review 
each incident rapidly and the council, police and housing provider worked 
together to address the issue and to investigate appropriate measures in 
response.  

50 A key issue highlighted as part of the review of phase one was the amount of 
ESOL (English for Speakers of Other Languages) provision, to support 
integration and independence.  The council’s Adult Learning Service, which has 
delivered the bespoke and in-house provision to date, subsequently recruited a 
number of tutors to allow enhanced English language support for arrivals.   This 
facilitated an increase in formal and informal language provision to offer 
16 hours per week over five days for all adults from April 2017.  The families 
previously received two 2-3 hour sessions per week.  

51 One of the key aims of the language support is to enable transition to 
mainstream provision where possible, offering an important opportunity for 
arrivals to develop social connections and to enhance integration prospects.

52 A conversation group was established, organised by volunteers in the 
community and churches, and has been very successful in complementing the 
ESOL classes and providing refugee families with an opportunity to develop and 
practise language skills.  This provision increased in 2017 from one session per 
week to two.  This is an important resource, particularly for refugees who 
experience difficulties with more formal language support.

53 Building on the excellent links with Durham University, the support team has 
been able to progress the offer of volunteer job opportunities within one of the 
university’s kitchens, to enable two refugees who have shown an interest in this 
type of work to gain practical work experience in the UK.  Another individual is 
undertaking a work experience placement with the council’s Service Direct, 
utilising the car mechanic skills he used in Syria; and one arrival has taken up a 
volunteer work opportunity in a local hair and beauty salon.

54 One young person who arrived in May 2016 attended a place on King’s 
Undergraduate Summer Exchange Programme at King’s College London.  The 
programme covered English and international commercial law and upon 
completion the participant is awarded credits towards a university degree.  

Page 268



11

55 The Syrian families who arrived in the UK in phase one held a celebration event 
during Christmas 2016, to demonstrate their appreciation of the warm welcome 
they have received in Durham to the individuals and organisations who have 
offered them support.

SVPRS - Phase I Family Reunification 

56 The council welcomed an additional family to Durham in March 2017, following 
a reunification request linked to a family resettled in phase one of the scheme.  

57 The family has quickly resettled in the area and both families are extremely 
happy to be reunited.

SVPRS - Phase II 

58 In November 2016 six Syrian families comprising 28 individuals arrived in the 
UK and were welcomed to County Durham.  The families arriving in phase two 
have been housed in the south of the county.

59 The families are being supported by the full range of council services and teams 
assisting phase one families.  The FIP Team are continuing to deliver a 12-
month tailored support and orientation programme to assist families and 
individuals to quickly and effectively resettle in County Durham.

60 Outstanding support has again been received from partners in helping to 
resettle vulnerable families, including the input of housing provider livin.  

61 The families are receiving the additional ESOL (English for Speakers of Other 
Languages) support provided from Easter 2017.

62 The North East Churches Acting Together representative was pivotal in co-
ordinating the establishment of a conversation group with the voluntary and 
community sector, to replicate the group successfully supporting phase one 
families.  

63 One young person has secured a dental nurse apprenticeship at a dental 
practice in County Durham to resume her dental training and another young 
person is attending a college engineering course.  In addition, one individual 
has participated in a Home Office self-employment scheme to pilot an approach 
previously used for Armed Forces veterans and, as part of this, is presently 
receiving support to develop a business plan.

64 In late December 2016 three families living in close proximity to one another 
were the target of anti-social behaviour which caused damage to windows.  One 
family experienced three further incidents between late January and mid-March 
2017.

65 A procedure to review each incident was implemented and the council, police 
and housing provider worked together to address the issue and arranged a 

Page 269



12

number of Remain Safe measures in response.  No further incidents have been 
reported.

66 The family received additional support from the FIP Team, police, PCSO 
Community Cohesion Officer and Housing Officer.  The family has been 
involved and consulted throughout and confirmed it does not wish to consider a 
move to another property, as the family feels at home and has received a great 
deal of support from both their immediate neighbours and the local community.

67 The families have settled well in the area and have received a significant 
amount of support from neighbours, voluntary groups and organisations, who 
have organised trips and invited them to events.

68 Families who arrived in phase two held an event in late July 2017, to express 
their thanks to the organisations and individuals in the area who have supported 
them.  The families independently booked a venue and cooked traditional 
Syrian food as a gesture of their thanks and appreciation.  The occasion was 
well attended by a range of friends, volunteers, support workers and elected 
members.

SVPRS - Phase III

69 In June 2017 five Syrian families comprising 25 individuals arrived in the UK 
and were welcomed to the north of the county.  

70 Following a request from the Home Office, an additional family joined the 
families in the area in July 2017 and is being supported as part of the 
Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Programme.  This scheme provides support 
to vulnerable children in families in the Middle East and North Africa area.

71 The families are receiving the support of the full range of council services and 
teams who have previously assisted the resettlement of families in County 
Durham.  The FIP Team is in the early stages of delivering a support, 
orientation and integration programme, focusing on completing the 
appointments and assessments required within the statement of outcomes.

72 The exceptional support provided by partners in the earlier phases of 
resettlement has been repeated in phase three, including the assistance of 
housing provider Karbon Homes.

73 School visits and induction sessions were arranged for children prior to the 
summer break to assist in preparing expectations.  

74 Initial ESOL (English for Speakers of Other Languages) assessments have 
taken place and an ESOL programme has been developed based on the needs 
of learners.  

75 A conversation group has quickly been established with the voluntary and 
community sector, to replicate the excellent provision delivered in previous 
phases in supporting families to develop English language skills.

Page 270



13

76 Two separate incidents of inappropriate Facebook posts have been reported to 
the police relating to the location of refugees in the general area and 
government policy on migration.  

SYRIAN VULNERABLE PERSONS RESETTLEMENT PROGRAMME - AN 
EVALUATION 

National Context

77 In September 2016 the National Audit Office (NAO) published a report on its 
examination of the achievements of the Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement 
Programme to date, the processes in place to deliver the programme, progress 
against the targets set, and the risks to future delivery of the programme and 
whether these were being addressed.

78 The evaluation acknowledged it was a progress review of a live programme and 
did not reach a judgement on whether the programme has achieved value for 
money as it is too early to assess this.  The key conclusions of the review 
included:

(a) The programme team, other central government departments, local 
authorities and delivery partners performed well in the pre-Christmas 2015 
period in meeting the commitment to resettle 1,000 Syrian refugees.  
They achieved a great deal in a short amount of time, resettling much 
larger numbers of refugees than previous programmes.  Success was due 
in large part to the dedication and goodwill of those involved. 

(b) The programme team sensibly reduced internal targets and expectations 
of the programme in the first quarter of 2016 to allow time to redesign it in 
the light of lessons learned.  This redesign considered crucial aspects of 
the programme, such as improving process efficiency and communication 
and designing a monitoring and evaluation framework.  While progress 
has been made, not all developments are operational yet. 

(c) The programme team identified and considered the main risks to 
delivering the programme in future.  As the programme develops, the 
organisations involved need to ensure the goodwill of all involved is 
turned into actions to mitigate the risks to meeting the 20,000 target, such 
as finding suitable accommodation and school places. The characteristics 
of the refugees arriving in the UK will become clearer over time and with 
this new information, the programme team will need to ensure that budget 
assumptions are revised accordingly and that local authorities are not 
faced with costs that they struggle to meet.  Local authorities continue to 
face budget cuts and if higher than predicted costs impact local 
authorities’ ability to deliver quality services, the chances of refugees 
integrating successfully into the UK will be at risk. 

79 Based on its findings, the NAO made the following recommendations for the 
programme team to implement:

Page 271



14

(a) Clarify to local authorities that there are no set requirements for what local 
authorities need to provide during refugees’ second to fifth years in the 
UK, so as to encourage local authorities to tailor services to refugees’ 
needs.

(b) Clarify what refugees are entitled to in respect of travelling within and 
outside the UK, family reunion and their status after the fifth year of the 
programme. The departments should disseminate this information to all 
local authorities and providers involved in the programme. 

(c) Ensure other government departments and local authorities understand 
the risks to the wider success of the programme and have plans in place 
to manage these risks, for example finding suitable housing and school 
places and capacity to meet longer-term, uncertain costs.  This could 
include encouraging local authorities not yet participating in the 
programme to join. 

(d) Ensure refugees’ characteristics are collected and used to adapt 
programme budgets in light of any changes to initial assumptions, so no 
organisation taking part in the programme struggles to participate 
effectively due to cost pressures. 

(e) Ensure a full monitoring and evaluation framework is operational as soon 
as possible.  This includes defining what success looks like beyond 
meeting the 20,000 target.

(f) Engage with international partners and local authorities and their service 
providers to ensure refugees’ opinions are listened to and factored in to 
new developments, such as community sponsorship, to enhance 
refugees’ experiences of the programme and life in the UK.

A Regional Perspective - Refugee Voices 

80 In May 2017 the North East Regional Refugee Forum presented the results of 
qualitative research to hear the voiced experience of some of the families 
brought to the region under the Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement 
Scheme.  This work also captured the collective experiential knowledge of 
Syrian and/or Arabic speaking community volunteers who had provided 
voluntary support to the families.

81 The Refugee Voices research involved structured conversations with 20 
couples about their experience of the scheme by seven Syrian and/or Arabic 
speaking community volunteers with respondents who arrived in the region 
between November 2015 and 2017.  Participants were hosted in eight local 
authority areas: Northumberland, North Tyneside, Newcastle, Gateshead, 
Hartlepool, Redcar and Cleveland, Darlington and County Durham.

82 Feedback from the respondents was collated and fed into a workshop where 
community volunteers shared and compared their collective knowledge.  It was 
acknowledged that some responses related to early contexts that may since 
have changed.

Page 272



15

83 The research findings were presented at an event hosted by the North East 
Migration Partnership.  This outlined both families’ responses and 
recommendations on what works and/or what could work better made by 
families and by community volunteers.  

84 The co-ordination and support teams evaluated the programme in County 
Durham against the findings and recommendations of the research to determine 
future actions. 

85 Many of the key recommendations had already been implemented in County 
Durham.  These included:

86 First few days/weeks

(a) Resettlement support is provided by the council’s Family Intervention 
Project (FIP) Team in Housing Services.  This team provides dedicated 
resettlement support to the programme, delivered by keyworkers who are 
experienced in supporting vulnerable families and who have access to a 
wide range of expertise and tools within the Housing Solutions Service. 

(b) Regular contact with a FIP support worker and intensive resettlement 
support (daily visits) are established with families immediately following 
arrival in County Durham.

(c) Pre-benefits money is provided in instalments by the FIP Team, with 
clear and repeated advice on budgeting and guidance confirming what 
the resources should cover.

(d) Local orientation and visits are built into the support programme 
immediately following arrival and throughout the programme.

(e) Previous arrivals are a critical part of the welcome event held shortly 
after arrival, to encourage involvement, establish connections and 
provide insight into life in the UK.

(f) Links have been made with the local Arabic speaking community and 
volunteers via invitation to arrival and welcome events and involvement 
in activities including befriending and conversation groups.

87 Support Work: The Support Team

(a) An Arabic-speaking support worker has been employed as part of the 
FIP support team and plays a fundamental role in communicating with 
families.

(b) Training has been accessed for support workers to understand the 
background and respect the priorities and emotions of the refugees.

(c) The assessment of individual needs and a planned exit strategy, which 
recognises that some people will move towards independence more 

Page 273



16

quickly than others, and which provides consistent reassurance, is a 
fundamental part of the support offered.

88 Support Work: Integration Plans

(a) A holistic resettlement and integration support plan is developed, 
involving the family and key partners.  The Team adopts a Team Around 
the Family approach, comprising a full single assessment for each family, 
which directs the development of a whole-family support plan.  This 
approach recognises that whilst the aim is to support resettlement and 
promote independence and self-sufficiency, individuals and families 
progress at different rates.

(b) Links are actively established with the voluntary sector and community 
groups from the outset for each resettlement phase, including the 
establishment of conversation groups, to aid integration into the wider 
local community.

(c) The hugely valuable role of the voluntary sector has been recognised 
throughout the delivery of the programme in County Durham, with 
voluntary sector and faith organisations represented on Durham 
Humanitarian Support Partnership and the working group established to 
consider the operational aspects of resettlement.  

(d) Voluntary and community sector representatives are an essential part of 
the planning process for each phase or resettlement, using their local 
knowledge to establish and deliver integration support.  

(e) In addition, the voluntary and community sector has provided valuable 
additional items in homes to complement the local authority’s offer, 
including soft furnishings, warm clothing, pushchairs, travel cots, toys 
and activities, as well as additional fundraising to provide each family 
with a television to support the development of English language skills.

89 Learning to Speak English (Adults)

(a) Based on the review of each phase of resettlement in County Durham, 
the provision of additional ESOL lessons was agreed in late 2016.  
Unfortunately, these could not be fully implemented until Easter 2017, 
following the recruitment of additional tutors.  However, adults were 
provided with 16 hours ESOL per week, including both formal lessons 
and informal provision via conversation groups.  The provision is 
continually evaluated and revised based on the needs of learners, whilst 
recognising that English language support and development is key to 
successful integration and resettlement.

90 The Refugee Voices recommendations were also used to focus future 
improvement and/or reinforce the information provided.  As a result, the 
following improvements were agreed:

Page 274



17

91 First Few Days/Weeks

(a) The FIP Team to explore alternative ways of communicating information, 
particularly focusing on verbal methods such as voice memo.  This would 
be in addition to the information conveyed as part of the support briefings 
and the information provided upon arrival in a welcome pack, local 
information sheet and local area map.

(b) The support team to build in opportunities for group learning/interaction, 
as part of the support plan for each phase of resettlement, allowing 
families resettled together to discuss matters of mutual concern and raise 
and clarify any relevant issues.  Whilst these opportunities are already 
provided within the initial support arrangements, this will be an 
established part of the support programme for future phases.

92 Raising and Escalating Issues: Access to Rights 

(a) A verbal explanation be provided and reiterated as part of the support 
plan to clarify how an unresolved issue or complaint can be escalated.  
This is presently included in the support programme and is specifically 
outlined in the information pack provided to arrivals, but it was felt that 
this area could be reinforced further.

(b) A briefing on family reunification to be included as part of the support 
programme in future, recognising that this is extremely important to many 
new arrivals.  Although this happens in response to individual enquiries, 
this approach would recognise the significance of providing this 
information very quickly following arrival.

93 Other Sources of Support: Voluntary Sector 

There is clear recognition in County Durham of the hugely significant role of the 
voluntary and community sector in enhancing the delivery of the programme, 
particularly around integration support.  It was recognised that, following the 
arrival of refugees, at a time when support staff are fully engaged in providing 
intensive resettlement support, ad hoc offers from local organisations, groups 
and individuals may not be fully pursued initially.  In order to ensure that all 
voluntary and community support can be quickly identified, explored and 
utilised, it was agreed that, as part of the expansion of the support team, an 
officer would be designated to undertake this role and explore all mechanisms 
to ensure effective partnership working with the voluntary and community 
sector.

94 Prospects for Economic Inclusion

It is recognised that refugees have a desire to secure paid employment, but 
face challenges in achieving this.  To help address these challenges, a part-
time refugee mentoring officer has been recruited, based within the council’s 
Employability Team, to support the programme.  This will be resourced by 
Home Office funding and will build on the employability support offered to 
individuals to date.  The post will deliver a range of activities, advice and 

Page 275



18

support to help refugees move closer to the labour market and into placements 
and employment; working collaboratively to integrate employment, skills and 
financial inclusion as part of an action plan for each individual.

The County Durham Experience - Evaluation with Families

95 A key part of the process to continually review and improve the experience of 
refugees arriving in County Durham has included gathering the views of 
families.  This has been undertaken at two stages to evaluate experiences at 
different points.

96 The first assessment was undertaken during the first two months following 
arrival to capture views and insight into the pre-arrival, arrival and early post-
arrival experiences of individuals and families.  This evaluation particularly 
focused on whether any part of the support programme could be improved or if 
there was anything missing which was an important part of a family’s speedy 
and effective resettlement in the early stages.

97 The second consultation was undertaken towards the end of the 12-month 
support programme, to assist in planning future support programmes and to 
identify any gaps or barriers which may impede integration, self-sufficiency and 
independence.

Outcome of Initial Evaluation

98 The initial evaluation of the first phase of support in May 2016 identified some 
practical and easily addressed suggestions for an improved experience.  The 
most popular request was for warm clothing and a coat on arrival, with families 
commenting on the cold weather in May.  The provision of school shoes, to 
complete the school uniform provided for each family, was also suggested.

99 Other ideas included labelling food tins/packets in Arabic as the pictures were 
not always easily identifiable (in stage one only cans and packets illustrating a 
product were provided); a shower-head washing facility, which is a key part of 
some religious rituals; provision of coverings at all windows (including those 
with frosted glass) to allow removal of headscarves within the home; and the 
provision of translated local transport information immediately upon arrival.

100 Phase one families commented positively on the support provided, including 
appreciation that children were able to start school less than seven days after 
arrival.  The availability of an Arabic-speaking support officer within the Team 
was also hugely valued.  The suggestions made in the evaluation of phase one 
were implemented for families arriving in November 2016.  

101 A key request from phase two families focused on the provision of ESOL and 
their wish to become proficient in English as soon as possible.  This reinforced 
the view of the co-ordination and support teams that additional English 
language support would enable arrivals to become independent and self-
sufficient at an early opportunity.  

Page 276



19

102 Families stated that all parts of the support provided had worked really well, 
including organisation and a smooth settling in process and advised they were 
satisfied with the welcome information pack provided on arrival and could not 
offer suggestions for improvement.  All families reported that they were “very 
satisfied” with the overall service provided by the council.

Outcome of Evaluation of Support in Months 8-12

103 A further consultation was undertaken with refugees who arrived in May 2016 
towards the end of the 12-month support programme.  This provided the 
opportunity to review the overall experience of arrivals during their first year of 
resettlement support.

104 The first question focused on whether families felt welcomed and if there was 
anything that particularly assisted with this, or anything additional the council 
could have done.  The response of all six families was very positive, with 
comments ranging from “more than excellent - everything, starting from 
reception day to integrating into the community” to “I can’t think of anything else 
that could have been done or have been missed by the council to make us feel 
more welcomed”.  Respondents outlined their view that the council had done 
everything possible to support them, they felt welcome within County Durham, 
the welcome pack provided (in English and Arabic) was very useful, neighbours 
were extremely friendly and helpful and the help and assistance of support 
workers was greatly appreciated.

105 Families were asked to share the main challenges experienced in resettling in 
the UK.  Responses indicated that the two main challenges were culture and 
the language barrier.  Respondents confirmed that the support team were 
enormously helpful in explaining cultural differences and what is appropriate, 
and sometimes different, in the UK; and outlined their wish to avoid 
unintentionally offending anyone.  The ESOL provision was also essential in 
assisting arrivals to overcome language difficulties.  One family stated “Prior to 
our relocation, integration to our new community as well as adapting to a new 
lifestyle and new culture was one of our biggest worries and challenges.  As 
soon as we arrived to Newcastle Airport and met with the local authority’s 
workers and the warm welcome, we felt extremely relieved and we then realised 
that things are going to be fine, as we are not going to be left to face challenges 
alone.”

106 In considering the model for resettling refugees in future phases, all families felt 
that it was beneficial to be resettled in relatively close proximity to other refugee 
families.  This model was particularly helpful in ensuring families speak the 
same language in the initial stages of resettlement and are able to help and 
support one another.  One family felt that it removed the feeling of isolation and 
another outlined gratitude to the council for accommodating a family 
reunification request, which allowed a relative to be resettled near to them.

107 Families were asked whether there were services they needed to be linked with, 
or if there was anything they would find helpful in connecting with and actively 
participating in the local community.   The common theme was that there were 
no services families needed to be linked with, although it was felt that some 

Page 277



20

specialist support may continue to be required and two families indicated that 
the commencement of a work experience opportunity had been hugely 
beneficial and had reinforced their hopes of securing employment in the future.

108 Arrivals were asked to outline any support they were receiving in addition to the 
local authority assistance.  The assistance provided by members of Durham 
City of Sanctuary and the activities of the befriending/conversation group 
established to support English language skills and offer additional assistance 
were hugely valued and respondents hoped this support would continue in the 
longer term.

109 Respondents were asked to outline the most important thing in assisting 
resettlement in County Durham.  The safety and security of the families to live 
without fear was paramount, with English language provision, education and 
health provision all highlighted.  The assistance of volunteers in helping one 
family to resettle was also highlighted.

110 Arrivals were asked what advice or guidance they would give to other families 
presently preparing to resettle in the UK.  All families indicated positive support 
for resettlement, most referring to the freedom and safety offered in the UK, 
particularly for children.  One family stated “Try your best to be resettled within 
Durham County Council as to our experience it’s the best local authority in 
terms of giving resettled refugees the best help and support ever.”

111 All families were afforded the opportunity to provide additional comments or 
raise issues they would like the council to consider in offering future support for 
resettled refugee families in County Durham.  Two families indicated that 
positive support for future family reunifications should be considered, whilst 
most families wanted to express thanks for the support and assistance offered.  
One family commented “I just can’t find the words to show how grateful we are 
for all the help and support we’ve got so far.  I would say a huge thank you to 
the UK in general and to Durham County Council in specific for everything you 
helped us with.”

Participation in the SVPRS - First Year Review with Partners

112 An event to review the council’s participation in the Syrian Vulnerable Persons 
Resettlement Scheme took place on 10 February 2017.  This sought the views 
and input of services and partners who delivered support to the families arriving 
in County Durham in spring and autumn 2016 to inform future phases of 
support.  

Support to Arrivals in Year 1

113 A resettlement planning framework was circulated prior to the meeting 
identifying some of the main activities and tasks undertaken at key stages pre-
arrival and post-arrival.  An outline was given of actions taken, grouped under 
six key areas:

(a) Housing
(b) Health

Page 278



21

(c) Education, including English as an Additional Language (EAL) and English 
for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL)

(d) Employment
(e) Cohesion
(f) Voluntary and Community Sector support

114 Partners and services considered how the programme had been delivered and 
areas for change or improvement, focusing on their area of expertise and/or 
involvement.  Each group considered three key questions to focus discussions 
and formulate suggestions:

(a) What worked well?
(b) What would you change?
(c) Could we do more/better?

115 The discussions were extremely positive and complimentary about the success 
of County Durham’s programme to resettle vulnerable refugee families 
effectively and services and partners present were keen to build on this for 
future phases/initiatives.

What worked well?

116 In considering future arrangements for the resettlement programme, the 
following were identified as areas that had worked particularly well.

117 Education

(a) Pupils were able to start school promptly, following an early information-
gathering assessment and school visit.

(b) The families supported to date have been very positive about engaging with 
education and schools.

(c) Participation in the scheme has helped to build capacity within schools 
previously inexperienced in dealing with a diverse school population.

118 ESOL (English for Speakers of Other Languages)

(a) The links established between Durham County Council’s ESOL provision 
(delivered by the council’s Adult Learning Service) and the volunteer 
conversation group established to support phase one arrivals had been 
hugely beneficial.

(b) The female cohort who arrived in phase one are very engaged and 
extremely keen to improve their English Language.

(c) The venue used to deliver ESOL classes in phase two was a significant 
improvement on phase one, providing opportunities to split groups and 
provide additional focused tutoring/intensive support based on the ability of 
learners.

Page 279



22

119 Employment and Benefits

(a) Two separate job opportunities are pending and being pursued.

(b) The establishment of links with Durham University, which has led to the 
opportunity for volunteer work experience, has been extremely beneficial.

(c) Employment links within Durham County Council are being progressed via 
the council’s Employability Service.

120 Housing and Health

(a) The county’s participation in the scheme was extremely well co-ordinated 
and organised and encouraged the involvement of key partners and 
services, leading to buy-in from all organisations involved.

(b) The early involvement of partners was a key factor for success, with 
partners engaged from the outset, willing to work together to ensure 
everything was in place, and any problems encountered overcome quickly.

(c) A single point of contact throughout the co-ordination of the scheme and 
subsequently for ongoing support was felt to be helpful and avoided the 
potential for confusion and duplication.

(d) The “Team Around the Family” (TAF) approach to supporting the families 
was very effective, informing and engaging partners and addressing issues 
in a co-ordinated and joined-up manner.

(e) The welcome event and welcome meetings were helpful in introducing 
partner and service staff to families and set the foundations to build positive 
relationships.

(f) The briefing session held two weeks prior to arrival for service and partner 
staff involved in supporting the refugee families was informative and 
attendees commented on its usefulness in assisting them to prepare.

(g) GPs in North Durham had communicated their view that everything was 
very well organised.

121 Voluntary and Community Support 

(a) The amount and range of support provided by the voluntary and community 
sector and the faith sector was widely recognised as being exemplary.  It 
played a critical role in providing the enhanced package of support to the 
families, both during their initial welcome and throughout the subsequent 
months as they settle into communities.

(b) This support has meant families have been able to settle quickly into their 
properties and feel welcomed into the UK through the provision of bespoke 
furnishing packages, over and above the minimal level the council is 
permitted to resource through the Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement 

Page 280



23

Scheme, by means of voluntary donations.  Whilst, in the following weeks, 
the families have benefitted from a range of activities, particularly the 
volunteer-led conversation groups that have been designed to support the 
formal ESOL training.

122 Cohesion

(a) The programme to brief key staff who will engage with resettled families, as 
well as customer services teams who will be likely to take enquiries from the 
public once families arrive, was extremely helpful.  

(b) In addition, the provision of the frequently asked questions information 
sheet, outlining key facts and explaining why the council and partners are 
supporting the scheme and the resources the council receives from central 
government to deliver support, was very helpful.

What can we change?

123 Representatives were asked to consider areas that might be changed to 
improve the effective delivery of the programme and suggestions included:

124 ESOL

Early consideration to be given to the availability of appropriate venues for 
ESOL provision as part of the planning process for providing ESOL for future 
arrivals.

125 Housing and Health

(a) Problems with sharing confidential information had been identified, as some 
staff appeared very cautious about what information could be shared.  It 
was agreed that this could be clarified by the FIP Team at the pre-Team 
Around the Family meeting with services and partners.

(b) It was recognised that some of the information received from the camps/via 
the Home Office was poor, particularly in informing health care provision.  
Whilst it was acknowledged that this was an issue for the Home Office to 
pursue, and had been fed-back through the North East Migration 
Partnership, it may be appropriate to communicate this as a potential issue 
when briefing partners and services.  It was agreed that this could be 
addressed by a reference to the issue in the briefing session for services 
and partners.

(c) The need to identify appropriate representation via the Clinical 
Commissioning Group to attend planning meetings was raised.  Different 
approaches had been adopted for the two separate phases and it was felt 
that the North Durham approach had been extremely effective in identifying 
an officer with clinical knowledge to support successful programme 
delivery.  The CCG representative agreed to feedback for future 
consideration.

Page 281



24

(d) Housing providers had found it useful to have a translation app on mobile 
devices for professionals working with the families, particularly immediately 
following arrival when English language may be very limited.  It was agreed 
that this would be suggested to other professionals working with the 
families, who may not always have ready access to interpreting services.

126 Cohesion

Although the current practice to brief head teachers in the schools where Syrian 
children are to be placed works well, it was felt consideration should be given to 
providing earlier diversity awareness training for pupils, focused on the 
challenges facing refugees and asylum seekers.  

Could we do more/better?

127 Services and partners were asked to consider how the programme may be 
improved or enhanced within the resources available.  The following 
suggestions were made:

128 ESOL

Increasing the provision of ESOL tuition, spread over five days, using the 
approach of “little and often” to enable refugees to resettle and integrate into life 
in the UK as soon as possible.  This suggestion was consistent with an 
agreement to offer additional provision, with arrangements being progressed to 
offer 16 hours tuition per week for 2016 arrivals, comprising both formal and 
informal language support.

129 Employment and Benefits

(a) Linking with the voluntary sector to identify potential work placement 
opportunities may be advantageous and should be explored where 
possible.

(b) Closer monitoring of progress with volunteering or coaching opportunities 
would be beneficial, e.g. where an individual is engaging with a voluntary 
placement with an organisation, there is a need for ongoing support and 
review of the experience.

130 Housing and Health

(a) Although a full translation of the tenant’s licence is provided for tenants 
during the initial sign-up process, the translation of the full tenancy 
agreement may be useful for refugees to refer to and consult at a later date.  
It was acknowledged that this was a very lengthy document and therefore 
one translated template, which could subsequently be used for all housing 
providers, would be the preferred approach.

(b) Information on energy providers and costs would be a useful additional area 
to include in supporting refugee tenants.

Page 282



25

(c) Information on how to stay safe from scams would be a further helpful topic 
within the support programme.

131 Voluntary and Community Support 

(a) The relationship between the council and the sector has meant the vital 
input of the voluntary and community sector into the initial phases of the 
programme has been effectively managed.  However, as the number of 
phases increase over the next few years, it was highlighted that it may be 
helpful to find dedicated resources to assist with co-ordinating volunteer 
support to the programme given the scale of offers from the local 
community. 

(b) Although it was acknowledged that the agreed approach has been followed, 
it was emphasised that if the success of the early phases is to be continued 
the key contacts within the sector need early notification and details of future 
phases if they are to plan for them effectively. 

132 Cohesion

(a) The benefits of holding conversation support groups within local 
communities not only helped develop refugees’ language skills, but also 
helps individuals and families to make links with members of the local 
community.  However, it was highlighted that in some instances difficulties 
were encountered in finding a home for the groups and resources would be 
helpful for the voluntary sector to support and run the sessions.  

(b) It was suggested that mechanisms should be developed to try to ensure the 
families are made aware of the wide range of community, cultural and 
sporting activities and clubs that are available throughout the county and, 
where appropriate, be encouraged to take up these opportunities. 

The County Durham Model

133 Partners and services were asked to consider whether the model adopted for 
supporting refugee arrivals in County Durham was appropriate, based on their 
experiences of welcoming refugee families during 2016.  The model is based on 
the following key principles:

(a) Resettling arrivals in the county’s main towns/areas, avoiding isolation in 
smaller villages and settlements (the county’s twelve main towns/areas 
have been assessed against a number of key criteria including availability 
of appropriate housing, health provision/GP access, school places, 
Jobcentre plus access, cohesion and policing issues).

(b) Offering support to family groups, who are more likely to assist one another 
and settle within County Durham’s communities.

(c) Resettling arrivals in clusters of small family groups (approximately 25 
people), offering an immediate support mechanism within communities.

Page 283



26

(d) The county should offer support which is line with the county’s share of the 
national population (this equates to approximately 200 Syrian refugees over 
the four years to May 2020).

134 The review meeting agreed that the model to focus on the main towns assessed 
as suitable for the resettlement of small clusters of family groups was 
appropriate.  In addition, it was suggested that for future phases, the following 
should also be considered:

(a) Where appropriate, it might be preferable to locate future arrivals within a 
town or area where Syrian families had previously resettled and therefore a 
presence in the community was established rather than focusing on new 
resettlement areas for each phase.  It was felt that the number of families 
resettled together was less critical in this approach, as there would be a 
supportive community in place.

(b) There was support for the suggestion that some of the larger villages and 
areas with good access and transport links to the City centre would be 
appropriate to consider, in consultation with partners to confirm suitability.

(c) There was strong support for partnerships with social landlords as the 
preferred approach.  The experience of phase one and two reinforced the 
significant amount of time and resource required to identify suitable 
properties in appropriate areas, highlighted the important role of the 
housing provider in facilitating housing adaptations and the additional 
support that social landlords provide for tenants, including integration, 
support in response to problems etc.  Representatives expressed the view 
that this support had been significant in contributing to the successful 
resettlement of families in County Durham.

Page 284



27

SECTION TWO

OTHER HUMANITARIAN SUPPORT SCHEMES WITHIN COUNTY DURHAM 

135 In addition to the Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme, the 
government has a range of other initiatives and schemes to resettle refugees 
and support asylum-seekers throughout the UK.  The key programmes include 
the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme, schemes to assist 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children and the government’s national 
dispersal scheme for asylum-seekers.

136 To date County Durham has engaged with the programme to support 
vulnerable children and families under the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement 
Scheme and initiatives to assist unaccompanied asylum-seeking children.

Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme

137 On 21 April 2016 the government announced the Vulnerable Children’s 
Resettlement Scheme (VCRS).  The scheme is specifically tailored to provide 
resettlement for up to 3,000 vulnerable and refugee children (and their families) 
from conflict situations in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region.  The 
3000 figure includes any adults resettled with the children.

138 The VCRS does not solely target unaccompanied children, but is open to all 
children deemed to be “at risk” by UNHCR.  This could be for a number of 
reasons, including because they are at risk of child labour, forced marriage or 
other forms of abuse and exploitation or because they are child carers.

139 It is expected that the vast majority of children will arrive with their parents, with 
the remainder arriving with other carers or on their own. Unaccompanied 
refugee children brought to the UK under this programme will receive 
assistance under the national transfer scheme for unaccompanied asylum-
seeking children.

140 The scheme will be open to all children deemed to be “at risk” within the MENA 
region so will not be limited to Syrians. Other nationalities may include, but not 
be limited to, Iraqis, Sudanese, South Sudanese, Eritreans, Ethiopians, 
Somalis, Afghans and Palestinians. 

141 It will also include mixed families, containing more than one nationality, and 
those who are stateless. A stateless person is someone who is not considered 
as a national by any State under the operation of its law.

The County Durham Response

142 As part of the resettlement of families under the SVPRS in June/July 2017, an 
additional property was secured by the housing provider after the deadline for 
confirming the allocation of cases under the programme.  As a result, in 
recognition that the scheme was largely similar to the SVPRS, and following 
consultation with key partners, agreement was given to resettle a sixth family 

Page 285



28

under the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme.  It was agreed that the 
resettled family would be Arabic speaking, allowing the FIP Team to continue to 
utilise its Arabic speaking support worker in offering resettlement assistance.

Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children - National Transfer Scheme

143 The crisis in Syria and events in the Middle East, North Africa and beyond have 
seen an unprecedented number of migrants and asylum-seekers arriving in 
Europe.  Some have presented within the UK, including many unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking children (UASC).  Other children are still in the Middle East or 
North Africa or are in Europe and the government has committed to resettle a 
number of these vulnerable children.

144 The current system means that in most cases children arriving in the UK stay in 
the care of the local authority where they claim asylum, resulting in a small 
number of local authorities looking after the vast majority of the children - most 
notably Kent - and many local authorities looking after very few or no 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children.

145 To address this, working in consultation with the Local Government Association 
and the Association of Directors of Children’s Services, the government 
introduced a National Transfer Scheme (NTS), underpinned by powers in the 
Immigration Act 2016.  The scheme aims to ensure there is a more equitable 
distribution of unaccompanied asylum-seeking and refugee children across the 
country.  The NTS aims to be voluntary and locally led, though government 
would like to see all councils join the scheme. 

146 The NTS is based on each region taking a proportion of unaccompanied 
children in order to achieve a more equal distribution across the UK.  Thus, if an 
unaccompanied child or young person arrives in a council with low numbers of 
unaccompanied children, the expectation is that the child or young person will 
stay in the care of that area.  If an unaccompanied child or young person arrives 
in a council with high numbers, the child will be transferred.  Children will 
transfer within the region, unless the region has high numbers and then the 
expectation is that the child will transfer to a council in another region.

147 No region is expected to have in excess of 0.07% of its current total child 
population, but each region is expected to increase its UASC numbers to this 
threshold where appropriate. 

148 The Immigration Act gives local authorities the power to transfer case 
responsibility for children to other councils around the country and a protocol 
has been developed to underpin the transfer process.  Under this, the entry 
authority will provide immediate support to the child.  After the child has been 
accommodated by the entry authority for 24 hours they become a looked after 
child.  The decision to transfer will take into account a child's best interests 
alongside other considerations such as medical treatment, family ties and 
continuity of care.

149 The receiving local authority will become legally responsible for the child from 
the point that it confirms it transfers acceptance from the entry local authority.  

Page 286



29

Authorities receiving transferred children will then have to meet statutory duties 
around assessment and placements.

Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children - Dubs Amendment

150 A further scheme was introduced by section 67 of the Immigration Act 2016 
(known as “the Dubs amendment”), which required the government to relocate 
and support an unspecified number of unaccompanied refugee children 
currently in Europe. 

151 On 8 February 2017 the government announced the number of unaccompanied 
children to be relocated under section 67 will be capped at 350. 

The County Durham Response

152 Support for schemes to assist unaccompanied asylum-seeking children is 
particularly challenging within County Durham, as a result of the significant 
demands on placement provision for children and young people in County 
Durham, at a time when the county has its highest level of looked after children. 

153 Nevertheless, County Durham has endeavoured to offer support to initiatives to 
assist unaccompanied asylum-seeking children and presently is providing 
support to ten young people/children, although this support is on the basis of 
ad hoc offers and not participation in the National Transfer Scheme.  

Other Humanitarian Support Schemes within County Durham - The Views of 
Partners

154 At its meeting in January 2017 Durham Humanitarian Support Partnership was 
provided with an update on the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme 
and initiatives to assist unaccompanied asylum-seeking children.  

155 The Partnership reiterated its commitment to focus on ensuring the effective 
delivery of humanitarian support schemes within County Durham and outlined 
its support for the continuation of the planned and incremental approach to 
assist refugees successfully adopted to date.  

156 The Partnership agreed to support the consideration of assistance to refugees 
and asylum-seekers under the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme and 
the National Transfer Scheme for Unaccompanied Asylum-seeking Children, 
where this was appropriate, adequately funded and could be effectively 
delivered in County Durham with the resources available.

157 At a humanitarian support review meeting on 10 February 2017 partners and 
services were updated on the government’s proposals to resettle up to 3,000 
people from the Middle-East and North Africa Region under the Vulnerable 
Children’s Resettlement Scheme (VCRS).  The views of services and partners 
were invited to inform a response to the Home Office’s request for local 
authority pledges of support.

Page 287



30

158 Concerns were expressed about the potential difficulties in supporting families 
under the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme, particularly focused on 
the health issues of children resettled under the scheme, the significant 
pressure on special education places in Durham and health services for 
children.

159 It was recommended that further consideration of support offered under this 
scheme would require considerable input and consideration from children’s 
services, health and education, including the involvement of special educational 
needs professionals.

Page 288



31

SECTION THREE

OTHER PROGRAMMES NOT OPERATING IN COUNTY DURHAM

National Dispersal Scheme for Asylum-seekers

173 In the UK, a person is a refugee when they have their claim for asylum 
accepted by the government.  An asylum-seeker is a person who has left their 
country of origin and formally applied for asylum in another country, but whose 
application has not yet been concluded.  The majority of asylum-seekers do not 
have the right to work in the United Kingdom and so must rely on state support.  

174 Individuals seeking asylum in the UK, and who can prove they are destitute, are 
eligible for support from the Home Office.  Support can be financial (asylum-
seekers are entitled to receive £36.95 a week) and in the form of 
accommodation whilst a person’s case for asylum is being considered.

175 Asylum-seekers are dispersed across the UK, apart from London.  Since 2012 
accommodation has been provided to asylum-seekers via six regional 
Commercial and Operational Managers Procuring Asylum Support Services 
contracts, known as COMPASS.  The COMPASS contract in the north is 
delivered by G4S.  Under the terms of the COMPASS contracts dispersal 
accommodation can only be located in areas where the local authority has 
agreed to accommodate asylum-seekers.

176 The COMPASS contracts were originally for a five year period, from 2012 to 
2017, with a possible two-year extension.  On 8 December 2016 the 
government announced that the COMPASS contracts would be extended for 
two years until August 2019 and that work had started on putting in place new 
arrangements for the period following the extension.

177 To date local authorities have voluntarily agreed to become dispersal areas.  
The Home Office has the potential to use its powers to ensure all authorities 
participate, but thus far this has not been used.  At the end of September 2016, 
121 local authorities of a total of 453 (27%) had asylum accommodation within 
their boundaries.  

178 There is an agreed “cluster limit” for the number of asylum-seekers per head of 
population placed in any area (0.5% of the local population).  Based on overall 
numbers, the North East ranks the highest nationally of all regions based on 
proportionate population size, with 10% of the national total.

179 The national asylum dispersal scheme, unlike the Syrian Vulnerable Persons 
Resettlement Scheme, does not provide funding to local authorities for asylum 
dispersal placements, as these are progressed through the contract 
arrangement between the Home Office and G4S.

180 The Home Office is increasing efforts to widen asylum-seeker dispersal and 
since late 2015 Regional Migration Partnerships have established discussions 

Page 289



32

between the Home Office and local authorities not receiving asylum-seekers to 
explore participation in the dispersal process.  

The Situation in County Durham

181 The Home Office has approached the council to discuss County Durham’s 
participation in schemes to widen asylum-seeker dispersal in the region and 
meetings have taken place with the Home Office in summer 2016 and June 
2017.

182 Although it has indicated in principle support to engage in programmes to 
support asylum-seekers, County Durham is the only North East authority not 
presently signed up to the national scheme to accommodate asylum-seekers.  

183 In view of County Durham’s lack of experience in resettling refugees, Durham 
Humanitarian Support Partnership proposed that Durham should initially focus 
on helping to deliver the government’s commitment to resettle Syrian refugees, 
via the Syrian Vulnerable Persons Relocation Scheme.  It was agreed that a 
decision to take part should not be taken until the evaluation of the 
implementation of the SVPRS over a full year of operation was completed.  

House of Commons Home Affairs Committee - Asylum Accommodation Report

184 In January 2017 the House of Commons Home Affairs Committee reported on 
its examination of asylum accommodation provided under the COMPASS 
contracts.  It concluded that the policy of dispersal introduced to deliver an 
equitable distribution of asylum-seekers across the UK had failed.  The 
pressure on the south-east of England had been alleviated, but had been 
replaced by the clustering of asylum-seekers in some of the most deprived parts 
of the country.  

185 The committee recommended that the government should revise its approach 
for the remainder of the COMPASS contract (which has been extended to 
2019).  It proposed giving local authorities greater flexibility over where 
accommodation is provided within their area and a longer timeframe in which to 
consider providers’ requests, with the option for local authorities to refuse 
requests where there are genuine concerns over the quality or concentration of 
accommodation, the capacity of local health, education and other support 
services, and risks to social cohesion.  It concluded that these changes would 
encourage more local authorities to become involved in providing asylum 
accommodation on a voluntary basis. 

186 The report also recommended that following the implementation of these 
changes, if local authorities continue to refuse to become involved, the 
government should use its available powers to require those local authorities to 
take their fair share. In using such powers, the government should ensure that 
access to the necessary specialist services is available in the local authorities 
affected, including health care, legal representation and interpreters. 

187 The committee acknowledged the holistic support that the Syrian Vulnerable 
Persons Resettlement Programme had been designed to provide and 

Page 290



33

recommended the SVPRS model be replicated for all those whose asylum 
applications are accepted.  It was felt that this would also help address local 
authorities’ concerns that, in accepting asylum accommodation, they will face 
additional costs further down the line when the person seeking asylum has 
received a decision on their application and is accepted as a refugee, and may 
be transferred to the local authority’s care. 

The Views of Partners

188 In January 2017, Durham Humanitarian Support Partnership was invited to 
provide views to inform future proposals for asylum accommodation in County 
Durham.  The Partnership includes representation from Clinical Commissioning 
Groups, County Durham Housing Forum, the Voluntary and Community Sector, 
North East Regional Faiths Network and North East Churches Acting Together.

189 The partnership reiterated its commitment to focus on ensuring the effective 
delivery of humanitarian support schemes within County Durham and outlined 
its support for the continuation of the planned and incremental approach to 
assist refugees successfully adopted to date.  

190 The partnership expressed concerns about the present arrangements for 
asylum-seeker accommodation in the UK and the potentially negative impact on 
local areas.  The concerns raised included:

(a) The possibility of a private contractor focusing on locations with 
inexpensive housing stock and the difficulties this may present for 
community cohesion in some areas; 

(b) The lack of infrastructure and established support mechanisms to assist 
asylum-seekers within County Durham; 

(c) The challenges presented by smaller and rural communities which 
tended to be less desirable for individuals seeking asylum under the 
scheme; 

(d) The experience in other parts of the region which indicated a significant 
demand for voluntary sector input, which was not established in County 
Durham; 

(e) The absence of funding to local authorities to assist councils in effectively 
dealing with the challenges presented, particularly in areas with no 
significant experience or infrastructure to support migration initiatives.

191 Durham Humanitarian Support Partnership agreed:

(a) To support continued participation in the Syrian Vulnerable Persons 
Resettlement Scheme.

(b) To support the consideration of assistance to refugees and asylum-
seekers under the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme and the 
National Transfer Scheme for Unaccompanied Asylum-seeking Children, 

Page 291



34

where this was appropriate, adequately funded and could be effectively 
delivered in County Durham with the resources available.

(c) It could not advocate participation in a scheme to widen the dispersal of 
asylum-seekers at the present time, based on the concerns raised 
above.

192 In order to gain the views of partners and services involved in delivering the 
humanitarian support programme, further details of the national dispersal 
scheme for asylum-seekers and the Home Office’s request for Durham’s 
participation were outlined at a review meeting on 10 February 2017.

193 Some representatives present had previous experience of supporting asylum-
seekers in other local authority areas and offered their insight into the types of 
support required.  

194 A number of concerns were expressed about the practical delivery of the 
scheme in County Durham, including the demands on the housing service, 
particularly for single people; the demands on children’s services; the lack of 
infrastructure and support services in County Durham, including asylum-seeker 
support, legal assistance and ESOL; and the significant impact on the voluntary 
and community sector.

195 The lack of local authority control in selecting areas for accommodation and the 
number of asylum-seekers dispersed to an area, together with the absence of 
funding to provide appropriate support and reimburse local authorities for the 
costs incurred, were considered major obstacles to participation in the scheme.

196 The review meeting expressed significant concerns about participation in the 
national scheme to provide accommodation for asylum-seekers.

197 Partners commended the work that had taken place in County Durham to 
welcome vulnerable Syrian refugee families to the area.  Representatives 
strongly expressed their view that it would be inappropriate to engage in the 
asylum accommodation scheme at a time when the scheme had obvious 
problems and the county would be unable to deliver the same level of planned 
co-ordination and support to asylum-seekers as that offered under the 
resettlement scheme.

198 The meeting supported the view that County Durham should provide its fair 
share of support to humanitarian initiatives by assisting additional families under 
the Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme, which allowed a planned, 
incremental approach to resettlement and provided a support structure to 
facilitate successful integration.  

Page 292



35

SECTION FOUR 

CONCLUSIONS

The Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme in County Durham

199 The evaluation of the first year of supporting Syrian refugee families under the 
Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme paints a positive picture of 
County Durham’s experience, with council services, partner organisations and 
the voluntary and community sector working together very effectively to make a 
difference to extremely vulnerable people’s lives and local communities 
accepting and welcoming the families into their midst.  

200 Partners were extremely positive about the added value of the council’s co-
ordination of the scheme, which encouraged and involved the input of partners 
in the planning and delivery of the scheme, ensuring effective support and a 
collaborative partnership approach throughout each phase of the scheme.

201 Partners involved in delivering the programme in County Durham supported 
continuation of the model adopted for resettlement, focusing on offering support 
to small clusters of family groups located in the county’s main towns/areas.

202 For future resettlement, partners also supported consideration of areas where 
refugees were already resettled and some of the larger villages and areas with 
good access and transport links to the City centre, in consultation with partners 
to confirm suitability.

203 The families assisted are very satisfied and value the assistance provided and 
the welcome they have received from support services and their local 
neighbours and communities.

204 The availability of appropriate support is fundamental to successful 
resettlement.  The vulnerable nature of the families arriving in County Durham 
under the programme requires a high level of resettlement support, requiring a 
range of experience, tools and resources.  The need for this assistance is 
unlikely to reduce, particularly in the first twelve months following arrival, as the 
needs of the families resettled under the scheme increase, with a high number 
of complex cases referred, as the UNHCR prioritises those in most need.

205 The considerable knowledge and experience of the council’s Family 
Intervention Project (FIP) Team, which has an established track-record in 
supporting vulnerable families within the county, has delivered first-class 
casework and integration support for arrivals.  This support will be required for 
future arrivals under the scheme, as well as continued support during years two 
to five for individuals resettled.  This is recognised in the allocation of tapering 
funding in years two to five.

206 The staffing resource available to support the scheme will need to be 
reassessed in the future, in line with the funding allocated, as the number of 
families increases and the support requirements expand.

Page 293



36

207 The council’s experience to date suggests that government funding for the 
scheme will fully meet any costs incurred.  Additional funding is also available to 
meet any exceptional costs, e.g. special educational needs, adaptations etc., 
during the first year of resettlement.  Whilst there is confidence that the majority 
of costs will be funded through the scheme, it is recognised that some additional 
costs incurred in future years may not be fully covered by the allocation in years 
two to five.  This includes costs associated with meeting a young person’s 
special educational needs, depending on the needs of the individual.

208 There have been positive early outcomes, including volunteering and 
employment opportunities and significant progress in the development of 
English language skills, which saw the majority of adults from phases one and 
two offered a place on a mainstream ESOL course in a further education 
college. 

209 The continued progression and integration of arrivals in future years is a vital 
part of full and successful resettlement in the UK.  The programme will therefore 
focus on delivering additional support, as part of the integration plan for years 
two to five, to realise opportunities for full integration, including employment, 
English language development, education etc.

Other Humanitarian Support Schemes within County Durham

Unaccompanied Asylum-seeking Children

210 The council continues to experience significant demands on placement 
provision for children and young people in County Durham, with its highest level 
of looked after children.  Nevertheless, it has provided ad hoc support to 
initiatives to assist unaccompanied asylum-seeking children and has provided 
support to ten young people/children.

211 County Durham is actively working to recruit additional carers and secure extra 
placements and will continue to review its ability to support initiatives to assist 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children as this develops.  

Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme

212 The government’s scheme to resettle 3,000 vulnerable children, including family 
members, is a much smaller programme than the Syrian scheme, focused on 
the vulnerabilities and needs of children/young people.  Local authorities 
participating in the scheme are funded at the same rate, in the same way and 
with the same statement of outcomes as the SVPRS.

213 In order to secure the participation of local authorities, and to facilitate effective 
resettlement support, the Home Office has endeavoured to match cases in line 
with local authority services and provision.

214 In recognition of the similarities between the SVPRS and the Vulnerable 
Children’s Resettlement Scheme, the council has supported the resettlement of 
one family under the scheme during phase three in June/July 2017.  The 

Page 294



37

support team was able to utilise the same resources and programmes as those 
provided to other Syrian families being resettled.

Other Programmes

Asylum-seeker Accommodation Programme

215 The government is encouraging greater dispersal of asylum-seekers across the 
country and has approached the council to discuss County Durham’s 
participation in schemes to widen asylum-seeker dispersal in the region.  

216 Based on overall numbers, the north east ranks the highest nationally of all 
regions accommodating asylum-seekers comparative to proportionate population 
size, although County Durham is the only local authority area in the region not 
presently participating in the scheme.  Whilst the Home Office has the potential 
to use its powers to ensure all authorities participate, thus far this has not been 
used and as at September 2016 73% of local authorities did not have asylum 
accommodation within their boundaries.

217 In view of Durham’s lack of experience in resettling asylum-seekers, the 
humanitarian support partnership proposed that Durham should initially focus on 
helping to deliver the government’s commitment to resettle Syrian refugees, via 
the SVPRS.  It was agreed that a decision to take part should not be taken until 
the evaluation of the implementation of the SVPRS over a full year of operation 
was completed.

218 Earlier this year, the partnership reviewed its position in the light of the 
government’s latest calls for asylum-seeker dispersal and its experience of 
assisting Syrian refugees and unaccompanied asylum-seeking children.  The 
partnership expressed significant concerns about participation in the national 
dispersal scheme for asylum-seekers and County Durham’s capacity and 
resources to provide the additional support and assistance required.

219 Partners were concerned about the practical delivery of the scheme in County 
Durham.  Issues raised included the demands on the housing service, 
particularly for single people; the demands on children’s services; the lack of 
infrastructure and support services in the county, including asylum-seeker 
support, legal assistance and English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) 
provision; and the significant impact on the voluntary and community sector.

220 Whilst commending the work that had taken place to welcome vulnerable Syrian 
refugee families to the area, partners strongly expressed a view that it would be 
inappropriate to engage in the asylum accommodation scheme at a time when 
the scheme had problems and the county would be unable to deliver the same 
level of planned co-ordination and support to asylum-seekers as that offered to 
refugees under the resettlement scheme.

Next Steps

221 Local authorities throughout the UK have pledged sufficient support to meet the 
government’s overall commitment to resettle 20,000 of the most vulnerable 

Page 295



38

refugees by May 2020.  The challenge for the Home Office now lies in converting 
those pledges into the resettlement of families and individuals.  

222 In December 2015 Cabinet approved support for around 200 vulnerable refugees 
within County Durham.  Based on the number of individuals supported in the first 
three phases of support to summer 2017, County Durham is on target to offer the 
support agreed by May 2020.  

223 County Durham is presently contributing to the government’s humanitarian 
support effort under three separate programmes: the Syrian Vulnerable Persons 
Resettlement Programme, the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Programme 
and schemes to assist unaccompanied asylum-seeking children.  These are 
three of the four main asylum/refugee programmes established by the 
government.  Compared to national figures, the region is providing a key role in 
supporting the government’s humanitarian efforts.

224 Whilst the government has called on Durham to participate in another 
programme, the scheme to disperse asylum-seekers in the UK, partners have 
expressed significant reservations about the nature of the asylum-seeker 
accommodation scheme and Durham’s capacity and resources to provide the 
support and assistance required.

225 The humanitarian support partnership supported the view that the county should 
focus its support to humanitarian initiatives by assisting additional families under 
the Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme, which allowed a co-
ordinated, incremental approach to resettlement and provided a support structure 
to facilitate successful integration.

226 Building on County Durham’s success in supporting refugees to resettle, partners 
suggested that the county should look to increase the number of individuals 
supported in this way.  It was therefore proposed that the county should consider 
increasing the number of refugees resettled by 50 to 100 people, under schemes 
which are adequately resourced and where the council can support arrivals, 
namely the Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme, suitable cases 
under the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme and, where possible, 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children, if the level of care and support required 
are available.  This would ensure that refugees resettled in County Durham are 
supported to do so, with a planned, co-ordinated approach which avoids the 
creation of a two-tier system of those supported under resettlement programmes 
and those receiving no additional support under the national asylum-seeker 
accommodation scheme.

V.1.1
06.11.2017

Page 296


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 18 October 2017
	4 Council Tax Base 2018/19 and Forecast Surplus on the Council Tax Collection Fund as 31 March 2018 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources [Key Decision: CORP/R/17/03]
	Item 4 appendices

	5 Review of School Provision in County Durham: Ensuring Financial Sustainability of Schools - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services and Corporate Director of Resources [Key Decision: CORP/R/17/01]
	6 County Durham Plan Progress Report and the Council's Response to the Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places Consultation - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services [Key Decision: REAL/03/17]
	Item 6 appendix 2 - Response to Planning for the right homes in the right places
	1 Question 1
	2 Question 2
	3 Question 3
	4 Question 4
	5 Question 5
	6 Question 6
	7 Question 7
	8 Question 8
	9 Question 9
	10 Question 10
	11 Question 11
	12 Question 12
	13 Question 13
	14 Question 14
	15 Question 15
	16 Question 16
	17 Question 17
	18 Question 18
	19 Question 19

	Item 6 appendix 3 County Durham LDS October 2017
	Item 6 Appendix 4 - Securing Developer Contributions for Education 2017
	1 Introduction
	2 Background
	3 Education Provision - The National Picture
	4 Education Provision - County Durham Picture
	5 School Pupil Place Provision
	6 Working with Developers
	7 Calculating Developer Contributions

	Item 6 Appendix 5 HRA Developer Guidance and Requirements in County Durham
	Item 6 appendix 6 Annual Monitoring Report

	7 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18 - Period to 30 September 2017 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	8 Mid-Year Review Report on Treasury Management for the period to 30 September 2017 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	9 Review of humanitarian support in County Durham - Joint Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships and Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services
	Item 9 Humanitarian support appendix 2


